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OPINION
Norma MeGee Ogle. 1.

*1 The Petitioner. Terry Lynn King, through counsel.
appeals from the post-conviction court's order summarily
denyving relief on bis amended post-conviction petition
challenging his 1985 death senience for the first degree
murder perpetrated in the simple kidnapping by confinement

> & LAYy 1) PIEnSO oy, No s

State  of

of Diana K. Smith. The Petitioner argues that (1) the prior
violent felony aggravating circumstance applied in his case
ix unconstitntionally vague nnder fohinson v, United Stales.
$76 LIS, S910 135 8.0 2550 192 L.Ed2d 569 (2015
(2) the harmiess error analysis utilized by the original post-
conviction court and this court concering the erroncois
application of the felony murder aggravating circumstance is
anconstitutional under Hurst v, Tlorida, 377 1).5.92. 136 5. Ct
6i6. 193 1.0°3.2d 504 (2016): (3) the Petitioner is entitled
Lo post-conviction relief on amended claims alleging that the
State committed Brady violations at his original wial, that
the use of his Grainger County conviclion to cstablish thic
prior vielent felouy aggravating circumstance violated his
constitutional rights, and that counsel commitied ineffective
assistance of connsel: (4) {he post-conviction court's summary
demial ol the amended post-conviction petition violated the
Petitionet's right wy due process: and (5) the cumudative effect
of the errors resulted in a deprivation ot constitwtional rights,

I. Factual and Procedural Background

On Febroary 1, 1985, 2 Knox County Criminal Court jury
convicted the Petitioner of the July 31, 1983 first degrec
murder while in the perpetration of a simple kidnapping
by confinement aod armed robbery of Diana K. Smith. AL
sentencing. the jury imposed (he death penalty tor the tust
degree murder conviction bused upon the weight of four
aggravating circumstances. and the trial court imposed a
sentence of 123 years in confinement for the armed robbery
conviction. The Petitioner’s convictions and sentenees were
affirmed on appeal. State v. King. 718 SSW.24 241 (Tena.
1986). The Petitioner unsuccesstully pursued post-conviction
relicl. the dental of which was atlirmed by (his court. Ferry
Lyon King v. State. No. 03C0E-9601-CR-00024. 1997 W
416389 (Yean. Crim. App. July 14 1997 wl'd, 989 W24
319 (Tenn. 199950 cert. dened. 328 UK 873 120 N, Ci
LS LEd.2d 132 (1999 The Petitioner unsuccesstully
pursued tederal habeas corpus relief. feny Lynn King s,
Ricky Bell, Mo 3:99-cv-454, 2011 W1 3566843 (1.1, Tenn,
Aug. 12,2001 ali'd. 847 F.3d 788 (6th Cir, 200171 see also
King v. Dusion, 17 F.3d 151 (6th Cir, 1994) (challenging the
Crrainger County first degree murder conviction that served

as a factual basis of the application of the prior violeat felons
ageravating circumstance). cert. denied. 12 TLS 12220 114
S, Cu 2712, 129 Lkd.2d 838 (1994), In state court, the
Petitioner unsuccessindy puisued a petition for a writ ol ervor
coram nobis, the denial of which was affirmed on appeal
by this court. ferry Pymn King v. State, No. E2014-01202-
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COA-REEON, 2015 WL 3409486 (Tenn. Crim. App. Feb.
{9, 20131, perm. app. denied (Tenn. Sept. 16. 2013). The
Yetitioner liled his first motion o reopen his pust-conviclion
petition, alicging that the United States Supreme Court's
decision in Apprendi v New Jersey, 530 U8 4606. 120 5.CL
2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000, invalidated his death sentence:
the post-conviction court denied the motion to reopen, and
this court denied the Petitioner's application for review. {erry
Lynin King v. Staie. No. E2003-00701-CCA-R28-PD (Order)
{Tenn. Crime App. July 8, 2003). perm. app. dented (Tenn,
Nov, 24, 2003 ).

Ihe evidence presented  at the Petitioner's  trial  was
sunwnarized by the Tennessee Sapreme Court on direct

appeal:

The victim of both crimes for which defendant stands
convicted was Diana K, Smith. Mvrs, Smith left her home
on Sunday afternoon. fuly 31, 1983, to go to a ncarby
McDonald's o get food for her family, Her automobile. a
1979 Camare, was Tound on August 4 1983, off the road
in a heavity wooded area near Blaine, Tenoessee,

G Angust 6. 1983, Mrs, Donua Allen went to the Asbury
quarry in kiox County to swint, She noticed a strange odor

coming from a yellow tarpaulin in the water near the bank.
and reported the circumstance to the sherills effice. On
fullowing-up Mrs. Allen's report. officers [ound the body
ot 2 white female in an advanced state of decomposition.
ihe body was later identified as being thut of Mrs. Smiith.

Death was from onc or motre shois fired into the back of

Mrs, Smith's head from g high-powered weapor.

*2 In the course of the police investigation, the altenlion
ol the officers was focused on Terry King and Randall
Sexton when Jerry Childers, an acquaintance ol King.
reported 4 conversution he had had with King and what hie
had found when he followed up on the conversation,

Jerry Childers testified that Terry King came te his house
on the alternoon of Monday. Angust 1. 1983, and inguired
as 1o whether Childers knew anyone that wanted to buy
parts from o 1979 Coamaro. According to Childers, King,
told Cliiders he had kilted the woman who owned the
automobile aiter she threatened to charge defendant with
rape. According o Childers. defendant said he made the
woman gei out ol the car (runk where he bad conlined her
and lie face down on the ground, that the woman faced
the defendant and begged him not (o shoot her and offered
money, and that he ordered her to tarn her iead away (rom

VRormeon Iseiers. No-ola

him. When she did. he shol her in the back of the head,
Deflendant also told Childers hwe ook forty dollars from the

woman as well as taking her automebile,

The foilowing Friday. which was August 3, 1983, Childers
refated defendant's story to Mr. Buford Watson, On Sunday,
Childers went to the location defendant had described as
the place of the killing and found something with hair on
i, Childers then gave the information he had o Detective
Flerman Johnson of the Knox County Sherifl*s Department
and T.B.1L agent, David Davenport. In following up the
report, the officers met Childers near Richiand Creek
and searched the arca. linding picces of bone, haiv, and
bloadstains, A later more thorough seavch turned up bullel

Iragments and additional bone lragments.

[n ihe course of the police investigation. delendant and co-
defendant. Sexton, were interviewed by the ofTicers. Both
gave written statements detailing the events of the night
of July 31, 1983, Neither defeadant wstificd i the guill
phuse of the wial. but their statements were inroduced in
evidence. Both defendants testified in the sentencing phase
of the tial and repeated in substance the facts set forth in

the statements given the police ollicers in their statements,

The statements of King and Sexion were markedly similar
for the time the two men were together, King's statement
was the more comprehensive sinee it covered the entive
period of time he was with Mes. Smith. According 10
defendant. he and his cousine Don King. picked up Mrs.
Smith at the Cherokee Dam on Sunday. July 31, 1933,
Defendant drove Mes. Smith in her astomohile to te
nearby house trailer of his cousin. arriving there around
7:00 p.m. Don King drove his own automobile to the (railer.,
Shortly alter arviving at the trailer, delendant called Lugene
Thornhill who came w the irailer and leit with defendant
to obtain LS and quaaludes. Detendunt said he and Mis.
smith took the drugs, Thereafter. defendant. Don King, and
Fugene Thornhil] had sex with Mys, Smith,

Alter staying af the traifer Tor several bours, defendant and
Mrs. Smith leli in her automobile, with defendant driving,
Phey went o 4 wooded area. where they again had sex.
From therc. they went to a service station for gas, Mrs,
Smith got out of the avtomobile and grabbed the Keys.
Defendant told her to get back in the automobile and she
did sn. The defendant drove Mrs, Smith back (o the wooded
area, where they again had sex and the defendant took forty
dollars {rom Mrs. Smith. According to defendunt. Mrs.
Smith then asked “why did you all rape me?” Defendunt

angnal Lo Governrgis Ok
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stated that he knew then what he was going to do. He toid
Mrs, Smith to get into the trunk of the automobile, When
she did. defendant drove Lo Sexton's house and (old Sexton
he had a woman in the trunk of the awlomobile and needed
Sexton's help. Defendant got 2 rille from Sexton and also
a shovel. Defendant and Sexton then left the Sexton home
in separate automobiles. After making a stop at a Publix
station 1u purchase gas, defendant and Sexton drove
4 wooded area near Richland Creek in Knox County.
Defendunt drove the 1979 Camaro off the roud and became
stuck. e the made Mrsc Smith get out of the automobiie
trank and pointed the loaded rille at her. Detendant made
Mrs, wmith lie down on the ground. assuring her that he
was not going to kitl her. that others were coming to have
sex with hers Sexton leftin s automobile o rewurn a funnel
to the gas stalion. While he was gone. defendant shot Mus,
Smith in the back of the head. On Sexton's return, and
alter geiting the Camaro unstuck, the two went through
Mres. Smith's effeetss burning her identification. They then
attempicd w bury the body. but gave up because of the
hardiess of the ground. The next morning. defendant aud
Sexion wrapped Mrs. Smith's body in a tent, weighted it
with cinder blocks and duwmped it in the Asbury guarry.
Mrs, Simieh's automobile was hidden near Sexton's house.
*3  Agent Davenport testified that after making his
statement. the defendaot ook him and other officers w
the place where the Camaro was hidden and defendant
also showed them where hie had hidden tie awtomobile
ficense plate ina hollow wree. The defendant also showed
the officers where he had placed the body in the quarey and
where the shooting occurred.

Tomvny Heflin, a frearms examiner for the Tennessee
Burcau of Investigation, testified that he had examined
the .36 Marlin rifle befonging to Sexton, the metal bulle
Jackel and lragments recovered from the scene of the
Killing. According to Mr. Hetlin, the intact metal jacket had
buen fired from Sexton’s rifie and the fragments were fired
from a vifle with the same ritling characteristics as Sexton's
rifle. Mr. Hetlin was of the opinion that at Jeast two bullets
had been Gired,

D, Yoseph Parker. who pertormed an antopsy on the body
ol Mrs. Sraith, testificd that death was due to an extensive
bead iy consistent with gunshot wouads from a higl-
powered ritle.

Over objection, the State also presented evidence through
Lori Fustman Carter that defendant had atterpted w kiil

lrer on OGctober 13, 1982, Aceording to Mrs, Carter. King
hit her with a slapstick numercus times, while repeatedly
asking her “how it {elt (o be dying. so that the next womun
he killed he would know how she (elt.™ Mrs. Carter festiticd
that she losi consciousness. When she came fo. <he was stild
in her automobile with her hair rolled up in the window.
She turther testified that she neard detendanttell is cousin
that hie had killed her and wanted James King to help him
put her in a guarry and buro her swomobile.

James KNing disputed Mrs, Carter's version of events, suying
that defendant came to King's home to get him w folow
detendant to St Mary's Hospiial as Mrs. Caveer was il] and
needed treatment.

Karen Greeg, Lori Carler's sister, testfied that Mrs. Carter

cannot be helieved. even under vath

The defendant offered ne other evidence in the guilt phase
of the wial.
King. 718 5. W.2d at 243-45,

At the peraly phase of the trial, the jury imposed the
death penalty based
(1)
convicted of one or

upon its finding of four aggravating
circomstances: thar the Petitioner was  previousty
more felonics. other than the present
charge. which involved the use or threat of vielence (o the
pcrson.] Tenn. Code Ann, § 39-2-203()(2) (1982) (repealed):
(2) that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and
cruel in that it involved jorture or depravity of mind, feun.
Code Ann. § 39-2-203(IM5) (1982) (repealed): (3) the murder
was committed for the purpose ol avording. interfering with.
or preveniing a lawful arrest of the defendant or another.
Tenn, Code Ann. § 39-2-203(116} (1982} frepealed): and (4)
the murder was commitied while the defendant was engaged
in committing, or was an accomplice in the commission
ofl or was atlempling o commit, or was flecing after
comimitting or atlempting to commit, any rape. rohbery.
larceny ot kidnapping, Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-2-203(ij7)
(1982) (repealed). King, 718 SCW.2d at 248, The wial court
seutenced the Petitioner to one hundred and twenty-tive vears

for the armed robbery conviction. Id. at 243,

*4 On automatic appeal tw the Tenmessce Supreme Court,
the court held that the evidence was sullicient w support the
Petitioner's convictions: that the trial court did not err by
refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offenses;
that the jury did not premanurely begin deliberations in
violation of the Petitiover's vight to a fair and impartial juey;
thai the trial court did not unduly restrict voir dive concerning

3a
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potential jurers” views on punishiment; that the trial court did
not err in admitting Lorl Lastman Carter's testimony: that the
irial court did not err in denying the Petitioner's motion to
compel diselosire of Jerry Childers” criminal history: that the
triat court did not ere in denying the codetendants™ motion
o sever trials that the wial court did not improperly limit
argurnent o deny jury instruction requests at senteneing: and

that the death penalty was imposed constitutionally, id. at
45.%

B
RO

fhe Petitioner Tiled a timely petiion for post-conviction
relief. Following a hearving, the post-conviction court denied
relief but Tound that the erroncous application of the telony
murder apgravating circuinstance svas harmless, On appeal to
this court, the Petitioner alleged that the aggravating factors
supporting the death senlence were either constitutionally
flaseed or tmpermissibly tainted by inadmissible evidence: the
trial court's fatlure to grant a severance at trial violated his
constitutional rights, sce Broton v, Ulnited States, 391 LLs
123, 88 .00 16260 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (196RY and Cruz v. New
Mok 481 TS, 186, 107 S.OL 17140 93 Ld.2d 162 (1987);
trial and appellate counsel committed ineffective assistance

ol counsel; the inal court’s failure Lo instract the jury on
second degree murder and voluntary intoxication violated his
constitutional rights: the trial couet's instruction un reasonable
deubt violated his due process rights: the prosecution violated
his due process rights by offering inadmissible. irrelevant
and inflammatory evidence during both the guilt and penalty
phases of his trial: and he is entitled o a new wial andior

A new sentencing hearing based on cumuolaiive ervor. Terey

Lann King. 1997 W1, 416389 at *1. On appeal, this court

affirmied the post-conviction court's denial of relief und also
alfirmed the post-conviction court's finding of harmlessness
concerning the erroncous application of the felomy murder
aggravating circumstance, Id. The Tennessee Supreme Court
granted permission o appeal specilic to the felony murder
agpravating circumstance, Bruton. and ineflective assistunce
ot counsel issues und affirmed this court's opinion. King. 989
S.W.2d at 322,

Ihe Petitioner then sought federal habeas corpus relict. As
relevant to the claims presented in this appeal. the federal
district court denied relief as o the Petitioner's allegations
that the prior violent {clony aggravating circumstance was
unconstitutionully applied because the Grainger County
offense upon which it was based was adjudicated after the
Kuov County offense, that he was denied covnsel in Kiox
County in relation o his guilty pleas in the Grainger County
prosecndion. that counsel weve inelfective in investigating

and presenting mental health evidence. and thai allegations
of Brady violations relative to the single aunshot evidence
and impeachment evidence concerning L ori Hasiman Carler
deprived him of o fair el Teery Lyvon King v Ricky Bell,
Warden, 2011 WL 3366843 at *7-43, The Sixth Circuit
granted a partial certificate of appealability and aftirmed the
district court's denial of reliet. King v, Wesihrooks. 847 U.3d

at 791 (affirming denial ol habeas reliel alleging ineffective
assislance coneerning connsel's abandonment of mtoxication
defense and delay in hiring mental health experts).

On June 23, 2013, the Petitioner filed a petition for a writ
of crror coraim nobis in state court alleging the same Brady
violations that he had alleged in the federal habeas corpus
litigation. The coram nobis cowrt summarily denied reliel
itnding that the petition was uniimely and that due process did
nol require a tolling of the statte of limitutions This court
atfiomed the coram nobis court’s judgiment on apreal femy
Famn King, 2015 WL 3409486 at *4,

Motion to Reopen Post-Conviction Petition

*5 On June 22, 2016, the Petitioner filed a motion o
yeopen his post-conviction petition. alleging that the Uniwd
new constitwiional rule requiring retrospective apphication
{0 reopen post-conviction proceedings  thar invalidated
the application of the prior violent lelony aggravaiing
circumstance in his casc. See T.C.A, § 40-30-117@) 1y
(2018} The State filed a reply, arpuing that the rule announced
in Johnson is inapplicable to Tennessec's priar vielent felony
aggravating circumstance,

On September 26, 2016, the post-conviction court entered an
order setung further hearing “fimited 1o the issue of whether
the petition states a colorable ciaim which warrants a finding
that M. King's post-conviction should be reopenied.” See
TCA, § 40-30-11HD)Y (" The motion shall be denied unless
the factual sllegations, il true, meel the requirements ol
subsection (a). It the court granis the maotion. the procedural,
reliel and appellate provisions of this part shall apply.”):
I § 40-30-107 (requiring the post-conviction cowrt o enter
@ prelininary order i the pleading “is not dismissed upon
preliminary consideration™),

On November 22, 2016, the Petittoner Nifed an amended
claim that the Supreme Court's decision in |

i mandated a

new senlencing hearing because the harmless error analysis
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uiilized when the felony murder aggravating circumstance
was siruck violated Hurst. On January 13, 2016, the Stawe filed

st did not provide a basis o reopen

the post-conviction petition because urst did not announce

a e constitutional rule requiring eetroactive application.

On April 30 2017, the post-conviction court granted the
motion to veopen as o the Johnson claim but denied the
motion 1o reopen as o the Turst claim. In the preliminary
order. the pasi-conviciion court directed the Petitioner to
“investigate all possible constitutional grounds For refiel for
the puiposc of filing au amended petition if necessary ... {and]

raise any additional issues counsel deetns necessary.”

On Oclober 16, 2017, the Politioner amended his post-

copviclion petition with the addiional claims concerning

y viulations, demal of counsel (o advise him coneerning

the colinteral consequence of the Grainger County pleas.

dciteclive sesistance of counsel. and. once again. a Hurst

clamn O Novenmiber 30, 2017, the State responded that the

aud

fonal clayms hiad been previously determined by other
ligation and thay the [Turst claim had already been denied
as a basis for reopening by the post=conviclion vourt, On

July 160 2018, the Petitioner {ided a reply to the Stawe’s

response. arguing that due process required a tolhng of

the statute of limitations to permit the amendment of the
petibion for post-conviction reliet with later-arising claims.
On Fuly 26, 2018, the State filed a response to the reply.
aning that this court had decided that the Johnson ¢lavu is
not applicable o Tennessee's

stafule and that, therelore, the
post-conviction court had improvidently granted the motion
W reopen. On October 30, 2018, the Petitoner filed a
sccond amendment fo the post-conviction petition. alleging
that the prior violent felony aggravaiing circuimstance was
unconstitutioual because the prior conviction had vot been
adjudicated at the time of the offunse.

On November 1, 2018, the post-conviction court heard
arguments on the motion to reopen and ook the walter
wider advisement, Ou Jannary 24, 2019 the post-conviction
court entered sn order denying relief. The court found that

aggravaling circumstance and that the additional claims weni

bevimd the scope of the court's April 3, 2017 preliminary
order. Phe court further found that the additional claims
were procedurally barred by the statute of limitations and/
or the previous determination and waiver provisions of the
Post-Conviction Procedure Act, Sege Tenn, Code Ann, 8§
A0-30-102¢3) ~ 10601, ~106(1).

#6  On appcal. the Pesitioner argues that Tennessee's prior
violent felony aggravating circumstance is unconstitutionally
vague under Jo

1o As an amended claim o the petition
for pest-conviction veliet] the Petitioner argucs that the re-
weighing ol dggravating circumstaaces and havmiess crror
analysis employed by the appellate courts upon striking

the felony murder aggravating circumstance violates Ll

The Petitioner also argues that the Staie commutted Brady
violaiions related to the Stawe's failure 10 disclose hallistics
evidence that the vietin was shot only once and impeachiment
evidence concerning Lori Eastman Carter. who testified
for the State at trial. The Petitioner asserts that his Sixih
Amendment right to counscl, Eighth Amendment vight to be
free from cruel and unusual punishment. and due process
rights were vielated by circumstances refated to the use of the
Grainger Counly murder conviction us a {actual predicate 1o
the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance. As part ol
the amended claiins. the Petitioner also ciaims that counse!
committed ineffective assistance by failing to investigate and
present ey idence of the Pettionet's otganic brain damage, The
Petitioner argues that the post-conviclion courl's sunimary
denial of his amended claims violales his due process cight
to have all colorable claims heard and adjudicated on their
merits, Lastly. he claims that the comulative effect of alf these
crrors deprived him of a fair trial.

The State argues that post-conviction ceurt preperly denicd
the motion 0 reopen because ihe Johnson claim does naot
provide a basis for reopening the post-conviction petition
The State further asserts that the Petitioner (ailed 1o propeely
seek review of the Ilurst claim and that the Pelittoner is
procedurally barred from raising the additional claims for
relief.

I Analysis

In Harold W

posi-conviction court's review of a4 mobon to reopen and

ichols v, Siate. this court analyzed o

# subsequent amendment to a [irst posi-conviction petition
made pursuant W a post-conviction court's order granting a
motion to reopen. See Harold Wayne Nichols v, Stite, No
E2018-00626-CCA-R3-PD, 2019 W 3079357 {Temu, Crim,
App, Get. 10, 20193, perm. app. denied (Tenn, Jan. 15, 2020),
Concerning the general availability of post-conviction relief

in Tennessee, this court explained

Da
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L
recommended that the states implement post-conviction
procedures to address alieged constitutional erroes arising
in stute convictions in order o divert the burden of
habeas corpus ligation in the Tederal courts. In response.
the  Tennes

see legislawre passed the Post-Conviclion
Procedire Act whereby a defendant may seek relief “when
a convivtion or serience is void or voidable because ol the
abridgement of any right guaranteed by the Constitution of
eiesser or the Coustitution of the Urnited States.” T.OA,
$A30-1530 In s current ideation. the Post-Conviction
Procedure Act “contemplates the filing ol enly one (1)
peiinon for puos

~conviviton reliel, In no event may more
than one (1) petilion fur posteconviction reliel be filed
stlacking a single judgment.” FOAL § 40-30-102:0). Whilce
“any second or subseguent petition shall be summarily
disnissed,” 4 petitioner may seek velief on the basis
of claims that arise atler the disposition of the initial
petition by filing a motion to reopen the post-conviction
proceedings “uader the Himited cireumstances set out in §
40-20-117.7 Id.: see Flewcher v Stale. 937 5.W.2d 378, 380
{Tenn. 1997).
tlareld Wayne Nichols, 2019 Wi 50793587,

ut ¥3
Tennessee limits the filing of a post~conviction reliel petition

Although

to onc petition. here are bmited circumstances whereby
a petitioner may allege later arising ¢laims via a motion
“ooreopen the first post-conviction petition” TCA. §
460-30-117{ay. As relevant in this case. a molion t reopen o
fivst post-conviction petition should be granted when “[tjhe
claim i the ynotion is based upon a final ruling of an
apps:liate court establishing a constittional right that was not
recognized as cuisting at the time of telal. if retrospective
§ 40-30-117(a)
(1. Onee w motion 1o reopen 15 granted, “the procedure.

application of that right 1s required.” 74

relief and appellaie provisions of this part shall apply.” 7d. §

40-30-117chy 1),

“IA pest-conviction court's grant of a mwotien to reopen

dees not fully place a petitioner back inwo the procedural

Wavne Nichols, 2019 Wi 3079357, at #7. As noted by the

[ennessee Supreme Courl. claims raised in amotion to reopen
and snbsequent amendments inay be barred by Lhe statute
of limitations, previous determination. or waiver, Cojonuai
vooState, 341 SW3J 2210 255 (Tenn. 2011). Generally.
a petitioner must file a petition for post-conviction relicl
“within one (1) vear of the date ol the linal action of the
highest state appellate cowrt Lo which an appeal 1s taken or,

i no appeal is taken, within one (1) vear of the date on
which the judgment became linal, or consideration of the
petition shall be barred.” T.C. AL § 40-30-102(a) (2018), The
stabitory grounds for tolling the statule of limitations are
coextensive w those lor granting a motion o reopen, Tl
§ 40-30-102¢hy (2018). Thus, if an amended claim arising
from a nmotion to reopen a post-conviction pelition does not
meet the requirements of Code scetions 40-30-102¢h) und
40-30-117(a3 the claint is barved by the statute of Himitaiions,
“A ground for reliel is previously determined 17 a court of
compelent jurisdiction has ruled on the meriis aficr a 1yl
and fair hearing.™ [d. § 40-30-106(1) {2018}, Further. a ¢laim
will be wueated as waived when “not raised belore a cout
of competent jurisdiction in which the ground could have
been presented,” 1d. § 40-30- 11001 (2018): sce ¢ RET

5,%.3d al 257 (discussing the waiver of a specific inelTective

assistunce of counsel claim for laiding (o raise it in the original
post-conviction petition). Fhe Post-Conviction Procedure Act
requires the post-conviction court to stunmavily disiiss any
claims which are raised beyond the statute of limitations, have
been previously determined, or have been waived, TCA
§ 40-30-106¢h), (). We review the post-conviction court's
summary deniol of reliel de novo. Arnold v Slate. 1435 W 3d
784, 786 {Teon. 2004).

A. Johnson Motion 1o Reopen Allegalion

7 Tu support of the motion e reopen the post-consiclion
petition. the Petitioner alleged that the Supreme Court's
helding in Johnson rendered void the prior vielent felon
aggravating circumstance. While the post-conviction court

preliminarily gramted ihe motion to reopen based npon this

allegation, the court ultimalely determined that the decision in
aggravating civcumsiance, On appeal. the Petitioner argues
that the prior violent [elony agpravaling circumsiance is
unconstitutionally vague in light of jolwson. The Statwe asserts

violent felony aggravaling circiumstance and. therefore, the

pusi=conviction vourt property denied the molion 1o reopen,

In Johnsen, the Supremie Couart examined the delinition
ol a violent fclony under the Armed Career Criminal
Act (ACCA), which provided increased punishoient {or a
detendant convicted of being a felon in possession of a
lirearm if'a defendant has three or more previous convictions
tor & violent felony, See 18 LS. § 924{ex ), The ACCA
defined a violenl felony as

Ga
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any crime  punishable by imprisonment for a ierm
exceeding one year .. thal — (1) has as an efement the
use. aticmpted use. or threatened use of physical foree
aguinst the person of another, or (i) is burglary, arson,
or involves the use of explosives, o wtherwise involves
condircr that presenis u serious potential risk of physical
wjuiy fo wnother,

18 LS008 924X 2)(By temphasis added ). The “olherwise

involves comduct” language is refemed 1o as the AUCA's

i35 5 CLoat 23536,

Tual

vesidual clavse. Jobnson.

[he Courl

ohserved that the resi clause does not involve an
exanmination ol the eiements of a prior offease, but instead
“asks whether the erime “involves conduet” thal presents (oo
much risk of physical injury.” . at 2357 (emphasis in the
original), The Court determined that the judicial assessment
of risk under the residual clause, which was not tied w the
facts concerning the particular offense or 1o the statulory
clements, rendered the residual clause unconstitutionally
vagie. Zd al 2557, In so doing, however. the Court limited
jis holding and held that the efements clause contained in

subacction (i) survived constitutional scrutiny. /d. at 2563,

Tennessee's prior vielent felony aggravating circumstance,

Sce Hurold Wayne Nichiols. 2019 WL 3079357 sce also

and Sutton, we noted that “this Court has rejected Jotinson

claims with respect Lo both the pre-and post-1989" versions
of the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance when
raised in applications for permission to appeal from the denial
of @ motien 1o rcopen a post-conviction petition “because
our supreme court has held, that under cither version of the
slatute, rial courts are o look to the aciual facis ol the prior
felony o determine the use of violence when such cannot
ld
Wayne Nichols, at *6 (citations omitted). Nicholas {odd
Sutton. 7

be determined by the elements of the offense alone.” Har

at *7 {quoting Nichols). Unlike the approach to the
ACCA's residual clause.

our precedent has never required
the use of a judicially imagined ordinary case in applying
aggravating ciecumsiance is not void for vagueness under
Johnson.” Id. herelore, the Petitioner is not entitled to relief
a5 to this clain.

1. Clains Raised in Amended Pleadings

I. Hurst Claim

Fhe Pettioner argues that the Supreme Cowrt's decision i

retrospective application that qualifics as a busis to reopen

the post-conviction petition, Specetfic 1o the circumstances

of

T the Petitioner case, the Peltloner arpucs that a new
sentencing hearing 1s required because the original post-
conviction conrt's and this court's reweighing oll aggravating
circumstances through harmiess crror analysis in addressing
the erroncous application of the felony mucder aggravating
circumstance violated Hurst. The State asserts thai this count

iacks jurisdiction to review the Hurst claim because the

Petitioner failed o seek permission to appeal from the post-

conviction courl's preliminary order denying the Petitioner's
motion (o reopen based upon lurst, Sec Tenn ¢ ode Amn
§ 40-30-117¢¢y: Tenn. Sup. CL R, 28, The State alse arpues
that the post-conviction vowt correctly refused to address the
Huest claivn as an amendinent o the post-conviction petition
based upon s previous ruding that Hurst did not provide a
hasis {or reopening the petition.

*& This court has noted that “|tihere is ne limit on she
number of motions to reopen that muy be filed Junder the
Post-Conviction Procedure Act]. only a limit on the types
of claims that may be raised.” Harold Wayvne Nichols. at
*7. n 8. In Nichols. we opined that had (he Peutioner
filed a separate motion to reopen alleging a Hurst claim
and 1t had been denied by the post-conviction court, “our
Jurisdiction to hear the appeal would be dependent upon
whether Petitioner followed the proper procedare for secking

permission to appeal pursuant o Tennessee Code Annotated

*ld. However, the Pettioner in this case

the posi-conviction court granted the miotion 1o reopen.

in puart, based on Jg the Petiioner amended  the

post-conviction petiion with the Huarst claim. Under these
circumstances, we determine that the Hurst claim is properly
hefore the court,

That satd, the Stale correctly noles that this court has
consisiently freld that Hurst did nol amnownce a

new
constitutional rule requiring relrospective application. Sce.
¢.g.. Charles Rice v. State. Noo W2017-01719-CCA-R28-
PO (Tean. Crim. App. Nov. 140 2007) forder). perm.
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gap dcnicd (Tcnn Mar 15 2018). Richard Odom b
Ol ‘(L 2017 mnlu) ................

F2017-01( (a/-(,(.x\-RQ%%—PD (lcnn. (,rnn. \p Scpl 19
’(l/} (order). 18, 2018):

perm. app. denied (Tem, Jan.

App. Sept. 1
18, 2013):
No. 12017-01394-CCA-R28-PD (Tenn. Crim.

PI} {Tenn, Crim, 8. 2017) (order), perm. app.

denied (Temn, Jan, Gary W,

sSutton v, State,

App. Sepl.
13 Capp. denied (Tenn, Jan, 18, 2018);
David i,:;\ iin .lm_‘d__:_m v, State. No. W2017-00923-CCA-R28-
PD (Tenn, Crivn, App. Sept. 11 2017) (ordern). Therefore, the
post-conviction cowrt correctly denied the motion te reopen
o1l that basis.

Furthermore. this court has previoushy analyzed and rejected
a Petitioner’s ranment that an appellate court's reweighing ol
feiavating circumstanees against mitigating circumstances
1wy determine whether the ervoncous application of the felony

murder aggravating circumstance was barmless violaled

Hurst See Harold Wavae Michols, at *7.: Nicholas Todd
Sufton, ot #7000

‘Because Hurst did nol announce a new rule
ol constitutional law that must be applied retrospectively,
this claim s procedurally barred by both the one-year statute
o limitations and the one-petition rule.” Harold Wayne
Nichols, at & Additionally. the J"'suti()nca's chai!cngc o
the harmless crrov analysis was previously determined to be
without merit upon review by the district court in his Tederal
habeas proceedings. S

See Terry Lynn King v, Ricky Bell. at

1%, Most \‘iﬂni[icamlv Im\\f'e\vcr is that the United States

LS ——t 2“ L CL 702, 708, mﬂ(s E L, 3d is‘) ("0"{}) (utm;,
Schrieo v Sumnerlin, 342 LS, 348 358, 124 S.Cu 2519,
15891 . Fd.2d 442 £ 2004). 1n so doing. the Court also rejected

Melinney's argument that ao appellate courl's reweighing

of aggravating circumsances and mitigating civcwmstances,

“akdn to harmiess error roview,” vielates Hust. holding that

“lijhis Court's precedents estublish that state appellate courts

may conduct a ... reweighing of aggravating and mitigating
chreumstances. and may do so v coflateral proceedings....”
id. al 70y (emphasis added). The original post-conviction
courl's reweighing of aggravating creumstances againsi
miticuting circumstances once the felony murder ageravator
was held invalid does not run afoul of the Petitioner's
Constitutional rights. The Petitioner is not entitled w relicf on
this issue,

' ny2 'uumean KR o N Clann

I, Brady Allcgations

The Petitioner asserts that his constitutional rights were
violated by the State’s withholding ballistics evidence that the
victim died from a single gunshot wound and impeachment
evidence concerning Lori Fastman Carter. The Suale argues
thal the post-conviction court did not ery by denying this claim
hecause both claims were procedurally barred by previous
determination,

* The federal habeas corpus proceedings examined the
Brady allegations and found them 1o be without merit. lerry

Lann King v. Rid oA, at #34-35, Puether, we note thuat the

oner raised these identical allegations in a petition for
g writ of error coram nobis. which the trial court denied as
untimely because the petition was filed “twenty-cight years
after the judgments became final thirteen vears after the
discovery of the evideoce during the federal habeas corpus
proceedings, and almost two vears after the federal diswict

court denied reliell” n Ki

Lerry 13

ai *5. On appeal,
and held “that the
delay in seeking coram nobis relief was unreasonable under
the circumstances of this case and that due process does
not preclude application of

this court affirmec

1 the deniul of relief

the jcoram nobis] statute of
limitations.” id. at *9. We conclude that these claims are
procedurally barred as previously determined. The Petitioner

is not entitled to reliel as to these issues,

111, Prior Violent IFelony Amended Claims

The Petitioner argues that the prior vielent Telony sggravating
circumstance was unconstittionally applied in his case
because he was denicd counsel to advise him of the collateral
consequences of the Grainger County guilty pleas upon
which he prior vislent felony aggravating
predicated and be

circumistancy is
cause the Grainger County offenses were
adjudicated after the offenses in this case vecurred, The State
asserts (hat these claims are procedurally barred.

The federal habeas corpus proceedings examined these
Lynu
King v. Ricky Bell. at *40-43, We conclude that these claims
To the
tled to ruise these issues in
the original post-conviction petition, we further conclude thai
they are waived and barred by the statute of limitations. The
Petitioner is not entitled to reliet as w the

alicgations and (ound them to be without merit. Terry

are procedurally barred as previously determined.
exient that the Petitioner also i

issues.

4.5 Wornnm A

Sa



King v. State, Slip Copy (2021)
2021 WL 982503

V. Inefiective Assistance of Counse] Allegations

he Petitioner argues that trial counsel were ineffective for
lwiling to nvestigate adequately and 1o present evidence of
his ereanic brain damage daring both phases of the tial.
The State argues that the post-couviction court did not err by
demying this claim because it was previously determined in
other cotlateral Jitigation.

Axalrcady recounted, the Petitioner raised imyriad allegations
of ineffective assistance of counsel in the oviginal post-
conviction proceedings and in the federal habeas corpus
procecdings. including allegations related to the presentation
ol mitigation evidence. Sec King. 989 S.W.2d a1 330-334
(uriginal post-conviction); King. 847 F.3d at 794, 799 (federal
habuas corpus proceedings addressing organic brain damage

sty We conclude that the Petitioner is precluded from

raisipe additional ineflective assistance of counsel allegations
because the ineffective assistunce of counsel claim was
previously litigaied and determined. Sce Cone v. State. 927
S.W.2d 579, 581-82 (Tenn, Ceim. App. 1993) (stating that “|a]
petitioner may not relitigate a2 previously determined issue
by presenting additional factual allegations™). The ineffective
assistance of counsel claim was previously determined. and
the Petitioney is not entitled 1o reliet on this basis.

' Summary Denial of Post-Conviction Relief Claims

The Petitioner is not entitled 1o reliet as o any elaim alleged
in the motion ta reopen or it the antended and supplemental
petitions. Neverlheless. the Petitioner contends that he was
denied due process by the post-conviction court's summary
dental ot reliell As this court explained in Harold Wayne
Nichols,

ithe post-conviction court did not crr in denying reliet on
any of the claims raised by Petitioner. The johnson claim
wis (he only one thai was not procedurally barred: because

ihrat clabu raised only a question of law und statalory

Footnotes

inerpretation. there was no need for an evidentiary
hearing. The post-conviction court. despite its carlier
linding that Petitioner had raised a colorable claim, was
clearly autherized by the Post-Convichon Procedure Act
to dismiss the wvended petition without an evidentiarn
hearing upon conclusively determining that Petitioner swas
not entitled o relief.

16 Harold Wayvne Nichols. at * 11 (citations omitied); seo

also TN § 40-30-1091 Al that due process requires

in (he post-conviction seiting is that the defendant have
‘the opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in
a meaningful manner” 7 Stokes v, Staie. 146 SW.3d S6.
61 (quoting Matthews v Eddndge. 424 U8 3190 333, 96
S. Ct, 893, 47 1.0d.2d 18 (1976)), The Petitioner has been

afforded due process at cvery stage of his direct and collaweral

litigation challenging his fiest degree murder conviction and
death sentence.

D, Cumulative Erivor

Finally, the Petitioner argues thal “all claims ol crvor
coalesced into a unitary abridgement of [his] constitutional
rights™ wnder the Fifth, Sixth, Eightiv, and ourteenth
Amendments of the United States Constitution and Aviicle
I sections 6. 7. 8, 8. 16, 17, 19, and 32 and Article XL
sections 8§ and 16 of the Tenncssee Consiitidion, “To warrant
assessiment under the cumulative error doctrine, theve must
have been more than one actual ervor committed in the (rial
proceedings.” State v, Hester. 324 S.W.3d 1077 Clenn. 2010).
Because the Petitioner has not established any crvor he is not
entitled to relief pursuant to the cumulative crror docurine,

111, Conclusion

Based upon the foregoing, we affirn the judgment of the post-
conviction court,

AH Citations

Slip Copy. 2021 W, 982503

1 The Petitioner was convicted of the 1983 murder and aggravated kidnapping of Todd Millard in Grainger County,
Tennessee. The Grainger County offenses occurred about one month before the offenses involving Ms. Smith. The
Petitioner pleaded guilty to the Grainger County offenses while the Smith case was pending.
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FILED

07/12/2021

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF TENNESSEE —_—
AT KNOXVI LLE Appellate Courts

TERRY LYNN KING v. STATE OF TENNESSEE

Criminal Court for Knox County
No. 72987

No. E2019-00349-SC-R11-PD

ORDER
Upon consideration of the application for permission to appeal of Terry Lynn King

and the record before us, the application is denied.

PER CURIAM

11a



APPENDIX C



I

\
IN THE CRIMINAL COURT FOR KNOX COUNTY, TENNB§§E%§%LREA% MOND

DIVISION 111
2019 JAN 24 PH 2: O}
FHUA COUNTY Cillkasl, Do
N KRORVILLE, TH
TERRY LYNN KING, )
Petitioner )
) No. 72987
V. ) (CAPITAL CASE)
) (POST-CONVICTION)
STATE OF TENNESSEE, ) (Granted Limited Motion to
Respondent. ) Reopen)
ORDER

L. Introduction
Petitioner, Terry Lynn King, by and through counsel, filed two motions to reopen in June
and November 2016 pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-30-117(2)(1) claiming he was entitled to

relief based upon a new rule of law as announced in Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. __

s

filed an initial response on July 26, 2016, asking for summary dismissal of Petitioner’s June 2016
motion to reopen. Following Petitioner’s November 22, 2016, reply and amended motion to
reopen, the State filed a second respense on January 13, 2017, The parties appeared before this
Court on January 19, 2017, for argument. After reviewing the pleadings, the record, arguments of
counsel, and the relevant authorities, and for the reasons stated within a prior order, Petitioner’s

motion to reopen was denied as it related to his claim pursuant to Hurst.

1 Petitioner also cites to Welch v, United States, 136 S, Ct. 1257 (2016), to support the retroactive application of
Johnson.

1
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Subsequently, on October 16, 2017, Pstitioner filed an Amended Petition For Post-
2017, the State filed its response to that pleading. Petitioner then filed a reply on July 16, 2018,
and the State filed a reply to that pleading on July 26, 2018. The Petitioner then filed a Second
Amended Petition for Post-Conviction Relief on October 30, 2018, raising yet another issue. This

Court held a hearing on Noverber 1, 2018, at which the parfies presented arguiment on the issues.

1. Procedural History

Trial and Direct Appeal

Petitioner was one of two men tried and convicted of the July 31, 1983, first degree felony
murder and armed robbery of Diana Smith in Knox County. Petitioner King was convicted on
February 1, 1985, and the jury sentenced him to death for the murder based upon the following
statutory aggravating circumstances:

(2) The defendant was previously convicted of one or more felonies, other than the present
charge, which involve the use or threat of violence to the person;

{5} The murder was especially beinous, atrocious or cruel in that it involved torture or
depravity of mind;

{6) The murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding, interfering with, or preventing
a lawful arrest or prosecution of the defendant or another; and

(7) The murder was committed while the deferidant was engaged in contmilting, or was an
accomplice in the comnission of, or was attempting to commit, or was flecing alter
commitling or altempting to commit, any first degrec murder, mson, rape, robbery,
burglary, larceny. kidnapping, aireraft piracy, or udlawfal throwing, placing, or
discharging of a destructive device or bomb,
Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-2-203(1)(2), (3), (6), and (7) (1982) (repealed 1989). Petitioner was also
sentenced to 125 years for the armed robbery to be served consecutive to the death sentence. On

appeal, the appellate courts affirmed both the convictions and sentences. State v, King, 718

S.W.2d 241 (Tenn. 1986).

543
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Post-Conviction
Petitioner subsequently filed a petition for post-conviction relief which was denied by the
trjal court, and the denial was affirmed by the appellate courts. King v. State, 989 3. W.2d 319
(Tenn.) (finding Middlebrogks® error to be harinless error), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 875 (1999).°
Petitioner subsequently filed an unsuccessful motion to reopen his post-conviction

proceedings based upon Ring v, Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), United States v. Allen, 536 U.S.

953 (2002), and Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 1.S. 266 (2000). The court of criminal appeals

denied permission to appeal pursuant to Tenn. R. App. Pro. 28, and then the Tennessec Supreme

Couwrt denied permission io appeal. Terry Lynn King v, State, No. E2003-00701-CCA-R28-PD

(Teon. Crim. App. July &, 2003) and Terry Lyno King v. State, No. E2003-00701-SC-R11-PD

{Fenn. November 24, 2003).

Federal Habeas Corpus Proceedings

Petitioner’s first petition for writ of habeas corpus filed in the United States District Court
for the Eastcin District of Tennessee was denied by the district court and alfirmed on appeal.
habeas relief, holding that the State's use of the Grainger Counly murder conviction “as an
aggravating circumstance in the sentencing of an wnrelated bul pending murder charge” was “a
collateral consequence of the plea, about which King need not be advised in order for his plea to
be found vohuiary™).

Petitioner subsequently filed a second habeas proceeding in which he was also denied

relief. Terry Lynn King v. Ricky Bell. Warden, 2011 WL 3566843 (E.D, Tenn. August 12,

2011)(order). After the district court denied habeas corpus relief, Petitioner filed a motion to alter

? State v. Middlebrooks, 840 S.W.2d 317 (Tenn. 1992).

3 The Middlebrooks ervor referred to was a finding that the {({)(7) aggravating factor was impropetly applied in
Petitioner’s case. This finding was held to be harmless based on the remaining three aggravating circumstances.
3

14a
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or amend the disfrict court's memorandum and judgment order with respect to the Brady claims
and a motion for stalus. The court denied the motions after finding they were attempts to “re-argue

the points previously considered.” Terry Lynn King v. Ricky Bell, Warden, No. 3:99-cv—454

(E.D. Tenn. Sept. 25, 2013) (memorandum and order). The court also declined to certify any of
Petitioner's ¢laims for review by the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals; however, on October 28,

2014, an order was entered granting a certificate of appealability on two claims of ineflective

Oct. 28, 2014) {order). On February 9, 2017, the Sixth Circuit affirmed the district court’s denial

of relief. King v, Westbrooks, 847 F.3d 788 (6th Cir, 2017). Petitioner then filed a Petition to

Rehear which is currently being held in abeyance.

Writ of Error Coram Nabis

Petitioner filed a petition for a writ of error coram nobis on June 25, 2013, in Knox County
Criminal Court. The trial court denied the petition as untimely, and the denial was affirmed by the
appellate courts. King v. State, 2015 WL 3409486 (Tenn. Crim. App. May 28, 2015), perm. app.

denied, (Tenn, September 16, 2015), cert. denied, King v. Tennessee, 136 S. Ct. 2449 (2016).

III.  Analysis of Non-Johnson Claims Raised In October 2017 and October 2018
Petitions

In his October 2017 and October 2018 Amended Petitions, Petitioner raised several claims

not related to his Johnson v. United States claim.

Initially, this Court finds that the additional claims raised in Claims I, I, 111, IV, and VI
were not covered by the order granting the motion to reopen. This Court specifically permitted the
motion to reopen only as it related to the Johnson claim. Therefore, Claims I-IV, and VI are
beyond the scope of the current proceedings.

Even if this Court were to assume the additional claims were within the scope of the

4

545



current proceedings, such claims would be subject to preliminary review pursuant to Tenn. Code
Ann. § 40-30-106,* and each of these claims are either previously determined, waived, and/or
time-barred.

Claim I

Claim I asserts that the State failed to turn over “materially exculpatory evidence that
would have assisted him in both the guilt-innocence as well as the seniencing phase of his trial” in
violation of his constitutional rights. Specifically, he alleges the State withheld a TBI report
which indicated the victim was only shot one time and medical records which showed Lori Carter,
a prior victim, did not have the injuries she deseribed at trial. By the Petitioner’s own admissions,
this allepedly “exculpatory” evidence wag discovered during federal litigation in 2000, over 17

years ago. Clearly, these claims are time-barred under Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-30-102. Sec King v.

Stale, 2015 WL 3409486 (Tenn. Crim. App. May 28, 2015), perm. app. denied, (Tenn. September

16, 2015), cert. denied, King v, Tennessee, 136 S. Ct. 2449 (2016)(Same issues raised in petition

for wril of error coram nobis deemed time-barred).’

7 Relief under the Post-Conviction Procedure Act is available when a petitionet's "conviction or sentence is void or
vaidable because of the abridgment of any right guaranteed by the Constitution of Tennessee or the Constitution of the
United States.” Tenn. Code Ann, § 40-30-103 (2012), "The potition must contain a clear and specific statement of all
grounds upon which relief is sought, including full disclosure of the fuctual basis of those grounds.” Tenn. Code Ann.
§ 40-30-106(d) (2014). The court preliminarily reviews the petition to determine if any issues raised ghould be
dismissad us either previously determined and/or waived, Tenn. Code Ann, § 40-30-106(0-(h){2014). The procedural
bars of previons detevmination and waiver ave statutorily defined:
(&) A ground for relief is waived if the petitioner personaily or through an sttoyney failed to present
it for determination in any proceeding before a court of competent jurisdiction in which the ground
could have been presented unless:
(1) The claim for relief is based upon a constitutional right not recognized as existing at the
time of trial jf either the federal or state constitulion réquires retroactive application of that right; or
(2) The failure to present the ground was the result of state action in violation of the federal
or state constitution,
(b) A ground for relief is previously delermined if a court of competent jurisdiction has ruled on
the merits after a full and fair hearing. A full and fair hearing has occurred where the petitioner is
afforded the opportunily to call witnesses and otherwise present evidence, regardless of whether the
petitioner actually introduced any evidence.
Tenn. Code Ann, § 40-30-106(g) and (h); sec Tenn, S. Ct. R, 28, Section 2(D) and (E).
9 hose issues huve also been raised in federal court and have thus Tar been unsuccessful. Terry Lynn King v, Ricky
Bell, Warden, 2011 W, 3566843 (L., Teun. August 12, 2011)(order), alf’d, King v. Westbrooics, 847 K.3d 788 (6th
Cir. 2017)(petition to rehear pending).

5

16a

546



Claim I

Claim IT asserts “Mr. King’s death sentence is based on an aggravating circumstance that
arose as a result of a denial of counsel in this matter” in violation of his right to counsel. This
claim focuses on his assertion he was denied his right to counsel because he was not represented in
the Knox County case while it was pending in the grand jury and while he was also entering a
guilty plea to first degree murder and aggravating kidnapping in Grainger County. He claims le
was not properly advised of the potential consequences his Grainger County case would have on
his Kunox County case and the potential sentence., Petitioner raised a related issue on posi-

conviction in his Grainger County case unsuccessfully, Terry King v, State, 1990 WL 198178

(Tenn. Crim, App. Dec. 11, 1990),° perm. app. devied, (Tenn. 1991)(Grainger County post-

conviction), and again in the federal courts. King v, Dutton, 17 F.3d 151 (6th Cir.), cert. denied,

S§12 ULS. 1222 (1994) and Terry Lynn King v. Ricky Bell, Warden, 2011 WI, 3566843 (E.D.
Tenn. August 12, 2011) (order). To the extent that petitioner claims he received ineffective
assistance of counsel in counsel’s failure to advise of the consequences of his Granger County
plea, this too was discussed in the post-conviction of his Grainger County case. In addition,
Petitioner taised this issue but failed to pursue it in his first post-conviction proceeding. As such,
Claim Il has been previously determined and/or waived.

Lastly, to the extent not previousty raised, this issue would also be time-barred.

Claim 1T

Claim I asserts ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to adequately investigate and
present as mitigation the impact of Petitioner’s organic brain damage. Initially, this Court finds
this issue is time-barred. Petitioner rclies upon a 1999 MRI and a 2001 report by an expert in
support of this claim. Petitioner was aware of this issue for at least 16 years and failed to present

§ Petition to rehear denied at Terry King v, Statg, 1991 WL 7906 (Tenn. Crim. App. January 30, 1991),
6
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the claim in state court.

To the extent that this issue has not been previously raised, this issue is waived.” This
847 F.3d 788, 797-99 (6" Cir. 2017) (petition to rehear pending).

Claim IV

Claim 1V again raises the issue raised in the motions to reopen claiming Hurst v. Florida,
S7TTUS, ., 136 8. Ct 616 (2016), announced a new rule of constitutional law. This
Court’s order dated April 3, 2017, already found this issue to be without merit and this Court will
not readdress this issue here.

Clain VI8

Petitioner claims he is entitled to relief based upon the cumulative effect of the errors
contained in Claims I through V. This Court, however, has found that Claims 1-IV arc time-
barred, previously determined, and/or waived. The only issue remaining for consideration by this
Court is Claim V, which was the only issue this Court permitted to proceed on the motion to
reopen. This Cowrt finds no basis for a claim of cumulative error which would warrant
consideration.

Claim VII?®

Petitioner claims the use of convictions which occurred subsequent to the offense for
which the Petitioner was sentcnced to death as “prior convictions” pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann.
§39-2-203(1)(2) (1982) (prior violent felony aggravating circumstance) violated the clear language
of the statute, as well as his constitutional right to due process and his rights under the Eighth

Amendment of the United States Constitution. This issue is also beyond the scope of these

7 In addition, the issue of failure (o present mental health expertise has been previously presented and rejected. King:
v. State, V89 8,W.2d 319 (Tenn, 1999), See also Terry Lynn King v, Ricky Bell, Warden, 2011 WL 3566843 (E.D.
Tenn. August 12, 2011) (order), aff’d, King v. Westbrooks, 847 F.3d 788 (6th Cir. 2017) (petition to vehear pending).

¥ Claim VII was incorrectly labeled as Clafm P11 in the October 30, 2018, Second Amended Petition.
Z
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proceedings. Even if not beyond (he scope, it is not appropriately before the court as it is waived
and time-barred.

On or About July 2, 1983, Mr. Todd Millard was killed in Grainger County. Ms. Diana
Smith, the victim in the instant case, loft her home on July 31, 1983, her car was discovercd on
August 4, 1983, and her body was discovered on August 6, 1983, On August 8, 1983, Petitioner
admitted to being present at the death of Mr, Millard and to the killing of Ms. Smith. On August
10, 1983, an arrest warrant was issued for Petitioner in the death of Mr. Millard, and Petitioner
was subsequently indicted on the same charge. On May 3, 1984, Petitioner cntered a plea of guilty
1o the murder of Todd Millard in Gramger County.

Meanwhile, Petitioner was indicted on February 20, 1984, in Knox County for the
aggravated kidnapping of Ms. Donna Bowles on August 3, 1983, supposedly after the death of
Ms. Smith, He subsequently entered a guilty plea to the kidnapping of Ms. Bowles prior to his
trial on the offenses related to Ms. Smith. On July 16, 1984, Petitioner was indicted in Knox
County for the murder of Ms. Smith. On February 1, 1985, Petitioner was convicted of the felony
murder of Ms. Smith and sentenced to death. In support of the sentence of death, the State relied
upon the conviction related to Mr, Millard and Ms. Bowles to support the factor that “the
defendant was previously convicted of one or more felonies, other than the present charge, which
involve the use or threat of violence to the person.” See Tenn. Code Ann, § 39-2-203(1)(2) (1982,

This is not a new issue. It is well established law in Tennessce that for purposes of Tenn,
Code Ann. §39-13-204(1)(2), “so long as a defendant is convicted of a violent felony prior fo the

sentencing hearing at which the previous conviction is introduced, this aggravating cizcumstance

65 (Tenn. 1984)); see also State v. Dellinger, 79 S.W.3d at 472; State v. Slout, 46 S.W.3d 689,
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719 (Tenn. 2001). In other words, the “prior” offense may occur after the date of the commission
of the capital offense so long as the defendant is convicted of the “prior” offense before the capital
trial, This has been the law for many years. Accordingly, this Court finds this issue has been

waived for failure to raise it previously and is time-barred.

V. Johnson Claim

Petitioner argues in his Motion to Reopen and his Amended Petitions for Post-Conviction
United States. 135 8, Ct. 2551 (2015). Specifically, Petitioner claims the langnage of the prior
violent felony aggravating circumstance in Tennessee’s capital sentencing statute, Tenn, Code
Ann. § 39-2-203(1)(2)(1982), is unconstitutionally vague under Johnson.

Initially, when this Court ruled Petitioner had stated a “‘colorable claim” as to Johnson,
there was no authority in Tennessee which addressed this issue. Since then, the Tennessee Court

of Criminal Appeals has decided Donnie Johnson v, State, No. W2017-00848-CCA-R28-—PD

(Tenn. Crim. App. September 11, 2017), perm. app. denied, (Tenn. January 19, 2018). In

Jolmson, the court held

In [Johnson v. United States], the Supreme Court held that the “residual clause” contained
in the definition of a violent felony of the federal Armed Carcer Criminal Act ol 1984
(ACCA) is unconstitutionally vague. Jomson, 135 S. CL at 2557. The ACCA increases the
punishment of u defendant convieled of being a felon in possession of a firearin if he or she
has three or more previous convictions for a violent felony. 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(1). The
ACCA defines “violent felony™ as

“any crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year . . . that —
(1) has as an element the use, altempted use, or threaténed use of physical force
against the person of ancther; or (ii) is burglary, arson, or extortion, involves the
use of explosives, or otherwise involves conduct that presents a serious potential
risk of physical injury to another.”§924(e)2)(B) (emphasis added).

The “otherwise involves conduct that presents a serious potential risk of physical injury to
another” language is known as the ACCA’s “residual clause,” Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2556.
The court observed that, “unlike the part of the definition of a vielent felony that asks

9
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whether the crime “has as an element the use ... of physical force,” the residual clausc asks
whether the crime ‘involves conduct’ that presents too much risk of physical injury.” Jd, at
2557, (emphasis in original). In making its ruling, the Supreme Court reasoned that the
residual clause is unconstituijionally vague because it “leaves grave uncertainty about how
to estimate the risk posed by a erime” and it “leaves uncertainty aboul how much risk i
takes for a crime to qualify us a violent felony.” /d. at 2557-58. Tn other words, “[d]eciding
whether the residual clause covers a crime thus requires a court (o picture the kind of
couduet that the crime involves in “the ordinary case,” and to judge whether that abstraction
presents a serious potential risk of physical injury.” Id. at 2557, That “task goes beyond
deciding whether creation of risk is an clement of the crime.” Jd. (emphasis added). As
such, the majority declined (he dissent’s supgestion that looking ut the particular facts
underlying the prior violent folony could save the residual clavse from vagnencss. Id. at
561-62.

The Petitioner alleges that the Johknson decision created a new constitutional right that
would provide an avenue of relisf pursuant lo Tennessee Code Aunotated section 40-30-
L17(a) 1), We must {irst look al Joknson to determine if a new constitutionsl right was
created. Tennessee Code Annotated section 40-30-122 addresses interpretation of a new
rule of constituticnal law stating in patt:

“For purposes of this patt, a new rule of consiitulional erimimal iaw is announced if
the 1esalt is not dictated by precedent existing at the time the petitioner’s
conviction became final and application of the rule was susceptible to debate
among reasonable minds.”

Further, the courts have determined that a “case announces 2 new rule when it breaks new
ground or imposes a new obligation on the States or the Federal Government [or] ... if the
result was not dictated by precedent existing at the time the defendani’s convietion became
final” Teague v. Lare, 109 S.Ct 1060, 1070 (1989) (citations omitted); see alse Van Tran
v, Stare, 66 S W.3d 790, 810-11 (Tem. 2001}, On its face, the Jolmson deeision does not
appear to create a new coustitutional right but only applics an existing constitutional test Lo
a statute. When referencing Jokmson, the United States Supreme Court described the
reasoning for the decision as follows:

“Last Term, this Court decided Johnson v, Unifed Stares, 135 S.Ct. 2551 (2015).
Johnson considered the residval clause of the Armed Career Criminal Act of 1984,
18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(ii). The Court held that provision void for vagueness,”

Welch v, United States, 136 8. Ct, 1257, 1260-61 (2016) (emphasis added). The court
further stated:

“Less than three weeks later, this Court issued its decision in Johnsor holding, as
already noted, that the residual clause is void for vagueness.”

Id {emphasis added). The ruling of the Welch cowrt reinforces the idea that no new
constitutional right was created by the Joknson opinion. The “void for vagueness” doctrine
was not a new creation of the Johnson court in that the due process provisions of the 5th
and 14th amendments have been utilized many times prior to Johnsor 10 deterine that a
statute is uncomstitutionally vague. City of Chicago v. Morales, 119 S. Ct. 1849 (1999)
{speculation as to meaning of statute not allowed); Maynard v. Carnwright, 108 S.Ct. 1853
{1988) (aggravating circumstance language held as unconstitutionally vague); Kolender v.
Leanvson, 103 8, Ct. 1855 (1983) (statute held to be unconstitutionally vague by requiring
“credible and reliable” identification); Colaueti v. Franklin, 99 S. Ct. 675 (1979) (statute
10
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vague due to required interpretation of “is viable™ and “may he viable™); Smith v, Goguen,
94 S, Ct. 1242 (1974) (due process is denied where inherently vague statutory language
permits selective law enforcement), Grayned v, City of Rockford, 92 8. Ct. 2294 (1972
(enactinent is void for vagueness if its prohibitions ure not clearly delined). As such, we
cannot find that the United States Supreme Court established a4 new constitutional right
througl its ruling in Johrnson.

Even if a new retroactively applicable constitutional vight was created by the Jokmson
decision, such ruling would not offer relief to the Petitioner. The argutnent of the Petitioner
is that one of the aggravating factors found by the jury to senience the Petitioner ta death is
vague and under the ruling espoused by the Johnson court would be unconstitutional. The
statule referenced by the Pefitioner has been amengded since the time of his trial and
conviction but at the time of trial stated: “The defendast was previously convicted of oue
or more felonies, other than the present charge, which involve the use or threat of violence
to the person.” Tern. Code Ann. §39-13-204()(2)(1988). A comparison of the two clauses
the ACCA and the pre-1989 (1)(2) provision reveals that application of the Johnson court
ruling would not resuft in the finding that the pre-1989 (i)(2) provision is unconstitutionally
Vague,

The “residual clause” ov the ACCA defines a violent felony as a felony that “otherwise
involves condnct that presents a serious risk of physical injury to anotber” while the pre-
1989 ()(2) provision reguired that the felony “iuvolve the use or threat of violence to the
person.” The vagueness of the ACCA provision arose out of the multitude of potential
means for physical injury o arvise from a crime. As set out in the Joknson opinion, the
phirasing of the ACCA required the trier of fact to determine any number of outcomes of a
crime that may result in injury. Id. at 2557-2558. The determination was not a fact based
determination upon the actual crime for which the defendant was being tried but a
determination that in the ordinary course of the listed crime could the risk of physical
injury arise. o, The veason for this interpretation of the ACCA was the prior ruling by the
Supreme Court fn Tedor v UDwited States vequiring the cowrt to use the “categorical
approach” in applying the ACCA. Id. (¢iting Taylor v. United States, 110 S. Ct. 2143
{1990)). Under this “categorical approach®, the court must assess “whether a crine
gualifies as a violent felony ‘in terms of how the law defines the offense and not in terins
of how an individual offender might have committed it on a particular occasion.” Zd.
(citing Begay v. United States, 128 S, Ct. 1581 (2008)). With these constiaints, the ACCA,
as written, required the trier of fact to imagine some far reaching machination to detennine
any number of possible outcomes not specifically related to the underlying felony.

The pre-1989 (1)(2) provision differs from the ACCA in ils specificity ihar the prior
elonies involve the use or threat of violence to a person and the governance of how the
prior crime is to be interpreted. Unlike the ACCA, which had been Himited in interpretation
by Begay and Taylor. there was no such limilation requiring the “ordinavy case”
interpretation of the prior felony portion of the {1)(2) aggravator at the thme of the lriul of
the Petitioner. The Tennessee Supreme Court had previously taken up the issue of how to
determine if the prior felony involved violence 1o 4 person purstant to the (0)2) provision
as then written. See State v. Moore, 614 S.W.2d 348 (Tenn. 1981} The instruction given
from the Tennessee Supreme Court in Moore distingnishes itself from the stated
unconstitutional weakaess in JoAwson in that the Moore court required a determination of
the existence of violence to a person to be made on the facts of the actual crime charged.
Id at 351, Moore centered its determination around prior crimes of arson and burglary,
both of which the court found could be crimes that did or did net involve violence to the
person depending upon the facts of the specitic case. /d. With Adoore as guidance for the
application of the “use or threat of violence” language of the pre-1989 (i)(2) provision, the
1
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vagueness shortcoming ot the ACCA as found in Johnson would not apply. 4oore did not
limit determination of the pre-1989 (i}(2) provision to an “ordinary case” of the prior
felony but required the court to look at the specific acts of the prior felony to determine if
the use or threat of violence to a person was present. As such, the ruling of the Supreme
Court in Johnsor would have no effect upon the pre-1989 version of Tennessce Code
Annotated section 29-13-204(i)(2) and the post-conviction court did not abuse its
discretion in denying the Petitioner’s motion.

As stated in Donnic Johnson above, the appellate courts have now addressed this issue and

determined Petitioner is not entitled to relief on this issue. Accordingly, this Court finds this issue

is without merit.

Y. Conclusion
For the reasons stated above, Claims I, I, I, IV, VI, and VII are dismissed as beyond the
scope of these proceedings, as well as for being previously determined, waived, and/or time-

barred. Issue V is without merit. Accordingly, this matter is hereby DISMISSED.

IT IS SO ORDERED this the lﬂd day of_ A’:&\M‘ 201?

S&dtl Green
Criminal Court Judge
Division 3

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

1, enadie Mok , Clerk, hereby certify that 1 have mailed atrue

and exact copy of same to Counsel of Record for the petitioner, and the State this the a4 y* ' day of

Dpauaneg p

_%LY\&_C@M«.%A S

Clerk/Deputy Clerk
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(Whereupon, the Court adjourned, to reconvene

at 9 o'clock a.m. on the 6th day of February,

1985. The jury returned to open court, and,

after the call of the jury was waived by all

parties, the jury again retired to consider

its verdicts.)

(Whereupon, at 1:06 p.m., the jury returned

to open court, and, after the call of the

jury was walved by all parties, the jury reported

its verdicts as follows:)

THE COURT: All right. You have reached a verdict
as to defendant Terry Lynn King; is that correct, sir?

THE FOREMAN: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Would you stand and deliver it.

THE FOREMANMN: The verdict is death by electrocution.

THE COURT: All right. If that is the verdict of
each and every juror with regard tc defendant Terry Lynn King,
let it be known by raising your right hand.

(The jury so indicated.)

THE COURT: That is the verdict of the jury.

And have you reached a verdict as to the defendant
Randall Joe Sexton?

THE FOREMAN: Yes, we have.

THE COURT: And what is that verdict?

THE FOREMAN: Life imprisonment.

PAGE__Q57
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THE COURT: If that is the verdict of each and
every juror, let it be known by raising your right hand.

(The jury so indicated.)

THE COURT: That is the verdict of each and every
juror.

You may be seated.

All right. Members of the jury, your verdicts are
accepted. If you'll step out with your officers, I want to discy
some matters with you before you are discharged.

(Whereupon, the jury retired from open court,

after which the further following proceedings

were had, to-wit:)

THE COURT: All right. Gentlemen, would you approach
the bench.

(Whereupon, a bench conference was held off

the record, after which the further following

proceedings were had, to-wit:)

THE COURT: All right. The sentencing hearing will
be February the 28th, Thursday.

MR. BURKS: Your Honor, will the motion for new trial
and everything be done at that time?

THE COURT: Yes. All right, Mr. King, please stand.
Do you have anything to say to the Court before sentence is
pronounced?

MR. KING: I'm very sorry for all that's happened.

PAGE ____9858
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I wished I could change them, but I can't.

THE COURT: Upon the verdict of the jury finding
you, Terry Lynn King, to be guilty of murder in the first
degree, as charged in the indictment, and upon the further
verdict of the jury fixing your punishment at death, it is,
therefore, ordered that you shall be put to death by electro-
cution in the mode prescribed by law, and that you shall be
transferred to the custody of the warden at the State
Penitentiary at Nashville, where on the 1st day of August,
1985, your body shall be subjected to shock by a sufficient
current of electricity until you are dead.

You may be seated.

(Whereupon, the Court adjourned.)

PAGE . 959
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FRIDAY, MARCH 8, 1985

Court met pursuant to adjournment, present and presiding
the Honorable Ray L. Jenkins, Judge of Division II, Criminal Court
for Knox County, Tennessee, when the following proceedings

were had and entered of record, to-wit:

THE STATE NC. 21126
Vs
TERRY LYNN KING, ALIAS & MURDER & KIDNAPPING & ARMED ROBBERY

RANDALL JOE SEXTON, ALIAS

AS TO TERRY LYNN KING: Came the Attorney General for the

State, also defendant in proper person, having counsel present

and came on for sentencing hearing. AS TO 6TH COUNT OF INDICTMENT:

The defendant having been found guilty of Aggravated Kidnapping

by jury verdict on February 1, 1985 and the Court having considered
the evidence, the Court sets aside the jury verdict as to this
count . pursuant. to Briggs vs. State of Tennessee, Tenn. 5738SW2d-

157. AS TO 7TH COUNT OF INDICTMENT: On February 1, 1985 the

defendant having been found guilty by jury verdict of the offense
.of Armed Robbery, the defendant is convicted of Armed Robbery.
.After considering the evidence, the entire record, and all factors
in T.C.A. Title 40, Chapter 43, all of which are incorporated

by reference herein, the Court hereby fixes the punishment at

125 years in the State Penitentiary, the Court having found the
offense to be especially aggravated the punishment for which falls

within Range II as defined by statute. AS TO 3RD COUNT OF THE

INDICTMENT: Judgment having been entered on February 11, 1985,
it is further ordered that this sentence be served consecutively
with the sentence in Case No. 19530 previously imposed and Case
NO. 2381 imposed by Grainger County Circuit Court. AS TO 7TH

COUNT OF INDICTMENT: It is, therefore, the judgment of the Court
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This sentence shall be served consecutively with the sentence
imposed in the 3rd Count of this Case and the sentence previously
imposed in Case No. 19530 and the sentence in Case No. 2381 in

Grainger County Circuit Court. AS TO ALL COUNTS: Defendant's

Motion for New Trial came on to be heard and said Motion being
argued by counsel, considered and well understood by the Court,
is, in all things hereby OVERRULED. The defendant shall be trans-
ferred to the State Penitentiary to be held pending any appeal.
The Clerk will furnish a transcript of this judgment to the Warden

of the Penitentiary at her earliest convenience. AS TO RANDALL

JOE SEXTON: Came the Attorney General for the State, also defendant
in proper person, having counsel present and came on for sentencing

hearing. AS TO 6TH COUNT OF INDICTMENT: The defendant having

been found guilty of Aggravated Kidnapping by jury verdict on
February 1, 1985 and the Court having considered the evidence,
the Court sets aside the jury verdict as to this Count, pursuant
to Briggs vs. State of Tennessee, Tenn. 573SW2d-157. AS TO 7TH

COUNT OF THE INDICTMENT: On February 1, 1985 the defendant having

been found guilty of jury verdict of the offense of Armed Robbery,
the defendant is convicted ¢f Armed Robbery. After considering

the evidence, the entire record, and all factors in T.C.A. Title
40, Chapter 43, all of which are incorporated by reference herein,
the Court hereby fixes the punishment at 125 years in the State
Penitentiary, the Court having found the offense to be especially
agravated the punishment for which falls within Range II as defined

by statute. AS TO 3RD COUNT OF INDICTMENT: It is, therefore,

the judgment of the Court that the defendant for the offense for
which he stands convicted, to-wit: First Degree Murder, shall

be imprisoned in the State Penitentiary for Life, the offense
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This sentence shall be served consecutively with the sentence
in case No. 2381 previously imposed by Grainger County Circuit
Court. The defendant is given credit for 577 days jail time.

(In custody from August 9, 1983 to March 8, 1985.) AS TO 7TH

COUNT QOF INDICTMENT: It is, therefore, the judgment of the Court:
that the defendant for the offense for which he stands convicted,
to-wit: Armed Robbery, shall be imprisoned in the State Penitent-
iary for a period of 125 years, the offense being an especially
aggravated offense which falls within Range II ans shall pay

all the costs of this prosecution; that he be rendered infamous,

as provided by law. This is a Class X Felony. This sentence

shall be served consecutively with the sentence imposed in the

3rd Count of this Case and the sentence in Case No. 2381 previously

imposed by Grainger County Cricuit Court. AS TO ALL COUNTS:

Defendant's Motion for New Trial came on for hearing and said
Motion being argued by counsel, considered and well understood

by the Court, is, in all things hereby OVERRULED. On motion

of the Hon. Chuck Burks and the Hon. Paul Dunn, retained counsel
in this case and for good cause shown, the defendant is declared
indigent for purposes of appeal and the Hon Chuck Burks and Hon.
Paul Dunn are appointed as defense counsel for purposes of any
appeal. The defendant shall be transferred to the State Penitent-|
jary to be held pending any appeal. The Clerk will furnish a
transcript of this judgment to the Warden of the: Penitentiary

at her earliest convenience.
COURT ADJOURNED UNTIL MONDAY, MARCH 11, 1985, AT 9:00 A. M.

(S) RAY L.. JENKINS
RAY L. JENKINS, JUDGE
DIVISION IT
CRIMINAL COURT
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State v. King. 718 S W.2d 241 {1986}

718 SSW.2d 241
Supreme Court of Tennessee,
at Knoxville.

STATE of Tennessee, Appellee,
V.

Terry Lynu KING, Appellant.

No. 174
|
July 28, 1986.

Rehearing Denled Oct. 27, 1986.

Syuopsis

Defendant was convicted of murder in the tirst degree while in
perpetration of simple kidnapping by confinement. and armed
robbery, Defendant was sentenced to death by electrocution
on feiony-nrarder conviction. and 1o serve term of 123 vears
on armed robbery conviction by the Criminal Courl. Knox
County, Ray 1, Jenkios, b, and defendant appealed. The
Supreme Court, Cooper. J, held that: (1) evidence was
sufficient fo sustain conviction: {2) jury insteuetions on lesser
included offenses were not requived: (2) codetendants were
properiy tied together; (41 defendunt should not have been
examined as to his eriminat actions as fuvenile: and (3) skull
and skufl fragments were properly admitted as relevant to
clement of delibevation and premeditation.

Affirmed.

Attornevs and Law Firms

#243 Rebert R Simpson. Tipton. Eshbaugh and Simpson,
Nitwonville, for appellant,

Gordon W, Smith. Asst. Ady. Gen , W.1. Michael Cody. Atty.
Gen. and Reporier. Nushville, for appellee.

OPINION
COOPER, fusiice,
Ihis is adirectappeal of a death penalty sentence, Defendant,

[eiry Lynn King. was convicted of murder in the first

dearce while in the perpetration of a simple Kidnapping by

confinement. and anned rohbcr}a; He was sentenced to death
by clectrocution on the felony murder conviction, and to
serve a teem of 123 years on the armed robbery conviction,
He challenges both convictions and seantences on several
grounds, including rudings by the triul court on preliminary
motions, vair dire, the admission ol evidence. sbjections (o
arguments of counscl, and the court's instructions to the jury.
Defendant also insists that the Tennessee Death Penalts Act
T.C.AL § 39-2--203 is unconstitutional. On consideration of
the issues raised by appellant and after a review of the entire
vecord. we are of the opinion hat no reversible error was
commitied in either the convicling or sentencing phase of
the teial. that the verdicts and seatences are sustained by the
evidence, and. particwlarly. that the sentence of death under
the circumstances of these convictions is in no way arbitrary

the senience of death.

The victim of both crimes for which delendant stands
convicted was Digna K. Smith. Mrs, Swith it her home
on Sunday afiernoon, Tuly 310 19830 w0 go o a newby
MeDonald's to get food for her family, Her autemobile. a
1979 Caimare. was found on August 4, 1985, off the voud in a
heavily wooded area near Blaine. Tenoessee,

On August 6, 1983, Mrs, Donna Allen went to the Asbury
quarry in Knox County to swinw She nonticed a strange odor
conting from a yellow tarpaudin in the water necar the baok.
and reported the circumstance to the sheriff's office. On
following-up Mrs. Allen's report. officers found the body of
a while female in an advanced state of decamposition. The
body was luter idenitficd as being that of Mrs. Swiith. Death
was (rom one or more shots Nred into the back of Mrs. Smith's

head from a high-powered weapon.

In the course of the police investigation, the atleniion ol
the officers was locused on Terry King and Randall Sexton
when Jerry Childers. an acquaimance ol King. reported a
conversation he had had with King and what he had found
when he followed up on the conversation.

Jerry Childers testified that Terry King came to his house on
the afternoon of Monday. August L. 1983, and inquived as to
whether Childers koew anyone thal wanled to buy parls {rom
a 1979 Camaro. According to Childers. King told Childers he
had *244 killed the womun who owned the automobile afler
she threatened to charge defendant with rape. According to
Childers. defendant said he made the woman get out of the
car trunk where he had confined licr and lie Tace down on the
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ground. that the woman faced the defendant and begged hirn
not to shoot frer and offered money, and that he ovdered her to
tirn her head away from him, When she did, he shot herin the
buck of the head. Defendant also told Childers he ook Torty
dollars from the woman as well as wking her automobile.

The tollowing Friday. which was August 5. 1983, Childers
related defendant's story o Mr, Bulord Watson, On Sunday,
Childers wenf to the Jocation delendant had described as
the place of the killing and {ound something with hair on
it Childers then gave the information he had to Deteclive
Hlermun Johuson of the Krox County Sheriff's Department
and T.B.1. agent. David Duvenport. In following up the veport.
the alticers raet Childers near Richland Creck and secarched
the wea, {inding pivecs of bone. hair. and bloodstains, A
fater more thorough search turned ap bullet fragmenis and

additiong] bone v

i the cowse of the police invesligation, defendant and co-
defendant, Sexton, were interviewed by the officers, Both
pave writien statements detailing the events of the night of
July 31, 1983, Neither detfendant testified in the guilt phase
of the trial, but their starements were introduced in evidence,
Both defendants sestified in the sentencing phase of the trial
and repeated in substance the facts set forth in the statemenis

piven thie police officers in their statements.

Fhe stateiments of King and Sexton were markedly similar for
the time the two men were together. King's statement was the
more comprehensive since it covered the enlire period of lime
he was with Mes. Smiith, According to delendant, he and his
cousin, Don King. picked up Mrs. Smith at the Cherokee Dam
on Sunday. July 310 1983, Defendam drove Mys, Smith in her
automobiie 16 the nearby house trailer of his cousin, arriving
there around 7:00 p.m. Dan King drove his own automaobile
(o the trailer. Shorty after arriving al the trailer. defendant

called Bupene Thernbhill who came to the tratler and left with

detendant wo obiain 18D and quaaludes. Defendant said he

and Mrso Smith wole the drugs. Thereafter, defendant. Don
King. and Bugene Thorobill had sex with Mrs. Smith.

Afler
Mrs.,
They

stayving al the trailer for several hours. defendant and
Smith left in her awomobile. with defendant driving,
went Lo a wooded ares. where they agatn had sex. From
there, they went (o a service station (or gas, Mrs Smith got out
of the automobile and grabbed the keys. Defendant told her
Lo get back in the sutomebife and she did so. The defendant
drove Mrs, Smith back to the wooded area. where they again
had sex and the defendant took forly dollars fram Mrs, Smith.

According to defendani. Mrs. Smith then asked ~why did vou
all rape me?” Defendant stated that he knew then what he
was going to do. He told Mrs. Simith (o get into the trunk of
the automobile. When she did. defendant drove o Sexton's
house and told Sexton he had 4 woman in the cunk of the
automobile and needed Sexton's help. Delendunt got a rifle
from Sexton and alse a shovel. Defendant and Scxion then
left the Sexton home in separate automobiles. After making a
stop ala Publix station Lo purchase gas. defendant and Sexton
drove 10 a wooded arca near Richland Creck in Knox County.
Defendant drove the 1979 Camaro off the road and became
stuck. He then made Mrs. Smith get out ef the aitomobile
trunk and pointed the loaded rifle ather. Defendant niade Mis,
Smith lie down on Ue ground. assuring hes that he was not
poing to kill her. that others were coming to have sex with

her. Sexton lelt in his anfomaebile to retwn a funnel to the

gas station. While he was gone, defendant shot Mrs. Smitth in
the back of the head. On Sexton's retuen, and after getting the
Camare unstuck. the two went through Mres, Sinith's effects,
burnivg her identification. They then attempted w bury the
body. but gave up because of the hardness of the ground. The
next morning, defendant and Sexton wrapped Mrs, *243
Smith's body in a tent. weighted 1L with cinder blocks and

dumped it in the Asburn guarry, Mrs, Smith's automobile was

hidden near Sexton's house,

Agent Davenport testified that atter making his sislement. the
detendant took him and other officers to the place where the
Camaro was hidden and defendant also showed them where
he had hidden the automobiie Hicense plale in a bollow tree.
Fhe defendant also showed the officers where he had placed

the body in the quary and where the shooting occurved.

Tommy Heflin, a fircarms examinet for the Tennessee Burcay
of Investigation. testified thut he hud examined the 30
Marlin rifle belonging to Sexion, the metal bullet jacket, and
fragments recovered from the scenc of the killing. According
to Mg Heflin, the intact meal juckel had been fived from
Sexeon's vifle and the fraginents were fived from a rifle with
the same rifling characteristics as Sexton's riffe. My, Heflin
vas of the opinion that at least tvo bullets had been fired.

Dr. Joseph Parker, who performed an antopsy on the body ol
Mes, Smith, testitied that death was due to an extensive head
ijury consistent with gunshot wounds from o high-powered
rifle,

Over objection, the State also presented evidence through
Laori Bastman Carter that detendant had attempted (o kill her

12] LS OV E
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on Octoher 13, 1982, According to Mrs. Carter. King hit her
with a slapstich numerous times, while repeatedly asking ber
“how it feli 1o be dying, so thal the next woman he killed
he wauld know how she feli.” Mrs, Carier testilied that she
tust consciousness. Whet she came . she was still in her
automobile with her air volled up in the window. She further
testilicd that she heard detendant tell his consin that he had
Lilled her and wanted James King to help him put her in a
quarry and buen her automobile.

Jamies King disputed Mrs, Carter's version of evenls. saying
that defendant came to King's uine to get him 1o follow
defendant 1o St Mary's Tospital as Mrs. Carter was i1l and
needed treatment,

Karen Greeg, Lort Carter's sister. lestified that Mrs. Carter can

not be helioved, even under oadh.

The defendant oftered no othier evidence in the guilt phase of
the trial,

On considering the cvidence, the jury found that the
defendant and Randall Sexton were guilty of murdet in the
first degree in killing Diana Ko Smith in the perpetration ol a
simple kKidnapping by confinerment and of armed robbery. In
war opinion the evidence is overwhehning and supports the
juny's verdicl

Counsel tor the defendant bas called attention of the courl
t the fact that the tria) judge in instructing the jury did not
inciude a charae on murder ia the second degree, nor did he
tnclude @ charge on voluntary or involuntary manslaughter.
Detendant insists this was crror,

fhe record shows that defendant was indicted {or both
common faw murder and two counts of felony murder. and
all counts were submitted o the jury tor decision. Anytime
a court instructs a jury in a homicide case. e should instruct
all fesser included offenses and in most instanees it s crver
not fo do so. But where the evideace cleatly shows that
defendant was guilty of the greater offense. it s not crror to
fail to charge on a lesser included olfense. Staze v Aleflons.
S87 S W24 497 (Tenn (977 Johmson v State, 331 8 W.2d
S38. 539 (Tenn 1978); Stae vo Wrighe, 618 5. W.2J 316,
A5 (Tenn.Crim App. 1981}, In this case the record of the
guilt phase of the wial is devoid of any cvidence which

would permit an inference of guilt of second-degree murder

or the other lesser included offenses. The State's proof of

premeditation and deliberation, and the fact thay the Killing

oceurred during the commission ol a felony, which includes
the defendant's confessions to Childers and o the police, was
uncontradicted. Consequently. we find no prejudicial ercor in
the trial judge's refusal to insiruct the jury on the clements of
murder in the second degree.

#246 Defendant also charges that the jury comimenced its
deliberations prior to the trial judge's instructions ta the juy.
and that this deprived defendant ol a iair and impartial jury.

‘The record shows that before the caxe was submilled to
the jury for decision the jurors requested 1o “sce all paper
evidence,” From this. the defendant reasons that contrary
to the wrial judgc's instructions, the jwy had begun its
deliberations without being instructed on the applicable law
by the wial judge. We [ind no ment in this argument. As
is pointed out in Rushing v Stare, S65 5.W.2d 893, 893
{Tenn. Crim Apn 1977 deliberution in the contexi of a jury
function means that a “properly formed jury. comprised ot the
nuniber of qualified persons requived by law. are within the
secrecy of fhie jury roony, analyzing. discussing, and weieling
the evidence which they have heard with i view to reaching a
verdict based upon the law applicable to the facts of the case
as they find them to he” The mere fact thal the jurors agreed
Lo request all paper evidence in our opinion does not show
that the jurors were discussing, analyzing. and weighing the
evidence with a view to reaching a verdivt

The detendant Turther insists that the wial cowrt unduly
restricted questions 1o be asked on voir dire and that this was
ereor,

It is sctlled Jaw in Tennessee that the trial judge has wide
discretton in the examination of prospective juross. and his
action will not be disturbed unless there is an abuse ol
that discretion, Siaie v 329 S W 2ad 674, 682

. We find no abuse of disceclion in this casc,

Jefferson

Coungel Tor defendant was given great latitude in examining
progpective witnesses. The only questions excluded. and they
on motion by the State. were: “Mrs. Kincer. if vou had a vote

right now. how would you vote?”; and the question asked
ot a group of prospective jurors ~... |D]ocs anyone have the
opinion or think that il'a sentence of Tife ix meted out, thal the
detendantwill not serve the rest o his naturad bte in prison?”
in our opinion, the trigl judge ruled correctly in excluding both
questions. Counsel was permitted to ask questions concerning
the presumption of innocence. the burden of proof, and the
Jike. But o ask a juror how be would vote would be improper

as tending to exact a pledge fram the juror. See Chambers v
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Bradley County, 155,

as Lo the duration of

53 Tenn App, 384 SW.2d 43 (1964).

e question the life sentence also

was improper as the after effect of a jury's verdict is not
i proper consideration for the jury. Howston v Stare. 593
SSW.2d 267, 278 (Tenn 4980y Farris v State, 535 S.W.2d
G0%. old (fenn 19761 In any event, considering the wide
jatitude given defendant in voir dire, the cxclusion of these
two questions could not have had a prejudicial effect on the

osutcome of the trial,

of the
testimony of Lot Bastmian Carter, insisting that it was not

Defendant also fakes issue with the admission
refevant o a coniested issue. Bvidenee that a defendant has
comnntiticd some other crime wholly independent of that for
which he is being tried. even though it is a crime of the same
characler. qsually is not admissibie becanse It is rrefevant,
Bunctiv, Supe, 605 SW 2d, 227 'I’n:mxﬁ‘f?.()): Lee v Stute, 194
Ponmin 6872 254 S WA 747 (19530 Mavs v Srare, 145 Tonn

tis {006 11921 However. il evidence that the

i
defendant has commitied a criine separate and distinet frioim
the one on Wial, is relevant to soime matter setaally bt issuc in
the case on ivial and if its probative value as evidence ot such
nailer in tssue 15 not outweighed by its prejudicial eltfect upon
the defendant, then such evidence may be property admitted,
Buicdy v State, 605 S W 2d 227 (Tenn, 1980

e siale insists. as found by the trial judge. that the evidence
of the Lori Fastman Carter incident is relevant o the issues
of premeditation. intent. motive. and malice. The relevance
of the (estimony to these issues is fenuous at best and i
wonld hiave been betier for the trial judge Lo have excluded the
testimony in view of the strength of olher evidence on these
issucs. However, in our opinion, the admission of *247 the
evidence was harmiless beyond a reasonable doubt and could
not have alfected o any way the resuils of the trial or the
sentence imposed.

The defendant also insists thal the trial cowrt erved in failing
to compel the State o disclose 1o the defense the criminal
record of the witniess. Jorvy Childers. We see no error in the
trial court’s action. since the State has no duty, cither under

ihe Tennessee Rules of Criminal Procedure or by decisional

inve in this stafe. 4o provide such information (o the defendant.
W24 44, 51 (Tenn (984), Purther, i

sheuld be peinted ontthal the detendant suffered no prejudice

State v Woprbnir, 667 5

as the result of the court's ruling. The record reflects than
the defense had this information reparding the 19 year old
Georpfa auio (efl conviction,

The defendant insists that the trial judge erred o refusing to
scver the defendants tor trial and in admitting the confession
of Rundall Joe Sexton. a nonlcsli[\’ing co-delendant, citing
Braton v, United Stares, 391 UK 123 88 S.00 1620, 201,174
476 (1ungy.

The of
one co-delendant’s confession to implicate the othwer as
of the sing co-defendant’s Sinth

Amendment right of confrontation. However,

Bruton rule proscribes.  generally, the use

being violative noncontzs
Bruton 1s nol
violated when the defendent confesses and his confession
“interiocks™ in muterial aspects with the confession ol the co-
defendant. Parker v Randolpis, 442 L8 62,99 547
ol L.l 2d 713 (18979), See 48w
173, 47798 (Tenn 1573,

‘7?’;’7

also, Siure v fdlion. 32

Recognizing these oc

eneral stalements of law.

applicable
defendani ingists that the rechials in Sexton's statement that
“Terry [the defendant] said he wasn'L going to Tet ber jthe
victim] go, bediuse he was afraid fic would got in the samc
mess he got intowith Loe™ and that the defendant told hin he
had “choked™ the victim before placing her in the trunk of the
car and later removed her from the trunk and shot her while
she was begging for him noi 1o did not “interdock™ with the
defendant's confession to police,

It is true defendant’s contessien to the police did not recite
these facts, but his statement o Jeiry Childresa. alse admitted
in the trial, cured any material deficiency of the conlession
to the police. Childress testificd that the defendant (old him
he Killed the girl because “he had been in jail belore, and he
wasn't going back to jail” and that he put the victim in the
trunk of his car. later made her get out of the car and lic on
the ground, and put the gun to her head and shiot her after she
begged hing not to shoot and offered him money o et her po.

Fhe inculpatory confessions of and co-

the defendant

defendant interfocking in the crucial facts ol time, lecation,
felonious activity, and awwareness of the overall plan or
scheme, we find no Bruon violation in the admission in
evideuce of the contessions. See Parker v. Randolph. supra.
The coufessions being admissible. thar

it cannol beg said

the trial court erred in failing to grant a severance ol the
detendanis pursnant te Rude 1) of the Tennessee Bules of

Criminal Procedure.

Fiuding no material coror in the puilt phase of the trial. and
being convinced that the evidenve supports the jury’s finding
that defendant was guilty of murder in the first degree in

R S
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killing Digna K. Smith during the perpetration ol a sunple
kidnapping by conlinement and of armed robbery. we atfirm
both conviclions,

As o the sentencing phase of the trial, the State relied upon
evidence itroduced during the guilt phase. In addition. the
State introduced evidence showing that the defendant and
Sexton had been convicted previonsly of murder in the flrst
depree by use of a firearm n perpetration ol armed robbery
and ol aggravated kidnapping, both oflenses being committed
on July 20 1983, less than a month helore the defendants
killed Mrs.o smith, The State alse introduced evidence that
the defendund had been convicted of an assault with intent (o

cormmit aupravated kidnapping. whicliwas *248 committed

only three days after the Killing of Mrs. Smith.

In response, the delendant called numergus wilpesses who

tetilisd tiat e had been a liavy user ol drags and aleohol for

athiraber of yeat

did sffect his judgiment and actions. Further, there was expert

- and that their use could be expeeted to and

madival proof that the cffect of TSD and quaaludes, which
defendant claimed to have taken on July 31. 19&3. could be
expected o continue for 8 to (2 hours aller their ingestion,
There was also evidence that defendant was remorseful. and
that hie had caused no disciplinary problems at the prison and

Liad been muoved from close security to medivn security.

Both the defendant and Sexwon tock the witness stand in
ihe sentencing proceeding. and their testimony subsiantialiy
followed the stalements they gave the police, The delendant
did deny forming the intent to kill Mrs. Smith before be
went to Sexton's house, insisting that he went there only
{ot advise on what to do. He further testified that he got
the rifle at Sexton's direction and formed the inteat Lo kil
Mrs, Smith afier he ok her to the place she was shet
Defendant siated he related the events ol Mes. Smith's

doalh 1w Jor

Childers because it was bothering him, He
denicd ictling Childers that Mrs. Simith begeed for her lite,
On cross-evamiation. defendant admited committing two

armed vobberics in January, 1980, when he was 4 juvenile

Sexton testified generally in accord with the statement he had
given the police. He denied having advised delendant to kill
Mis. Smitl, but admirted thal he gave defendant the weapon
used in the murder and accompanied him 1o the death scene.
knowing that Mrs, Smith was confined in the trunk of the
automobiie driven by the defendant, Sexion also helped in
trving to dispose of the automaobile, in destroving all Mus,
smith's identificalion and in disposing of her body

On considering this evidence. the jury returned the sentence
of death against the defendant. Sexton was sentenced to lile
imprisoniment, evidently because he was not presenl it ihe
moment ol the killing and did not shoot Mrs. Smith, In
imposing the sentence of death on the defendant the jurs
expressly found that:

(1y the defendant was previously convicted of one or more
felonics, uther than the present charge. which involved the use

of threat of violence w the person:

(23 the murder was cspecially hetnous, atrocious or cruel in
that it invalved torture or depravity of mind.

(3) the murder was committed lor the purpose of aveiding.
interfering with, ot preventing a boviul arrest of the delendant
or another: and

{4y the murder was commitied while the defendant was
cngaged 1 commilting, or was an accomplice in Lhe
commission of, or was attempting to commi, vor was (leeing
after commitiing or atiempling (o commit, any rape, robbery.
larceny or kidnupping. See T.C.AL § 39-2-203(1)2). (3). (6}
and (7). [he jury also found that there was no mitigating
circumstance suificiently substantial to autweigh the statatory
aggravating circomstances found by the jury, TC AL § 59-2-
203(g).

Fhe delendant does not argue that ihe  aggravaling
circumslances were not proven bevond a ressonable doubt,
tut does insist that the trisd court erred in eesiricting
argument by defense counsel and in failing o give
requested instructions, both as o aggravating and mitigating
circumstances. The defendant aiso insists that the trial court
erred in permitling the State o show, on cross-examination,
that detendant hud commitied two anmed robberies i Junuary.
1980, whife a juvenile.

The State now concedes that error was commiticd in
examining defendant as to his actions as a juvenile. T.CA,
§ 37-1=133(b), Stare v Dixon. 636 SW2d 49, 51-32
{(Tenn. Crim App. 1983), However. in our opinion the eiror

was harmiess. The evidetice overwhelmingly established

four statutory aggravating circumsiances and that these
circumstances were nol outweighed by any  substantial
mitigating circumstances. While it is true that one of #249
the aggravating circumstances found was ihat the delendant

wis previously convicted of one or more felonics which
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involved the use or threal of violence to the person. the
{inding was not dependent on the evidence that the detendant
had commitied erimes while a juvenile. It is undisputed in
the record that in addition to the murder of Mrs. Smith, the
defends

id been convicted ol murder inthe first degree in

the perpetration of an armed robbery. aggravated kidnapping.

ard an as

ult with intent to commit uggravated kidnapping.
In view of this evidence, the error in admitting cvidence of
deiendant’s crimes as a juvenile could nol be prejudicial. See

Rude 360b) of the Teanessee Rules of Appeliate Procedure.

The defendant insists he was deprived of a fuir trial by
restrictions placed on urpwment of counsel by the trial court.
The record shows that the (rial court sustained ohjections of
the State to arpument divected o the history and morality
of the death penaly. We see no emrer in the court's ruling,
The defendant's argument was not predicated on any evidence
addoeed al either the guilt o1 penalty phase of the trial and

way, consequently, irrelevant. More appropriately, it is an

srgument 1o be made to the legistature i deciding whether

ihe death penally is ever a justified punishment.

[here are several issues direeted Lo the instructions given by
the irial court to the jury o the sentencing phase of the trial.
inu special request. the detendant sought 1o have the wial
cowt mstruct the pury that fourteen different circuinstances.
not Bsted o the statute. were o be considered by the jury
as mit

¢ating circumstances. The wial judge refused Lo give
the rveqitested wstruction. and defendant assigns the raling as

Crorn

in ruling on a similar issuc in State v. Hortman, 699
NW.2d 538, 550-51 (Tenn, 1985). this court held that
the only mandalory instructions with respect to mitigating
circumstances are that those statutery circurustances which
are raised by the evidence shall be expressly charged. The
Juny st also be told that they shall weigh and consider any
other fuct or circumstanee that is in mitigation, in muking
the determination of which circumstances, aggravating or
mitigating. outweigh the other. The trial judge's instructions
complied with this directive.

The defendant also insists thut the trial court erred in failing
L define for the jury the terms “io aggravate™ and “orture.”
ay requested by defendant. We see no error in the failure off
the trial couryto specifically define "o aggravate.” [tisa term
in commion use and not a fepalism beyond the understanding
615 S W.2d 142,
F47-48 (Tenn 1981 (“Mittgating™). Neither do we (ind any

ol the jurors. See Siute v. Groseclose,

prejudicial error in the trial court’s fatlure to deline the erm
“torture.” The evidence in this case supports the ageravating
circumstance. Temn.Code Ann, § 39-2--203003(5). s defined
in Srare v Willioms, 690 5. W.2d 317, 532-33 (Tenn 1085),
as the defendant shot the victim i ihe head after she begaed
for her life and offered the defendant money to let her po.
Furthermore, the remaining three aggravating clrcumsiances
were correctly charged and are overwhelmiogly supporicd
by the evidence, Under these circumstances, there was no
prejudice o the defendant by the failure w define “wrture,”
Stare v, Duncan, 698 SOW, 240 63, 7071 (Tenn, FU8S),

The detendant furthier contends that the trial court erred in
instructing the jury on the possible punishyent of death ov
life imprisonment that. ~Your verdict must be noanimous as
to cither lorm of punishment.” He argues that this instruction

vislates T,

AL § 39-2-203(h). which provides that il the
Jury cunnot ultinutely agrec as to punishiment the judee shali
impose a life sentence. We sce no basic creor in the trial
judge's instruction. which was verbatim the Tennessee Pattern
Jury insteuction, TRIL-~Crim. 20,03, formulated for use at
the sentencing hearing in a capital case. There is no way a jury
can impose a sentence i1t s not unmimous in ity decision.
Where the juty is anable o *258 agree as W punishment. i
a sentencing hearing of a 1ivrst degree murder conviction, the
judge is instructed to dismiss the jury and ilnpose a senteuee
of life iinprisosment. T.CUAL § 39-2-203(h). The swatute also
divects that “jtjbe judge shall not instruce the jury. nor shall
the attorneys be perntitted (o comment at any time o the jury,

on the effect ol the jury's lailure to agree on a punishment,”

Fmally. the defendant contends that the tnal court erred in
instructing the jury, on the aggravating circumstances set forth
in T.C.AL § 39-2--203007), as follows:

The murder was committed while the delendant was
engaged in conmmiiting, or was an sccomplice in Ui
comniission of. or was attempting o commit. or s
flecing afler comimitling or attempting (o commii any st
degree murder. arson. rape. robbery. Jarceny, kidnapping....

Specifically. defendant contends that the offenses of rape
and farceny should not have been included as there was ne
prool justifying their inclusion. Vhe argnmeat overfooks the
fuct that i the delendant's contession, he stated that the
victim had accused him of vaping her, and that he had taken
a gold cigarette lighter belonging to Mrs. Smith during the
criminal episode, These facts would justify the submission of
the instruction in the complete form nsed by the (vial judge.
Further, their inclusion could not have materially aflecied the
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Jury's linding on the issue in view of the overwhelming prool
of murder i the first degree in the perpetration of a sinple
kidnapping and anmed robbery.

Detendant also raises the question of the constitutionalily ol
the Tennessee Death Penalty Act, evidently as a cautionary
action as he does not discusy the issue in any detail in his
brict. On reference to the motion which s the predicate of
the assigniment, we find that defendant raised no issue. nor
advanced any argument that has not been considered and
overruled in several prior cases. See e.g.. Stare v Austin, 618
S5.W.2d 738 (Tenn 1981,

I'he defendant's conviction ol murder in the Tirst degree in the
perpetration of g simple kidnappiong and sentence of death is
affirimed. We also aftinm the defendant's conviction of armed
robbery and the senteoce that he serve 125 yeavs in the stawe
pumtentiary. Lhe death sentence will be carried out on the 7th
day of October, 1986, unless stayed by appropriate authority.

Cosls are adjudged against the delendant,

I am anthorized 1o state that My Chiet’ Justice BROCK
concurs i ihe atfirmance of conviction bul dissents from the
imposition ol the death penalty for the reasong expressed in
his dissent in Stare of Tesmesser v Dicks, 013 S W.2d 126,
PR2 (Tenn 19815

FONES. HARBISON and DROWOTA, JI.. concur.

BROCK, C.1., concurs and dissents.

OPINTON ON PETITTION TO REHEAR

COOPLR. Juslice.

Detendant has (iled & petition to relicar insisting that the
court has erroneousty ruled on several issues, or has failed

lo consider then. On considering the pelition and  the
bricfs griginally fited. we find that all material issues were

Footnotes

considered and, in our opinion. properly decided. One of the
issues, based on the admission in evidence of fragments of the
victim's skull. was not discussed in detail in our inding that
no prejudicial error was committed in either the convicling
or sentencing phase of the trial, As 1o this issue. the partics
stipulated prior to trial that Mrs. Smith's death was the result
of a sbot in the back of the head from a high-powered
ritle. The defendant argues that in light of the stipulation the
ntroduction of the skull and shull Tragmenis was tmproper

because no relevant issue remained to be proven.

The record shows that the state introduced in evidence the
skull fragments in lieu of o pictare of the body ol Mrs.
Smith in its decompesed stale. The examining pathologist, Dr.
Bass, used the skull 1o indicate to the jury where the bullet
entered. e also used fragments Lo demonstrate #2351 thal
they contained lead splatters consistent with an injury ltom a
bullet fired from a high-powered rifle aL close range, Further,

as pointed out by the state. the fragments cosld be of imaterial

assistance to the jury in visualizing the massive injury which
caused Mrs, Smith's death and had some bearing on proving
the clement of deliberation and premeditation, an issuc
which the defendant would not conceds. The evidence, being,
relevant Lo issies to be decided by the jury. was admissible in
ouropinion. See Stare v Morris, 641 SW.2d 883 (Tenn 1982,
Being adinissible, it was proper tor the prosccution to call
attention to the exhibit in his argument, And, it his comments
were inproper. considering the evidence in this case. they
could not have affecled the jury's verdict in either the guilt or
sentencing phase of the trial.

Petition to Rehear denied. at the cost of the Appellant

BROCK, C.J.. and FONES. ITARBISON and DROWOTA,
JI.. concur.

Al Citations

718 S.W.2d 241

| Co-defendant Randali Sexton also was convicted of the same offenses, receiving a life sentence on the felony murder
canviction and a term of 125 years in the state penitentiary for armed robbery. Sexton's appeal is not now before this court.
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IN RT FOR KNO TY.TE

DIVISION II{
STATE OF TENNESSEE )
Respondent )
VS. 0cT 31 199§ NO. 33878
TERRY LYNN KING )
Petitioner )

ORDER

'r This cause came on to be heard on the petitioner's Petition For Post-Conviction
; Relief, testimony in open court, statements of counsel, and the record as a whole, from all
| of which it appears to the Court that the Petition For Post-Conviction Relief should be, and
“ the same is hereby dismissed, with all costs taxed against the State, the petitioner being
' indigent. The Court's Finding Of Fact And Conclusions Of Law will be attached hereto and
I made a part of this order.

| The Clerk shall furnish a copy of this order to the defendant, counsel for the

defendant, and to the Knox County Attorney General.

|

' Ped

‘l ENTER this the 2/ day of Oa:/ , 1995.
|

(¢ 2 rd
MAKRY BETH LEIBOWITZ, JTUBGE/
CRIMINAL COURT DIVISION III
SIXTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
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1V I

STATE OF TENNESSEE )

)
Vs. ) NO. 33878

)

: TERRY LYNN KING 0CT 311995 )

ORDER
AND

FINDINGS OF FACT AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW
% This cause came on to be heard on petition of Terry Lynn King for Post-Conviction Relief
’ filed April 5, 1989, and subsequent thereto several amendments, the pertinent Amendment, Number
Three, filed on January 4, 1993. On April 5, 1993, a hearing was held to limit further amendments

and to determine whether or not previous prosecutors could continue to represent the state. The

Court ordered that there would be no further amendments to the petition and that the District

I

. Attorney's Office and its representatives could continue to represent the state in this case. On

'; November 22, 1993, further hearing was had, a transcript of which shall be filed with these

| proceedings styled, A Preliminary Hearing For Post-Conviction Relief, to limit the issues in the

cause. The Court put down a written order effectively determining previously determined or waived

1 issues. It allowed the petitioner to proceed as to sections 8(a) in its entirety, 8 (b), 8 (c), 8 (d), 8 (f),

and 8 (g), and amendment number three to the Petition For Post-Conviction Relief. This order was

' put down on the 29th day of March, 1994. On the 26th day of September, 1994, this cause came on |

: to be heard in final hearing, and proof was had regarding the petition. The Court now makes its
1

finding of fact and conclusions of law.

The facts of this case having been accurately recited in the Opinion of the Supreme Court, |

filed July 28, 1986, at the bottom of page 2 through line 1 of page 8, those pages of the slip opinion '

are attached hereto and incorporated here and by reference as if fully set out. The Supreme Court
in its Opinion reviewed many issues, and upheld the verdict of the trial court and the sentence of

death on the defendant.

Defense counse! organized its argument in the post-conviction proceeding based upon five

|
|
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" conviction relief, a copy of which transcript is also being filed herein, the Court will initially proceed

issues with sub-parts which counsel urges make reversal necessary. These issues and sub-parts
essentially incorporate the issues which remain with regard to the comprehensive Petition of Post~

Conviction Relief and Amendment Number Three in that petition. Because counsel for both the

defense and state have argued these issues in this way as opposed to going through individual issue,

and because counsel commented upon individual issues in the preliminary hearing for post-

. to consider the case based upon those issues.

* accomplice in the murder and that his participation was relatively minor, and further that he was not

The first issue is, that pursuant to Cruz v. New Yotk, infra, the State bore the burden to show

that the use of statements through Lori Carter with whom the petitioner had had previous dealings

and her testimony were inappropriately included in testimony and used to consider motive for the

killing of Diana Smith, and the armed robbery of Diana Smith.

|

Second, that because the co-defendant's lawyer was permitted to cross-examine Terry King

about Lori Carter's testimony, and the state argued the statements of the co-defendant regarding Lori

Carter, that this set up antagonistic defenses which would violate Cruz v. New York, 107 S.Ct. 1714
(1987) and Bruton v. U,S,, 391 U.S. 123 (1968). Further, evidence regarding Lori Carter created a
factual basis for the third aggravating circumstance in giving the death penalty, that is that the
murder was committed to avoid arrest.

The issue requiring reversal as urged by the defense were that there were antagonistic

defenses in mitigation, that is that the attorney for Joe Sexton, the co-defendant, used the actions

of Terry King to destroy Terry King's mitigating factors and to save the life of Joe Sexton, who in

fact received a life sentence in this case. The mitigating elements were that Mr. Sexton was an

" even present at the time of the actual killing. Further, that Mr. Sexton acted under extreme duress

or the substantial domination of Terry King. These antagonistic defenses in mitigation, it is urged

by the defense, resulted in the death penalty for Mr. King, and the failure to sever the two individuals

created error.

The third issue raised by the defense is the right to a new sentencing hearing under State v,
Middlebrook, 840 S.W.2nd 317 (1992). The defense urges that there were four aggravating factors, |

the first being I-7, which was the aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed during
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. a felony, and of course Mr. King was convicted of felony murder. There were three other

' aggravating circumstances which were considered by the jury as well.

Dutton, U.S. Dist. Ct. No.3-85-0256 (M.D. Tenn. Filed 9-2-94) in which the United States District
Court of the Middle District of Tennessee has found that the reasonable doubt instruction as given

by the Tennessee Courts was ambiguous and unconstitutionally suggestive of a lower burden of

proof.

antagonistic defenses, Middlebrooks, Rickman, admission of juvenile convictions, and ineffective
assistance of counsel issues which are listed below, that the Court should find that their cumulative

has deprived the defendant of a meaningful defense. The issues of ineffective assistance of counsel

are:!

2. That the killing was for the purpose of avoiding lawful arrest or prosecution, i.e., the

3. That the jury found that the defendant had previously been convicted '

The fourth issue raised by the defendant is the issue raised by the opinion in Rickman v,

Lastly, the defense argues that there has been such substantial cumulative error in the Cruz,

1. Failure to identify and use competent mental health professionals on a timely basis.
2. Failure to develop or follow a coherent theory of defense in either phase.

3. Abandoned the opening statement in phase one.

4. Failure to preserve bench rulings.

5. Failure to exclude damaging and inadmissible evidence.

1
|

1. That the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel, in that it involved torture

or depravity of mind.

problems which Mr. King had had with Lori Eastman Carter. The defense urges that
this aggravating circumstance was supported by inadmissible evidence and therefore is

not reliable enough to use in the harmless error analysis.

of one or more felonies involving violence or the threat of violence (juvenile convictions
which the Supreme Court found Were harmless error were admitted as well as other prior
convictions including the murder of Todd Millard by both Joe Sexton and Terry King
wherein both received life sentences in Grainger County while they were awaiting

charges in Knox County.)

|
|
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; Psychologist, who testified that she reviewed the juvenile mental health records of the petitioner, and

" indicated in her opinion that Mr. King was not comfortable with the murder, but that she was aware

: said, "Why did you all rape me?" "At that time [ knew what she was going to do, and I knew what

* I was going to do." Although, Dr. Auble was asked about several incidents of criminal activity on

6. Failure to appeal the state's use of the juvenile dismissal.
7. Failure to appeal the underlying armed robbery conviction.

8. Failure to appeal the denial of the Motion To Suppress. 1

|

9. Failure to petition for certiorari to the Supreme Court of the United States following the |

affirmance of the trial court's conviction in the Supreme Court of Tennessee.
At hearing of this cause, the defense first called Dr. Pamela M. Auble, a Clinical !
|
|
the clinical report of Dr. Brogan as well as psychological summaries done by Dr. Gebrow prior to
trial and further personally interviewed Mr. King on several occasions. She indicated that the
findings were consistent with those of Dr. Gebrow who tested Mr. King within a few days prior to
trial. She indicated he was a slow learner, and had had considerable experiences with drugs,
including L.S.D. , Valium, Quaaludes, and Cocaine, from the age of fourteen, and had huffed
gasoline from the age of eight or nine. She searched for organic brain damage in her testing and did
not find any. She found that Mr. King had few emotional resources, poor self-esteem, related poorly
to people, was distrustful and impulsive under stress, and had significant levels of depression, and
also substance abuse. She indicated that her test are consistent with those that Dr. Gebrow and also
Dr. Mendes, found at the time of trial and that Mr. King is responsive to prison life, and does well
in prison because of the need for structure. In her opinion there were certain mitigating
circumstances that should have been raised including Mr. King's emotional problems, as defined
above, that he does exhibit remorse for his actions, that he is not a leader and looks for guidance.

The report of her findings was made Exhibit One of this hearing. On cross-examination she

that Mr. King had testified. "She asked me why we did that to her", "I asked her what?" and she

the part of Mr. King she indicated that she felt he was not comfortable with criminal activity. It was
her opinion that Mr. King acted on the advise of Joe Sexton, and was behaving impulsively, and
perceives all women hostile because of Lori Eastman Carter. She found no evidence of psychotic

thought process, nor of organic brain syndrome, but of impulsive behavior and psychopathic
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disorder. In effect, the test which were given by Dr. Mendes, also indicated similar things.
Following the testimony of Dr. Auble the petitioner, Terry Lynn King, took the witness
stand. He indicated that Dr. Auble's information regarding his personal background and drug abuse
problems was correct, he testified about the events involving his interrogation by the police, and that
his attorney did not permit him to testify regarding the motion to suppress. He testified that they

could not find Lori Eastman Carter and Mr. Simpson did not talk with her prior to trial. He also said

. he told Mr. Simpson of Mr. Childress's testimony and his prison record. In addition there was a

| green wine bottle which was never recovered which had Diana Kay Smith's fingerprints on it in his

opinion.

He admitted to lying to his attorney, Mr. Simpson, about the letter regarding Joe Sexton and

| about the Grainger County killing, much of which is detailed in the original transcripts. He admitted

that a severance had been attempted but not granted and that he did not participate in the jury |

selection process, but that he was uncomfortable with one of the jurors, and that Mr. Simpson did
not explain to him the issue of preemptory challenges. He also indicated that Mr. Simpson had
stated that Don King would be called as a witness in opening statement and then offered no
explanation for not calling him. As to the penalty phase of the trial, he complained of introduction
of juvenile convictions and a juvenile dismissal. He also said that there were many bench
conferences, which had not been recorded. After the verdict and sentencing he was taken down
stairs and saw counsel for only a few minutes and was sent to prison in Nashville the next morning.

As to his motion for a new trial, he discussed with counsel his appeal to the Supreme Court of

Tennessee but did not discuss the grounds. After the Supreme Court affirmed the conviction, he was

told by counsel an appeal would be filed to the United States Supreme Court, but that appeal was

. never filed. He discussed with his counsel his right to have matters heard and never knowingly

! waived grounds or rights. On cross examination he admitted that he told Mr. Simpson about the

incidents that occurred and how he shot Diana Kay Smith in the back of the head, took her money

and car and put her body in the quarry and sank it. He admitted that he had been convicted in 1984,

of Attempted Kidnapping in Knox County Criminal Court, and in Grainger County Criminal Court '

of First Degree Murder, and that he had had two previous juvenile convictions for Armed Robbery. :

He also testified that he admitted he had lied to Mr. Simpson and that the statements that were
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maintained in the letter from Mr. Sexton to Mr. King from Fort Pillow were untruthful. He admitted
that he had talked to Drs. Gebrow, Mendes, Kathleen Brogan, and his attorney about head injuries.
He admitted that he was involved in his defense of his case and discussed his case and the
circumstances with his lawyer. He admiited that he had told Mr. Simpson and detectives and others,
including Jerry Childress, his own witness, and Don King, his own witness, that he had killed Diana
Kay Smith.

| The defense next called Douglas Trant, Esq., an attorney licensed to practice in Tennessee
l’ and Alabama, who testified as an expert in death penalty cases. Mr. Trant, who has taught at the
College of Law and lectured on the subject of criminal defense as well as death penalty cases and
13 practices 99% criminal defense law, testified that he has had approximately seventy (70) trials in
i front of a jury and nine (9) death penalty cases. He testified as to what should be done by an
! attorney to determine mental state and history of the defendant in every case, and how testimony

should be dealt with, what the relationship with an accused should be, and how objections to errors

should be preserved. He discussed the cruciality of the opening statement being accurate and not

issuing promises that were later not delivered as in this case. He testified that counsel should

preserve and present all issues for the appellate process and that the effective standards at that time
were the American Bar Association Death Penalty Standards. He testified that he had reviewed the

! trial records of State v, King, 718 S.W.2nd 241 (Tenn. 1986) in the Supreme Court Opinion, and in

his opinion the attorney for Mr. King did not meet the standard required. He felt that Mr. Simpson

was deficient in his failure to investigate completely, to provide a mental health evaluation until just

. prior to the trial, in preparing his theory of evidence, and in acting with reasonable competency, and

in not calling Mr. King in the motion to suppress. [n his opinion the Cruz issue should have been

raised Cruz having been decided just prior to this case, and further that the Baxter v. Roge, 523
- $.W.2nd 930 (Tenn. 1975) standard had not been met.

On cross-examination he testified that he had not directly reviewed Mr. Simpson's

. investigation or conversed with Mr. King, and he did not review the records of Mr. Simpson or of

now the Honorable Joe Tipton, of the Court of Criminal Appeals, who assisted Mr. Simpson in the

* defense of this case, and who is also, in Mr, Trant's opinion, an expert on death penalty cases. He

- also testified that if a client is not honest with his lawyer. discussions can sometimes render the client

6
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course of preparation for trial. He testified that he had taken a history of the events in the case and

| investigated those, also he had obtained information about the Grainger County killing which

- with the people that Mr. King suggested. He does not recall the school and medical records, but he

. does recall that Mr. King wrote to him conceming a head injury that he had received as a child.

- occurred the month ptior to Ms. Smith's killing, and that he taken a social history of Mr. King. He

more truthful, and that he does not always put a client on in a motion to suppress. '
The defense also proffered certain exhibits, one of which was accepted by the Court,

Collective Exhibit No. Five, regarding the Juvenile Court Clerk's record, and the original trial

transcripts and records as well.

1
i
|
The State then presented its proof and called the trial judge, the Honorable Ray Lee Jenkins, E
who testified regarding this matter. Judge Jenkins testified that he presided in this case and that he i
was familiar with the standards of Baxter v, Rose, supra, and had two or three times a month since 3.
1982 been called to rule upon those standards. He testified that he has been the Criminal Court

Judge, for Division II, for a period of twelve (12) years and has been licensed to practice law for

thirty-five (35) years. He testified that he observed Mr. Simpson and Mr. Tipton in the
representation of Mr. King and that in his opinion they met the standards of Baxter v, Rose, supra,
and in fact exceeded those standards. He further testified that he has determined at least two times
in the past twelve years that counsel did not meet the Baxter v. Rose standard. He further testified

that while he has every confidence in Mr. Trant as a competent practitioner and respects his

professional opinions he his opinion differs from Mr. Trant, and that the standards required were
exceeded by trial counsel. ;
The State next called Mr, Robert Simpson, who was the lead attomey for Mr. King. He

related several stories which Mr, King had told him about the facts of this case, which differed in

various ways. He indicated that the defendant changed his story on several occasions during the

testified that had interviewed the relatives of Mr. King who were devoted to Mr. King, and he talked

He was aware that Mr. King had been evaluated by Cherokee Mental Health Center because
of the Millard case in Grainger County, and he had obtained a letter from them. Further, that the
evaluation in that case had not been favorable to Mr. King, who was found {o be competent. The

family at the last minute came up with sufficient funds for a psychological evaluation, and Mr.
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many reasons as possible not to pass the death penalty. He provided testimony that Mr. King thrived

Tipton, was was assisting Mr. Simpson, arranged that Dr. Mendes, a psychologist, be brought in, and '
further that Dr. Gebrow be involved. Mr. Simpson, further said he did not find any problem [
communicating with Mr. King, that he was rational could discuss and make appropriate responses,
and that to him there appeared to be no mental problems. |

He did testify that he found that the psychological evaluation found that Mr. King was below
average intelligence and possibly had experienced organic brain damage, but that the problem was |
what was not in the report. The problem was that Dr. Gebrow reported and would testify that Mr.
King was a person who liked to hurt people. Further, that the suicide note story was obviously a
fabrication and not at all the testimony at trial, and that Dr. Gebrow and Dr. Mendes found no |
evidence of organic brain syndrome, but did find that Terry Lynn King was a violent individual. Mr.
Simpson testified that he concluded on those findings that they should not call Dr. Gebrow, but-
should present other mitigating evidence through Mr. King, his brother, his school teacher and
others. One of the individuals that Mr. King wanted to have testify was a Sue Campbell, who Mr.
Simpson did not present at trial. Mr. King had given Mr. Simpson her name as a character witness,
and he interviewed her, and she told him that she had dated Mr. King, and liked him, until he began
to say scary things and she began to carry a gun.

He did try to locate Lori Eastman Carter, and to talk to Don King. He did file the
Suppression Motion, which was denied, and he determined not to put Terry King on at the hearing
because he did not believe that the Judge would believe him over the testimony of the officers, he
further determined that he did not want Mr. King exposed to cross-examination, because he believed
that the scope of that examination would be exceeded and would be allowed. The officers clearly
denied Mr. King's version of the facts surrounding the confession. Mr. Simpson was then asked
about opening statements which was very brief, and is quoted in material which have been file in this
file. In the guilt or innocence phase he was required to challenge Lori Eastman Carter, and her
testimony was unexpected and devastating to him. He testified that at that point he dropped the idea
of raising intoxication and decided to proceed to the penalty phase and went on to focus on the
mitigation of the death penalty. He testified that he was successful that this was not a premediated

murder because the defendant was convicted of felony murder and he wished to give the Judge as
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in the institutional setting and he was a model prisoner, the jury, however, saw fit to impose the 1

death penalty.
i Mr. Simpson also testified that he had many discussions with Mr. King about the decisions
" to be made in the case, whether or not to testify, and that Mr. King had asked many questions and
had made many suggestions. Had Mr. King insisted on testifying in the guilt or innocence of the
trial Mr. Simpson would have argued against it but would have permitted him to testify as it was

. ultimately Mr. King's choice. He also testified that during the appellate process, he remained in

| issues by letter as to the appeal, but never mentioned the suppression issue.
% As to the failure to file a Petition For Certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, Mr.
i Simpson had indicated that he had made an error when he read the Federal Rules and had read the:
i rules to say that he had ninety (90) days when there was only sixty (60) days to file, subsequently
; missing the deadline. These issues were later raised at the Supreme Court in motions to stay which
; the Supreme Court has previously denied. In his opinion the character or past actions of Diana Kay
i Smith could only be examined to a limited extent, and he did research into her behaviors. He also
testified that there were witnesses that were pertinent to the case that were not called because he
believed that they could not have helped Mr. King but would have hurt him. There is nothing that

he is aware of, according to his testimony, that would have been helpful that he did not use in

defense of Mr. King. He testified that he could have begun sooner and the psychological evaluation

could have been done earlier, and that had he hired an investigator these issues would have been

easier. He testified he raised issues on appeal by looking at the proof and by looking at the record

and studying the case law. To quote Mr. Simpson he testified that he briefed "the dogs that would

hunt" and left home "the dogs that wouldn't." Because there was no mental defense found, and

because he would have been ready to present such a defense, if Dr. Gebrow had found one, he did
* not have a Graham standard mental situation. He testified that he thought the bench conferences had
been recorded and that other than what Mr. King thought he knew nothing about Mr. Jerry
Childress's criminal record.

On cross examination, Mr. Simpson testified that he had not had a prior death penalty case

and that he had never read the death penalty statutes prior to being appointed in this case. He

telephone and correspondence contact with Mr. King. He testified that Mr. King had gone into the
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1 testified that Mr. King spoke to him about his plea in Grainger County but that he did not tell Mr.
King that it may be used to aggravate the Knox County case. He testified that he had learned much
information well before trial, and much of the early time prior to trial was consumed with the

kidnapping case, the effects of which he understood. He would have welcomed professional
. assistance in the explanation of mitigating circumnstances to the jury, but had nothing available until

he was able to get funds for a psychiatrist close to the trial date. By the time Mr. Simpson leamed

. one of the trial, and no further evaluation was made because there was not sufficient time. He

admitted that he had not anticipated Lori Carter's testimony and did not track her down because he

did not think her testimony was appropriate in the case and chief, and because the police did not

cooperate with him in assisting to find her. He admitted that he had seen no need to check Mr.

i King's juvenile record. Further, Mr. Simpson testified that he does not remember explaining to Mr.
i
‘| King about waiver of grounds for appeal if they are not raised in the appeal. He stated that he only

!| saw Mr. King face to face again after the original trial at the motion for new trial, and that he was

1 not aware of the Cruz opinion until it was released. Mr. Simpson indicated in his review that his
: work as far as the Writ of Certiorari not being filed was his error, and that his work regarding the
‘ i mental health professionals was not satisfactory, but did not rise to the level of ineffective assistance

‘| of counsel.

i

i

* that Mr. King had a strong potential for violence, the state was already in its case-in-chief in phase |
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! Supreme Court found that while it was true that the defendant's confession to the police did not recite
* the same facts as Joe Sexton's confession, his statements to witness Jerry Childress which were

. admitted at trial, cured any material deficiencies. This opinion specifically addressed this issue, and

notice was filed for reconsideration of judgment for failure to file regarding Cruz v. New York and

LUSE w

After hearing the proof and reviewing the extremely well prepared Memorandum of the
Defense and well as the Citations of Law given by the State, the Court first approaches the "Cruz” .
error. The peititon suggest , that there are two parts o this error:

1. That the statements of Lori Eastman Carter brought in the through testimony of Randall

Joe Sexton the co-defendant were violative of Cruz v, New York. I'
2. That this presented antagonistic defenses which would require severance under Cruz.
Cruz was decided after this trial, and the cert was granted previous to the Tennessee
Supreme Court Opinion in State v, King being released, That opinion was released on
July 28, 1986, and Cruz v, New York was decided by the United States Supreme Court
on April 21, 1987. Itis urged by the defense that because of Cruz, Mr. King's counsel
had the duty to file its Petition for Certiorari, which should have been filed by December
26, 1986.

The State argues that these issues had been previously determined. The Supreme Court in |

State v. Kipg found that the implicatory confessions of the defendant and of the co-defendant, were i

interlocking, and found no Bruton violations in the admission of those confessions. They relied on

Parker v, Randolph 442 U.S. 62 (1979), and State v, Elliott 524 S.W.2nd 473 (Tenn. 1975). The

found that the rulings had been proper under existing authority at the time. On December 29, 1988,

on January 10, 1989, the Supreme Court of Tennessee denied the Motion to Vacate and Reinstate

The Judgment as previously determined. Cruz was specifically raised in these issues. Further,

Cruz's retroactivity was raised in State v, Myra Pettyjohn C.C.A. 01-C-01-9006-CC00139, out of

Hickman County. In that opinion filed on March 19, 1992, the Court of Criminal Appeals finds that i
Cruz v, New York does not have retroactive application to the defendant's case and that at that time

the confrontation clause did not require exclusion "as the Supreme Court of Tennessee found in this

I
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already so ruled.

* evidence presented at trial. In this case, again there appears to be overwhelming evidence as to guilt

* of Terry King in the murder of Diana Kay Smith. Thus, as to the statements of Lori Eastman Carter,

. prejudicial to any constitutional right of the co-defendant against who these efforts are directed.”

" circumstance to support the death penalty in that felony murder is violative to the Eight Amendment

case". It is also clear that if in fact there was error to admit this evidence that the Court could i

determine that there was only harmless error to do so and the Supreme Court of Tennessee has

Also in State v, Porterfield, 746 S.W. 2nd 441(Tenn. 1988), the Supreme Court of Tennessee

found the admission of a co-defendant's statement to be harmless error due to overwhelming

this Court finds that if there was application of Cruz in this circumstance, which the Court does not
feel is retroactive in this case, that application as to the statements regarding Lot Carter are harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt.

As to antagonistic defenses created by the failure to apply Cruz, the Court must assume that-
Cnuz is retroactive, and there are cases to that effect reported in Tennessee. Again, the Court finds
that these issues have previously been raised and that they are not sufficient for reversal as to the
Cruz issue. Also, severance as a matter of law had already been addressed by the Supreme Court,
and this Court finds that these antagonistic defenses do not require a severance. As to the Cruz
analysis regarding antagonistic defenses in mitigation the second issue raised by the defense as
requiring reversal, 644 S.W. 2nd 418 State v. Brown states that, "a co-defendant's counsel has no
obligation to protect the interest of the co-defendant. His duty and obligation is to his client
alone......... ", and "in a joint trial each defendant represented by separate counsel is thus protected.”
Additionally it says, " Indeed, the adversary system provides the opportunity for counsel to seek, as
each defendant's counsel did in this case, to cast the co-defendant in the role of the guilty party, with

each attomey seeking to exonerate his client. However, such action do not amount to conduct

In the mitigation portion of the trial both Mr. Sexton and Mr. King testified and were subject to

cross examination. There is no requirement that antagonistic defenses in mitigation cause
constitutional error in this case. Therefore, this Court rejects this issue as well.
The next issue raised by the defense is the Middlebrooks issue. State v, Middlebrooks of

course establishes that consideration of the underlying felony in a felony murder as an aggravated

12
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of the United States Constitution and Article One, Section Sixteen of the Tennessee Constitution. |

' The defense urges that the petitioner, Terry Lynn King, has the right to a new sentencing hearing

. under the State v, Middlebrooks 840 S.W. 2nd 317 (Tenn. 1992). It states that the use of the invalid

statutory aggravated circumstance in the Jury's ballot cannot be considered harmless error beyond
a reasonable doubt because of the weakness of the remaining aggravating factors to be considered
by the jury, and the mitigating evidence presented, or which should have been presented.

The fourth issue raised by the defense is the issue of Rickman v, Dutton, supra, in which it
is argued that the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating factor should also be found inapplicable
to this case. The petitioner also cites Richard Houston v, Michael Dutton filed May 19, 1994, out
of the United States District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee to support the issues in the
Rickman v, Dutten case.

To study the Middlebrook circumstance the Court looks at each of the four aggravating
circumstances used in this case. They are:

1. That the defendant was previously convicted of one or more felonies, other than the

present charge, which involved the use or threat of violence to the person.

There is substantial proof that the defendant was previously convicted of the murder of Todd
Miller, in Grainger County, as well as proof that he had been convicted in Juvenile Court of violent
felonies, which may or may not be admissible herein, nevertheless, the defendant has clearly met the
aggravating circumstance in number one.

2. That the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel in that it involved torture or

depravity of mind.

This of course is not a Middlebrooks issue but rather a Rickman issue which is discussed as
the fourth issue by the defense, but which this Court will address here. Judge Nixon, in the Rickman
case has ruled that this aggravating circumstance is unconstitutional under Tennessee law. In the
decision of the Tennessee Supreme Court in this case, the Court found that the aggravating
circumstances introduced were supported by the proof. The State argues that this issue has been
addressed by the Supreme Court and was supported well prior to the Rickman decision. In Houston

v. Dutton the Federal Court Judge, Don Nixon, has ruled that, "In a weighing state such as

. Tennessee, a state appellate court may cure the constitutional esror in sentencing by either relying
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on an adequate narrowing instruction and reweighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances,

or by applying harmless-error analysis. In the absence of one of these cures by the state appellate

courts, the sentence must be vacated." It is clear in this case that the Tennessee Supreme Court

determined that there was not sufficient reason for a reweighing to be conducted, but it is clear to

- this Court that should a reweighing be conducted as to the aggravating circumstance in No. One. No.

One was clearly found by the jury and for which there was adequate proof even absent the juvenile
convictions, was sufficient to use this aggravating circumstance. Thus, the Court does not feel that
the Rickman issue is applicable in this Post Conviction Petition.

In further reviewing the aggravating circumstances, the Court moves on to No. Three, that
the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding, interfering with, or prevented a lawful arrest
or prosecution of the defendant or another. This is not a Middlebrooks issue, and the Supreme
Court has also addressed this issue. The Court found that there was sufficient evidence to support
the submission of this aggravating factor in that in the defendant's confession he stated that the
victim had accused him of raping her and that he had stolen a cigarette lighter from her, and further
the Court found that the conclusion could not have materially effected the jury's finding in view of
the overwhelming proof of murder in the first degree in the perpetration of a simple kidnapping and
armed robbery.

As to No. 4, the murder was committed in commission of a felony. The defendant was
convicted in a felony murder. The Court finds that Middlebrooks does apply to this aggravating
circumstance and that this circumstance should not have been considered by the jury. In evaluating

whether or not harmless error has occurred the Court will look to the proof in the record and finds

; that if there was error, it was harmless due to the over-whelming proof of the defendant's guilt and

to the application of one or more of the other overwhelming circumstances.

Lastly, as error in this petition the defense raises the issue of cumulative error as to each of

i the above issues, as well as the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel, naming some nine (9)

points. The defense has argued that errors that might not be so prejudicial as to amount to a
deprivation of due process when considered alone, but may cumulatively produce a trial setting that
is fundamentally unfair. They cite Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983). United States

v, Parker, 997 F2d 219 (6th Cir. 1993), and State v. Zimmerman, 823 S.W.2nd 220 (Tenn.Crim.App.
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1991). Clearly, the defense urges that these issues and allegations of ineffective assistance of

counsel, as will be discussed below, produced a failure of due process in this case and denied the
defendant a meaningful defense. The Court will first examine the nine (9) issues of ineffective

assistance of counsel:

1. Failure to identify and use a competent mental health professional in a timely basis - The

proof in this case indicated that in the trial of Mr. King for the death of Todd Millard, and Cherokee

'- Mental Health Association had previously done a mental evaluation. Further, that the defense

* although a bit late, obtained the services of a competent mental health professional who evaluated

Mr. King and whose evaluation, the defense felt was not helpful to Mr. King. Although, that

evaluation was done at the last minute, it is clear that a competent mental health professional was

! found on a timely basis, and that the findings of Dr. Auble who testified in this post-conviction case

were not unlike the findings of those mental health professionals who did in fact examine Mr. King
at that time. The Court finds no ineffective assistance as to ground No. 1.

2, That the defendant failed to develop or follow a coherent theory in this case - The theory
of the defense was that there was voluntary intoxication, which should mitigate pre-meditated
murder. Unfortunately for Mr. King, he had not told his lawyer the truth about what happened in
this case until quite some time after he was charged, and had misled his lawyer with sevcral
different stories. Further, the theory of mental disorder was not usable, as described above, and
clearly the defense's theory regarding voluntary intoxication must have had some impact on the jury
because the defendant was found guilty of Felony Murder, to which voluntary intoxication does not
apply. The defense attempted to mitigate in the sentencing phase by putting on several witnesses,
and the jury did not accept that mitigation. The Court finds no ineffective assistance of counsel in
that regard.

3. The abandonment of the opening statement in phase oné - While the Court feels that the

opening statement should not be misleading to the jury and that the failure to put Don King on after

promising it to the jury was not very tactically appropriate, the Court does not find that this made |

ant substantial difference. In fact, Mr. Simpson testified that Mr, King's testimony regarding the

" occurrences, as well as the other individuals that may have been called, would have been harmful

© to Mr. King. Further, the defense did put Mr. Don King on in the penalty phase and the jury did in
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fact ultimately hear from Mr. Don King. The Court does not find that this rises to ineffective
assistance of counsel.
4. Failure to preserve bench rulings - The Court heard the testimony of the trial judge, the
- Honorable Ray Lee Jenkins, who indicated that the bench rulings were preserved as best as possible.
Indeed, some of the bench rulings were preserved and some were not. While the defense argues that
5 this has prejudice Mr. King's ability to proceed with appeal, there has been no showing of prejudice
in this issue and it is not found to be ineffective assistance of counsel.
| 5. Failure to exclude damaging and inadmissible evidence such as the false Sexton
Il confession in the Fort Pillow Letter - These items were introduced during Mr. Sexton's cross-
; examination after Mr. King and Mr. Sexton collaborated on a false version of what had occurred
. during the course of this murder. The Court finds no failure of counsel with regard to this issue.
6. Failure to appeal the state's use of the juvenile dismissal - The trial transcript at pages 708
‘ and 709, page 722, and page 528 of the record will refer to the juvenile convictions and dismissal.
‘ These issues have been raised in the Supreme Court's Opinion and found to be error, but not
l prejudicial error, and the Court finds no ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to this issue.
% 7. Failure to appeal the underlying armed robbery conviction - There has been no proof of
& prejudice with regard to the previous underlying armed robbery conviction nor has any evidence
l been put forth with regard to this failure. Thus, the Court finds no ineffective assistance of counsel
l as to this conviction in light of the fact that counsel did file a timely appeal on the death penalty
!_ conviction in which the armed robbery conviction was subsumed.
8. Failure to appeal the denial of the Motion To Suppress ~ Mr. Simpson, in his testimony,
raised reasons why the Motion To Suppress was put on without testimony by Mr. King, and gave
‘_ adequate reasons for doing so. Further, even the expert witness for the defendant, Mr. Trant,

! testified that he does not always put a defendant on the witness stand regarding the motion to
!

suppress that this a tactical decision. The Court can find no fault with the tactical decision of Mr.
|

" Simpson neither in the decision to suppress in his failure to appeal the denial of the motion to

. suppress.

9. Failure to petition for Writ of Certiorari - The Court finds that Mr. King discussed the

* petition for writ of certiorari with Mr. Simpson and that Mr. Simpson made an error in failing to

16




for certiorari and further this issue was raised on rehearing in the Supreme Court and the Supreme

Court denied the request for rehearing based upon that.

As to the total issue of ineffective assistance of counsel the Court finds that counsel did abide
; by the standards of Baxter v. Rose. While there has been some proof by the defense that those
standards were not followed, and proof by the State that those standards were followed, it is the

burden of the defense to show the ineffective assistance of counsel, and the Court finds that they

.| have not carried their burden in this regard.

The last issue which counsel has raised, but not in the argument at hearing, involved waiver
of issues previously determined and counsel quotes the waiver provision of the Tennessee Post-
Conviction Procedure Act as of 1971, and cites two new Court of Criminal Appeals cases House,
and Johnson, which are attached to the defendant's Supplemental Memorandum of Law On Waiver,
stating that the petitioner must be aware and knowingly understand waiver. House defines waiver
that can be used as a bar. It must have been a knowing, conscious, and deliberate act upon the part
of the petitioner. It is urged that Mr. King must be found to have personally waived the grounds
listed in the petition of post-conviction relief at the time of his trial or direct appeal, and personally

decided not to present them to the Court. Based upon the testimony during the post-conviction

.| proceeding of Mr. King, that he actively took part in the defense of his case, and he discussed this

matter and the issues with his lawyer, It appears that Mr. King had a full discussion with his lawyer

as to the issues to be raised, and suggested certain issues to his lawyer, and that there is no proof that

the petitioner did not knowingly and understandingly waive certain issues. Further, 40-30-112(b2)
states that there is a rebuttable presumption that a ground for relief not raised in any such proceeding
which was held was waived. Clearly there are many issues which have been raised in this petition
for post-conviction relief such as Cruz error, which the defendant could not have known of, which
have been properly raised in this case. There are certainly issues filed in the Comprehensive Petition
: for Post-Conviction Relief which have been raised, and the Court finds that Mr. King knew what

1 issues were involved and assisted counsel.

The Court stands on its previous order determining whether any issues were previously |

waived, the Court has allowed all issues in section 8(a) to be considered for purposes of hearing and
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* specifically ruled as follows:

Section 8(a)
i.

ii.

ifi.

iv.

vii.

viii.

X1., Xii.

Xiii.

this issue has previously been discussed.

this issue is not relevant to the the constitutional grounds for post-conviction
relief.

these issues have previously been discussed in this ruling,

the Court has previously made findings of fact in this ruling.

the Court has previously made findings of fact in this ruling.

the defendant was convicted of Felony Murder and this issue has previously
been addressed.

counsel adequately investigated Terry Lynn King's medical history, for use
as evidence and mitigation.

Lori Eastman's credibility has previously been discussed by the Supreme
Court and this issue has been previously determined.

this issue has been waived by the ruling of the State Supreme Court.

this issue has been previously discussed in this ruling.

failure to object issues are previously determined.
Mr. King's confession was admitted properly and this issue is previously

determined.

Xiv., XV., XVi,, Xvii,

Xviii.
XiX.

XX.

xxii.

XXtii.

these issues have previously been discussed in this ruling.

there is no requirement of trial counsel to exhaust the peremptory challenges.
this issue has been previously discussed.

there has been no proof as to this issue.

there is no basis to raise this issue nor has there been any proof with regard
to this issue.

this issue has previously been discussed.

no proof has been presented as to this issue.
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xxiv, this issue has been previously discussed.
xxv. this issue has been previously discussed.
xxvi. this issue has been previously determined.
xxvii. this issue has been previously discussed.
8 (b) these issues have been previously discussed in this ruling.
8(c)
i, thru iii.
have previously been discussed.
iv. has been withdrawn.
v. these issues were previously determined
or
all issues have been previously discussed.
vi. this issue has been previously discussed in this ruling.
vii.  this issue has been waived due to no proof regarding extensive publicity.
viil., ix.

these issues have previously been waived due to the Supreme Court's ruling.

X., Xi., Xii., Xiil., Xiv., xv.

these issues have previously been determined.

Xvi., xvii.,

(e)

®

been waived by failure to waive those issues.

these issues have previously been discussed.

all of these issues have previously been discussed in this proceeding, or
counsel had agreed that a number of the grounds had been previously been

determined and waived and in light of the Counts findings regarding

cumulative effect the Court denies these grounds.
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has been previously discussed in this ruling.
)
this section regards cumulative effect which the Court will discuss below.
The issues involved in Amendment No. Three to the Post-Conviction Relief have all
been discussed herein.

Thus, as to cumulative effect that having examined all of the grounds for post-conviction
relief, the Court finds that the petitioner, Terry Lynn King, has raised no grounds for which relief
should be granted, therefore, cumulative effect also fails as an argument. The Petition For Post-
Conviction Relief is hereby dismissed. However, the execution of the death sentence upon the

petitioner is hereby stayed pending further order of this or other higher courts, so that the defendant

'| shall have an opportunity to take appeal from this ruling.

The Clerk shall farnish a copy of this order to the petitioner, Terry Lynn King, counsel for

the petitioner, Charles W. B. Fels, aud to the Knox County Attorney General.

<7
ENTER this the 3/ day of Ood 1995,

MARY BETH LEIBOWITZ, JUDGE__/
CRIMINAL COURT DIVISION Iil
SIXTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT

L
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OPINION
PEAY, Judge

*f The pelitioner was convicted by a jury on February 1,
1085, o first-degree (felony) murder and armed mbhcw.i Ile
was sentenced 1o death tor the first-degree murder offense
and 1o one hundred twenty-five (1233 years {or the robbery
offense. 11z convictions and sentences were aftirmed on
direct appeal Sraie v King, 718 S)W.2d 241 {Tenn. 1986).
The petitioner subsequently filed for post-conviction relief
which was denied afier a hearing. He now appeals, raising the
following issues:

1. The aggravating Taciors used in imposing the death sentence
were either constitutionally flawed or impermissibly tainted
by inadmissible cvidence:

11. The trial court’s tailure to grani a severance violated Bruton
v United States and Croz vo New York at trial and violated his
due process rights at sentencing:

HE [rial and appeliate counsel were ineffective:

1V, The trial court's failure to instruct the jury on sccond
degree murder and voluntary intoxication violated his

constitutional rights:

V. The trial court’s instruction on reasonuble doubt vielated
his due process rights:

VI. The proseculion violated his duc process rights by
offering madmissibic. irelevant and inflammatory cvidence
during boih the guilt and pesally phases of his trial: andd

VIl e is entitled to a new trial and/or a new sentencing
hiearing bascd on cumulaiive creor,

Finding no reversible error in the lower court's rulings on
these issues. we alfinm the judgment below,

FACTS

A brief recitation ol the facts established at the pelitioner's
trial is sufficient for the purposes of thus proceeding. On the
afternoon of July 31, 1984, the petitioner and his cousin, Don
King, were driving around Cherokee Lake together when they
met the victim, Diana K. Swmith, The three lett and drove to
Don King's trailer, the pelitioner viding with the victium in her
car. The petitioner subsequently obtained some LD, Te and
the victim both took some of the 1.8, The petitioner had also
taken one or more Quaahide tublets and had been drinking
beer all day. The victim had been drinking wine and continued
10 do so aficr wriving al Don King's trailer.

The proot established that the petitioner engaged in sex with
the victim and that they went driving avound in her car. Al
some point she asked him. “Why did you all rape me?? The
petitioner subsequently made her getinto the trunk of her car
and drove to the house where hus friend. co-detendun Randall
Joe Sexton lived. ilere. the petitioner spoke with Sexton and
obtained Scxton's rific. He returned to the victin's car and
drove off. Sexton accompanied the petitioner in his own car.
Eventually, the petitioner drove to a wooded area near a creek
where he made the victim get out of the trunk of her car and
lie facedown on the ground. lie then shol her in the back of
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her bead at least onee. killing ke, The petitioner and Sexton
returned the next day to dispose of the body, wrapping itin a
tent. weighting it down with cinder blocks and then throwing
i into u quarry ke, The body was discovered several days
later. Following their arrests, both Sexton and the petitioner
made statements to the police after waiving their rights. Both
men were wicd togethier,

ANALYSIS

*2 As a preliminary matter. we first nete that “[iln post-
convicton reliel proceedings the petitioner has the burden
of proving the allegations in his petition by 4 preponderance
Stofe. 635 S W 2d 191, 198
{Tone Crim App. FU83 ) Furthernore. the [actual findings of

al the evidenee” Mefee w

the tinal court in hearings “are conclusive on appeal vuless
the evidence preponderaies against the judgment.” State v
Biiford, 666 S W2 473,475 CYenn Crint App. 1983).

L AGGRAVATING FACTORS

In his first issue. the petioner asserts that two of the four
ageravaling factors relied upen by the jury in imposing the
deuth sentence “could not be constitutionaily applied to the
facts of this case’ and that the remaining two (actors “were
tmpermissibly fainted by evidence which was erroneousty
admitted by the irial cowt.”™ The four aggravating faciors
found by the jury were the following:

i The petiioner was previously convicted of one or more
felonies. other than the present charge. which involved the use
ot threat ol violence Lo the person;

2. Fhe murder was especially heinous. atrocious or cruel in
that it invelved torture or depravity of mind;

3. The murder was commiited for the purpese of avoiding.
jnterlering with or preventing a lawfil arrest or prosecution
of the petitiongs or anather: and

4. The wurder was commiticd while the petitioner was
etigaged it committing, o was an accomplice in the
conumission of, or was attenipling to commit. or was flecing
afler committing or atlempting lo comimit, any rape, robbery,
farceny or Kidnapping.

[C.AL§ 39-2-203(1)(2). (51, (6), and (7) (1982 Reply).

With respect to the fast of these factors. the petitioner allepes
that our Supreme Court’s opinion in State v Middlebsuoks,
46 S W.2d 317 (Tenn. [992), requires this Court to conslude
that the use of the telony murder aggravator in this case was
unconstitutional.’ The Staie disagrees. citing Swuwe v Hines,
919 SW2J 573 (Tenn [995). in which our Supreme Courl
held that "Where ... a felony not underlying the felony murder
cotviction 1s used w suppert the elony murder agoras ating
circumstance.” there is no Middlebrooks error 919 SW.2d at

In support of its argument. the State asserts thai the petitioner
way {ound guilty of felony murder “solely on the basis of
kidnapfpling.” Although the Stage cites o no portion of the
record in support of this asseition. the charge to the jus
o felouy murder included as the underiving felony only
the oftense of kidnapping. Moreover. the jury staled (o the
trial court that the murder conviclion was for count three
of the indicunent Count three of the indictiment alleged that
the petitioner and his co-defendant had wmuedered the vietim
“while during the perpetration of a Kidnapping.”

*3 The charge given w ihe jury during the penaliy phase of
the wial inchuded the following instruction:

No death penalty shall be imposed but upon 4 unanimous
finding by the jury that ome or more of the following specified
statutory spgravating circumstunces have been proved on the
trial and/or on the sentence hearing bevond a reasonabic
doubt.

Che murder was commiticd while the defendant was engaged
in committing. or was an accomplice in the comnission of,
or was gtiemnpiing to commit, or was flecing afler comnmitting
or altempling {o coumit any rape. robbery, larceny, or
Kidnapping.

Rape 1 the unlawiul carnal knowledge of a woman, forcibly
and against her will.

Robbery is the felonious and forcible taking of the goods or
money of uny value from the person or presence of another

by violence or putting the person in fear,
Kidnapping is the oflense of foreibly or unlaw fully confining.

inveigling. orenticing away another with the infent ot causing

him to be seeretly confined or imprisoned against his will.
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Any person who (eloniously takes and carries away the
personal goods of another with the intent Lo permancntly
deprive the true owner thereol is guilty of larceny.

Phus, the jury was given the choice of Tour felenies from

which to choose in determining whether the felony murder
sggravating ciccumstance applied. However, it is impossible
e discern from the record which of the four felonies the jury

relted upon in determining (o apply this aggravalor,

Novertheless, Stute v Hines appears to require this Court to
find that no Middlebrooks error was commitied under the facts
of this case. tn Hines., the defendant had been convicted of
relony mivrder Tsolely on the basis of armied vobbery.” 919
S.W.2d at AR3 However, our Supreme Court went on fo iind

that ~the lelony underlying the conviction in this case is clear.

as 1s the use of the twe different and additivnal felonies {ol

farceny ond rape] to establish the aggravating circumstance

Whore, as in the instant case. a (elony not underlying the

felony murder conviction is used to suppert the felony

marder aggravaiing circumstance. there is no duplication,
Firthermeore, under these tacts the aggravating circumstance
as applicd restriets the sentencer's discretion to those who
kill shile in the perpetration of multiple felonies, a class
of murderers demonstrably smaller and more blaneworthy
than the general class of murderers cligible for the death
penalty under the .. felony murder statute.... Under these
circumstances, where a {elony other than thai used o prove
the xubslantive oftenge is used W establish the aggravating
circumstance. there 5 no constitutional prohibition against
the use of the [{elony inurder] aggravating circumstance .. to
support the imposition of the death penalty tor telony murder,

flines, 919 S W24 at 383,

“4 The Hines opinien does nol veveal how ihe Court carne
to ils concluston that the jury’s use of the rape and lmeeny
feionics in csiablishing the aggravating circumstance was
“elear™ In a fooinote. the opinjon acknowledges that the
jury found that the murder had been “committed while the
defondant was eng

aged 1n commitliog or was an accomplice

in the commission ofl or was atlempling to commii. or
was {lecing aller committing or attempiing to camoit, any
iohbery, larceny, or rape.” 919 5. W.2d ot 5382 n. 3 (emphasis
added). Moreover, in what appears o be a contradictory
position. the Cowrt swent on to conduet a harmless error

analvsis “feln the premise that error existed because the jury

based its finding rcgarding the felony murder agpravating
circumstance in part on the rohbery.” 919 5.W.2d at 383,

Nevertheless, the crux ol the Courl's reasoning appeurs to be
that the defendant had been engaged in multiple felonies al

g 5 i . 4 i 5
the time he killed the victim,” In conlrast, the defendunt in

Middlebrocixs had been found guilty of Hirst-degree felony
rurder and aggravated kidnapping (che telony an which both
the murder conviction and the aggravaling circumstance were
based), but acquitted of premeditated murder. armed robbery.
and ageravated sexual battery. Viddiohroolks, 840 5 W.2d a
322, Therelore. Middlebrooks involved a murder commuitied
i the commission of ondy a single felony,

In the instant case. the pelitioner was convicted of felons

murder solely on the basis of Kidoapping Tn addition
to kidnapping. however, the felony mweder agpravating
circumstunes was supported by three additional felonies:
rbbery.

larceny al rape. Indeed. the pebtioner was

convicted of wnned robbery in addition to felony murder

Moreover, in the direet appeal of this cose, our Sopreme
Court Tound, according 1o the petitioner's coufession. “that
the victim had accused Tam of raping her, and that he
had taken a gold cigarette tighter belonging to fthe victim)
TE8 S.W.2d 4t 250,
Accordingly. the Court held. the irtal court had been justified

during the criminal episode,” Kine

i including the felonies of rape und larceny in the telony
murder aggravator. Therefore, while the petitioner was not
convicted of citlwer vape or larceny, this fact did not preclude
the jury from relying on cither or both of these felonies in

asseasing the applicability of the felony murder aggravalor,

Thus. the petitioner was presenied as o member of the class
of murderers who kill during the perpetration of multipic
Telonies, “a class of murderers demonstrably smaller and
more blameworthy thane the general class of murdercrs
eligible for the death penaly™ under the felony murder statule

as dupticated by the [eiony murder vgpravator. Hises, 919

[aR Y

SW 2 ar S&3

Accordingly, we disagree with the court
beiow that (he telony murdey

LruValing corcuimsiance was
improperly applicd in this case. and hold that there vwas no
Viddlebirooks error.

*3 However, as did the 7ines cowrl. we alse conduct
a harmiless error analysis out of concamn that errer was
committed becavse the jury based ity linding regarding
the felony murder aggravaling circumstance in part on the
kidnapping. See Hines, 219 S'W.2d al 583 As set lorth
more {ully below. we have determined that the remaining

three aggravating circumstances were properly applied in
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this case. and that the evidence strongly supported then.
The Slate's closing arguments did not give extraordinary
.

weight o the felony murder aggravator, The petitionet's prior

iclony convictions involving violence were not disputed. The
petitioner admitted during the penalty phase that he had
“probably” killed the vietim becaase she had satd “something
about vape” and he “pot scared.” This admission was more
than suflicient to support the aggravating factor that be had
commifted the murder 1o avoid prosecution. The evidence
also supported application ol the “heinous. atrocious or cruel”
aggravator. As did our Supreme Court in Hines. then, we
find that “hinder this record i can be concluded beyond

A rear

auble doubt thar the sentence would have been the
same had the jury aiven no weight to the [felony murder}
apy

avating facter” 919 S.W.2d ol 384 See also State v

Howell 868 =3 2d 7380 260 (Teun 19935 (the applicabie
bgrmbess ercor analysis reguires e reviewing court (o
conlude bevond a reasonable doubt thit tie senfence would
s e been the siime had the jurs given no weight w the invalid
ravating fuctor).,

The petitioner alse contends that the Jury's finding that the
murder was especially heinous. atrocious or crue! in that
it volved torture or deprayity of mind must be set aside
as apconstitdionally applied. In support of his argument,
the petitioner complains about the jury instructions given
fand those onitted) on this ageravating tactor, and about the
suilicieney ol the evidence supporting this factor. However.
ou supreme Court has previously addressed bath of these
Issues, holding

we find [no] prejndicial error in the trial court's failure to
define the form “terture,” The evidence in this cose supports
the aggravating circumstance, Tor.Code Ann. § 39-2-203(1)

15}, as defined in Sfaie v Williams ... as the [petitioner}

olfered the [petitioner] moncy W let her go. Furthermore,
the reimaing

hree agpiavatic

g circumstanees were correctly
charged and z2re overwhelmingly supported by the evidence.
Under these cireumstances, there was no prejudice o the

fpctittoner] by the fatiure to define “torture.

King, 718 S)W.2d at 249, Accordingly, this issue has been
previously determined. T.OA § 40-30-1121u). Moreover
although not noed by the Supreme Court o the direct
appeal of (his case but made plain by the record. the
petitioner had trapped the vietim in the trunk of her own car
for some thirty w forty-five minutes immediately prior to
shooting her, We think this treatment of the victim coustituted

severe mental pain’ as contemplated by this aggravating

B 4 = = .
circumstaice.” Accordingly. this aggravator was not applicd
unconstitutionally,

6 With respect 1o the remalning two aggravaiing {actonrs
found by the jury, the petitivner contends that they were
“iopermissibly tuinted by the introduction of unproper
cvidence by the State.” Specitically, the petitionet attacks the
adinission ol evidence about bis two juvenile convictions for
armed robbery and proel of another charge lodged while he
was aminor, accusing him of assisting in the rape of his sister-
jg-lavw. Owr Supveme Courl determined on the direct appeal
ol this matter thal the admission of the juvenile convictions
was harmless erroe as w the applicaiion of the uggesy s
for prior felonies involving violonce, Aag 718 SW.2d a
248, Accordingly, that iss

¢ has been previously determined.

TCAL§ 40-30-112(a). As o the other charge, the alleged
harmitul effect of that evidence was not raised in the direct
appeal. Accordingly, any complaint abour the admission of
that evidence has been watved. T AL S 40-30-11 218,
furthermore, we are confident that our Supreme Courl's
roling would bave been the samic had the admission of the rape
atiegation been raised. In addressing this issue with respect to
the juvenile robbery ollenses, it held:

While it is true that one of the aggravating circumsiances
found wax that the |petitioner] was previously convicted of
one or more felonies which involved the nse or dweat of
violence to the person. the finding was not dependent on the

evidence that the [petitioner] had commilied crimes while a

juveaile. Tt is undisputed in the record that in addition to the

mrder of Mrs, Smith, the [pelitioner] had been convicted
of murder 1w the Giest degree in the perpetralion of an armued
robbery. aggravated kiduapping. and an assanlt withy intent o
cotnmit aggravated Kidnapping, In view of this evidence. the
crror in admitting evidence of [the petitioner's] crimes as a
juvenite could not be prejudicial,

King, 718 S W24 at 24849, The only evidence concerning
the rape chiarge consisled of the prosecution asking ihe
petitioner's brother during the penalty phase ol the wial. “is
it not correct, sir. that in January ol 1979, more specifically
January the 24th of 1979, that your wife, Donna J. King,

accused My Terey Lynn King. vour brother, off

sting in her
rape?” to which the witness responded, ~VYes. siv” (Hven our
Supreme Court’'s ruling on the issue of the juvenile robbery
offenses, we are convineed that its ruling would have been the
saime had the allegation of arror also included the admission
of this evidence,
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i

The petitioner's claim that bis death sentence must be reversed
because of improper application of the aggravaiing tactors is
without merit,

. BRUTON/CRUZ ERRORS

Phe petitioner next complains that his constitutional rights
were violaled by the trial court's vefusal to sever (he (rials
of he and his codelendant, Randali Joe Sexton. Sexton did
not testity during the guilt/innocence phase of the (rial.
However. thie wial court ruled his confession to be admissible
and gave the jury a lumiting instruction that the confession
wis o be used only against Sexton. The petiioner now
contends that the admission ol Sexton's confession violated
his Confrantation Clause vights under Beutoir v, Linited Stoies,
39015 123 11968)

=7 In lhe direct appeal of this matter, our Suprenie Court
puted on this issue and found *no Bruton violation in the
TI8 S W.2d

At 247, However since owr Supreme Court's vpinion, the

admission i evidence of the confessions.” King,

Poited Staies Supreme Court decided the case of Cruz v
New Tork 481 LS 186 (1987), In Cruz the Suprame Court
held that “where a nowtestifying codefendant's confession
incriminaling the defendant is not directly admissible against
[he deleadant. ... the Confrontation Clause bars its admission
at thewr joinl trinl, even f the jury is nstructed not (o
consider it against the defendant. and even if the defendant's
own conlession is admitied against him.” Cruz 481 LS, at
192, The petitioner now contends that Cruz must he applied
reteoactively. and that we should find that the admission of
Sexton's statement was constitutional error,
We [ind i unnecessary o decide whether or not Cruz is o
be appiied retreactively, Even i were, Cras provides for a
harmless coror analyvsis where a codefendant’s confession is
admiited in violation of the Confrontation Clause. 481 U1LN,
at 194, Although the petitioner centends thai the adniission
of Sexton's confession was very harmful, we disagree. The
crun of the petitioner’s argument is based on a single
statement contained in Sexton's confession: “Terry suid he
wasn't going w let her o, because he was afraid he would
get in the suime mess he got into with Lort”™ This “same
mess” was not specifically explained. However. Lori Eastman
Carter testitied during the puilt phase that the defendant had
assaulted her in 1982 and that she had subscquently sworn
ont 4 warrant against him. She also (estitied that, during the
assanly, the petitioner had told ber to ~tell him how it felc o

YN TILUNE sl 2340 %, ‘,‘!‘]v(:i ¥ EMOLE

¢ dying. so that the next woman he Kifled he would know
how she (elt.” The admission of this testimony was found 1o
have been error although harmless. on direct appeal. King,
TI8 S.W.2d ai 246-47

The portion of Sexton’s stutement tarected by the petilioner
as prejudicial. together with Carter's testinony, sapported the
State's attempt Lo prove the petitioner guilty of premeditated
murder. The petitioner was noi, however, convicled ol
premedilated morder: he was convicted of [elony murder
and armed robbers. And while we acknowledpe that this
»f

i

portion af Sexton's confession was somewhat probative

the petitioner's state of mind with respeet to his motives
kidnapping and killing the victing, the petitione's murder
conviction did not depend on his motives. We conclude.
therelove, thal the admission ol Sexion's staleient, insolar
as it wus ollered to prove the pelitioner's state of mind. was
harmiess ervor. il ervor at all.

We furiher canclude that the admission of Sexton's conde

sion
was, inall other respects as o the guilt phase ol ihe trial,

harmless erron In pertinent part. Sexton’s confession provided

as follows:’

*& Terry came and got me up and said he needed my help,
Terry said he wasn't going Lo let her go. because he was alraid
he would get in the same miess he eot into with Lovic Teny told
me that the givl's pamc was Smith. and she lived up around
Talbou, Terry teld me he bad met the girl at the lake, and they
had been down at Don King's house partying, t g hen
Terry told me she had tried (o get away when they went down
to the Pilot, that he had grabbed the keys to the carn, Terry
told me that lie had choked her and put her in the trank of the
Camaro, I followed hinm in my car. u 1970 blue Aodi. from my
erandmothier’s down the road, § ran out of gas, aad he pushed
me with the Camaro to the Publix stacion. Before we left the
house. erry toid me to get my rnifie, it1s a.30-30 lever-action
vifle. Terry put therifle in the seat of the Camaro. At the Publix
T bought five dollars’ worth of gas for my car and five doliars
in a gus can for the Camaro, ferry bad left it parked up the
road from the gas station. We drove down Old Rutledge Pike
to the creek where the old covered bridge used to be, Tevry
drove the Camaro down into the wooded area near the creek.
I stayed om the paved portion of the road with my car cunning
[eflt und took a Tumnel back to the Pubfix station and got me
a Coke. T drove buck down to the creek and drove into the
wooded arca. T saw the Camaro. 1t was stock. T helped him
oet it unstack. Terry told me he had already Killed the giel,
Terry told me he laid the givl down on her stomach. and that

| U )
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wiile she was begging for him vot to, he shot her in the back
of the hiead, Terry told me he had covered the body up with
sume weeds,

While the admission of this confession would cerlainly have
been harmful ervor had there been no other evidence against
the petitioner. there was overwhelming additional evidence:
inchuding the petitioner's own confession to the police und his
carbier confession to Jerry Dean Childress. Childress testitied,
in pertinent parl. as follows:

[ The petitioner| said that-started telling me about it and said
that le was with this-they picked this aiel up at Cherokec Lake
onthe Sunday befere that, that Monday, and that-he said that
he=said he £ d her, and that they done a Quaalude or
two or hit of acid. and that this-he said this other person was

with hiny, and thut he tricd to i the girl, and she said that i

he did, that she was going o holler rape on thenm. And he said

that he pot scared and he couldn't-he hud been in jail belore,

and he wasn't 2oing back Lo jail.

And he said he locked-loched the girl in the irunk of [her

Gt ..

. and sent this ofher person alter a 30-30 nifle-

he told me that he made the girl getout of the trunk of the car.
fay tacedown on the ground-

He suid that she was talking o lim and begging him not to
shoot hey, and that she told bim she liad some meney in the
bank, and thut she would give it to him and forget all about it
U he'd et her oo And he told her to shut her damn mouth and
(urn her head away lrom him.

4y .

He said hie took the gun and put it to the back of her head and
shot her,

fikewise, the petitfoner’s stalement to the police ncluded the

. .
following®

We got back in the car and rode Lo the Piloi station on Rutledpe
Pike to get some gas, 1 told her to pump the gas, and when
she got out. she grabbed the keys. 1 told her to get in the car,
fwas Jeaving, She got in the car. and T took off back to Lee

Springs. and T screwed her again, We sat and taiked. T knew
she had forty doflars on her. T took it and asked her it she had
any mare moaey. She said she had two hundred dollursin the
bank. She asked me why. and she said. Wiy did you ull rape
me? 1 told her we dido't. And at that time 1 knew what she
was going to do. and 1 knew what I was going to do. T wld
lier o get out and get in the trunk of the cain 1 had to take a
crank and sonie pistons ont of the trunk and a pinkish bucket
and some wrenches o make room {or her to get 1n. She pot
in the truok. and 1 went to [Sexton's] grandmother's house on
Lee Springs and gol Joe Sexton up. T told im 1 needed his
help. Twld him § had o gird i the back o the car in the trunk.
Joe's grandmother came out. and he told her ms car was offin
a ditch. and e was poing 10 help me. TTe got his grandmothier
out of the living room, and [ got his Marlin .30-30 ritle. oo
goi a buliet. Joe gol a mattock and shovet, And he =aid. Do
vou know what you'te goeing to do? and {said [ had 2 prelty
coud iden, We lelt Joe was driving his car: Dwas driving {the
victim's car]. A Httle ways down the road Joe ran out of gas.
and { pushied b in the jvictin's carf to the Pabhix statjon,
As we appreached the station. T van out of gas. (oo, Toc got
five dollars of gus in his car and tive dollars’ worth of gas in a
gas can and borcowed a funnel from the gas attendant, We lefl
and went to the creck by the uld covered bridge. T pulled up
in a woonded area and got stuck. 1 made the girl get out ol the
trunk. T had loaded the rifle and was pointing it at her, This
was dayvlight. And 1 took the girl over into some weeds and
made her lay down. She asked me what i was going to do. if
1 was going to kill her. I said. no. some moye guys are going
o serew you. 1 started covering hey up with weeds. 1 told her
this was so she couldn't be seen. { still had the gun. She was
luying facedown, I picked up the witle. held it approximalely
3 feet trom the back of her head and shot her, [Sexton] wasn't
there, We got the {vietbn's car] unstuck afler [Sextonf came
back, We then went throngh her personal belongings, Fharmed
her pictures and L3, and panues. |Sexton] wallied over and
fooked at her, W started to leave but decided to bury her. We
started digging a grave next to the fence. but the ground was
too hard. and we quit. We discussed what to do and decided w
wrap her in a tent [Sexton] had in the back of his car, weight
her and put hey in the water, We decided we would do it the
next mornung. We lelt. went home and went 10 bed. Before

we weni home. we slopped at Sonny Reeser’s garage and tried

to sell him the car, but he wouldn't buy all of i just some of
the parts.

“10 Thus. we hold that. in light of the overwhelming
evidence ol the petitioner's guilt of felony murder adduced at
his trial, vet including Sexton's confession, the admission of
that confession was harmless error. See Stare v Poriertield,
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TG S.W.2d 441, 446 (Tenn 1988) (under Cruz. admission
of the codefendant's confession was harmless error “in light
of (he overwhelming evidence of guilt. considering only
[the delendant's] confession and the evidence of the other
witnesses and the circumstances of the murders™). This issue
is without merit,

Fhe petilioner also contends that the admission of Sexton's

confession was  harmful crror in the conlext of the

Lo 2

sentericing phase of fus wial. We disagree. In reaching its
decision on whether 1o impose the death penalty upon the
petitioncer, the jury bad been charged with a single task: to
determine whethor the State had proved beyond a ceasonable
doubl at leest one statwlory agpravaling circamstance and
whwether the aggravatng circumstance(s) was outwecighed
by oy suliiciently subsiantal miligating circumstances.”

The statulory ageravaling cieumstances with which the

saey was charged are set forth hereinabove, The mriigating
cireunstances with which the jury was charged were:
Phe vicling was ¢ participant in the defendant's conduct or

conseritad 1o the act

(e miucder was commitied while the defendant was under
the mfluence of extreme mental or cmotional disturbance.

-

itz vouth of the defendant at the time of the crime,

e capacity of the detendant to appreciate the wrongfulness
of his conduct or to conforn his conduct io the requirements
of the law was substantially impaired as 4 resule of mental
disease or defect or intoxication. which was insulficient o
cstablish o defense to the crime. but which substantially
affeeted his judpment,

Any other mitgating eircumstances vou may Iind.

Given the funy's instructions, which s presumed (o foltow.”
the only way in which Sexton's confession could have
harmed the petitioner at sentencing is 1F it supported an
apgravating [acwor not otherwise proved. or it contradicted
the petitioner's proot” of mitigation in some manner 1ot

oiherwise testificd Lo by Sexton himself

Seston’s confession provided no support (or the aggravaling
circumsiance of prior violent felonies. Tt provided only
minirmal sopport for the State's theory that the murder was
especially hicinous, atrocious or cruel in that it involved
torture or depravity of mind Sexton's statement contained
a single sentence about the petitioner haviag lold him that

¢ had “put her in the uunk of Jher car].” However. both
Childress' testimony and the petitioner's own statement to
the police contained more than sufficient prool of this laci,
And while Sexton's statement alse included o reference to
the victim's having begged lov her life, Childress' festimony
was much stronger on this point. Accordingly, we find that
Sexton's statentent did not harm the petitiotier by materially

bolstering the State’s proof of these two aggravating factors.

*11 As previously noted, Sexten's statement included the
sentence. “Terry sald he wasn't going o let her go. because
he was afraid he would get in the sume mess he goat in
with Lorl,” Ce

atnly, this portion ol Sexton's stalement
provided some proot that the petitioner had commitied the
murder for the purpose of avolding or preventing his arrest
of prosecution. However, Childress' lestimouny also included
similar proolt that the petitioner had wld hin that the victim
had threatened to “holler rape™ and that he ~got scared and he
cotldn't-he had been in jail betore. and he wasin't soing back
to jail.” Moreover, the petitioner's own staleraent to the police
included the adimission that. atter the victim had raised the
specter of a rape accusation, he ~at that thne ... knew what she
was going to do, and [he] knew what [he] was going to do.”
In light of this evidence, we hold the adimission of Sexton's
slatement on the issue of this agpravating circumstanee to
have been hanuless.

As to the felony murder aggravaion, we have previously held
that the death sentence would have been imposed even had
the jury given no weight to this factor. Therctore, any support
given this circwmstance, il any, by Sexton's confession was
harmicss.

As 1o the mitigating circumstances offered by the petitioner.
Sexton's confession becamie basically irrelevant in Hght of
Sexton's testimony at the sentencing hearing, We agree with
the petitioner thal Sexton's itestimony may have undercul
certuin of his mitigauion proof. To the exient Sexton's
conlession contained similar infonmation. then, i became
merely redundant. Sexton’s confession did not comain any
additional or different information which was independently
damaging lo the petitioner's proet in mitigation. Accordingly.
we hold that the admisston ol Sexton's conlession was
harmiess error, it ervor at all, as to the sentencing phase of
the trinl. The peutioner's contentions with respect to alleged
Biruton/Cruz ervors are withow merit.

The petitioncer also complains that his duc process vights were
violated duving the penalty phase of the trial by the wial
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court's refusal w sever the defendants. We first note that the
petitioney hus cited po cases {inding a due process violation
resuiting from a joint sentencing hearing, We acknowledge.
howevern that such violations are theovetically possible where
the fuilire 1o sever renders the proceeding fundamentally
unfair s0 as to violate doc process. See. e.g, Riiz v. Novris,
8ol Fisapp. 1471, 1486 (F DA T994). The petitioner
contends that the joint trial rendered the sentencing phase
undamenially unfair hecause Sexton presented as mitigation
that he had panticipated as a minor accomplice in the muarder

committed by the petitioner, and thai he bad acted under

extrere duress or the sibstantiol domination of the petitioner,
Ttwas undisputed at both phasces oi' the trial that the petitioner
had actually killed the vicim. It was also undispoted that the
murder had been accomplished with Sexton's gun, The only
significant difference in proof dl senfencing with respect (o
Seston's participation in the mirder wus whaose idea it was
1 bl the victim, Sexwon elaimed it was the petitioner's; tic
petitioner claimed that 1t was Sexton’s, Sexton's testimony
on s poiny was unequivocal, The pettioner's was fu
ess definite. More damning than anything Sexton stated,
however, was {irst, the petitioner’s own confession that. as
soon as the viclim hud asked why they had raped her, he
“kirew what she was going to do. and fhe] knew what {hef was
eoting o do.” Second. the petitioner admiticd during cross-
cxanuugiion that he iad “probabiy™ killed the victim because
she had mentioned rape aud he became scared. Sexton's proot’
i miligation of his owne guili paled in comparison with
these admissions by the petitioner and we therefore find that
Sexton's estimony on this issue did not render the petitioner's
sentenciog hearing fundamentally unfair.,

o

12 Norwas the hearing rendered fundamentally unfair by
Sextor's testimony that the petitioner had appeared sober’! to
hitn at the ime the petitioner came and got him immediately
prior o the murder. The petitioner testified about the quantity
ol drugs und alcohol which he had consumed prior (o the
murder. and Sexton did not dispute this tesiimony. 1he
petitioner offered expert prool as to the likely effects of
these substances upon him and Sexton did nothing o congest
that testimony. Tn fact. Sexton admitted that, when he had
first seen the petitioner at about 2:00 a.m. on the morning
in question. he had appeared o be under the influence off
something. While Sexton's testimony aboul the petitioner’s
demeanor at the lime of the murder was prejudicial insofar as
it undereut the petitioner's attenipt o offer as mitigation that
his capacity to appreciate the wrongfuluess of his couduct was

substantially impaired as a resnll of intexication. we do not

SUTRISE IV L]

think it was so hanntul as o render (he sentencing hearing
fundamentally unfair. The jury undoubtedly understood that
cach of these men was trying 1o suve himsell at the expense

of the other, and evaluated their eredibility accordingly,

We have further examined the record of the scutencing
hiearing with respect to the petitioner’s allegations of “the
extreme antagonism of | Sexton's] counsel™ and that Sexton's
counsel “hurt fthe petitioner] in ways that would have been
improper for the State prosecutor to ry.” Our examination
reveals no dae process violation. The trial court's relusal to
sever the defendants did not render the seniencing heuring
fundamentally unfair as Lo the petitioner. This issue is without
mevit.

HIINEFFECTIVE ASS

'ANCE OF COUNSEL

The pelictoner claims that he received ineffective assistance of
counsel at both the trial and appellate fevels, it reviewing the
pettioner’s Stxth Amendment claim ol incitective assistance
of counsel. this Courl must deiermine whether (he advice
given or services rendered by the attorney are within the
range of competence demuanded of attorneys ineriminal vases,
Bexter v. Rose. 323 SIW 24 930, 936 (Tean 1975% To prevail
on a claim of incllective counsel. a petitioner “must show
that counsel's representation lell below an sbhiective slandard
ol yeasonableness™ and that this performance prejudiced
the defense. There must be a reasonable prebability thal
but for counsel's crror the result of the proceeding would
have been difterent. Serickiand v Hashingion, 466 1S, 668,
687-88. 692, 694 (1984): Bosr v Sruee. TO8 SW.24 421, 422
(Tenn.CrivnApp. 1985},

fn support ol his claim, the petiiioner first complaing
that s trial counsel “abandoned™ the defense theory of
volunttaty intoxication after having introduced it during
opening statenent. During the guili phase of the wial.

proof of the petitioner's consumption of aicobel and drugs

came in through Childeess' festimony and the petitioner's
contession.” Defense counsel did not call Don King. with
whom the petitioner and (he victim had spent the allernoon
and evening. nntl the sentencing phase. Kiag then testified
1984, the
petidoner had drunk over a vase of beer and had taken two

that, beginning in the morning o fuly 3L

“hits™ of acid with the vietim. He farther testified that the
petitioner had been “messed up worse than what Ud ever
seen him.™ Also called by defense counse] during the penalty

phase was Dr. Robert Booher, a physician who specializec
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in addictionology. D Booher westilicd (hat 1L SD preatly

impairs u person's judgment’” and that its “behavioral effects
can last, usually, around eight 1o twelve houwrs”™ He also

watilied it Quaatludes canse “a marked impairment in
dudgrient” and that it takes ap 1o twenty-tour w thirgy-six
hours for them w be eliminated from the body. According o
Dr. Boobier, alcohol also ~impairs a person's judgmient” and
when alcohol and Quaaludes are combined., “the effects of
each more than double each other,” He further testilied that
Quaaludes will inhibit the body's ability to climinate alcobol.
On cross-examination. De. Booher testified that e had never
examined the petittoner, thal he had no way ol knowing tie
amounts of LSD andfor Quaaludes the petitioner had takey
without testing the acwial substances which he had ingested.

and bat a person who takes these drugs over a long period

ol time develops ¢ tolerance 1o their eifects. The petitioner
conlends thal defense counsel erred by not putting on this
prouf dunng the guilt phase of the rial 50 4s o require the
gral court o give an sbruction o voluntary intoxication.
23 The wial court refused delense counsel's request for an
nstruction on voluntury intoxication on the basis ol Harell v,
Staie, 593 KW 24 664 €i‘m‘ﬂ,(‘rim;\pp.!97‘?}.]"‘ n Harvell,
this Court stated.

Prout of mioxication alone is rot a defense o a charge of

commiliing a specific intent crimie {such as premeditated
munrder] nor dees it entide an accused to jury instructions...:
there must be evidence that the intoxication deprived the
accused of the mental capacity to form specific intent....
‘the determiinative question 1s not whether the accused was
intoxicated, but what was his menial cupacity.

U3 5 W.2d at 672, OF course, in the instant case. the only
witnesses whe could have estificd about the petitioner's
state of annd at the ume he commited the murder were
the petitionsr hiraselfl Sexton. and the victin, While King's
{

drups and aleohol he observed the petitioner ngest during
the day and evening of July 31, 1984, the murder was not
comnmitted unuil alter daylight had begun en the next moming.
Don King's testimony, oven cotubined with . Boohet's,
was stnply poi suflicient wm and of itselt 1o establish the
petiioner's stule of mind a8 of the ilme be murdered the
viclim. And the petitioner's own statement oy the police
contains evidence thal his state of mind was not so intoxivated
as W require the jury instruction. His coniession includes
a very detailed recounting of the murder and the cvents
that
him

leading up to it indicating a clear memory: it indicates

he fermed an inlent to keep the victim from accusing

oy nuaghl have been helpiul us o the amouni of

of rape: that he was able w drive a vehicle and load. peint
and
that he had the presence ol mind Lo go (hrough the victim's

and fire a gun. indicating some level oi motor skills:

personal belomgings and burn her pictures and identification
after murdering her The proof availiuble 10 ihe petitioner in
this case was simply not sulficient to require @ jury instruction
on voluntary intoxication. Accordingly. defense counsel did
not orr by failing 1o pursue this “defense™ more vigorously, H
This issue is without merit,

The petitioner nexi complaing that his irial couosel was
weffective m failing to seek evalvations from mental healbth
experts in a timely fashion. Defense counsel acknosvledped
on cross-examination that his office had begui the process
of locating mental health expertise on January 9. 983, At
this time, the tial was ser o hegin on January 21, 1983,
bui was subsequentiy postponed to January 23, 1983, due 0
weather, Delense counsel obtlained (he services of D Martin
Grebrow, a psychiatrist, as ol January 15, 1985, Dr. Gelwow
iirst examined the petitioner on Junuary 23, 1985 the day the
irial began, Dr. Gebrow s evaluation was such that defense
counsel made a strategic decision not to call him as a witness,
This decision was based on two things: first. that the petitioner
had lied to Dr. Gebrow about the cirenmstances of the murder
he commitied. and second. that D {rehrow had told detense
connsel that the petitioner “wax a person thut just liked W hart
peaple.”

*14 Defense covnscladmitted at the post-conviction hearing
fhat, given the time trame. they were not able (o seck a second
opinion which muy have been more helpful. The pelitioner
therelore makes much of the delay in seeking Dr. Gebrow's
assistance. However, the petitioner has lutfed to prove thai
had counsel begun the mental hiealth evaluations carlicr
a more favorable evaluation would have been obtuined.
Althougl the petitioner offered at the hearing the testimony
of D Pamela Auble, who evaluaied the petiioner oy ihe
purposes of this proceeding. Ur Auble's testimony does nol
extablish that an carlicr pretrial evaluation of the petitioner
would have been 1o his henchit, For one thing, hee evaluation

of the petitioner occurred many years atter the offenses and

after many years of fncareeration,” ™ Also, the petitioner was
apparently more truthful with Dr. Auble than he was with
Dr. Gebrow. (Gt course. this “henesty” occurred only atter the
petitioner had heen convicted. Accordingly, to the extent that
13, Auble's evaluation of the pentioner might have presented
a more favorable pictare of him, 1t is impossible for us to
comcelude whether this more favorable picture stews from

the petitioner’s varyiug degre

cs ol veracity in speaking with
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these experts. the passage of time spent in prison. and/or
the fact that one evaluation occurred befvre conviction, the
other years allerward. Thus, it would be sheer speculation for
us o conclode that defense counsel would have eventually
obtained a more helpful expert opinion had they staried the
process months carlier, [ s the petitioner’s burden 10 prove
that he was prejudiced by the olleged failures of his trial
counsel. aod e has {alled to meet that burden on thig issue.
Accordingly. we (ind it Lo be without meril,

Phe pelitioner furthier complaing that defense counsel's defay
in seeking memal bealth expertise resulted 1o less mitigation
proof than should have been offered. Thie record belics this
asseriion, Proof of mitigation jistroduced at wial included the
desastating loss of the petitionet's father at an carly age, his

frequent snifling ol pasoline fumes and use ol alcohol and/

or dri

heginning

i i an early age, his poor schivol and work
perfonmances. cnd he disastrous effects of drugs and aleohol
ol itis thoughts and actions. Also introduced was evidence of
the petitioner's ramorse and his good behavior while jailed.

O Auble's testimoeny at the post-c

ouviciion hearing did not
atter this pottrait of the petitioner in a beneficial manner.’©
she characterized the petitioner as “impulsive,” “dependent,
imawature” and as someone who “took offense very easily”
while drinking or under the influence o drugs and who “tends
1o misinterpret people's actions as hostite.”'” She further
testilied that the viethn's suggestion w the petitioner that she
might file a rape charge

*15 wasa trigger for {the petitioner]. The reasons that it was
it

: goer-there are three reasons. One s that [the petitioner]
has 2 lot of fears of rejection that began way back afler his
father died. She was rejecting him. Fle perceived this, Second.
he tas this old aceusation of holding his sister-in-<law down
whife she was being vaped. He knows that it s possible that,
il g woman does this-liles g rape charge-that it will be very
Third. he has had this recent bad relationship with Lori-recent
i terms of the tme of this event. He does nol expect women
1o be good to him. He expects them 1o accuse him of things.

He expects 1o be rejected by them,

Tiese three factors went together and triggered a great deal off

angerin fithe petitioner]. This is angerthat he has had for many

vears. Ever sinee his lather died probably is when i started.
This overwhelmed him, and he could not cope effectively,
You know. as we have talked about. [the petitioner] is
impulsive, |le bas poor judginent and has ditticulty handling.
or planning, or dealing with stress.

Not only does this testimouy not add auything beneficial
o what was put into evidence dwring the sentencing phase,
iL supporis the Staie's case on the ageravating faclior for
committing the offense (o avoid prosecution. Accordingly. the
patitioner has failed to demonstrate that he was prejudiced by
lis lawyer's failure to hire an expertlike Dr Auble atan carlicr
time.

The petitioner also complains that his wial counsel was
deficient in failing to invesiigate thoroughly the victim's past.
Specificaliy. he asserts thut counsel should have discovered
certain public records concerning a priov rape afiegation. later
disnuissed. apparcaily made by the victim against another man
long before shie met the petitioner. Delense counsel admided
thai he had not discovered this itam [rom Lhe victim's pasl,
However, we il 1o see what good this information would
have done the petitioner ai trial, even had his lawver stumblec
across it. The vietim's character was not a relovant issue at
trial, The victun's past actions. of which the petitioner had no
knowiedge al the time he murdered her. were nol a relevant
fssue at wial. Therelore, this “evidence” would not have been
admissible at trial and the petitioner sullered no prejudice
from his attomey's failure Lo discover i,

The petitioner next points to his detunse counsel's failure
o preserve on the record alt of the hench confercnees

which occurred during the trial. While we agree with the

pettioner thal ali bench conferences should be preserved on

State v Hamunons, 737 S)W. A 549,

the record. see, o.g.,
331 dennCrim App. 19875 we disagree that “the lack ol
a lranscript ol these crucial conversations™ s, ipso facin,
prejudicial within the conext of Serickland. In ovder o
demonstrate prejudices on this issue, the petitioner must show
af least a likelihood that one or more of the unrecorded bench
conivrences resulied i an adverse ruling that constituted
reversibie error. The petitioner has not done so. Indeed. the
petitioner has conceded that ~this factor taken by lseltwould

not warvant reversal.” This allegation is withour merit,

*16  The petitioner  further complains about defense
counsel’s fajlure to call him to the winess stand during the
suppression hearing. In response (o being asked why he did
not call the petitioner o the stand, defense counsel estified:
One. [ knew Judge Jenkimg wasn't going vo believe a convicted
felon with his record over ihe testimony ofL at least. two
officers. But what deterred us Trom putting [the petitioner] on
the stand wus yuu_2 5 and Mr. Crabtrec. and ... Judge Jenkius-

that we did nol want to expose jthe petitioner] 1o sour cross-
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examinaiion. We were confident that you would exceed the
scope of @ suppression hearing in your cross-examination:
thal Judge Jenking would allow vou to do so. coupled with
the fuct that we were dealing with a young man that we knew
wits ul below-ay erage intelligence. and would not do well on
cross-cxamination, And we were confident that. upon trial.
even thougl itis not admissible, that some of that stult that
yvor would glean from a suppresston hiearing ... would come
in at trial and we didn't want you to go W school on {{the
petitioner| as a witness, We wanted your First erack ac him fo
be your only crack at hini,

As correctly noted by the court below, this was a “tactical
decision™ and one that was made with “adequate reasons,” We

will not now second-guess this strategy catl with the benelit of
twenty-twenly indsight. See Adhins v Stade, 9818 W.2d 334,

347 Clean Cram App 994y (¢ The pedtioner is not entitfed

the hanedit of hindsight, may not second-guess o reasonably
based tria) stratepy by his counsel. and cannot criticize a
soeund. but unsuccessful. tactical decisicn made during the

course of the proceedings.”) This issue is without merit.

{1 his st alfeganion ol inettective assistance of counsel. the
petitioner points 16 the penaliv phase of his trial durning which
his counsel did rot object upen introduction into evidence of
a suicide notewritten by the petitioner’s codefendant. Randall
Joe sexton. Sexton had written the nowe in contemplation of
his suicide prior o trial, e testified that he had dikcussed
the contents of the note with the petitioner prier o writing it
and that the pelitioner had sugeesied he include a statement
thai he. Sexton. was responsible for the vietim's death, not the
petitioner. The note was found after Sexton attempted suicide
atd was taken 1o the hospital, and was used very cficetively
by the State te tmpeach Sexton's oredibility. The pefitioner's
cuunsed subsegquently refied on it io closing not only o argue
that Sexion could not be belicved. but to demonstrate that the
petivioner had net tried to eely on this note o his delense,
and adimitted {during the penalty phase of the trial) to having
kilied the victim, In othier words. defense covnsel vsed it
against Sexton and as amethod of bolstering their own clicnt's
credibility and willingness o take responsibility for his own
actions, This wus a sirategy call by defense counsel and once
thal we will not condemn.

‘The petitioner {urther alicges that defense counse! was
ineffective for tailing to appeal the State’s use during the
penalty phase of the frial of a charge that had been made

against the petitioner while a juvenile and later dismissed. We
remind the petitioner that

there is no constitutional requirement that an attorney argue
every issue on appeal... Generally, the delermination ol
which issues W present on appeal is a matter which addresses
itself 1o the professional judement and sound discretion of
appetlate counsel.

kW
Moreover. the determination of which issucs to raise on

appeal can be characterized as ractical or strategical choices,

which ... should not be “sceond guessed™ on appeal. subjecet,

of course. to the requisite professional siaudards.

Cooper v State. 849 SOW.2d 744, 747 (Tenn 1993 ). When
guestioned in this case about how he had decided which issues
1o tuise in the dircet appeal. defense counsel testified. “You
ook at the proof as it was adduced at tial. You read vour

record as carefully as you can. bone up on the applicable case

law us to the issucs suggested: and the dogs that will hunt.
you put in the briell and the ones thut won't. s eu leave home.”
Obviously. defense counsel decided that the admission ol
ithe juvenile charee in question “wooldy't hunt.,” We will noy

second~aness this slealegy call."”

The petitioner also alleges that one of his wial lawyet's
representation was deficient because he tailed to timely file a
petition for writ ol certiorari with the United States Supreme
Court after having told the petitioner that he would do so. The
Slate concedes that the attorney's failure in this regard was
“an instance of deficient performance”™ Whether deficient
or not, a lawyer's failure to file o petition {or discretionury
review does not constitute incffective assistance of counsel
The United States Supreme Court has heid that criminal
defendants do nol have a constilutional right o counsel to

pursue applications for its review Rogs v Maofig 417 UK,

600 (1974), 1t has Turther held that. because a defendant has
no constitutional fght to counsel to pursue apphicaiions lor
certiorari. he can't be deprived of the eflective assisiance of
counsel by his counsel's failure to file the application timely,
Waimvraght v Yorna, 4535 LS. 3806 (1982) Accordingly, this

allegation of ineffvctive assistanee is without merit.

IV, and V. JURY INSTRUCTIONS

The petitioner next contends that his constitutional rights

were  violaled when  the  (rial  cowrt relused to issue
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jury instructions on second-degree murder and voluntary
intoxication. We first note that the trial court’s relusal to give
an instruction on second degree murder was raised in the
direet appeal of this case and overruled. King., 718 5.W.2d
at 245, This issne has therefore been previously determined
and e need not reconsider ithere, T.C. AL § 40-30-112(a) As
o the trial court's refusal (o give an instruction on voluntary
intosication, this was a4 matter appropriate o the direct uppeal
of the petitioner's casc. His failure to raise it there constituies
a waiver ol this issue, T.C AL § 40-30-112(b). See House
woStae, 9T S W.2d 7050 714 (Tenn 1995y Morcover, as
noted above, an instruction nn volunlary inloxication was not

wartanted in this case. This issue is withour nerit.

“18 The petitioner nevt asserts that the wrial courl's jury
mstruction on reasonable doubt violated his due process
rights, Specifically, he contests the Urial comt's description
of “reasonable doubt” as meaning “an inability ... to lei the
mind rest easily as (o the certainty of guilt” and that it vequires

L T . .
E Ihis issue was ool raised

~ . )
ool "o o moral certainly.””
in the petitioner's motion for new teial or oo direct appeal.
Accordingly. it has been walved, TLCAL § 40-36-T112(b).

Additionally,

simifar instructions have repeatedly been held
t pass coustitutional muster. See, e Nichols,
877 SOW.24 722, 734 (lenn 1994y, Peityjohn v Siare. 885
SW2d 364 365466 (Ton .CrimApp. g Siare v Hallock
875 SW2d 2850 204 (TenuCrvim. App 1993 See also
Stare v Michael Dean Bush, No, 03C01-9403-CR-00094,
Cuomberiand County (Tenn.Crim.App. filed Feb. 12, 1996, at
Knoxville) This 1ssue is without merit.

o Stafe v

Y1 PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

[he petitioner also claims that his due process rights
were violated by the prosecution's “offering inadmissible.
irrctevant and inflammatory evidence™ during both the puilt
and penatiy phases ol his tial. Of course, issues concerning
the admissibility of evidence, prosecutorial misconduct and
the neeessity ol 2 mistrial, must all be addressed on direct

appeal ov they are waived. TC.A. § 40-30-112(b). And. to
the extent that the petitioner's coneerns about the presentation
ol evidence and prosecutorial argument were reviewed on
direct appeal, they have been previously determined and need
not be re~examined by this Court. 1O AL § 40-30-112(a),

Accordingly. this issue is without merit in this proceeding,

VIL CUMULATIVE ERROR

In his last issue, the petitioner contends that he is entitled
to a new trial and/or a new sentencing hearing based upon
the camulative errors which oceurred during his wial, A
review ol our Supreme Court's decision in (he divect appesl
ol the petitioner's convictions and senicnce reveats that it
found anly three errors t have been conumitted during the
trial: the admission of Lori BEastman Carter’s twstimony:
the State's cross-cxamination of the petitioner concering
his juvenile oftenses: and the trial court’s failure w define
the word “lorture™ i 118 instructien to the jury on the
“heinous. atrocions or vruel™ aggravating circumstance. Nt
fuether found each of these crvors Lo have been harmiess. 1n
our review ol the alleged errors wineh wre propecly belore
us in this post-conviction proceeding, we have determined
that the admission ol Scxton's contession and the vse of the
felony tmurder aggravator miey have been ervor. but were alse
harmiess. ven when viewed cumwlatively. we do nol find
that the sum total of these errors robbed the petitioner of a fair
trial at either the guilt or penalty phases. This tssae is without
merit

*19 Tlaving found no reversible ervor in the lower court’s
ruling on this petition for post-conviction reliel] we affivm the
Judgment below. The sentence of death wilf be carried ont as
provided by law on the 22nd day of Seplember. 1997, unfess

otherwise ordered by this Courte or other proper authoriiies.

All Cisations

Not Reporied in SOW.2d, 1997 W1, 416389

Footnotes

1 The petitioner was also convicled of aggravated kidnapping. This conviction was set aside by the trial court on March
8, 1885.

Z Don King testified during the sentencing hearing thal he had also had sex with the victim while they were at his trailer.

The only proof that the victim's sex with either Don King or the petitioner was anything other than consensual was the
victim's question to the petitioner. as reported in his confession to the police.
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tn Middlebrooks, our Supreme Court held that "when the defendant is convicted of first-degree murder solely on the basis
of felony murder, the aggravating circumstance set out in Tenn.Code Ann. §§ 39-2-203(i)(7) (1982) and 38-13-204(i}
{7){1991), does not narrow the class of death-eligible murderers sufficiently under the Eighth Amendment to the U.S,
Constilution, and Ardicle |, § 16 of the Tennessee Constitulion because it duplicales the elements of the offense. As a
result, we conclude that Tenn.Code Ann. § 39-2-203(i)(7) is unconstitutionally applied under the Eighth Amendment to
the U.S. Constitution and Article 1, § 16 of the Tennessee Constilution where the death penalty is imposed for felony
surder.” 840 8.W.2d at 346,

However, the opinion does not indicate whether Hines was either indicted for or convicted of any other offenses.

The term “orture” as used in this aggravating circumstance has been defined by our Supreme Court as "the infliction
of severe physical or mental pain upon the victim while he or she remains alive and conscious.” State v. Williams, 690
5W.2d 817, 829 (Tenn, 1985),

This case is distinguishable from State v. Christopher S. Beckham. No. 02C81-8406-CR-00107. Sheiby County
{Tenn Crirn.App. filed Sept. 27, 1993, at Jackson), perm. to appeal granted and remanded for resentencing (Tenn.1996).
In Beckham. the victin had been handeuifed and driven around in a pick-up for two hours and then taken out of the truck
and shot in the head while begging for his fife. This Courl hald thal the “especially heinous” aggravaling circumstance
was not supported by sufficient evidence because “[whal] happened whiie ... the appellant, and the victim were riding
around in the truck is pure speculation. The fact that there was a time lapse between the abduction of the victim and
the actual murder does not alone support a finding that the victim was mentally tortured.” in contrast, being locked in
ihe trunk of a car is ohviously and profecundly different in its capacity to cause mental suffering than being held as a
passenger in a vehicle. even while handcuffed.

As read to the jury by T8I agent David Davenport.

As read to the jury by agent Davenport.

See, State v. Blackmon, 701 S.W.2d 228, 233 {Tenn.Crim.App. 1985).

Sexton's confession also included a single reference 1o the petitioner having choked the victim prior to imprisoning her
in the lrunk of her car. in light of the other proof supporting this factor, we find that this single reference-not mentioned
by the State during its closing arguments at sentencing-was insignificant as to this factor,

Specifically, Sexton testified that, when the petitioner came and got hirm at 5:30 or 6:00 a.m. on the morning of the murder,
he was "coherent,” "not high,” and "normal.”

included in the petitioner's confession were the statements, "1 think me and the girl did two hits of acid and a couple of
[Quaalludes.... | was prelty messed up.”

The tral court also cited twe laler cases, State v, Vanzani. G59 S.W.2d 816 (Tenn. Crim App.1883), and Staie v. Troutt
{unpubiished). In the trial courl's words, these later cases "reaffirm{ed]” and “reiterat{ed]” the hoiding of Harrell.

While defense counsel may have erred in raising the possibility of this defense during opening statement, the pstitioner
has failed 1o prove that this tactic probably affected the jury's verdict.

Dr. Auble lestified that she and her associates had evaluated the petitioner in October 1991,

Of those portions of Dr. Auble's testimony siressed in the pelitioner's briefs as "valuable mitigation evidence,” we find
only two statements which might have benefitted the petiioner at his sentencing hearing and which ware not otherwise
indicated by the proof: that the petitioner is “easily led, if he is under stress,” and that he “perceived himself as getting
advice” from Sexton about what to do. We find that this evidence, even if it had been introduced at trial. would not have
helped the petitioner. As discussed more fully above, the pelitioner's claims at the sentencing hearing that the murder was
Sexion's idea were rendered virtually meaningless in light of his confession and his admission during cross-examination.
We question whether 3 jury would be less inclined to impose the death penalty on an individual who has been convicted
of repeated violent acts. including two murders, and that tends to misinterpret people’s actions as hostile.” One obvious
conclusion to be drawn from this psychelogical insight is that, given the opportunity, the individual may again misinterpret
innocent actions as hostile and respond with violence. it is within the realm of every juror's experience and common sense
that prisoners-even those imprisoned for life-may get such later opportunities, either through parole (since the sentence
of life without parole was not available at the time the petitioner was sentenced) or through escape.

The defense atiorney was responding to a question by Mr. Bob Joliey, cne of the assistant district attorneys who
prosecuted this case at trial.

Also, as sel forth eardier in this opinion, we agree that this issue “wouldn't huni” insofar as it would not have changed our
Supreme Court's ruling on the issue of the admission of juvenile offenses.

The reasonable doubt instruction given during the guiit phase was "Reasonable doubl is thal doubt engendered by an
investigation of all the proof in the case and an inability, after such investigation, to let the mind rest easily as to the

T2a



King v. State, Not Reported in 3.W.2d (1897}
1997 WL 416389

certainty of guilt. Reasonable doubt does not mean a captious, possible or imaginary doubt. In order to convict a defendant
of any criminal charge, every element of proof required to constitute the offense must be proven to a moral certainty,
bui absolute certainty of guilt is not demanded by the law.” At the penalty phase, it was "Reasonable doubt is that doubt
engendered by an investigation of all the proof in the case and an inability, after such investigation, to let the mind rest
easily as to the certainty of your findings. You are the sole and exclusive judges of the credibility of the witnesses and
the weight to be given to the evidence presented.”

£ne of Domnment ©@ 2021 Thomson Reuters. Ng
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of Crviminal Appeals affirmed. Appeal was granted. The

Supreine Court, Barker. J.. held that: (1) State’s use of

{tlony murdey aggravating circurnstance, in addition to three
sther aggravators, (o support death penalty for felony murder
conviction was hannless eeror; (2) any Bruton error from
admission of codefendant's confession in joint tial was
harmiless: and (3) assistance of defense counsel was not
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recording of beneh conferences, and failure to learn of prior
false rape accusalion by victim.
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*322 OPINION

BARKER. L

We granted this post-conviction appeal to review (he
appellant's conviction of felony mueder and the sentence
of death based. in parl. on the felony murder aggravaling
circumstance, The appeliant requests this Court o clarify the
Howell harmless errov analysis used in Swte v Hines, 919
S.W.2d 373, 383-84 {(Tenn 1993y, and to address whether
the Howell analysis vequires a comprehensive revicew of
cumulative errors o the record. The appellant also alleges
inetfective assistance of counse! and contends that his case
should have been severed {vom his co-defendant's under ez
v New York 481 ULS, 186, 107 S.CL 1714, 95 1. Ed.2d 162
(1987

For the

reasons conelude

that follow, we thut  any
Viddiebrooks error in this case, for use of the feleny murder
aggravating circumstance, was harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt. Although Howe!f requires us Lo review the record for
factors that may have influenced the imposition of the death
scmem:c,5 we hold that such review need not incorporate a
comprehensive analysis of ulleged cumulative errors. We lind
no reversibie error and affirm the judgments of the trial court
and the Court of Crintinal Appeals.

BACKGROU

The appellant’s criminal history reveals a pattern ef violent
behavior that has altimately fcad him to a position on death
row, In this case, the appellant and co-defendant Randall
Sexton~ were convicied of felony murder and aggrasated
robbery of Diana K. Smilh.3 The evidence at trial was that on
July 31, 1983, the appellant and Ms. Simith spent the allernoon
Logether drinking beer. ingesting hallucinogenic drugs, and
engaging in sexual intercourse. At some point during the day.
Ms. Smith accused the appellant of raping her. The uppeliant
responded that “he knew what be would do.™ whercupon he
forced Ms. Smith into the trunk of her own car and drove
to Mr, Sexton's residence, With Mr. Sexton following in a
separate vehicie. the appellant drove Ms. Smith to a remoie
location in knox Couanty. T'he appellant ordered Ms. Smith to
gel out of the trunk and lic on the ground. Tie then shot her
at close range in the back of the head with Mr. Sexton's high-
powered rifle.

After the two men disposed of the body, they ook Ms,
Smith's car and other items that she had on her person. The
bady was discovered several days later in the Asbuey quarry
in Knox County, During the police investigation. both the



¥ing v, Stale, 888 S W.2d 318 {1959}

appellant and Mr. Sexton made written statements to the
policce implicating themselves n the crume.

At the sentencing phase of wial. the jury sentenced

the appellant 1o death hased upon  [our aggravaling
circumistances: (1) the murder was commitied by the appellant
whiie he was engaged in comntitting rape, robbery, larceny,
or Kidnapping ol the victine (2) the murder was especially
beinous, airocions. ov cruel a0 that it involved lorture or
depravity of mind: (3) the murder was commilied for the
purpose of avolding, interfering with, or preventing a lawlul
arrest or prosecution of the appetlant: and (4) the appellant
was proviousty convicted of one or more felonics. other than
e present charge. whose statulory elements involve the use
ol viotenee 1o the person. Temi.Code Aon, § 39-2-203()(7).

(33, ¢6), and {2) (1982).

Following his ansuecessiul direel appeal Lo this Coun,” the
appeliant liked & post-conviciion pelition” alleging, ameng
other things, that he was convicied und sentenced to death
%323 Dbased in parl on an invalid felony murder aggravalor.
that his trial counsel were incfrective. and that his joint irial
with M Sexton violated Craz v New York In addition,
he argued that he was entitled to a new trial and/or a
new sentencing hearing based upon cumudative eyrors in the
record.

the wial courl conducted an evidentiary hearing  and
dismissed appeflant’s post-conviction petition. The trial court
found a Wi ddiehraoks crror based upon appellant's conviction
of felony nuieder and the State's use of the felony murder

H

wvating circumsiance. However, the court determined

that the error was harmless in light ol the three remaining
valid aggravating circamstances, On the joint trial issue, the
courl found that even i { ruz v

New dork applies retroactively.
the joint trial with Me Sexton was harmiess error bascd upon
the overwhelming evidence ol appellant's guilt, Lasty, the
court found that the appellant failed o prove that his counsel
were ineffective al trial or on direct appeal. The trial court
lound no ceversible eror and held that appeiloni's claim of
cumulative error was without merit.

The Court of Criminal Appeals atfirmed the judginent of
the trial court. The intermediate appellaie court determined.
however, that thers was no Middiehraoks error becanse
the underlving felony used to support the felony murder
conviction may have differed Irom the felonies found by
the jury 1o support (e felony murder aggravator. The court

noted that the felony murder conviction was based upon

the kidnapping and murder of Ms. Smith. The possiblc
underlying felonics listed to support the fclony marder

aggravator were kidnapping, rape, larceny. and robbery.

Relying in puart on this Cowt's decision in Siaie v Hines,
19 SW.2d 572, S¥3-84 (ton 1993), the intermedisie
appellate court conchuded that the appellant was in & cf

of death cligible offenders domonstrably smailer and more
blameworthy than the class addressed in Aidd!

:hiooks, The
courl. therelvre, heid that the use ol the felony murder
aggravalor was not error in this case,

DISCUSSION

i this post-conviclion pruccedmp, the appellant has the
burden of proving the allegations in his peution by 4
preponderance of the evidence. Stz v Bessor, 973 S 2
202, 207 (Tenn 1998).° The factual findines of the trial court
are conclusive on appeal unless the evidence preponderates
against the judgmenl. Autier v 789 S W.2d 898,
899 (Ten 19903 Stite v Buford. 666 SW2E 4730 47
{(Tonn. CrimuApp. 1983).

Stute,

wh

i.

The appellant first contends thae the Court of Crinninal
Appeals misapplied the principles announced in Hives,
919 SW.2d af 58384, 1o duwermine thal there was no
Middiebrooks oreor. e avgues that the court effectively
created a new noo-stalutory aggravating circumstance that
“the aceused committed the murder in the couse of
commiiting multiple felonies.™

[t 15 now 1 well-known privciple that when a defendant
is convicted of first degree murder solely on the bass of
felony murder, the use of the felomy murder aggravating
circumstanee to support a death sentence. without more. fails
to sufficientlv narrow the class ot death-cligible offenders.
Stute v Middlebrooks. 840 SW.2d 317, 346 (Tenn.1992).

fehronks based that decision

The majonity of the Courtin /7.

upon a delermination that the felony murder aggravator

containg language thal is virtually identical to the statatory

delinition of lzlony murder.”

“324 Atthe time of the Killing in this case. (the felony murder
aggravator reud as follows:



289 S L2 318 (1988}

(73 The murder was commited while the defendant was
engaged i commilling. or was un accomplice in the
commission of. or was atiempling 1o commil. oF wus
fleeing alfler committing ov allempling to commil. any
first degree murder, arson, rape. robbery. burglary. farceny.
kidnapping. aircralt piracy. or unlawtul throwing, placing

o discharging of a destructive device or bomb.

=203 (1984!

fenn,Cade Ana, § 39-2
I comparison. fenn.Code Ann, § 39-2-202(a) (1982)
defined first degree felony murder as murder

commtilted in the perpetration of, or allempt o perpetrate,

gy

any marder in the first degees, arson. rape. robbery. burglary.
Taeceny, kKidnapping. aircrafi pivacy. or the unlawful throwing,

placing or dischavging of a destructive device or bomb,”

the dupiicative limguage in the above provisions has served
as e Basis for finding Middlebrooks vrvor in cases where the
underlving felony ysed to suppurt a felony murder conviction
was also used o support the fvlony murder gpgravaton
In a case that tollowed Vidd] this Court

{lehyonks, however,

addressed for the fist time whether i was error to rely on
the felony murder aggravator when an additional or dilferent
felany supported the agyravating circumstance, but was gol
the underiving felony for the felony murder conviction. Siate

v Wi, 919 5OW2A 375 (Tean 1995),

The defendant ia Tmer was convicted of felony imurder based
upon the victim's de
I ail 576,

in part on the felony murder aggravating circumstance, & at

ath during the course of'an armed robbery.

The Jury sentenced the defendant o death based

o 1

(J IR - - . .
VO he felonies rehied upon to supporl the felony murder
aggravator weie 4t 3K3.

robbery. larceny. amd rape. £,

The Court in flines reiterated  concern fov applying
agoravaling crreumstances and any mitigating crreumstances
56 as Lo narrow the class of death eligible offenders jn capital

;
cases. fd ar 383 A majority of the Court’’ determined.

however. that when a felony not underlying the felony murder
conviction is used (o supporl the felony murder ageravaton
there is ne duplication, and hence the narrowing function is
sulliciently performed. fd The majority held that absent any
duplication. there is no congtitutional prohibition against the
use of the felony murder aggravator to support the imposition

of the death penally or a felony murder conviction. Ji

The waajority in /lines noted that duplication may have

ocewrred in that case since armed robbery was the basis for

the Telony murder conviction and was also included tor the
jury's consideration of the felony murder aggravator, /4 The
majority, therelore. conducted the harmless error analysis
under Howel! to address the possibie

Hines. 919 S.W.2d at 58584,

Middlebrooks error. See

The appellant’s  case  is remarkably  sionlar to the

circumstances i fines. The appellant was convicied of

felony murder based upon his act of kiliing Ms. Smith during

i

a kidnapping. The felonies
support the telony murder

ithe course of relicd upon Lo
aggravaling circumistance were

kid

apping. rape. larceny, and robbery.

The Court of Criminal Appeals velicd on fines to address

whether the use of the felony murder apgravaior violated

Viddebrooks. The court properly noted thas the jury may
have eelied on ke lelonies of rape, larceny. and vobbery to
*325

have avoided any duphication problem under Mickd/

impose the lelony murder aggravator, swhich would

However, the court went Turther to conclude that there was
0o Middichrooks error since the appetlant was engaged in
multiple felonies at the time be killed Ms. Smith,

to the court, the appeliant was in a class ot death-cligible

According

olfenders smaller and more blameworthy than the class al
issie in Middlebrooks.

We agree with the Court of Criminal
appeilant is a death eligible offender
extent that the court found no Medfdle

thai the
However. o the

Appeals
shronks error. we must
respectfully disagree. As discussed in f/ines, the mere faci
that multiple (elonies were Listed by the Stae o support the
felony murder aggravator does not clivainate the poessible
duplivation ervor under Middlebrooks Where, as inthe instant
case. there is po elcar showing of which felonics the jun
considered 1o impose the felony murder aggeravator we cannot

presume that no Aiddle

cxrror geeucred, b appellant's
case. the jury mway have relied on the Kidnupping felony n
pari to conviet the appellant of felony murder and to lind
the felony mwrder agoravating vircumslance, 11 that occurred,
then the use of the felony murder aggravator 1s error under

Middiebrooks.

On the premdse that the jury impreperly relied on the
Kidnappimg felony at sentencing. we shall conduct a Hiwel!
Fhe #eoweld

detenuine beyond a reasonable doubl whether the uppellant’s

harmiess error analysis. analysis requires us (o
sentence would have been the same had the jury given no
weight or consideration to the
SSW2d ar

Felony murder aggravating

circumstance. (68 260--62. 10 15 Umportant o



ale. B89 S.W.2d 3148 {1898}

examine the cutire record for the presence of factors which
potentially intluenced the sentence imposed. These include.
bt are not limited to. the numbey and strength ol remaining
valid aggravating circumstances, the prosecution's argument
al sentencing. the evidence admilted w establish the lelony
murder aggravator, and the nature. guality. and strength of any
miftiguting cvidence. /o at 261,

Our examination ol the record in accordance with the
furegoing principles demonstrates that the use of the lelony
murder agaravator, i error. was barmless bevond 4 reasonable
doubt. The remaining thiree ageravaling circumstunees were
propeciy applied and strongly supported by the evidence,
First. theee is no dispute that the appellant has prior felonious
convictions that involve violence or threat of violence to
the person. See TennCode Ann, § 39-2-203(1)(2) (1982),
In 1983, the appellant was convicted of {elony murder and
apgrivaiing hidnapping based upon a criounal episode in
Granger County. Morsaver, he was convicled of assault with
tent to commit ageravated kidnapping {for criminal conduct
in Knox Couaty that oceurred ouly three days after the murder
of Ms. Smith.

The appellant argues that the (i)(2) aggravator was somehow
tainted by the State's introduction of his juvenile convictions
ar the sentencing hearing. We disagree. As this Court
determined on direct appeal. the infroduction ol the juveniic
records, while improper, bad no bearing on the outeomne
ol appeliant's trial. 11is prior convictions as an adult reflect
complete disregard for human life and strongly suppori the (i)
(23 ugpravator. The use of the juvenile record was harmless,
and the GY2) aggravator was properly used to impose the
deusth sentence,

Second, as the appellane admitted botly before trial and at
the sentencing hearing. he kidnapped and murdered Ms.
Smith o avoid an allegalion and possible charge of rape.
See Tean.Code Ann, § 39-2-203(0)(6), The evidence at trial
reflected that the appellani spent the affetnoon with Ms
smith drinking alcohol, ingesting drugs. and having sexuval
intereourse. At some point. Ms. Smith asked the appellant
why he had vaped her, There is no dispute that appellant's
subsequent criminal conduct against Ms, Smith was a reaction
to Ms. Smith's accusation,

%326 The appellant nevertheless contends (hat the (1)(6)
aggravator was tainted by the testimony of nppellant's ex-
givtviend. L ori &

stman Carter. Ms. Carter testiticd during the
guilt phase that the appellant had previousty assaulted her and

attempted to kill her, On direct appeal. this Court determined
that the testimony should have been excluded as irrclevant,
bui thal any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt,
Phe appellant now claims that the estimony  improperly
served us the thctual basis for the (iM06) aggravator. We
disagree. The appellant’s own admissions fully  support
the ageravator without amy consideration of Ms, Cartor's
testimony. Fhere was no error in the jurs's finding of thal

aggravalon

Third, tie jury found that the murder was especially heinous.
atrocious. und cruel in that it involved tovture or depraviiy ol
mind. See Tenn.Code Ann. § 39-2-203() 33, The appellant
argued on dircct appeal and contends now thas this ageravator
is invalid because the wial court did not define “torture,” In

ercor in the trial court's charge on the (iX3) aggravator,
The appeiant oflers no valid reason why that determination
should be distrbed now,

As the Court of Criminal Appeals noted  the evidence
supports the jury's finding that the murder was especialiy
heinous. atrocious, and cruel, The appellant kept Ms. Smith
irapped in the trunk of her own car for at Jeast Torty-five
(45) minutes before the shooting. Alter driving te the remuote
wooded area. the appellant ordered Ms, Smigh to get out of
the trunk and lie face down in the weeds. The appellant had
the ritle in his possession and bepan placing brash on top
ol Ms. Smith, She begaed him nol o shoot her and offered

money o spare her life, When she asked abow her {ate, the
appetiant responded that other gays were coming 10 have

sexual intercourse with her,

The appellant ovdered Ms. Smith to Took away lrom him while
she was lyving in the weeds. He then shot ber at close runge
in the back of the head. We agree with the courts below thal
the munner of Ms. Smith's death invoh ed severe mental pain
mnd anxiety as contemplated by the (((3) segravator and as
defined by this Court 1 Stere v Hillioms, 690 5, W 2d 517,
529 (Tenn, 19853,

The gext step uader the Howe!! analysis is w review

whether the prosecution placed undue emphasis on the felony
murder aggravator during ihe closing argroment al seniencing.
The record reflects that the prosecution referred o lour
aggravating circumstances during his closing argument. He
emphasized the manner in which the jury was to consider
and weigh the aggravating circumztances together with any
svidence ol mitigation, In brictly discussing the agg

TV ALOTS.
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the prasecntion menlioned the felony murder aggravator only

once in the context of the closing argument, No more weight

or emphasis was given to that aggravator than was given o

= s

the other three aggravating circumstances.

Mapcover, aside from evidence at the guilt phase of wial.
ne additional evidence was submitted by the prosceution t
catablish the folony murder ageravator. At the sentencing
hearing, the prosecution  presented  evidence  only  of
appellant's previous convictions in Grainger County and
Krox County, Thercfore. we conclude that the prosecution did

sot rely undaly or introduce improper evidenee concermng

the telony murder aggravator at seatencing.

Lastly, under foweli, we must review the nature, quality.

and strength of any mitigating evidence inappeliant's case, At
the sentencing hearing, the appellanticlied on Tour mitigating
civeumsiences: {11 the murder was commiited while the
appeltant was under the wdinence of extreme mental »
emotional disturbance: (21 the victing was a participant in the
appellant's conduct or consented 1o the act; (3} the appeliant
wits only twenly-one years old at the time of the crime; and (4
the capucity of the appellant L appreciate the wronglulness

conduct of to conform his conduct 10 the requivements
of the Lo was substuntiaglly impaired as a result of mental
disease or defect or intoxication which was insufficient to

ostablish a defense to the crime but which substantially

sudgment. Tean.Code Aan, § 35=-2-203()%(2). (3).
823

*327 The appeilant emphasized the detrimental effects ol
aleohol ubuse and mind altering drags, such as LSD and

quaaludes, There was evidence that the appellant had been

taking those substances on the day of the murder. Also. the
appeliont presented evidence ot his social history through
his own testimony and the restimony of family members. a
childhood friend, and a guidance counselor from his Yormer
high schoul. The evidence showed that the appellant suffered

emotional tratma and beecame involved in excessive drug use

at ane carly age. following the death of his father. By the age of’

feurteen, the appellant was a regular user of cocaine, vabivm,
and alcohoi, He had a poor academic record during his school
vewrs und he dropped out of high school alter failing the ninth
arads,

The jury considerad the above cevidence and found beyond
g reasonable doubt thal it did pot outweigh the strong

showing of ageravating circumstances. After our independent

review of the record. we are confident that the weighing

of the mitigating cvidence against the thice remaining
ageravators would have resulied o the same sentence of
death. Accordingly, we conclude that appellant's senience of
death would have been the sume had Uie jury given o weight

or consideration to the {elony murder aggravator and allinm

the capital seuenee

ki

We shall next address whether the Howef? analysis requires
a comprehiensive review of the cumulative effect of ervors
the record, including ervors that have already been previoush
determined. or waived, on divect appeal. The appellant
contends that there ure numerous ~harmiess” arory in the
vecord, that when consideved carmuiatively and i the conexa
of Howell, render his death sentence fundamentatly unfairand
invalid,

The appellant essentially asks this Court w0 conducl @
harmless error analysis within the countext of {he fowed!
harmless error analysis. This we decline 10 do. As we
discussed  above, the Jowel analysis s conducted in
cases where the jury's consideration of the felony murder
aggravator coustituies crror under Middichroois. The crux
of the {Ziwell analysis ts to review the record to determite
whether the sppellant's sentence of death s appropriate based
upon the relative strengths and weaknesses of the vahid
aggravating circuimstances and iy mitigating circnmstances.
We focus upon those circuinstanees, including the evidence
used to support then. and determine beyond o reasonable
doubt whetlier the sentence would have been the same had the
jury given no weight or consideration to the felony murder

aggravalor.

In conducting the Howel/ analysis, courts must conduct an
iniensive review of he seniencing phase of 1wial o address
the surength of the remaining ageravating circumstances, the
nature, guality and steength ol any mitigating evidence, the
prosceution’s argument at sentencing. and the evidence used
Lo gstablish the felony murder aggravator, Assignnments ol
error coneeriing the above fuctors are ceriaindy relevant o ihic

unalysis under Howell

We have conducted the Howed/ analysis in this casc.
addressing the alleged crrors as Lo the remaining agpravating
circumstances and other factors at sentencing. Based upon
our review, we concluded bevond a reasonable doubt that

the appellanl's sentence would have been the same regardiess

T8xa



King v. State. 989 S.W.2d 319 (1999

of the felony murder aggravator. That deliberate process has
been approved by this Courl in Howell and /{ines to preserve
the principles of individualized sentencing and Lo ensure that
the appellant is a death~eligible offender. We Iind no reason
o modify that analysis here,

The Howeli decision was never intended 1o be a vehicle for
reviewing or relitigating harmless errors or errors that have
been previously determined or waived. Particularly, in post-
conviction proceedings, courts must adhere to the limitations
set forth in the Post=Conviction Procedure Act. Under the
Act of 1989, a post-conviction hearing may ¢xtend to “all
grounds the pelitioner may have. except those grounds which
the court finds should be excluded because they have been
swaived o proviously determined.” TenmnCode An 3 40-30
P (Hepeated 1995)

#3128 A pround for veliel is » “waived” if the petitioner
knowingly and understandingly  failed to present it for
determinativn in any provecding before a court of competent
jpnsdiction nowhich the ground could have becn presented.”

TormnCode Ann. § 40-30-112(h 1.7 A ground tor relicl
has been = “previously determined” if a court of competent
Jurisdiciion has ruled on the ments afier a full and fair

hearing.” Tenn.Code Ann, § 40--30-112¢a).

With
commprehensive revicw to any errors that were adjudicated on
direct appeal or ervors that the appellant could have, but did

those principles i mind, we deciine io give

not raise until this proceeding. Having determined that any
sentencing evvor s harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. we

again conclude thatappellant's sentence of death should stand.

HIR

The appellant nest contends thai the trial cowrt’s refusai
o sever hus case from Mr, Sexton's was prejudicial error
New York.
Neither the appellant nor Mr. Sexton testified during the guilt

phase of trial. The State. however. introduced wito evidence a

requiring a reversal of his conviction under Cree

writlen confession made by cach defendant during the police
investigation, The trin) court instructed the jury that each
confession could be considered as evidence only against the
confesser. The appellant argues that the admission off Mr.
Sexton's canfession violated lis Confrontation Clause rights
and constitutes reversible error under Cruz,

WESTLAY

In the direct appeal. this Court upheld the admission of My,
Sexton's confession based on the United States Supreme

5, 391 1L 123,88
SO T6R20, 20 1, 0d.2d 476 (1ua8y and Parker v Randolph,
442 (1S, 62,99 S.CL 2132, 60 L.Ed.2d 713 (1979), The well-

established rule from Bruron s that a defendant is deprived

Court's decisions in Bruion v {nited St

of his Confrontation Clause rights when a codefendant's
incriminating confession is introduced ac their joini trial. even
if'the jury is instructed to consider that confession only against
the codefendant. In Paikes the Supreme Court madified the
reach of Bruton where multiple defendants in a joint rial
cuch have a confession that is introduced into evidence,
The Court held that there was no Controntation Clause
violation under Bruton i the defendant’s own contession
recited essentially the same facts as the confession of the
nontestitying codetendant, 442 Uls. at 73, 99 8.CL at2140,"
Relying on (he decision in Parier this Courl examined
the contes

ions of both the appellant and My Sexton and
determined that they were “interlocking in the erucial facts of’
time. focation. lelontous activity, and awareness of the overall
plan or schewie”™ of the killing, This Court. therefore, held that
there was no Braion violation and thar the trial courl did not
err in denying the severance motion under Rule ¥4{¢) of the
Tennessee Rules of Criminal Procedure,

Following appetlant's direct appeal. the United States
Supreme Courtdecided the case of Cruz v, New York Tn Cruz,
the Court overrialed the “interlocking™ confession exception
W Parker;, reasoning thal o codetendant's confession may

. 5

be “devastating™ 1o the defendant and violative of the
Confrontaiton Clause, even it it overiaps waterial facts in g
confession made by the defendant, ¢ rpz 481 VLS at 193,
107 5.C an 1719, The

a nontestitving codefendant's conlession ineriminating the

Court. therefore. held thal “where

defendant is not directly admissible ngatsst the defendant. ...
the Controntation Clause bars its adinission at their joint trial,
329 cven ifihe jury s instructed not to consider it against
the defendant. and even if the delendant's own confession is
admilled against him,” 2/

The uppetiant requests this Court o apply Cruz retroactively
und to hold that the admission of M. Sexton's confession was
constitutional crror. Having carefully reviewed the progeny
of cases under Brutos, we find it unnecessary o determine
whether Cruz has retroactive application in this case. We
are confident thal even under the principles of Crz, he
adimission ol Mrw Sexton’s conlession was harmless beyond
a reasonable doubt, Schneble v Florida. 405 118, 427, 432,

13l LSS, VESIHNEN
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B2 S0 1036, 1060, 31 L.EA2d 340 (1972); Harvingion v
California, 395 1.8 230, 254, 89 85.C1, 17260, 1728-29, 23
L1 2d 284 (1969 Stute v Porterfield 746 5, W.2d 441, 446
{(Yenn 1988y, cert. denjed. 480 U5, 1017, 108 5.Cu 17536, 100
[ d.2d 218 (19883,

5

i Sexton’s written confession deseribed his involvement in
the kiliing from the time the appellant arrived at bis residence
swith Mg Smith Jocked in the tronk of her own can In his
confession, Mr. Sexton stated ihat the appeilant was not going
1o release Ms, Smith because he was afraid “he would gel in
e same mess

he gotinte with Lort [Bastman Carter].” M
Sexton admitied that the appellant took his high-powered rifle
and that the two men drove separately out to a rural arca in
faox Counly

i,)

Yeture reaching thetr destinalion, both Mi. Sexton's vehizie

and e vehicle driven by the appellant ran out of gasoline. In

s confession, M sexton stated that he purchased iive (5)

dollars of gy

gusoline for his car and five (5) dollars of gasaline
i separate container for Ms, Smith's car. The two men then
drove a few miles ap the read to a wooded arca where the
shooting wus (o occur. Mr Sexton’s confession describes in

pertinent pare

{left and took a fuunel back to the Publix station and got
me a Cokeo drove back down to the creek and drove 1oto
the wouoded area. T saw the Camaroe. If was stuck. T helped
fihe appeltan get Lunstack. Terry told me he had already
Killed the givl, Terry told me he laid the girl down on her
stomach, und that while she was begging for him noi 1o,
e shot her in the back of the head. Terry told e he had
covered the body up with some weeds.

Having carclully reviewed the writlen confessions made
by the appeltane and Mr Sexton, we again nute that they
are substantiatly sinilw as to the facts and circumstances
mvolving the muarder, The appetlunt’s confession. however.
contains greater detail concerning the actual shooting. Hig

confession provides in pertinern part;

Ipulled up in a wooded area and got stuck. Tinade the girl
getout of the trunk . Fhad loaded the rille and was poiting it
at her, This [sic] was davlight. And 1 took the givl over into
some weeds and made her lay down. She usked me what |
wias going to do. 111 was going to kill her. 1 said, no, some
more guys are going 1o screw you, I started covering her
up with weeds. Ttold her this was so she couldu't be seen. |
slilf had the gun. She was laving facedown, T picked up the
rifle, held it approsimately 3 feet from the back her head

and shot her, [Mr. Sexton] wasu't there, We potthe [victim's
car] unstuck after {Mr. Sexton| came back. We then went
through her personal belongings. 1 burmed her pictures and
LI and panties. [Mr. Sexton] walked over and looked at
her. We started to leave. but decided to bury her. We sturted
digging a grave next e the fence, but the ground was too
hard. and we quit. We discussed what to do and decided to
wrap het inoa tent [Myr Sexton] had in the back oi his car.
{sic] weight her and pul her in the water. We decided we

vould do it the nexi morning.

[L ix clear that the admission of Mi. Sexton's contession inw
evidence would have constituted a Bruson viclation under ihe
rationale of {ruz, Nevertheless, the mere finding of a Bruton
ervoy in the course of the trial ““docs not avtomatically require
reversal of the
405 Uls, at 430, 92 5O at 1059, in cases where the

properly admitled evidence of guilt is overwhelming, and

ensuing criminal conviclion,”™ Selpnbie,

the prejudicial eifect of the codefendant's conlession iy
insignificant by compavison. then the improper admission
is harmless bevond a reasonabic #3300 doubt, 1d Sev wiso
Parterticld, 746 S, W.2d at 446,

In this case, the objective evidence against (he appetun
was overwhedming, Jerry Childers. an acquaintance of ihe
appellant. testified that the appellant canme to his Bouse on
Augusi 1, 1983, to inguire if he knew anyone who wanied
buy parts fror a (979 Canaro. Mr. Childers testified that the
appellant confessed 1o having killed the woeiman who owned
the Camaro atter she threalened to charge him with 1";1}36.”"
The appellant wld Mr. Childers thal he ordercd the wonian
1o get oul of the trunk of her own car and Lo Tie face down
on the ground. The woman begged the appellant not fo shont
her and offered himy money. The appetlant told My Childers
that he wid the woman to tuen away front hing. and when she
contphied, be shot her tn the back of the head.

Mr, Childers testified that a Tow days alter talking to the
appellant. he went to the location where appellant had said
the shooting occurred. While walking in the avea, he found
an object with hair on it. He then gave the information
he had to Detective Horman Johnson of the Knox County
Sheall's Department and to Agent David Davenport with
the Tennessee Burean of Investipation, The two oftlicers met
Wi, Childers at the prolessed shooting localion and scarched
the arca, finding picces of bone, huir. und bloodsiams. A
futer more thorough search revealed bullet frapments and

. ; 07
additional bone fragmernts.
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here is no question that the evidenee of appellant's guilt was
overwhelming cven without consideration of the two written
conlessions. Considering the above evidence. coupled with
appellant's property admitied confession. any Bruton error
wis harmless beyond o reasonable doubt.

v,

The appeliant next contends that he received ineffective
pasistance of counsel at both the trial and the direct appeal. To
prevail on a claim of inetfective counsel in this proceeding,
ihe appeliant imust prove by a preponderance of the evidence
hat the advice given or services rendered by his counsel
fell below the runge ol competence demanded of attorneys
Baxter v Rose, 323 S.W.2d 930, 936

(Tenn 1975) He must also demonstrate prejudice by showing

in eriminal cases

a reasonable prabability that but for counsels' error, the result

of the trial proceeding would have been different. chiand
Sushimgion, 466 LS 668, 687 104 S.CL 2032, 2064, 80
P2 674 119845 Goad v Srtare, 938 SW.2d 363 369
(ten 1996

The appellane first claims thae his trial counsel abandonced
the defense theory of voluntary intoxication after having
introduced it to the jury during the opening statement,®
Defense counsel Robert Simpson stated during hus opening
vesnarks that Ms. Smith willingly spent time with the appellaint
and appellant's consing Don King. on the day of the killing.
While al Don King's trailer. the three drank large quantitics of
aleohol and Tngested various mind-altering drugs. including
LS and quaaludes. Counsel stated that:

We think the proof will show that whatever happened to
Mrs. Smith, Mr, King's involvement was the product of an

incredible quantity of intoxicanis. And we think the proof
will show that he cannot be held *331 legully responsihle
for all ot his actions to the degree the State would ask vou,
simply because of the vast quantitics ot intoxicants that he
consumed, And the proof is going to be very clear on that
point
During the guifl phase ol wial, proof of appellant's aleobol
and drug consumpiion was admitled into evidence through the
testimony ol Jerry Childers'” and the admission of appellant's
polive conlession. Counsel Simpson tesiified at the post-
conviction hearing that he did not call Don King to testify
at the guilt phase because he strategized that Don King's

; : 20 .
testintony would hurt the defense.” Moreover, counsel stated

that he decided w abandon the use of volunlary inloxication
1o defend appellant's actions afier the testmony of appelland's

ex-githiriend. Lot Fastman Carter.

Ms. Carter testified for the prosecution. over the objection ol
defense counsel, that the appellant had atteinpred to kil her on
October 13, 1982, According to Ms. Carter, the appellant hit
her with a slapstick numcerous times while repeatedly asking
her “how il el o be dying. so that the nexty woman he killed
e would know how she fel.”™ Ms, Carter westitied that the
appellant was sober when he attacked her witly the slapstick.
Counsel Siiipson testificd at the post-conyiction hearing thal
Ms, Carter’s tesilmony was unexpected and devastaling to
appellant's casc. Counscl had attempied to contact Ms, Curter
for an interview belore trial. bur was unable Lo locate hew
Durtng appeliant’s case in chiel, counse! atlempted w rebut
her testimomy by calling appellant’s cousin, James ling, who
testificd that he and the appellant had taken Ms, Carter to SL

Mary's Hospital for trcatment, T addition, the delense called

Karen Greeg, Ms. Carter's s

ster. who testiticd that Ms. Cartes
could ot be believed, even under oath

Counsel Simpson testified that the theory of voluntary
intoxication was rendered lTunie sfier Ms. Carter's lestimony.
Counsel decided to chalicnge Ms. Carter's credibility during
the guill phase of trial and to rely on the evideuce of
oxication during the seniencing.

Fhe appellant relies on Stare v Zinmerinen, 823 S)W .24 220,
22426 {Tenn, Ceim App. 1991). to argue that the change in the
defense theory constituted ineflective assistance of connsel,
His reliance ou that decision is misplaced. In Zinunerman, the
defense theorized initially that the detendant was a batlered
and abused wife who had kifled her husband in self defense.
Jd ar 224, Opening stalemenls weie made 1o the jury based
upon B theory, aind the defonse planned to call tie delenduon

A% A witness, fof at 22425,

During the course of the trial. however. counsel advised the
delendant to “shut down™ the defense and o decline from
testitving, . Ziomerman's counsel apparently reasoned that
a vonviclion was inevilable, even though no surprise ot
new evidence had been presented by the Stwe. jd The
Cowrt of Criminal Appeals held that the sudden change in
defense strawepy constituted incffective assistance of counsel
under the circumstances of that case. fd ut 224, The

courl particularly noted that nothing changed or transpired

Kia
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during Llhe course ol trial 1o warrant couusel's peremptory
abandomment of the sound defensce theory. Id. at 224, 226.

Inappellant's case. Counsel Simpson testified that he revised
the defense theory solely in response (o the surprise testimony
of Ms. Carter. Counsel objected o the introduction of her
testimony. but was forced to deal with it after the trial
court allowed it into evidence. Although we acknowledge
that defense attorneys should strive Lo present a consistent
theory of defense st tiial, we must avoid judging the tactical
decisions oi” comnsel in hindsight. Strickiend. 466 U.S. al
689, 104 SO @t 2063 Hellaid v Stare, 629 S W.2d 4. 9
*332 the circumstanc

{lenn d882) We have veviewed

{rorm counsel's perspective at the time and conclude that the
change i strategy does not rise to the fevel of ineffective

assistance

The appeltant next coniends that hix counse! were ineffective
i fuiling to obtain the assistance of mental health experts
in 3 tiniely Tashion Counsel Simpson Lestificd that he began
the process of locaiing a mentat health expert on Junuary
9. 1985, AL that time. the trial was sct to begin on January
21. 1985, but was subsequenily postponed (o January 23,
1985, due to weather, Counsel obtained the services of D
Martin Gobrow. a psychiatrist, on January 15, 1985, and
the doctor evaluated appellant on the first day of trial.”!
Counsel sabsequently nade 2 strategic decision not to use
D Gebwow's evaluation because the appellant had initially
fied about the circumstances of the murder™ and because Dr.
Giebrow opined that the appellant was an impulsive person
who enjoved hurting people.

Counsel Sinpsen testified at the post-conviction hearing
that the delense was unable o obtain a second opinion
due to the time constrainls of wial, Counse! instead relied
upon their own investigation of’ the appeliant. inchuding
appellant's Tumilial eelations and hus social listory. Through
the testimony of appellant's faunily and fricnds.” the defense
preseated ev

ence that the appellant sutlered emotional
travma arising {rom the death ol his father when appellant was
cight (]) years old, The appellant became involved in harmiul
activities, including snifting gasoline and alcohol abuse. at an
carly uge, By the age of fourteen (14). he was a regular user
ol alcohol. 18D, cocaine, and valiom. His scholastic record
was poor and he dropped out of high school atter failiug the
ninth grade.

medical

i Robert Booher, a doctor  specializing  in

“addictionology. estificd for the defense regarding the
23 I g

TLAV 2121 Tho

harmtul effects of LS and other hallucinogenic drugs.
Detense counsel intended to use Di. Booher's testimony
together with evidence that the appellant had taken T SD and
quaalndes on the duy ol the killing. The evidence supporte
part of the defense's mitigation theory thai the murder was
committed while the appellant was under an extreme mental
disturbance and that appeliant’s capacity to appreciate the
wronglulness of his actions was substantially wmpaired by
mental discase, defect or intoxicatton. Tenn.Code Ann, § 39—
3203321 (81 (1982).

The appellant argues that the mitigating evidence could have
been steengthened if his counse! had initated the mental
health evaluations carlicr before the start of tial. He velics
on the testimony of psychele

t D Pamela Auble. who
conducled a mental evaluation of him afler iy convictions.

Do Auble testifted ot the post-conviction hearing that the
appellantis an impulsive. inmature person who has ditticulty
trusting other people. Shie opined that based opon appellant's
gxperiences as a child. he also has a strong sense of insecurity
and offen perceives other people as being hostile towurds
him. This impulsive and insecure nature. according to D,
Aunble, does nol necessarily lead the appeliant t act violently,
However, she opined that when the appellant is confronied
with a stresstul situation, he is unable to think clearly before
reacting. Dr. Auble further stated that appelfant's impuisive
behavior is exacerbated by his abuse of drugs and alcohol.

*333 Bused upon Dr. Auble's review of the 1acis in this case.
she opined that the appellunt unicashed a lifelong build-up o
anger and hostility when Ms. Smith accused him of rr.mc.?;
Dr. Auble testified that the appellant probably looked 1o M
Sexton for advice and then carried out the killing because of
his impulsive pature and poor judement.

The trial court reviewed Ur Aubie's  estimony  and
determined that her evaluaton provided litte information in
addition to that previously discovered by Dr. Gebrow, The
trial court concluded. therefore. that even il defense counsel
had initiated the mental health evaluations carlier, there was
no proefl that a more faverahle report would have been
obtained, We find no ¢vidence to preponderale against that
finding. Moreover. the record reflects that counsel presented
evidence through lay wiinesses that was remarkably similar
to the information provided by Dr. Auble. Appellant's counsel

were not ineffective on this ixsue. ™
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The appellant next contends that his counsel were ineffective
in failing to thoroughly investigate Ms. Smith's past
According o appellant. counsel should have discovered
public records concerning a prior false allegation of rape
made by Ms. Smith,

Counsel Sinpson testified at the post-conviction hearing that
he investizated Ms, Smith's past and her involvement with
the appstlant betore the killing. He stated that he did not
rely feavily on Ms, Smith's past because he did nol want the
Jury o focus on her as a victim. Counsel was aware that Ms.
Smith had lived in MeMion County, but he bad no information
cancerning hice priot rape allegation,

We agree with the Court of Crininal Appeals (hat the prior
rape allegation would not have benelited the appeilant at
(rial. 1f unytiing, the information would have strengthened
the proseoution's evidence of motive against him. Morcover,
fs. Smith's charaeter was not at issue, and there has been no
showing iat information of her prior rape allegation would
have been admissible. Therefore, we catnot say that defense

counsel were ineffective for failing w discover it.

The appeliant nextargues that his counsel were ineflective for
tailing to ensure the recording of all bench conferences during
trial ounsel Simpson testificd that he mistakenly believed
the henchi conferences were being recorded throughout the
irial Omly a few of the aumerous bench conversations
begween counsel and ihe trial judge were preserved for the
record.

The State concedes that counsels' failure to preserve all of the
bench conferences was an instance of deficient performancee,
The State argues, however. that the appellant has not
demonstrated any prejudice as a vesult ol the deficiency. We
agree. To order lo demonstrate prejudice here, the appellant
must show a reasonable nrobability that one or more of
the unrecorded bench conferences vesulted in an adverse
ruling that constituted reversible crror, The appellant has not
satisficd that burden, Accordingly, this issue is withount nierit.

The appellant next contends that counsel should have called
him as a witness at the pre-trial suppression hearing. Counsgl
Simpson testified that appeliant's value and credibility as a
witness was seriously undermined by his violent criminal
history. Based upon that premise. counsel believed that
any benefit from allowing the appellant o testify at the
SUPP

sion hearing would have been omdweighed by the

visk of conseguences from the prosecution's in-depth cross-

examination. Counsel testitied that he wanted lo make the
prosecution wait until trial before taking a crack at the
appellant.

As correctly noted by both the wial court and the Cowrt of
Criminal Appeals, counsel *334 made a tactical decision not
to call the appellant as a witness at the suppression hearing,
We will nol second guess that strategy on appeal with the
benefit of twenty-twenty hindsipht, Sirickland, 466 1S, a
089, 104 SO0 at 2065: Hetlurd, 629 5.W.2d at 9, Counsel
made a caleulated decision, and there has been no showing of
mellectiveness,

The appellant next contends that his counsel were inctlective
in failing to object (o the admission of My, Sexton's suicide
letler at the sentencing hearing. My Sexton had writlen the
letier in contemplation of suicide while he and the appellant
were incarceraled at the Vort Pillow State Prison,*® During the
cross-examinalion of Mr. Sexton ut the sentencing hearing.

the State intreduced the letter into cvidence.

Mre Sexten testified that he had discussed the contents of
the fetter with the appellant prior to writing it and that the
appellane bad encouraged him to include o statement thai
he, Mr. Sexton. was responsible Tor Ms. Smith's death. noy
the appellant. Appellant’s counsel relied on the etter m his
closing argument 1o undermine Mr. Sexton's credibility and
to demonstraie that the appellant had not used the letier as
a defense, Counsels' strategy in part was to show that the
appellant had admitted to the Killing and was remorseful,

We agree with the Court of Criminul Appeals thut counsel
made a tactical decision o use the suickle letfer. not only 1o
attack Mr. Sexton's credibility. but to bolster the eredibility of
the appellaut. Again. we decline to second guess the strategy
chosen by delense counsel. Counsel knew about the suicide
Jetter before toal and chose 1o use U during 1he sentencing
phase to undermine the testimony of Mr. Sexton.

The appeliant further contends that his counsel were
ineffective for failing to challenge on dircct appeal the State's
improper use of a dismissed juvenile charge during the
sentencing phase of irial. Al sentencing. the State cross-
examined the appellant as to his criminal conduct as a

. . 27 . - . 3
juvenile =’ Tlis juvenile record revealed tvo armed vobbery

convictions und a dismissed charge of rape. Appellant's
counsel challenged on divect appeal the adimission ol the two
armed robbery convictions. but apparently omitled the State's
use of the dismissed rape charge.
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This Cowrt has previously held that there is no constitutional
requirement for an attorney o raise every issue on appeal.
Campbell v. Stare, 904 S W .24d 394, 396-97 (Teni. 19935). See
also Junes v Barnes, 463 1.8, 745, 750-51, 103 S.Ct. 3308,
3312, 77 1.d.2d 987 (1983). “Generally. the determination
of which issues o present on appeal is a matler which
addresses iwelf to the professional judement and sound
discretion of appellate counsel.” Couper v Stae. 849 S.W.2d
440747 (Tenn1993). Counsel is given considerable lceway
to decide which issues will serve the appeliant best on
appeal. and we should not second guess those decisions here,
Cumpbell. 904 5 W.2d at 597.

Counsel

lestified that  the defense

cxamined thie trial vecord and listed cvery issuc that might

Simpson caretuliy
have merit en appeal. Counsel included a challenge on direct
appest to the Stae's use of the armed robbery convictions.
and this Court held that admission to be harmless ercor. Under

these circumstances, we canset say that counsels’ omission ol

the dismissed rape charge was ineflective.

Footnotes

State v. Howeil, 868 S.W.2d 238, 260-81 (Tenn.1993).

CONCLUSION

Based wupon the foregoing. we  conclude that  any
Middlebrooks crror in this casc. for use of the felony murder
aggravator, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. We have
addressed the concerns ol individualized senlencing under
Middlebrooks and Howel! and conclude thal the appellani
was properly sentenced to death. Finding no reversible *335
error, we affirm the judgments of the rial court and the Court
of Criminal Appeals.

{nless stayed by this Court or other appropriate suthority. the
appeliant's sentence of death shall be carvied vut as provided
by law on the 16th day ol August. 1999,

ANDERSON. C1.. DROWQTA, BIRCH. und HOLDER. ).
coneur,

All Citations

989 S.W.2d 319

Mr. Sexton was tried together with the appellant for the crimes against Ms. Smith. Mr, Sexton was sentenced to life in
prison plus a term of 125 years for his convictions. His appeal is not now before this Court.
The appellani was also convicted of aggravated kidnapping based upon the same criminal episode. The trial court granted

a judgment of acquittal on that conviction.

The appellant filed his post-conviction petition under the pre-1995 Post Conviction Procedure Act. Tenn Code Ann. §

40-30-101 to —124 (Repealed 1995},

Under the new paost-conviction procedure act, petitioners have the burden of proving factual allegations by clear and
convincing evidence. Tenn.Code Ann. § 40-30-210(f} (15971,
There has been some question concerning whether the decision in Middlebrgooks was required under the cruel and
unusual punishiment provision of the federal constitution. Following Middiebrocks. a majority of this Court has held that the
Middiebrooks decision was based independently on Asrticle |, section 16 of the Tennessee Constitution, State v. Bighes,
885 S.W.2d 797, 818 (Tenn.1994}; Howell, 868 S.W.2d at 269 n. 7.

8 Justice Drowota and former Justice O'Brien dissented as to the holding in Middlebrooks See 840 S.W . 2d al 347350

1
2
3
4 State v. King, 718 8.W.2d 241 (Tenn.1986).
5
6
¥

(Drowoia, J., dissenting).

g The felony murder aggravator has since been amended to provide that. “[{Jhe murder was knowingly committed, solicited,
direcied, or aided by the defendant, while the defendant had a substantial role in committing or attempting to commit,
or was fleeing after having a substantiai role in committing or attempting to commit, any” of the enumeraled felonies.

Tenn.Code Ann. § 39-13-2040)(7) (Supp.1985).

10 The jury also found that the defendant had been previously convicted of one or more felonies, other than the present
charge, which involve the use or threat of violence to the person, and that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious,
or cruel in that it involved torture or depravity of mind. id. (referring to Tenn.Code Ann. § 39-2-203(1){2).(5) (1982)).

11 O'Brien, Sp., J. wrote for the majority, concurred in by Anderson, C.J., Drowota and Birch, J.J. Former Justice Reid
dissented. See Hines, 919 S.W.2d at 584-88 (Reid. J., dissenting).
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it is important to note that under the law in effect at the time of this trial, a jury could have imposed a sentence of
death upon finding only one aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt, so long as there were no mitigating
circumstances sufficiently substantial to outweigh the aggravating circumstance. Tenn.Code. Ann. § 39-2-203(g) (1982).
In this case, the jury found four aggravating circumstances,

Section (b)(2) further provides that "[{Jnere is a rebuttable presumption that a ground for rediel not raised in any such
proceeding which was held was waived.” Tenn.Code Ann. § 40-30-112(b}(2}.

A piurality of the Court in Parier reasoned that when the defendant has confessed to the crime, his case is already
“devastated,” so that the codefendant's confession "will seldom, if ever. be of the ‘devasiating’ character referred Lo in
Brizon,” and impeaching the codefendant's confession on cross-examination "would likely yield small advantage.” Parker,
A42 44,8, al 73, 99 S.Ct at 2139,

The Court acknowledged that the codefendant's confession may actually enhance the reliability of the defendant's
confassion, and increase the likelihood of a conviction, where the two confessions are interlocking. Crizz, 481 U.S. at
183,107 S.Ct al 1718.

The appellant tesiified at the posl-conviclion hearing that he had told four people about the shooting, including Mr.
Childers. before he was questioned by police.

Additional evidence was provided by Agent Davenport and Tommy Heflin, a firearms examiner for the T.B.L Agent
Davenport testified that after the appellant made a statemenit, appeliant look him and other cfficers to the place where the
Carraro was hidden and to where he had hidden the vehicle's license plate. Also, appellant showed the officers where the
shooting occurred and where he and Mr. Sexton had submerged the body in the quarry. Mr. Heflin testilied that, based
upon his examination, at least two puliets had been fired from a rifle with the same firing characteristics as Mr. Sexton's
rifie. He further stated that the mtact metal bullet jacket found at the scene had been fired from Mr. Sexton's rifle.

The appellant was represented at trial by attorneys Robert R. Simpson and Joseph M. Tipton. Mr. Tipton has been a
respected judge on the Tennessee Court of Criminal Appeals since 1980, He did not testity at the post-conviction hearing.
fiir. Childers was an acquaintance of the appeliant. He testified at trial that the appeilant came to his house on August 1,
1983, to inquire whether he would purchase automotive parts from a 1979 Camaro. During his visit, the appellant told My,
Childers that he had killed the owner of the vehicle after she threatened {o charge him with rape. The appellant confessed
the details of the killing to Mr. Childers, including the events that preceded the crime.

The appeliant had apparently confessed his involvement in the murder to Don King.

Dr. Gebrow retained the services of a psychologist. Dr. David Mindes, t¢ conduct neurclogical testing of the appellant.
Those results were included in the evaluation report submitted to defense counsel by Dr. Gebrow,

At the time of the evaluation, the appeilant claimed that Mr. Sexion was responsible for the death of Ms. Smith. The
appellant and Mr, Sexton had fabricated this false version of the crime through a suicide lelier that Mr. Sexton had lefl in
his jail cell at the Fort Pillow State Prison. In the letter, Mr. Sexton confessed that he was the killer and thai the appeilant
was ol responsible for Ms. Smith's death. Mr. Sexton's suicide attempt failed, and both he and the appellant eventually
admitled that the information in the letler was false.

Defensze wilnesses in that regard included the appellant, his mother, his brother, a childhood friend. and a guidance
counselor from appellant's former high school. Additional wilnesses for the defense during the sentencing phase were
Dr. Robert Booher and iwo correctionat officers (rom the Forl Pillow State Prison.

Dr. Auble testified that there were three reasons why the rape accusation triggered appellant's anger: (1) the appellant
was fearful of rejection relating back to the death of his father; (2) his sister-in-law had accused himn of rape when he was
a juvenile; and (3) he had been involved in an abusive relalionship with his ex-girllriend, Lori Easiman Carler.

We further note that portions of Dr. Auble's testimony supported the State'’s theory that the appeliant commiited Lhe
murder to avoid prosecution for rape. Il is questionable whether defense counsel would have used thal information even
if it had been available,

The leiter was found at the prison facility after Mr. Sexton attempted to commil suicide.

As mentioned above, the State also introduced appellant's criminal record as an adult. The appetiant had a prior conviction
of felony murder, aggravated kidnapping, and joyriding. Also, he was convicted of assault with the intent to commit
agaravated kidnapping based upon a criminal episode that occurred three days after the murder of Ms. Smith.

End of Dacument @ 2021 Thomson Reuters. No ciaim o onging: 5.
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Terry Lynn KING, Petitioner,
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No. 3:99—-cv—454.

Aug. 12, 2011,

Attornevs and Law Firms
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Diavies, Ritchice. Dillard & Davies, 2O, Knoxville, TN, for
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Fonwtivr L, Smith, Otlice of the Attorney General. Nashville.
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MEMORANDUM
LEON FORIAN, District fudge.

“% This is a petivon for the writ of habeas corpus pursuant

10 28 11840 & 2254, Peltioner Terry Lynn King (“King™) is

incarcerated on death row, The matter is betore the court on
the respondent’s motions for sununary judgment and King's
response thereto, For the following reasons, the motions for
summary judoement will be GRANTED and the petition for
habeas corpus reliet will be DENIED,

1. Factual Buckground und Procedurad History

The respondent has provided the court with copics of the
relevant documents as 1o King's direct appeal and pose-
conviction proceedings. [Conet File No. 10, Notice of Iiling
Documenis. Addenda !fﬂll.! King was convicted of {irst
degree murder in the perpetration of simple kidnaping by
confinement ({eleny murder). and armed l‘O]JbCl"}’,z He was
sentetneed 1o death on the felony murder conviction and to
125 years bmpriseniment on the wmed robbery couviction,
The convictions and seatences were aftirmed on direct appeal.

State v King, 718 S.W.2d 241 (Tenn, i‘){i(v}.iﬁ

King next filed a pelition for post-conviction reliefl which
was denied after an evidendary hearing, The Teanessee Court
ol Criminal Appeals affirmed the denial of post-conviclion
reliel. King v. Stare, No, 03C01-9601-CR-00024. 1997 W,
416 389 {Tenn.Crim. App. luly 14. 19971 perm. app. granted,
id, (Tenn, Dcee. 8, 1997).

granted King's application for permission to appeal, pursuant

e Tennessee Supreme Court

to Rule 1 of'the Tennessee Rutes of Appellite Procedure. and
subsequently affinmed the denial ol post-conviction eelich)
King v Siate, 989 §.W.2d 3149 (teonn ). cert. denied 528 1S
975 {1999, King then filed the pending petition for federal
habeas corpus relicl.

The facts thatled to King's convictions are set forth in detail in
the opinion of the Tennessee Suprame Cowt on diveet appeal
as follows:

The victint of both crimmes for which delendant stands
convicted was Diana K. Smith, Mrs, Sinith leit her homie
on Sunday aflerncon, July 2L 1983, 10 go o 4 nearby
McDonald's 1o get food for her tamily, Her automobile. a
1979 Camaro. was found on August 4. 1983, o1t the road

in 4 heavily wooded arcu near Blaine, lennessce,

On August 6. 1983, Mrs. Donna Allen weot 1o the Asbury
guarry in Knox County to swim. She noticed a strangs odor
coniing tront a yellow tarpaulin in the water ncar the bank,
and reported the circumstance to the sheriff's office, On
following-up Mrs. Allen's report, officers found the body
of 4 white female in ao advanced siate ol decomposition.
The body was later identitied as being that of Mes, Smith.
Death was from one or more shots fived ioto the back of

Mrs. Smintl's head from a high-powered weapon.

I the course of the police investipation. the attention af

the officers was focuged on Terry King and Randall Sexton

. ! ; o
s Childers™, an acquaintance of King, reported a

conversation he had had with King and what he had found

when he foliowed up on thic conversation

#3 Jerry Childers testified that Teoy King came 1o his
house on the aliernoon of Monday, August 1. 1983, and
inquired as to whether Childers knew anvone that wanted
o buy parts from a 1979 Camaro. According to Childers,
King told Childers he had killed the woman wha ovined the
automobile after she threalened to charge defendant with
rape. According o Childers. defendant said he made the
wornan gel oul of the car trunk where he had contined ler

atd lic face down on the ground. that the woman faced
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the detendant and begged him not to shoot her and oitered
mongy. and that he ordered Tier to tuin her hiead away fromi
him. When she did, he shol her in the back of the head.
Defendant also told Childers he took Forty dollars {from the

woman as well as taking her automobile.

The tollowing {riday. which was Augnst 5, 1983,
Childers related defendant's story o Mr, Butord Walson,
On Sunday. Childers went ta the location defendant had
deseribed as the place o' the killing and found something
with hair on it Childers then gave the information he
had o Detective Herman Johnson ol the knox Couniy
Sheritt's Department and .81, ageny, David Davenport
in following up thereport. 1he officers met Childers near
Richland {veck and searched the area. tinding picces
of bone, hair, and bioodstains. A later more thorough
search turned ap buller lragments and additional bone

{ragnients,

In the course of the police investigation. defendant ond
co-defendant, Sexton. were interviewed by the officers.
Both gave written staterments detailing the events of the
night of July 31, 1983, Neither defendant testified in
the auill phase of the trial, but their statements were
introduced in evidence. Both defendanis testified in the
sentencing phase of the rial and repeated in substance
e fucts ser forth in the statements given the police
officers in their slatemnents.

The swtemenis of King and Sexton were markedly
stimilur for the tme the twe men were together, Ning's
statement was the more comprehensive since it covered
the entive period of time he was with Mrs. Smith.
According to defeadant, e and his cousin, Don King,
picked up Mres. Smiith at the Cherokee Dam on Sunday,
July 31 1983, Defendant drove Mrs. Smith in her
aatemobile o the nearby house trailer ol his cousin,
arciving theve arcund 7:00 pan. Don King drove his own
automobile o the wailer, Shortly afler arriving at the
tratier, defendant called Gugene Thomhill who came to
the trailer and feft with defendant to obtain LSD and
quaatudes. Defendant said he and Mrs, Smith wok the
drugs. Therealter, defendant. Don King. and ugene
Thomhill had sex with Mrs. Smith.

Atlter staying at the trailer tor scveral hours, defendant
and Mrs. Sniith feft, in lwer automobile. with defendant
driving, They went to a wooded arca, where they again
had sex. From there, they went fo g service station

fur gas. Mrs, Smith gol oul o!’ (he automobile and

grabbed the keys. Delendant wld her to get back in the
avtomobile and she did so. The detendant drove Mrs.
Smith back 1o the wooded area. where they again had sex
and the defendant wok Torty dollars from Mrs. Smith.
According to delendant, Mrs, Snith then asked “why
did yon all rape me?” Defendant stated that he knew
then what be was going to do, He told Mrs. Smith to
get into the wunk of the automoebile. When she did,
defenduant drove Lo Sexton's house and told Sexton e
had a woman in the trunk of the automoebiie and necded
Sexton's help. Defendant got g vifle from Sexton and
also a shovel. Defendant and Sexaen then (el the Sexton
home in separate automobiles. Alter making @ stop at
a Publix station to purchase gas, defendant and Sexton
drove 1o @ wouded arca near Richland Creck in Knox
County. Defendunt drove the 1979 Camare oit the road
and became stuck. e then made Mrs. Smith get out of
the automobile trunk and pointed the foaded rifls at her,
Defendant made Mra, Smith e down on the ground,
assuring her that he was not going to kil her, that others
were coming to have sex with hero Sexton left in his
automobife 1o rernm a lnel w the gas station. While
he was gone, defendant shot Mus, South in the back
of the head. On Sexton's retwrn. and afler getting the
Camaro unstuck. the two went through Mrs. Smith's
cffecrs. burning her identitication. They thon atwempted
10 bury the body. but gave up because of the hardiicss
of the ground, The next morning. defendant and Sexton
wrapped Mrs. South's body in a tent weighted it with
cinder blocks and dumped it it the Asburn quarty. Mrs.
Smith's automobile was hidden near Sexion's hense.

“3  Agent Daveaport testificd that after making his
statement, the defendant wolk him and oilier oliicers
the place where the Camaro was hidden and defendany,
also showed them where he had hidden the suomobile
ficense plate in a hollow tree, he delendant aiso showed
the efticers where he had placed the body in the quary

and where the shooting vecurred,

Tommy Heflin, a freanns examiner for the lennessee
Bureau of Tovestigation. testified that he had examined
the 30 Maelin vifle belonging to Sexton, the metal bulie
jacket. and fragments recovered from the scene ol the
killing. According to Mr. Uetlin, the intact metal jacket
had been fired from Sexton's ritle and the fragiments were
fired from a rifie with the sume rifling characteristics as
Sexton's rifle. Mrc Hettin was ol the opinion that ar teast
1wo bullets had been fived.
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Dr, Joseph Parker, who pertormed an autepsy on the
body of Mrs, Sinith, testified that death was due to an
extensive head ijury consistent with gunshot wounds
from a high-powered rifle.

Over objection. the State also presented  evidence
tlwough Lov PFastman Caner that defendant had
attempted to kil hier on October 13, 1982, According
to Mrs. Carter. King hit her with a slapstick nunierous
timcs, while repeatedly asking her “how it felt to be
dying. se that the vext woman he killed he would
know how she el Mrs, Carter testified that she {ost
consciousness, When she came to. she was siill in her

automobile with ber hair rolled up in the window. Nhe

further testificd that she hiard detendant tell his cousin
that he had kitied ber and wanted James King to belp him
pat hier i a quacty and burn her automobile,

James Kinp disputed Mrs, Carter's version of events,
saving that detendant came 1o King's home 1o get him to
follow defondant to St Many's Hospital as Mrs, Cavter
was il and necded treatment.

Karen Greer. Lol Carter's sister, testificd that Mrs.
I )

Curter cun not be believed, even under oath.

The detendant oflered no other evidence n the guill

phase ol the trial,

On considering the cvidence, the jury found that the
defendant and Randall Sexton were guilty of murder
in the first degree in killing Diana K. Smith in the
perpetraton of a shuple kidnapping by conlinement
and ol armed robbery, In our opinion the evidence is
overw helming and supports the jury's verdict,
Sterey Kimg, TIRS W2 ur 243-45.
With respect o the imposition of the death penalty. the

Tennessee Supreme Court also detaiied the supporting Tacis:

As to the sentencing phase of the trial. the State relied upon
evidence introduced during the guilt phase. In addition.
the State inoduced evidence showing that the defendant
and Sexton had been convicted previously of murder in
the fivst degree by use of a firearm in perpetration of
armed robbery und ofagpravated Kidnapping, both oifenses
being commitled on July 2. 1983, less than a month
hefore the defondants killed Mes, Smith.” The State also
introduced evidence that the defendant had been convicted

ol an assault with intent to commit ageravated Kidnapping.

which was commitied only tduee days afler the killing of
Mrs. Smith.

*¢ In response. the defendant calicd numerons withesses

who testified that e had been a heavy user of drugs and
alcohol for a number of years. and that their use could
be expected w and did aflect his judgment and actions,
Further. there was expert medical proot” that the effect of
1.5D and quaaludes, which defendant claimed (o have taken
on July 31, 1983, could be expected to continue for § to
12 hours alter their ingestion, There was also evidence
that detendant was remorseful, and that he had caused no
disciplinary prebicms at the prison and had been moved
[rom ¢lose security to medium seeurdly.

Both the defendant and Sexton tovk the withess stuand
in the sentencing proceeding. and  thewr  testimony
substantiafly followed the stalements they pave the
police. The detendant did deny torming the intent to kill
Mrs. Smith before he went w Sexton's house. insisting
that he went thece only for advise on what w do, Tie
further testified that he got the nifle at Sexton's direction
and formed the intent to kil Mes. Smith atier he wok hey
to the place she was shot, Deflendant stated he velated the
events of Mrs, Smith's death o Jeny Childers because
it was bethering him. He denied welling Childers that
Mrs, Smitl begged for her life. On cross-cxamination.
delendant admitted connmitiing two armed robberies in
January. 1980. when he was a juvenile.

Sexton testified gencrally in accord with the statement
defendant o kil Mrs. Smith, but admited that he
gsave defendant the weapon used in the murder and

fie had given the police. He denied having advised

accompanied him tw the death scene. knowing that Mrs.
Smith was confined in the trunk ol the wanomobile
driven by the defendant. Sexton also helped in trying to
dispose of the automobile. in destroying ali Mrs. Smith's
identitication and in disposing of her boddy.

Ou considering this evidence. the jury retumned the
sentence of death against the defendant. Sexton was
sentenced Lo life imprisonment. evidently because he
was nal present at the moment of the killing and did not
shoot Mrs. Smith. Tn imposing the sentence of death on
the defendant the jury expressly found that:

{1y the defendant wus previously convicted of one or
more {elonies. other (han the present charge. which

involved the use of threat of violenee to the person;
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{2) the murder was especially licinous, atrocious or cruel

i1 that it involved tarture or depravity of mind;

(3) the muorder was commitied for the purpose of

avoiding, inierfering with. or preveniing a luwful arrest

of the delendant or another; and

14y the murder was commited while the defendant

was cngaged in committing, or was an accomplice

in the comimission of. or was attempting to conunit,
or was fleeing after commitling or altempting (o
commitl, any rape, robbery. larceny kidnapping.

The jury also found that there was no mitigating
clreumstance sufficiently substantial 1o outweigh he
statuiory aggravailng chreumstances tound by the jury.

5 Jd a2

474K (internal citations omitted),

o5

The Atnorney General contends that several of K

randurd of Review

ing's claims
are proceduratly defaulted. A (o the remaining claims. the
Attorney General argucs that the respondent is eatitled e
judgment as a matter of law based on the findings of the

fennesseo state courts.

el Default

The docivine of procedural defauli is aop extension of the

exhaustion doctrine. A state prisonet's petition for a writ of

hahcas corpus cannot be granted by a federal court uniess the
petittoner has exhausted his available
I8 USO8 2254,
Supreme Court as one of totad exhaustion. Rose v Lundy
455 VLS. 309, 102 S0 1198, 71 L.Ed.2d 379 {1982). Thus,

cach and every elaim set forth in the federat habeas corpus

state court remedies.
This rule has been interpreted by the

petition must have been presented to the seate appeliate court.
/’iczm!’ v ('mmai' 404 LS. 270, 92 S.CL 309, 30 LEL2d
438 ¢ . See also Pilfere v Foliz, 824 Ll 494, 496 (6th
{.,‘11‘,1‘)87} (!;xh:;ujslum “generally entails fairly presenting the

feo

alb and laciral substance of every claim to all levels of slate

court review. ) Mercover, the substance of the claim must
have been presented as o federal constitutional claim. Giay
v Nethorlond, 318 UK 132, 16263, 116 S.CL 2074,

{5 2d 457 (1096).

[

King cannot file another state petition for post-conviction
relief. fernCode Ann, § 40-30-102
no renedy available to buy in the

(). Accordingly. he has

[ennessee state courts Tor

challenging his conviction and is deemed to have exhausted
his state remedies.

It is well estublished thal @ criminal defendant who tails
to comply wiih state procedural rules which require the
timely presentation of constitutional claims waives the right
to federal habeas corpus review of those claims “absent a
showing of cause for the noncotnpliance and some showing
of actual prejudice resulting from the alleged constitntional
433 .S 72, 84,97 SO
249753 LE2d 594 (1977). dccord Iugle v flsuac, 456
LS. 107, i29. 102 S 15358, 71 L. 2d 783 (1982) ("We

veaflirm. therelore. that any ‘pa'isoncr bringing a constitulional

violation.” Haimeright v Svhes,

claim to the federat courthouse after astawe procedural defanit

must demonsirate cause and aclual prejudice befure obtaining

r¢liel™)

in all cases in which a stute prisoner has Jelaudted his

federal claims in state court pursuant lo an independent

and adequate stale procedural rule, federal habeas

review of the claims is harred unless the prisoncr can

demonslrate cause {or the detault and actuad prejudice

as a result of the alleged violation of federal law. or

demonsirate that failure 1o consider the claims will resuit

in a fundamental miscarriage
Coleman v Thanpson, 301 ULS.
A TLEA2d 640 (1861

ol justice.
722,780, 11 S.Cu, 2340,

“When u state-faw defaudt prevems the state cowrt from

reaching the merits of a federal claim, that claim can

ordinarily not be reviewed i federal court,” Visi v
Numesnaher, 30EUS. 797, 801, 111 8.1, 23900 TS TR 2d

706 {1991). Therefore, to excuse his procedural detuull. King
must first demonsirate cause for his failure to present an issuc
10 the stale courts, “[TThe existence of cause for a procedurul
default must ordinacily fum on whether the prisoner can show
that seme objective lactor external to the defense impeded
counsel's offores to comply with the State's procedural cule.”

Aarrav v Carrier. 477 Uls. 478, 4880 106 =L 2639, 91

Ed.2d 397 (1986).

B. Staie Court Findings

*6 Pursuant to 28 TLS.C. 8 2234(d)y.

federal habeas corpus relief with respect o a claim that was

King may oot oblain

adjudicaied on the merits in a state court proceeding unless
the state vourt decision (1) was contrary to, oF invoelved an

unicasonable application of, clearly established federal law or
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(2) was not reasonably supported by the evidence presented
Lo the state court. In addition, lindings of fact by a staie court
are presumed correet und King must rebut the presumption
ol carrectness by clewr and convincing evidence. 28 UL8.C.

§ 2254(¢e).

'he Supreme Court. in Jiifliams v. Taylor, 329 ULS, 362, 120
S.CL 1405, 146 LId.2d 289 (2000). clavified the distinction
hetween a decision “contrary 0" and an “anreasonable
application of.” clearly established Supreme Court law
nnder § 2254edidy A stae court decision Is Tcontrary
W Supreme Court precedent "I the stale court arrives
aba conclusion opposiie W that reached by fthe Supremce
Court] on u guestion of law or if the state couwrt decides
i case differeatly than |the supreme Court] has on a sel
of materiai

indistinguishubic facts”” 77 ar 4130 A stale
couri Jecision “involves an wnreasonable application ol
clearly estublished Federal law™ only where “the state court's
application of clearly established federal law was objectively

ueneasonable ™ 7 at 409, A federal babeas court may not find

a stute adjudicaion t be “unreasonable” “simply because that
cotrt concludes inits independent judgment that the relevant
state-cowrt decision applied clearly established federal law
erroneously or incorrectly. Rather. that application must also
be unircasonable.” /ol at 411,

O, Maotion for Summary Judgment

The respondent filed a motion for summary Judgrent and,
alter King (Tied his amended petition for the weit of habeas
corpus. a second motion for summary judgment. Tt is well

ished that @ motion for summary judgment, as provided
in Rule 56 of the Uederal Rudes of Civil Procedure. s
applicable to hubeas corpus proceedings and allows the court
1o assess the need for an evidentimry hearing on the merils
of the habeuas pelitivin See Bluckiedge v Allivon, 431 U,
63.80-81.97 S.CL 1621, 32 1.12d.2d 136 (1977} Rule 56(c;
provides that summary judgment “shall be vendered forthwith
il the pleadings. depositions, wnswets o interrogatories, and
adrnissions on {ile, ingether with the affidavits, i any, show
thiat there Is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that
the moving party is entitled w judgment as a matter of Jaw.”
“In considering a motion for suromary judgment, the court
must view the facts and all inferences o be drawn therefrom
in the fight most favorable to the nonmoving party.” 61 fvy
Streei Corp v Alexcaowden 822 F.2d 1432, 1435 (6th Cin 1987,

See also Kochins v Linden—Alimak, Jnc.. 799 t.2d 1128,

P33 (6t Ci 1986): Securities und Exchange Commission v
Bluvin, 760 F.2d 706. 710 (0th Cli, 1983).

The burden is on the moving parly 1o conclusively show thut
no genuine issue of material 1acl exists, Smith v Fudson
600 1.2d 60. 63 (6th Cin {979y Once the moving party
presents evidence suificicent to support a motion for summary
judement. the nonmoving party is not entided o a wial
merely on the basis of allegations. The non-moving pamy
musl present somie significant probative evidence (o suppont
its positlon. Hhite v

av Fark Racing Association, b
909 1.2d 941 943—dd (6th Cie 1 990): Gregu v iHen-Bradicy
Co, 8071 F2d 839, 861 (0th Cir. 1980).

=7 summary judgment should not be disfavored and oy be
an appropriate avenue lor the “just. speedy and inexpensive
determination” of an aclion. Celotex Corp v Cuirent, 477 U8
317327106 5.C0 254891 154,24 265 (19865, The moving

party is entitled o judgment us a matter of law “against a

party wha fails to make a showing sufticient o establish the
existence of an element essential Lo that party's case, and on
which that parly will bear the burden of proof at wial.™ /of at
122,

UL Claims for relief

The court will eonsider King's claims for reliel” as presented
in his amended petition for writ of habeas corpus and set forth
below in bold, in wirn and 1n light ol the respondent’s second

mation (or summary judgnient.

I. The trial court's failure to grant a severance of co-
defendants in this case violated the federal constitution
under Bruton/Cruz and further vislated My King's
right to due process at sentencing when the antagonistic
defenises of co-defendant turned co-defendant's counsel
into a private prosecutor,

A. The finding of guiit of first-degree murder was
constitutionally infirm because of serious Bruton/Crirz
errors which were demonstrably prejudicial to Terry
King.
This claim specitically refers to the statement of co-defendant
Sexton as It related o the testimony of Lorl Bastinan
Cavter (“Carter™). The Tennessee Court of Criminal Appeals
summarized the issue as follows:

[he crux of the petitioner's aralument 8 based on a single

staternent contained in Sexton's confession: “Terry said
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he wasn't going Lo let her go. because he was alraid he

would get in the sumce miess he got into with Lori.”™ This

“same mess” was not specifically expluined. However.
Lori Bastmian Carter estified during the guilt phase thal
the detendant had assaulted her in 1982 and that she had
subsequently sworn out a warrant against him. She also
Lestified that, during the assault, the petitioner had told her
w el him how it felt to be dying. se that the next woman
lie kilted he would know how she relt.”

Kirg v Staze, 1997 WL 416389 at *7.

Neither King
the trial, but thelr sritlen stalements were introduced into

cvidence: the icial court instructed the jury that caclistateiment

could only ke cong defendunt

¥.2d at 244

tered os evidence against the
who made the statement, Stafe v King, 718 5.
King v Stute. 989 S.W . 2d ut 328,

In Brajon v Laued States,

] , K8 S.CL 1620,
20 L.EA2d 476 ¢1968), the Supreme Couwrt held that. in a
joint wial where @ co-defendant does not take the stand, the
admission of the co-defendant's statement that inculpates the
petitioner is a violalion ol the petitioner's
examingion under

right of crogs-
the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth
Amendment. &7 126, Nevertheless. the Supreme Court

wmequently held thae o Braton vielation can

constitte
humiess errorin light of the weight of additional evidence
against the defendant. ,’L e, 395 118,250,
23389 KL 1726, 23 1.1°4.2d 284 (E%*)‘}. As stated by the
Suprome ot in Sclmehte v Florida, 405 B8, 427,92 85.Ct
1030, 31 [.64.2d 340 (1972%:

dngron v Calife

*§ Themere finding ola violaton ol the Bratonrule in the
course of the wial, however. does not aitomatically regquire
veversal of the ensuing criminal conviction, In some cases
the properly admiited evidence of guiltis so overwhelniing.
ard the prefudicial ctiect of the codefendant's adinisston
is so insignilicant by comparison. that it is clear beyond
a reasoneble doubt i the improper use of the admission
was harmless error.

ld. at 430.

On dircet appeal, the Teanessee Supreme Court considered
King's claim of a Bruon violation and tound no crror. Thie
court speciiically Tound, based upon Purker v Bandolph, 442
LS, 62,99 S.C1L 2132 60 1..00d.2d 713 {1979). thal there was
no Areton violation in the admilting Sexton's statement and
thus the wrial cowt did not err in refusing to grant a severance.,
Stete v KNing, 718 S W.2d at 247,

Il TSsan HEaEolas O olain

sor Sexton testified during the gailt phase of

The Bruton rule proseribes. gencraily. the use of one
co-delendant's  contession w implicae the other as
being violative of the nonconfessing co-detendant’'s Sixih
Amendmentright of confrontation. Howeser, Braton is not
violated when the defendant confesses and his confession
“interlocks” In material aspects with the contfession of the
co~defendant.

Recognizing these general statements of applicable faw,
detendant insists that the recitals in Sexton's stateinent that

“Terry Jthe delendant] said he wasn't zotap o et her {the
b2 b2

victim] 2o, because he was altaid he would gel in the same
mess he gotinto with Lori™ and that the defendant told bim
he had “eheked™ the vietim before placing her i the teunk
of the car and later removed her frem the trunk and shot her
while she was begging Tor him not 1o did not “interlock”™
with the delendant’s conlfession 1o police.

It is true delendant's confession o the police did not
recite these lacts. but his sratement to Jerry Childress.
also admided in the trial, cured any material deficiency
of the contession to the police. Childress testiticd that the
defendant told him he killed the girl because “he had been
in jail before. and he waso't oing buck to juil™ and thal he
put the victim in the trunk ol his cay. later made her gel oul
of the car and lic on the ground. and puot the gun to ber head
and shot her atter she begged him not to shoot and otfered
him money to et her go.

The itnculpatory confessions of e defendont and co-
defendunt interiocking in the crucial {acts ol time, locaiion,
felonious activity. and awareness of the vverall plan or
scheme, we find no Bruton violation in the adinission in
cvidence ofthe confessions. See Parker v Rundolph. supru
Mhe confessions being admissible. @ cannot be sald that
the trial courl erred in failing to grant a severance ol the
delendants pursinant o Rute {4{¢) of the Ternessee Rales
ai’ Criminal Procedure,
Jd. {quoting Parker v. Randolph, 442 U8,

73} (other

internal citations 011’1'\[&0{?).

Subsequent w the decision of the Tennessee Supreme Court
on ditect appeal. Parker v Randolph was abrogated Iy
the Supreme Courl's decision in Cruz v New York, 481
LES, 186, 107 S.Cu 1714, 93 LLEL2d 162 (1987 Tu Crus,
the Supreme Court expanded Brufon and held timt
a nontestifying codefendant’s

“where
confession incriminating the
defendant is not directly admissibie against the delendant.

the Confrontation Clanse bars s admission at their joind
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trial. even i che jury s instructed not to consider it against
the detendant. and cven i the defendant’s own conlession is
adimited against him.” /¢ a1 193 (indernal citution vmitted).
The Court specifically found an “interiocking™ confession to
be especially problematic and thus inadnussible. i/ ot 192—
83, Nevertheless, the Court noted that a Bruton violation
still could be considered harmless under the standard in
Harvington v Cedifornia 1L ar 194,

9 In post-conviciion proceedings, King again raised the
Bragon issue ta light of the intervening (ruz decision, which
he argued should be applicd retroactively. The Tenncssee
Court of Criminal Appeals declined to decide whether Crie
should be retroactive, noting that “felven if it were, Cruz

wrovides for 2 harmiess ecror analysis where a codelendant's
¥

confession 15 admitied in vielation of the Lonivonlatiun

Y Ring v Suaue, 1997 WTA16389 a1 7. The appellate

court then founa that the admission of Sextow's stalement

was hariitess ereor “in fight of the overwhelming eviderice of

Ping's] guilt of wlony murder” Jd a *9.
ihe Tennessee Supreme Courl altinmed. stating “We are
confident thal even under the principles of Oz, the
admission of Mr. Sexton's confession was harmiess bevond
a reasonable doubt” King v Staie, 989 SW.2d a1 329 (citing
‘v Floride, 303 1LS, 427, 432, 92 S0t 1856,
31 A2 340 (1972): Horvingion vo Colifornia, 395 UK
250, 254, 89 SO0 17200 23 L.EdD.2d 284 11969y Srate v
Horterficld, 746 S.W.2d 441, 446 (Tenn.y, cert. denied, 486
US 1017108 5.C1. 3 100 LLEA2d 218 (1988)). Induing

50, the court fivst recited and compared the confessions of

Schie

King and Sexton:

Mr. Sexion's writien conlession described his invoivement
in the killing fronm the time the appellant arrived at his
residence with Ms, Smith locked in the trunk of her own
car. [n ks eonfossion, M Sexion stated that the appellant
was not going o release Ms. Smith because he was afraid
“he would get in the same mess he got into with Lori
fEasiman Carter)” Mio Sexion admided that the appellant
look his figh-powered ritle and that the two men drove

separately out to a rural arca in Knox County.

Betore reaching their destination, both Mr. Sexwn's vebicle
and the vehicle dviven by the appellant ran out of gasoline.
fn his confession, Mro Sexton stated thal he purchased
live (5) dellars of gusoline for his car and five (3) dollars
of pasoline in a separate container Tor Ms. Spmith's can

The two men then drove a few miles up the road to a

wooded arca where the shooting was (o occur. Mr, Scxion's

contession deseribes i pertinent part:

[leftand took a funnel back w the Publix station and pot
me a Coke. T drove back down to the creek and drove
into the wooded area. 1 sow the Camaro, 1l was stuck.
I helped [the appellant| get ic unstuck. Terry told me he
had alveady killed the girl, Terry told me he laid the gil
down on hier stonuach., and that while she was bepping
for him not 1o, he shot her i the back of the head, Terr

told me he had covered the body up with some weeds,

Having carefully reviewed the written conivssions made
by the appellant and M Sexton, we agahn note that they

aro substantially similar as to the lacts and circumstances
iy olving the murder, The appellund’s contussion. how cver,
contains greater detal conceming he aclual shooting. s

confession provides In pertinent paru

{ palted up in a wooded acea and gof stuck Tinade the
eirl get out ol the truvk. 1 had loaded the sifle and was
pointing itat hev This [sic] was daylight. And T tool the
eirl over into somc woeds und made her lay down, She
asked mie what T was going to do. i1 was going 1o kill
her | said. no. seme more guys are going Lo screw vou, |
started covering her up with weeds. T told her this was so
she couldn't be seen. 1 still had the gun. She was Jaying
facedown, [ picked up the rific. held it approximately 3
fect from the back her head and shot hee, [Me. Sexton]
wasn't there, We got the [victim's car] unstuck after [Mr,
Sexton] came back. We then went through her personal
belongings. T bumed her pictures and LD, and paniics.
M. Sexton] watked over and looked at her, We started wo
leave. but decided to bury her. We stavted digging a grave
next to the tenee, but the ground was 100 hard. and we
guit. We discussed what to do and decided to wrap hev in
atent [Mr. Sexton} had in the back oUhis cor {sicfweight
her and put her in the water. We decided we would do iy
the next moraing.

18 Id

Fhe court then noted that. although “the admission of Mr.
Sexton's confession into evidence would have constituied a
Bruron violation™ under Craz, “the mere (inding of a viotation
ot the Bruron rule in the course of the trial. however. does
not astomatically require ceversal of the ensuing criminal
conviction.,” I (quoting Schneble v Florida, 4035 ULS, o
430 The court further noted that o Rrwron violation may

constitute haemless error “lijn cases where the properly

v e
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admiued evideuce of guilt is so overwhelming, and the
prejudicial effeet of the codefendant's adimission is so
nsignificant by comparison.” /d. at 329-30. The court then
summarized the additional evidence against King.

In this case. the objective evidence against the appellant
was oversshelming, Jerry Childers. an acquaintance of the
appeliant. testified that the appellant came to his house an
Aungust 1. 1983, (o lnquire i he knew anyone who wanted
to buy parts from a 1979 Camaro. Mr, Childers testificd tha
the appeliunt confessed to baving killed the woman whe
ownied the Camare after she threatened to ¢charae him with
rape. The appellant wold Mr, Clilders that he ordered the
woma o pet ont of the vunk ot her own car and to lie fuce
down o1 the eround. The woman begged the appellant not
e shoot her and offered bim money. The appetlant told Mz
Childers that e wld the woman to e away from hime and

when she commplicd, he shot her in the back of the head,

My, Childers estificd that a few days after talking to the
appeilant, he wem o the lecation where appellant had
said the shooting occurred, While walking in the arca.
he found an object with hair on 1. Te then gave the
informaton he had to Detective Herman Johnson of the
Knox County Sherilfs Department and o Agent David
Ruavenportwith the Tenmessee Bureau of tovestigation, The
two officers met My, Childers at the professed shooting
focation and scarchied the area. finding picees ofbone. hair,
and blooadstains, A later more thurough scarch revealed
hullet fragments and additional bone (ragments.

£y

fefat 3230 {fouinoles omitled).

fn a toomete. the cowrt recounted additional proot” against

King:

Additional evidence was provided by Agent Davenporl
and Tommy Fellin, a fircarms examiner for the TB.L
Agent Davenport testified that aller the appellant made
a statement, appellant wok hin and other ofticers to the
place where the Camaro was hidden and to where he had
hidden the vehicle's license plate. Also. appeliant showed
the officers where the shooting occurred and where he and
Mr. Sexton had submerged the body in the quarry. Mr.
Helin testified thal, based upon his examination. at feast
two butlets had been fired {rom a vifle with the same firing
characteristics as Mr. Sexton's rifle. He further stated that
the intact metal bullet jacket found at the scene had been
fired from M, Sexton's rific,

Id. n.

“There is no gquestion that the evidence of appellant's guilt was

t7. The Tennessee Supreme Couwrt thus cencluded:

overwhelming even without consideration of the two writlen
confessions. Considering the above evidence, coupled with
appellant's properly admitted confession, any Bruron crror

was harmless bevond o reasonable doubl.” /d

{1 King insists that the admission of Sexton's confession
was not harmless because it was used by the Siate with regard
to Carter’s testimony to explain King's subscequent actions
with regard to Mrs. Smith, As the State points oul. however,
King has never denied that be was the one who killed Mes.
Smith and in fact confessed to the killing,

This court has reviewed the entire record of King's trial;
the factual findings of the Tennessee Supreme Court are
supported in the vecord. Based upon the lovegoing. this court
concludes that the determination by the Tennessee Supreme
Court that the admission ol Sexton's staterment was harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt was neither contrary to. nor did
it involve an vnreasonable application of. tederal law as
established by the Supreme Court in Braton, THarrington,

Schneble, and Cruz. given the overwhelming evidence against

King. King is not entitled o relief on this claim.

B. The faifure fo grant a severance af the sentencing
hearing deprived M King of his federal right 1o
due process because the senfencing scheme created an
intiereat and insurmountable antagonism between the
co-defendants and requived Sexton's counsel to become
a private prosecuter 2gainst Mr King and allowed
Sexton's counsel to damage My, King in & fashion that
would have been unavailuble (o the State had Mr hing
received a separaie (rial,
King claims that the penalty phase of the wial was dominated
by an inherenl. statutory set of antagonistic defenses between
the co-defendants by which the only way Sexton couid defend
himscifwas 1o argue that King was more cuipable. King refers
to two of the tour mitigating factors requested by Sexton,
which divectly and adversely implicated King: that Scxton
was un accomplice in a murder committed by another persen
and his participation was relatively mivor, and that Sexion
acted under extreme duress or (he substantial domination
of another person, According 10 King, Sexton's atiorney
was thus required by necessity w lambast King {tom every
conceivable quarter, inchuding cross-examining the State's
witnesses aboui King's actions, calling wilnesses that were
not called by the State in an elfort (0 impeach King. cross-
examining King himselfl soliciting testimony from Sexton
that King appearcd normal and sober on the day ol the murder.
and openty disparaging King's defense in Hinal argument,

renEl LY Gneinime
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The Tennes

¢ Couwrl ol Criminal Appeals considered and

rejected these arguments in post-conviction proceedings:

The petitioner also complains that his due process rights
were viclated during the penalty phase of the trial by
the triad court’s refusal w sever the defendants. We {irst
note that the petitioner has cited no cases finding a
due process violation resulting from 4 joint sentencing
hearing, We acknowledge, however, that such violations
are thearetically possible where the failure 1o sever renders
lhe pro
precess. The petiioner contends that the joint wrial rendered

ceeding lundamentally unfair so as to violate Jdue

tie sentencivg phase fundamentally unlalr becanse Sexton
i

esented as mitigation that he had participated as a minar
accoinpliice in the murder commitied by the petitioner, and
thal hie had acled under extreme duress or thae substantial

domination ol the petitioner,

#§2 Tvwas undisputed at both phases of the wial thal
the petitioner had aciually Kilied the victim. Tt was also
undisputed that the murder had been accornplished with
Sexton's gun. The only significant difference in prool ut
sentencing with eespect W Sexton's participation in the
mirder was whose idea it was to kil the victim, Sexion
claimed it was the petitioner's: the petitioner claimed that
it was Sexton's. Sexton's testinony on this point was
unequivocal. The petitioner's was far less definite. More

damning than any thing Sexion stated, however, was Nirst,

the petitioner's own conlession that, as soon as the victim
had asked why they had raped her. he “knew whal she was
gaing to do. and [hef knew what [he] was poing to do.”
Sceond. the petitioner admitted during cross-examination
that hie had “probably™ killed the victim because she had
mentioned vape and he became scared. Sexton's proof
in mitigation of his own guilt paled in comparison with
these admissions by the petitioner and we therefore find
that Sexten's testimony on this issue did not render the

petitioner’s sentencing hearing Tundamentally anfair,

Nor was the hearing rendered fundamentally unfair by
Sexton's testimony that the petitioner had appeured sober
to him at the time the petilioner came and gol him
immediately prior to the murder. The petitioner westified
about the quantity of drugs and alcohol which he had
consunied prior to the murder. and Sexton did not dispute
this testirnony. The petitioner offered expert proof as to the
Hikely effects of these substances upon him and Sexton did
nothing to contest that testimony. fn fact. Sexton admitled
that. when he had {ivsl seen the petitioner acaboui 2:060 wm.

on the merning in question. he had appearved o be under
the intluence of something. While Sexton's testimony aboit
the petitioner's demeanor at the tme of the murder was
prejudicial insolar as il undereui the petitioner's attempt
o offer as mitigution that his ¢apacity to appreciate the
wrongtulness of his conduct was substantially impaired as
a result ot intoxication, we do not think it was so harmiul
as to render the sentencing hearing fundamentally anfair.,
The jury undoubtedly understood thut cach of these men
was (rying to save himself at the expeuse of the other, and
evaluated their credibility accordingly,

We have lurther examined the record of the sentencing
hearing with respect to the petitioner's aticpations of
“the extreme antagonisin of [Sexton's| counsel™ and that
Sexton's counsel “hun |the petitioner] in ways that would
have been improper for the State prosecuior to uv.” Qur
examination reveals no due process violation. The trial
court's refusal o sever the defendants did oot vendey
the sentencing hearing fundamerdally unibir as o the
petisioner, This issue is withouot merit,

997 WE 416389 w —— 1112 (internal
citation and footnote omitied).

King v Stofe

Ihe factual findings of the Teunessee Court o Criminal
Appeals are supported in the vecord. Based upon the
foregoing, this court concludes that the determination by
the appellate cowrt that the fuilure to sever the defendants
did not result in a fundamentally unfair sentencing hearing
was neither contrary to. nor did il involve an unreasonable
application of. federal law. See, e.¢., dafiro . United Statos,
506 U 34, 5390 113 S0 9230122 1.5d.2d 317 11993y
("Mutoally antagonistic detenses are not prejudicial per se.”

).

*3 A

better chance

showing thut 2 defendant would have u

of acquittal In a separate wial does not
establish prejudice requiting severance. o show enough
prejodice Lo require severance, o defendant must esiablish
“substantial prejudice.” “undue prejudice.” or “compelling

prejudice.”

Generally. persons  indicted  together should be wicd
together. Where the same evidence is admissible against all
detendants, a severance should not be granted. However,
severance is not required 3 some evidence is admissible
aguinst some defendants and noi others. A defendant is not
entitled o severance because 1he proof is greater against
a co~derendant. Nov is a delendant entitled W a severance

because a co=delendant has a criminal record.

bty WG ttas ! Ly OV IR
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Hostility amonge defendants or the attempt ot one defendant
10 5av ¢ himsel Fby inculpating another does not require that
defendanits be tried separately. Neither does a difference
The burden

is on defendants 1o show that an antagonistic defense

in irial strategics mandate separate trials,

would present a conflict “so prejudicial that defenses are
irrcconcilable. and the jury will unjusiiliably infer that this
conflict alone demionstrates that both are guilty.”

{itited Stares v Warner, 971 F.2d 1189, 1196 (6th Ci 1992)

(quoting United Stares v Davis 623 F.2d 188, 194-95 {151

Cir 198(0) feitations omilted). King is not entitied 1o reliclon

this claim.

. Conclusion
King is notenttled 1o reliet on his claims that the trial cowts
failie {0 crant @ severance violaled his constitutional rights

cither during the guilt phase or the penalty phase of the Lrial.

i, The uncomstitutional use of aggravating
circumstances at the trinl requires the entry of a life
sentence oy a new sentencing hearing,

A, Introduction.
As previousty noted. inimposing the death penalty as to King,

the iy found the following aggravating tactors:

(1) the defendant was previously convicted of onc or more
felonics, other thaa the present charge. which involved the

use of threat of violenee (o the person;

(2) the murder was especially heinous. atrecious or cruel in
that it involved torture or depravity of mind:

(3y the murder was commiteed for the purpose of avoiding,

ileefering with, or preventing a lawful arrest of the

defendant ov another: and
(4) the murder wus committed while the defendant
was engaged o commitling, or was an accomplice
in the commission of, or was altempting fo cominit,
or was flecing  aller

committing  or atiempting o

commit, any  rape.
found  that

circumstance  sufficiently  substantial 1o outweigh the

robbery, larceny  or  Kidnapping.

The jury also there was 10 mitigating
statutory aggravating circumsiances found by the hury.
SW.2d at 248 (inwernal citations to the
Code Annotated omitted),

State v King, 718 S

B. Two of these four aggravating circumsiances were
invalid.
King first claims that the felony-murder aggravator was
improperly considered by the jury. in light of the subsequent
decision of the Teonessee Supreme Court in Siare v
Middiebrooks, 840 S.W.2d 217, 346
conviction proc«:eding& the Tenmessee Supreme Court agroed

(fonn.1992). 1o post-

with hime =Tt is now a well-known principle that when
a defendant is convicted of first degree murder solely on

the basis of felony murder, the use of the Telony murder
apgravaling circumsimee 10 support a death sentence, without
move. fuils to sufticienily narrow the class of death-eligible
offenders.” King v. Stute, 989 SOW.2d 319, 373 (Teun. 1999}

(citing Middiehronks ).

14 Despite

court concluded the civor was harmless in light of the

finding a Middlebrooks crror, however, the

remaining ageravating lactors.

Our examinaticn of the record in accordance with the
forepoing principles demonstrates that thie use of the
felony muorder agaravator. if error was harmless beyond
a reasonable doubt. The remaining thice aggravating

circumstances  were  properly  applied  and  swongly

supporled by the evidence. Fivst, there is no dispute that
the appeliunt has prior fefonious convictions that involyve
violence or threat of violence o the person. In 1983, the
appetlant was convicied of felony murder and aggravaling
|sic] kidnapping based apon a criminal episode in Grainger
Counly. Moreover, he was convicted ol assault with intent
o commit aggravated kidnapping for criminal conduct in
kox County that occurred only three days after the murder
of Ms. Smith.
ld al 323 (foolnote and internal citadon omittedy. In a
footncle, the cowt noled that “under the faw in effect at
the time of this trial. & jury could have impesed 4 sentence
of death upon finding only one aggravaiing circumstance
bevond a reasonable doubt, so long as there were no
mitigaling circumsiances sufiiciendy substantial to ouwlweigh
the aggravating vircumsiance.”™ L/ n. 12 (citaiion omilted).
The determination by the Tennessee Supreme Court in this
regard was based solely on state law, and thus was neither
contrary to. nor did it involve aiunreasonable application ot
federal law. King is not entitled o relief on this claim.

King also contends that the wial court's instruction on

the heinous, atrocious and cruel (HAU)Y agpravator. as
set forth in Tenn.Cede Ann, § 39-2--203(013) {repealed).
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was unconsttutional, During the pevalty phase of the
wial. the court instructed the jury that it could consider
the following aggravating cireumstance: The murder was
especially heinous, atrocious. or cruel in that it involved
torture or depravity of mind:® the court did not define the
terims heinous. atrocious. or cruel. [Addendum 1, Transcript
of the Trial, Vol XIXU p. 9461, King claims this instruction
was uneonstitutionatly  vague and relies on Maviwd v
Carherighi, 486 1K, 356, 108 8.0 1853, 100 1.1d.2d 372
(1988),

tn Mapnard. the Supreme Court held that the statutory
agpravaiing circumstance that the mureder was “especially
heinous,  atrocious. o cruel,”  without  more, was
unwonstifutionally vague because it failed to furmish guidance
o the jury in choosing betweertdeath and a lesser penalty. /o,
at 363-64. The Court noted with approval. however, that a
state court could restrict the HAC aggravator o murders "in
witch torture or serious physical ubtise is present.”™ Jd at 365,
Prior 0 Aavnard, (he Tennessee Supreme Court had
narrowed the TTAC aggravator by sctting forth definitions of

leinous, atrocious. cruel, torture. and depravity of mind:

Our statute provides that it is the murder which must be
especially heinous, atrocious. or cruel. The second clause
of this statutory provision. vz, . inthat itinvolved torture
or deprasiy of mind.” qualifies. limits and restricts the
preceding words “especially heinous. atrocious or erucl.”

[his secend clause micans that to show that the murder was
especially heinous, atrocious or cruel the State must prove
thal it involved toriure of the victim or depravity of mind
ul'the killer,

*48 Torture” means the intliction of severe physical ov
mental pain upon the victim while he or she remains alive
and conscious, In proving that such torture vceurred. the
State, necessarily, also proves that the murder jnvolved
depravity of mind ol the murderer, because the state ol

mind of one who willfully inflicts such severe physical or
mental pain on the victim is depraved.

However, we hold that “depravity of mind” may, in some
cirewmstances, be shown althoagh torture, as heretnabove
defined. did not occur, Hacts oceurring after the death of
the victim are relied upon o show depravity of mind off
ihe nwrderer. such acts must be shown to have occurred s0
close to the time of the victim's death, and must have been
of such a nature, that the infercnice can be fairly drawn that
the depraved state of mind of the murderer cxisied at the

Wicinin {

timge the fatal blows were inflicled upon the victim, This is
true because it is the murderar's state of mind at the time of’
the Killing which must be shown to have been depraved.

Thus, mutilation of the dead body of the victim may be
found to constituie depravity ol mind. but only if the
mutilation occurred so soon after the death of the victim
that the inference may be faivly drawn that the murdever
possessed that depravity of mind at the toe of the actuul
Killing. 11 the length of time infervening between the time
of death of the victim and the time of mutitation of'the body
is s0 great that the inlerence cannos be fairly drawn that the
murderer possessed the depravity of mind at the time the
tatal blows were intlicted, then it cannot be said that the
murder. itself. involved depravity ol mind.
State v Wilficams, 690 SSW.2d 517, 329-30 ( fonn 1985y
The Sixth Circuil has found Tennessee's HAC agaravaling
circumstance to be impermissibly vague on s fact. foaston
v Duiion, S0 F.3d 381, 383, 387 {ath Cin 19951 The probiem
is curable. however, with appropriately narrowing language
i the jury instructions. Coe v Bell 161 1.3d 320, 333
{6th (i 198K8). or through a nwrowing construction ol the
statutory language by a reviewing court on appeal. Bel/ +
Cone, 543 UK 447, 455-60 123 S.CL 847, 1eb 1.8 d.2d 881
(2005 (per curiam),

In Bell v Cone, the Supreme Cowrt reversed the Sixih
Circuil's grant ol habeas corpus relief and held (hat the
Tennessee Supreme Court's aflirmance oo direct review of the
imposition of the death penalty based upon the jury's finding
of the HAC aggravator was not contraey to cleary established
lederal law. Zd. at 460, In doing so. the Court reviewed priog
canes in which the Tennessee Supreme Court had consistently
applicd the narcowed construction of the HAC aggravator
in atlitming death sentences. 47 at 456-67. The Court then
held that the Fennessee Supreme Court is presumed Lo have
in the present case “absent an afficmative indication 1o the

contrary.” /4. at 436, Any error in the instraction to the jury

was thus cured. 4 at 43

“16 In light ot these holdings, we are satisficd that
the State's aggravating circumstance. as construed by
the Tenncssee Supreme Court. ensured that there was a
“principled basis™ for distnguishing between those cases
n which the death penalty was assessed and those cases in
which it was nol,
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In sum. even assuming that the Court of Appeals was
corect w conclude that the State's statutory aggravating
circumstanee was facially  vague, the court erred in
presuming that the State Supreme Court lailed to cure
this vaguencss by applying a narrowing consiruetion on
divect appeal. The state court did apply such 4 narrowing
construction. and that construction satisfied constitutional
demands by ensuring that respondent was not seatenced (o
death b an arbitrary or capricious muanner.
fd. al 45960 (quoting drave v Crecch SO7 TLS, 463, 474,
T3 SO 15540 123 1 Ld.2d 188 {1903)): see ufso Sutton v
Budd, F3d == 2041 WL 22073135 at #6 (6th Cir2011)
(“The Teunessee supreme Lourt reviewed and aftirmed the

jury's finding ol the [HAC| aggravator on dircet appeal.

Because there is no “affinmative indication to the contrary,

we must prestume gt 7 applied it well-establishied.
and permissible. narrowing construction of the aggravator.
thereby “carjingd any error in the jury nstruction.”) (quoting
Hell v Cone, 343 (S, at 453=36) Pavie v Bell 418 V.34
Gddl A3T7 6t Cw 20037 The Tennessee Supreme Cowrt
in this case can be presumed o have applied a nacrowing

construction to the HAC aggravator in its decision upholding

Payne's [death] sentence.™).
In King's case. the Tennessee Supreme Courton direct appeal
found no crvor in the failure of the trial court to define
“toriure,” " The evidence in this case supports the aggravating
circumstiance, Tenn.Code Ann. § 39-2-203(05). as delined
in Stare v Willicuns, 690 S, W.2d $17, S32-33 (Tenn, 1985). as

the defendani shot the vietim in the head afier she begged for

fev life and oftered the defendant money to Lot lier go.” Srate
v King, 718 SOW.2d aL 249,

In post-conviction proceedings. King again raised the
Court of Ceiminal Appeals found the issue huad been
previously determined hy the supreme court on direct roview,
Nevertheless, the court of eriminal appeals also observed the
following:

Moreos er, although not noted by the Supreme Court in the
divect appead of this case but made plain by the record.
the petitioner had trapped the victim in the trunk oi her
own car for somne thirty to forty-five minutes inmediately
prioe w shooting her. We think this rreatment of the victim
constituted severe mental pain as contemplated by this
488
was not applied uncoustitutionally.

King v Sate, 1997 Wi 416380 al * § (footnotes omitted).

avating cireurastance. Accordingly, this aggravator

The Tenmessee Supreme Court on appeal in post-conviction
procecdings reiterated its conclusions.

Ag the Couwrt of Criminal Appeals noted. the evidence
supports the jury's finding that the murder was especially
heinous. atrocious. and cruch. The appeliant kept Ms. Smith
trapped in the bunk of her own car for at least forty-
five (43) minutes betore the shooting. Afier driving to the
remote wooded arcu. the sppellivt ordered Ms. Smith w
cet out of the trunk and He face down in the weeds, The
appellant had the rille in his possession and began placing
brush on top of Ms. Smith. She begped hint not o shoot
her and offered money to spare her life, When she asked
aboul her fate. the appellant responded thatother guvs were

coming to have sexual intercourse with her

*17 The appellant ordered Ms. Smith o fook away rom
him whife she was lying in the weeds. He then shot her
ar close raupe in the back ot the head. We agree with the
courts below that the manner of Ms. Smiti's death involved
severe mental pain and anxiety as contemplated by the
(N(5) agpravator und as delined by this Court in Stare v
Witlicons, 690 S§CW.2d 517, 329 (Tenn, 1 983).
King v Stare. 989 S.W.2d a1 326, The Tennessee Supreme
Court clearly applicd a varrowing construction to the TTAC
ageravator in upholding King's death sentence and thus cuered
any crrot in the jury instructions.

King alleges that the Tennessee Supreme Cowrt’s narrowing
construction of the FIAC aggravator 1o cire the juny's linding
canoot stand in light of Ring v Adrzona, 336 TS, 584, 122
S,Ct. 2428, 132 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002). Tn Ring. the Court held
that. pursuant to the Sixth Amendment, a jury. and not a judge,
is required to find the ageravating circumstance thut makes
a defendant eligible for the death penalty. 7d ot 609, As the
Supreme Cowrt in Bell v Cone court noted. however. King
does not apply retroactively, 343 (LS at 454 a6 (citing
Schpive v, Swmmerdin, 3462 ULS, 348, 358 124 S,CL 2519, 159
LLEd2d 442 2004,

C. The third aggravating circumstance of “prior violent
felony” was anconstituticnally applied in Mr. King's
case.
King complains that the Tennessee death penalty statute
allowed, as an aggravaling creumstance o make him
eligible for the death penaity. the use ot offenses (hat were
unadjudicated at the time of instant offense as well as offenses
allegedly commitled atter the instant oficnse. He claims that
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this resuited in doubie jeopardy at sentencing. sinee the range
ol punishinent wuas changed partially by the aggravating
factor. King admits that this claim was not presented 1o the
stale courts but confends that his procedural default should be
excused because he is aclually innocent of the death penaity.

KNing relics on Schiup v Delo. 513 108, 298, 115 5.CL
831,130 L.bd.2d 808 (1995), = *{Tin an extraordinary case.
where o constitutional violation has probabiy resulted in the
conviction of one who is actually innocent, & federal habeas
sourl mas grant the writ even in the absence of a4 showing
of canse B the procedural delaalt.” ™ A2 ar 321 {quoting
rier, 477 UL, 4780496, 106 S.CL 2639, 91

1.Ed.2d 397 119863, The doctrine of acloal innocence also

Viorioyv v

s 1o eligibility tor the death penalty, A federal court may

review a copital delendant's procedurally defandted claim if

the petitioner can show by “cleur and convincing evidence
that b for consthugional error at his sentencing hearing, no
reasonable paror would have found him cligible for the death
penallty” under stawe taw, Savver v Wity 303 US 3330

oy

350, 28002514, 120 L1542 209 11992),

in this case. the courl has found that the HAC agaravator

was censtiwutionally applied w King. supra at 23-30. In

addition, the jory also found the ageravating circumstance
that the murder was conunitted Tor the purpose of avoiding,
interfering with, or preventing the lawf{ul arrest ot prasecution
of the defendant or another. Clewsty. King was eligible (or
ihe death penaliy and thus i nol actually innocent of the
death penaliy, There is accordingly no basis for cxcusing his
procedural default on the claim that the third aggravating
circumstance %as unconstitutionally applicd.

. The “prioy felony” aggravating circumstance and
the one remaining aggravating circumstance failed to
complete counstitutionally mandated narrowing due to
the introduction of improper evidence by the State.
*18  King vontends that Ms, Carter’s iestimony, the
admission of which the Tennessee Supreme Court found
to be hwmless error. 718 SW.2d we 24647, supplied
the lactual basis for the aggravating circumstance that
the murder was commitwed for the puarpose of avoiding,
interfering., or prevening the lawful arest or prosecution
of the defendant or another. King also refers 1o the fact
that the State conceded on direct appeal that it was crror
o admit evidence of his two prior juvenile armed robbery
convictions. which the Tennessee Supreme Court {found (o
he harmless error based upon the “undispited” evidence of

King's prior conviciions of “wnurder in the first degree in

the perpetration of an armed robbery. apgravated kidnapping.
and an assault witl intent to commit ageravated kidnapping.”
idoat 249, King argues that the loregoimg  admission
of improper evidence. in light of the fact that (wo ol
the [our aggravating ciccumslances were invalid, clouded
the two remaining aggravaiing circumstances and cannot
constitutionally support his death penaliy,

As noted previously, the Tennessee Supreme Cowrt found
that nse of the lelony-murder aggravator was harmicss crror
There remain theee valid aggravating circumstances, despite
King's insisterice otherwise. There is nothing in the record 1o
sURe

found w be harmiess arvor tainted the juny's consideration of

st thut the evidence which the Tennessee Supreme Court

the three gegravaling ciroumstainces,

E. The “veweighiug” and “harmiess ervor analysis”
conducted by the Tennessee vourts are contrary to, or
an unreasonable application of, federal constitational
faw.
King contends that the Tennessee Supreme Court conducted
an improper harmicss crror analysis aller finding that the

felony-murder aggravator should not have been used. The

Supreme Court in Clemons v Mississippi, 494 U8, 738,
PG S.C 44 108 1.Ed2d 725 11990), held that when

a state appellate court has found that an aggravating {actor

was unconstitutional. the court may conduet a harmless-ciror
754 Afier finding

that the felony-murder ageravator was improperly applied

review of the capital seotencing. ¢ at

under Middlebroofs, the Tennessce Supreme Coutt in post-
conviction proceedings determined the ervor was “harmless
beyond a reasenable doubt™ in fight of the “remaining ilwee
aggravating circumstances fwhicli] were properhy applicd and
strongly supported by the evidence.” King v Srate. 989.W.2d
al 325,

The court specitically stated as follows:

Atfter our independent review of the record, we are
confident thut the weighing ol the mitigating evidence
aguinst the three remaining aggravators would have
resulted in the same senence of death. Accordingly, we
conclude that appetiant's sentence of death would have
been the same had the jury given no weight or consideration
to the felony muorder

avator and aftirm the capital
sentence,

ld at 327, The iindings of the Tenoessse Supreme Cowrd

are supported in the record wid ity concusions are neithe

contrary to. noi did they involve an unreasonable application
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ol tederal laxv, See Stringer vo Black, 503 U5, 222 230-31,
12 .00 11300 17 Ed.2d 367 (1992 (a state appellate

court may afficm a death sentence “afler the sentencer was

instructed (o consider an invalid facton™ if the appeliate court
“determine]s] that the sentence would have been the same

lad the {sentencer] given no weight o the invalid tactor’

18, 24, 87 S.C1. 824, 17
(1967) (a constitutional crror discovered on

Chapmun v Cddiforizia, 386 LS,
L.kdz2d 703

divect review

may be held harmless only it is “hunnless
bevond a reasonable doubt™).

*19 King also challenges the Tennessee Supreme Court's
retusal 1o conduct a cumuldative-ceror review, This claim lacks
merit. As noted, the Supreme Court has held that a staie
couil may uphold a death sentence that was “based in part on
an invalid or improperly defined aggravating circunistanee”

it the court conducts a “harmless-eiror review.”™ (lemons

v Wiswissippi, 494 1080 at 741, The Tenncssee Supreme
Court did so. " Having determined that any scnlencing error is
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, we again conciude that
appeliant's sentence of death should stand.™ King v. Stere. 989
SOW2da 328,

HI Terry King's original trial counsel and appellate

counsel were ineffective as a matier of federsl

constitutional law.,
b Stricldond v Washington, 466 1

5. 668, 104 S0 2082,
80 1..0d.2d 674 (19843 the Supreme Court established a two-

part standard for evaluating claims of ineffective assistance
of counsel:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance
was deficient. This requires showing that counsel nade
errors 50 serious thut counsel was not functioning as
the “counsel” guaranteced the defendant by the Sixth
Awendinent, Second, the defendant must show ibat the
deticient pertormance prejudiced the defense. This requires
showing that counsel's errors ware so serious as o deprive
the defendant of a Tair trial. a trial whose resalt is celiable.
1d. a1 687,

fo establish that his attorney was not performing “within
the range of competence demanded o attorneys in eviminal
739, 771, 90 S.CL
1441, 25 L2 763 (1971, King must demonstrate that

the attorney’s representation = fell below an objective standard

cases,” Vcelom v Richardson, 397 LS,

of reasonableness,” Stricklund « Washington, 406 UL, at
68784, In judging an atlorney's conduct, & court should

consider alf the circuimstances and facts of the particular

case. Jd at 690. Additonally. “a court 1nust indulpe a
strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls wilthin the
wide range of reasonuble professionul assistance; that is. the
defendant 1ust overcome the presamption that. under the
circnmstances, the challenged action “might be considered
sound trial sirategy.” " Id at 089 (quoting Afichel v Lowisici,
350 TLS. 9. 101, 76 S.Co 1580 100 L34, 83 (1935)). A
finding of sericus attorney fncompetence will not justifs
setting aside a conviction, however. absent prejudice w the
defendani so as w render the conviction unreliable. 20 o 691
93,

The issue is whether counscl's performance “was  so
manifestly ineffective that defeat was snached from the hands
ol probable victory” Unitod Stetes v Marraw, 977

S 222,
229 (6th Cir1992) (e bare ). In addition. the court should

7

not focus only upon “culcome determination,

Thus, an analysis focusiog solely o smere outcome
determiination, without attention to whether the result of
the procesding was fundamentatly unfab or unreliable.
is defective. To set aside a conviction or sentence solely
because the outcome would have been different but for
counsel's ercor may grant the detendant a windfall 1o which
the law does not eatitie him.
*20 Lockhass v Fretwell 506 US, 364, 369-70, 113 S.CL
838. 122 L.E4.2d 180 (1993).
This court has reviewed the eniire record of King's post-
conviction proceedings. The factual findings of the stale
courts sct forth below are supported in the rvecord. In
addition, both the Tennessce Court of Criminal Appeals
and Tennessee Supreme Court noted that the standard tor
evaluating claims of ineflective assistance ol counsel was
estublished in Swricklwwd v Washington King v Sicie. 1997
S.W.2d 4163R0 at * 12, 989 S.W.2d at 330, respectively.
With the foregoing principles in mind. the court will consider
King's claims ot inetlective assistance of counsel.

A, The failure of trial counsel to develop a thesry of
defense; the ervor in promising a defense of voluntary
intoxication during the opening statement and then
abandoning that defense in front of the jury,
King alicges that his attorney never developed a consistent
theory of defense for the guilt phase of the wial. and Turther
abandoned a defense of voluntary intosication (hat was
promised to the jury during opening arguments. Aveording 1o
King. it was constitutionally incticctive assistance of counsel
to promise the jury during opening statements that a defense
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would be presented and then fail to call available witnesses King raised this issuc in post-conviction proceedings. which
to establist that defense. Defense counsel made thie following was considered and rejected by the Tennessee Courl of

opening statement: Criminal Appeals.

[adies and gentlemen of the jury, signilicant clements of
this case have been ignored by the State in its opening
statcinent. And you wili hear about Diana Kay Smith was
at Cherokee Dam. She was drinking. She was met by Mr,
King. She was et by Mr King's cousin, Me. Don King.
who we believe will testify, and thut she voluntarily went fo
the traifer of M. Don King. That they consumed alcohol.
LS. Both Mi. Terry King and Mrs. Smith.

Phat several other people came to the wrailer, young males.
Thut she enpaped in consensual sex acts with these mern.
That M. King had been drinking all dag. starting at about
165 o'cleek in the moring. drinking beer. He consumed in
exvess of one case of beer, and o case of beer is twenty-four
foers, Thaot be had at least three separate wblets of 18D,

1L ¢

naaludes during the course of that day, Aod Mrs,
Smith had drank a considerable amount of wine, perhaps
liguor as wetl. and took 1.5,

The proet will show that My, King was extremely
e ieated hroughout the course of the events of July 31st,
1983, thyough the carly morning houes and into the daylight
hours of August T st 1983,

We think the proot will show that whatever happened to
M. Smaidh. M King's involvement was the product of an
incredible quaniity of intoxicants. And we think the proof
will show that be cannol be held legally responsible lor
all of his aclions 10 the degree the State would ask you.
stmply because of the vast guantities ol intoxicants thal he

consumned. And the prool’is going to be very clear on that

In support of his claim. the petitioner first complaing
that his trial counsel “abandoned™ the delense theory of
voluntary Intoxication atier having introduced it during
opening statemenl. During the guilt phase of the (rial,
proof of the petitioner's consumption of aleohol and drugs
came in through Childress” testimony and the petitioner’s
confession. Defense counsel did not call Don King, with
whom the petitioner and the victim had spent the allernoon
and avening. until the sentencing phase. King then testificd
that, beginning in the morning of July 30 1984, the

petitioner had drunk over a case of peer and bad ke
two "hits” of acid with the victim. He further wstified that
the petitioner had been “messed up worse than svhat {'d
ever seen im.” Also called by defense counsel during
the penalty phase was 1 Robert Bocher. a physician
who spectalized in addictionolopy. D Booher idstified that
LSD rpreatly fmpairs a person's judgment™ and that its
“behavioral effects can last. usualiy, around cight to twelve
hours.,™ He also testified that Quaaludes cause “a marked
impairment in judgment”™ and that it takes up to twenty-four
to thirty-six hours for them to be eliminated from the body.
According o Dr. Booher. aicohol also “impairs a person's
judgment” and when alcohol and Quaaludces arc combined,
“the effects of euch more than double cach other”™ He
further testified that Quaaludes will inhibit the body's
ability to eliminate alcohol. On cross-examination, Dr,
Booher testified that he had never examined the petitioner,
that fie had no way ol knowing the amounis of 1S3 and/
or Quaaludes the pelitioner had taken without testing the
actual substances which he had ingested, and that a person

poitil. who (akes these drags over o long period of fime develops
{ Addendwm 1. Transeript of the Trial, Vol TX. pp. 9-10). a lolerance o their effects. The petiiioner contends thut
defense counsel erved by not putting on this proof during
*21 During ciosing argument, delense counse! stated “1he the guilt phase of the trial so as to requive the tial court to

effects of

fie drugs upon Tery? We don't know.™ /d, give an instruction on voluntary intoxication.

Yol X1, p. 400f. Counsel also stated “Now. whether his g . . ) i
(he irial court refused defense counscl's requesi {or an

conduct was caused by drugs or some other reason., we

don't know.” [/d, Vol. XIX0 po 401]. As part of his claim

thal defense counsel abandoned the theory ol voluntary

instraetion on voluntary  intoxication on the basis of
Harrell v, Steae, 593 SOW 2d 664 (Tenn.Crim. App. 1979}, In
Harrell, this Court stated,

intoxication. King alleges his altorney erred in tailing w call

as a witness Don King, whom counsel had stated in his Proof of intoxication alotie is not a defense to a charge of
opening argument would probably testify. to establish King's

connmitting a specific intent erime [such as premeditated
ntoxication.

murder] nor does itentitle an aceused to jury instructions ...
there musy be evidence that the intoxication deprived the
acoused of the mental capacity o form specific inent....

WESTI MY b o yegiog SO iAW angpngs | ¥ CINE DT e e |
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The determinative queston is not whether the accused was
intoxicated. but what was his mental capacity.

22 593 S.W.2d at 672, OF course, in the instant case.
the only witnesses who could have restified about the
petitiener's state of mind at the time he commitled the
murder were the petitioner himself! Sextou, and the vietim.
Wihile King's teatimony might have becn helplul as to the
amount ol drogs and alcohiol he obscrved the petitioner
1984, the
murder was not cotmmitied until after daylight had begun

ingest during the day and evening of July 31,
on ihe nexi moming, Dou King's testimony. even combined
with Dr. Booher's, was simply not sufficient in und of itselt

o establish the patitioner's state of mind as of the tme he

murdered the victhn, And the petitioner’s own statement
e the police contabis evidence that his state of mind
wis not so tntoxicated us o require the jury instruction.
s confession includes a very detalled recounting of the
murder and the events leading up to i, indicating a clear
memory: it indicates that he formed an intent to keep the
victan from gecusing fim of rape: that bie was able w drive
a vehicle and load, point and fire a gun, indicating some
tevel ol motor skills: and that he had the presence of mind
o go through the victim's personal belongings and burn
her pictures and identification afier murdering her The
proot” available to the petitioner in this case was shuply
not sufficient 1 require a jury instruction nn voluntary
intoxication, Accordingly. defense counsel did not err by
Faiting Lo puesue tis “defense” more vigorousty. This issue
& without meril,
King v Stae, 1997 WL 416389 at *§2 (footnotes omitted).
The court further noted that “Pwhile detense counsel may
liave erred in raising the possibility of this detense during
opening staiement, the petitioner has fuiled to prove that this
tuctic probably aliecied the jury's verdic” 7d n. 14,

e Tennessee suprenie Courtagrecd that King's counsel was
nol incite

ive o failing to pursug the voluntary intovication
detense. The court first noted that defense counsel testified at
the pust-conviction evidentiary hearing “that he did not call
Don King to (estify at the guilt phase because he strategized
that Don King's testimony would hurt the defense.” King v
Stare, 989 S.W.24 at 331 (looinote omitted). This preswmably
was beeause King had admitied his guilt 0 Don King.
ld . 19.

testified al the post-conviction evidentiary hearing “that My,

The court turther noted that detense counsel

Cartet's testimony wis unexpected and devastating to [King's|
case” and “that the theory of voluniary intoxication was
readered fullle after Ms. Carter's testimony. Counsel decided

to challenge Ms. Carter's credibility during the guilt phase of

trial and Lo rely on the ovidence of intoxication during the
sentencing.” 7l The cowrt concluded:

Although we acknowledge that defense attorneys should
strive o present a consistent theory of defense at rial.
we must avold judging the tactical decisions ot counsel
in hindsight, We have reviewed the circumstances from
counsel's perspective at the time and conclude that (he
clange v strategy does not vise to the fevel ol ineffective
assistance,

*23 7d at 331-32 (intemal citations omitied).

King argues that the supreme court’s Dinding that Ms, Carter's
surprise estimony rendered atile the theory of voluntary
intoxication is at odds with its finding on direct appeul that
the admission of Ms. Carter's testimony was harmiless error
and “ecould not have allected in any way the results of the
T8 SW.2d
at 247, This argument overlooks the fact that Ms, Carter's

wial or the sentence imposed.”™ Stewe v King

testimony was harmless given the oveewhehning evidence:
of felony murder that was properly admitied apainst King.
[t the surprise testimony of Ms, Carter altered the decision-
muking ol defense counsel does not, without more. make the
admission of Ms. Carter's testimony harmlul error. This iy
especially true given the details of King's confession, which
belic his claim that he was so intoxicated he should not be
held responsible for his actions. As defense counsel testified

during the post-conviction hearing,

The testimony of Lori Bastiman was, (rom onr perspective.
totally unexpecied and very devastating, Ti really skewed
how we were looking at this case. We dropped the idea,
after that. of cven raising intoxication in the hopes of
getting a second-degree muarder conviction, which we had
viewed as slim, anyway, und just decided to procced with
it in the penalty phase and ruise it there, because of her
estimony. apparently when he w

sober, of nearhy beating
tier to death. the way she deseibed it with hey hair volicd
up i a car window, and askiug her if she was dying, and
what did it fcel like. and he wanted w know, so he would
Know what the next woman he killed felt like.
[Addendum 3. Transcript of the Evidence. Vol. 1V, p. 400~
Vol. V. p. 401} The court also notes that it is not unusual for
counsel o change swrategy as the evidence comes in duving a
trial, particularly a criminal trial,

King also challenges the conclusion by the Fennessee Court
of Criminal Appeals thar the wstimony of Don King was
not suftictent 1o support the theory of voluntary intoxication,

This also overlooks the {act that counse! determined that
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oo King's testimony would hurt King's detfense and tor
that reasen decided 1o not call him as a witness. As defense
caunsel testified during the post-conviction hearing. once the
detense strategy changed during the guilt phase as a result of
Ms. Carter's testhmony. the defense “wanied out of that phase
as quick as we could and focus the jury on our side of’ the
case.” which was “{flactors in mitigation to avoid the death
penality.” [/, Vol. V. p. 401].

Based upon the foregoing, this courl voncludes that the
determination by the state courts thar counsel wuas not
incifective in fuiling to pursue the voluntary intoxication
defense was neither contrary to. nor did it involve an

unreasonable application of fedeval faw under Strickiand,

B. The failure of trial counsel 10 seck the assistance of
qualified mental health experts or mifigation experts
for the penalty phase of the trial

*24 King alleges that, although counsel were aware of

King's

tonp history of abusing drugs and aleohoi as well as
a variety of other events in his life that altected his menial
and emotionul state, they wafted until the eve of Irial before
contaviing any mmeatal health experls. According to King.
coursel were waliing for his family o raise the funds to
hire experts and were not aware of a statute that authorized
experts at state exponse, King further contends that testimony
from a mental health expert wos necessany e prove a number
of statutory and non-statulory mitigating factors which were

applicable 1o his case.

King raised this issuc in post-conviction proceedings, which
wis considered and cejected by the Tennessee Court of
Crivnimad Appeads.

The petitioner next complains that his thal counsel was
eileciive in tailing to seek evaluations from mental health
experts in a timely fashion. Defense counsel acknowledged
on cross-examination that his office had begun the process
ol locating mental health expertise on Tanuary 9. 1985, At
this time, the irial was set W begin on January 21, 1985,
but was suthsequently postponed to fanuary 23. 1985, due
to weather. Defensa counsel obtained the services of Dr,
Martin Gebrow, a psychiatrist, as of Janvary 13, 1983, Dr.
CGebrow st examined the petitioner on Janvary 23, 1985:
the day the trial began. D, Gebrow s evaluation was such
that defense counsel made a strategic decision not to call
him as g witness, This decision was based on (wo things:
lirst, that the petitioner had lied o Dr, Gebrow about the
circumstances of the murder he commitied, and second,

that e, Gebrow had wold defense counsel that the petitiener
“was a person that just liked o huet people.”™

Defense counsel adiitied ut the post-conviction hearing
that, given the tivae (rame. they were not able o sceek
a second opinion which way have been more helplul.
The petitioner therefore makes much of the delay in
secking Dr. Gebrow's assistance. Hlowever, the petitioner
has failed to prove that, had counsel begun the mental
health evaluations earlier. @ more favorable evalualion
would have been oblaived. Although the pelitioner ollered
at (he heacing the testimony of D Pamela Auble, who
evaluated the petitioner for the purposes of this proceeding,
Dr. Auble's testimony docs not establish that an cavlicr
pretrial evaluation of the petitioner wouldd have been o
his benefit. For one thing. her cvalugdon ol the petitioner
ocowrred many years afler the offenses and after many years
ol incarceration. Also. the petitioner was apparently more
tuthful with Dr. Auble than he was with Dr Gebrow, Of
course. this “honesty™ occurred ondy alier the petitioner
had been convicted. Accordingly, to the exient that Dr.
Auble's evaluation of the petitioner might have presented
a more favorable picture of hiva, it is impussible for us w
conclude whether this more lavorable piclure stems from
the petitioner’s varying degrees of veracity inspeaking with
these experts. the passage of time spent in prison, andfor
the fact that one evaluation occurved betore conviction. the
other years afterward. Thus. 11 would be sheer speculation
for us to vonciude that defense counsel would have
eventuslly obtained a more helpful expert opinion had they
started the process months eavlier. It is the petitioner’s
burden to prove that he was prejudiced by the alleged
{uilures of his trial counsel. and he has Gaited to mevt that
burden on 1his issue. Accordingly, we find it to be without
merit.

*25 The petitivner f{uribicr complains that defonse
counsel's delay in secking mental health expertise resulted
in less mitigation proof than should have been ofiered. The
record belies this assertion. Proof of mitigation introduced
ut trizl included the devastating Joss of the petitionar's
father at an early age. his {requent snilting ol gasoling
fumes and use of alcohol and/or drugs beginaing at an
early age. his poor school and work pecformances, and the
disastrous cffects ol drugs and alcohol on his thoughts and
actions. Also introduced was cvidence of the petitioner’s
remorse and his good behavior while Jailed. Do Auble's
testimony at the post-conviction hearing did not alter
this portrait of the petitioner in a benelicial manner. She

characterized the petitioner as “imoulsive.” “dependent,
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immature” and as someone who “tool offense very casily™
while drinking or under the influence of drugs and who
“tends to misinterpret people's actions as hostile” She
further testificd that the victim's suggestion to the petitioner
that she might fife o rape charge

was a teigger for jthe petitioner|. The reasons that it
petitioner] has a lot of fears of rejection that began
wiy back afier his Tather died. She was rejecting him,
He percelved this. Second, he bas this old accusation
of holding his sister-in-law down while she was being
paped. TTe kinows that it1s possible that. ifa wonun does
this-files a rape charge-that iv will be very difticult vy

Wi, and hie will spend time incarcerated.

Third. ne Bas lad this recent bad refatiooship with Lori-
receni ia ierms of the time ol this event. iie does not
expuct women 1o be good te him., He expects them Lo

accuse i of things, He expects to be rejected by them,

These three factors went together and triggered a great
deal of anger in {he petitioner], This is anger that he has
hud tormany years, Fversinee his father died probably is
when it started. This overwhelmed him, and he could not
cope etiectivelv, You know. as we have talked aboul. [the
petitioner] is impuisive. He has poor judgiment and has
difficulty bandling. or planning, or deaiing with stress.

Not only does this testimony not add anything beneficial
lo whar was put into evidence during (he sentencing
phase, 1t supports the State’s case on the aggravating
factor for commilting the olfense to avoid prosecution,
Accord

oly, the petitioner has tailed o demonstrate that
be was prejudiced by his lawyer's tailure to hire an expert
like D Anble at an carlier thnc.

Ring v Stae, 1997 WL 416389 at ——13-13 (footnotes

omitted) The  fennessce Supreme Cowrt reiteraied the

testimony recounted by the court of criminal appeals and

gureed with its conclusion that “counscl were not ineltective

on this issue.” Ang v Stare, 989 S W.2d at 333,

S0 The cowrt has read the testimony of e Auble. as well as the

other evidence presented at (he post-convielion hearing. Dr.
Auble testified thar King was impulsive, took offense easily.
and interprets the actions of others as hostile. fAddendum 3.
Pranscript of the Bvidence. Vol TL pp. 113, 123} And she
testificd as o Ms. Sinith's threat of a rape charge as a trigger
[or King's conduct. [/d ai 146-47].

WESTLWY 0 202 1 Thoms baba bs

#26 On cross-examination, the prosecutor challenged Dr,
Auble’s conclusion that King's conduct was “impulsive” and
not the actions of a cold-blooded Killer, given the fact that.
once Ms, Smith mentioned rape, King knew what e was
going 10 do. made Ms, Smith get into the wunk of the car
procured a gun and loaded it. drove (o awooded arca where he
made Ms. Smith getout of the car and lay in the weeds. shot
her, and then attemipted to hide the hody:, {irst by burying itand
then throwing it in a quarty. (/4 at 150-59]. De, Auble also

testified on cross-examination that King mects the criteria

for ~antisocial personalily disorder™ which is ~a personaliy
disorder which is chavacterized by criminal activity.” /e at

170-71.

Befense counsed testitied that he did nat cadl De Gebrow ag
a witness during the penalty phase [or two reasons: (1) the
lies that King told Dr. Gebrow regarding Ms, Smith's murder
weuld have been “a dangerous impeachment tool” lor the
prosecution. and (2) Di. Gebrow “said that Mr. Kug was a
person that just liked to hurt people. and that is not the kind
L1V,
p. 387} Based upon the forezoing, this court coneludes that

of witness you want in a death penalty case,” Hd, Vo

the Jdetermination by the stale courts thal counsel was not
inetfective mn failing to preseot during the penalty phase the
testimony of mental health experts was neither contrary to.
nor did it invelve an unrcasonable application of! federal faw
under Strickland.

C. The fatlure of trial counsel fo investigate the
background of the victim and discover a prior false
allegation of rape by the victin,
Ning raised this issue in post-conviction procecdings. wiich
was considered and rejected by the Tennessee Court of

Criminal Appeals.

Che petitivaer also complaing 5 A%
deficient in tailing fo investigate thoroughly the victim's
vast. Speeifically, he asserts that counsel should have
discovered certain public records concerning a prior rape
allegation, luter dismissed. apparently made by the victim

a8

inst another man long belore she met the petitioner.
Delense counsel admitied that he had not discovered this
jitem from the vicum's past. However, we [ail to see what
good this inforniation would have done the petitioner at
trial, cven had his lawyer stumbled across it The victim's
characier was nol a relevant issue at weial. The victim's past
actions. of which the petitioner had no knowledge al the
time he murdered her, were not a relevant issue at trial,

Therefore. this “evidence™ would not have been admissible
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at trial and the petitioner suffered no prejudice froin his
allorney’s failure fo discover it
King v, Steze, 1997 WL 416389 at *13. The Tennessee
Supreme Court agreed.

Counsel Simpson testilied al ihe post-conviction hearing
it he investigated Ms. Smith's past and her involvement
with the appellant before the kitling. He stated that he did
notrely heavily on Ms. Smith's past because he did not want
the juny to Tocus on her as a victim, Counsel was aware
that Ms. Spiith had lived in McMinn County. but he had no

inlormalion concerning her prior rape allegation,

#27 We agree with the Court of Crimingl Appeals that
the prior rape allepation would not have benetited [sic] the
appetlant at trial. ¥ anything, the information would have
strenathened the prosecution's evidence of motive against
him, Moreover, Ms, Smith's chavacter was not at issue. and
there s been ne showing that information of her prior
rape Ulegation would have been admissible. Therefore. we
sanot suy that detense counsel were ineffective for failing
o discover i,

Kivg v. Stare, 89 S.W.2d at 333,

[his cowt agrees with the conclusions of the state courts.
Aveordingly. this couart concludes that the determination by
the state courts that couinsel was net incficctive n failing to
investigate the vietior's background was neither contrary (o,
nor did it involve aunreasonable application ofl federal law
under Siickiand.

D. The failure of trial counsel to call Mr. Tervy Lyun
IWing as a witness at the hearing on the motion to
suppress Mr King's statement.

King ruised this issue in post-conviction procesdings. which

was considercd and rejected by the Tennessee Court of

Criminal Appeals.

The pelitioner turther complains about defense counsel's
faifure to call him 1o the witness stand during the
suppression hicaring. In response to being asked why he did

notcall the petitioner o the stund, defense counsel westified:

One, | knew Judge Jenking wasn'L going Lo believe
a convicted lelon with his record over the testimony
of, al least. two offlicers. But what deterred us from
putting lthe petitioner] on the stand was yo'u {reterring
W prosecuter Jolley | and Mr. Craburee, and ... Judge
Jenkins-that we did not want to expose the petitioner]

Lo yonr cross-examinalivn, We were confident thal you

would exceed the scope of a suppression hearing in
vour cross-exantination; that Judge Tenkins would allow
vou w do so. coupled with the lact that we were
dealing with a young nun that we knew was ol below-
average inleltizence, and would not do well on cross-
examination. And we were conlident that, upon trial.
even though it 13 not admissible. that some of that studt
that you would glean trom a suppression hearing .
would come in ac trial, and we didn't wani you o go (o
school on {ithe petitioner} as a withess, We wanted your
tirst evack at him o be your only crack at him.

As correctly noted by the court below, this was a “tactical
decision” and one that was made with “adequate reasons,”
We will not now second-puess this strategy call with the
benelit of twenty-twenty hindsight. This issue is withowt
merit.
King v Stefe, 1997 W 416389 at *16 (footnote and internal
citation omitted). The Tennessee Supreme Court agreed.

As correcily noted by both the trial court and the Court of
Criminal Appeals. counsel made a tacticsl decision not (o
call the appellant as a witiess at the suppression hearing.
We will nol second guess thal stralegy on appeal with
the benelit of twenty-twenty hindsight. Counsel made a
cateufated decision. and thore has been no showing of
inetlectiveness.

*28 KNing v Stufe, 989 SIW.2d at 33334 (internad citations

omiittedsy.

King contends that it was ool reasonable lor trial counsel
to believe that the trial judge would not foliow the lawn
and would allow the prosceniors to use improperly obtained
information at trial, Nevertheless, thal was a call tor tial
counsel to make. This court agrees with the conclusions of
the state courts and will not second guess defense counsel’s
trial stralegy in this regard. Accordingly. this court concludes
that the determination by the state courts that counsel was
not ineflective i failing to call King as a witness at the
suppression hearing was neither conteary o, nor did it involve

an unreasonable application ol federal law under Stickiund

o

E(D).” The failure of trial counsel fo ensure that all
bench confercnces were recurded and transcribed by
the court reporter.
King raised this issue in post-conviction proceedings. which
was considered and rejected by the Tennessee Coury of
Criminal Appeals.
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The petitioner next points to his defense counsel's tailure
to preserve on the record all of the beneh conferences
which occurred during the trial. While we agree with the
petitivaer that all beneh conferences should be preserved
on the record, see, .o, State v Hammons, 737 S.W.2¢

y

549, 351 (Temn.Crisn. App.1987). we disagree that “the

fuck of o transcript ol these crucial conversations” s,
ipso fucto. prejudicial within the context of Stricklund. To

order o demonstrate prejudice on this issue. the petitioner

must show at least a fikelihood that one or more of the
wirccorded bench conferences resulted in an adverse raling
that constitted reversible error. The petitioner has not done
so. dndeed, the petitioner has conceded that “this Tactor
aken by iself swould not warrant reversal.” This alicgation
is without merit.

Ning v Sigfe, 1997 WL 416389 at *15. The Tennessee

Supreme Court agreed,

The State concedes that counsels' faillure o preserve all
of the beneh conferences was an instance of deticient
pertorimance. The State argues. however. that the appeliant
hus not demonstrated any prejudice as a resoll of the
delicieney, We ugree. In order 1o desnonstrate prejudice
here, the appettant must show a reasonable probability that
one or more of the unrecorded bench conferences resuited
in an adverse raling that constituted reversibie error, The
appetiant has not satisficd that hurden. Accordingly. this
ssue 15 without merit,
Ning v State, 989 S.W. 2wt 333,

king areues that the absence of any record of what was
sadd at the beueh conferences makes it impossible to make a
showing of prejudice. Nevertheless, in order {o demonstrate
inetlective assistwnee of counsel. King must show some
prejudice. which he has failed t0 do. Theretore, this court
conciudes that the deierimination by the state courts that King
failed to demonserate prejudice as © his claim that counsel
was incttective iy failing w ensure that all bench conierences
were recorded and transeribed was neither contrary . nor did
il involve an uorcasonable application of. federal faw under
Strickland.

F(E). The fatlure of trial counsel to object to the
introduction of the suicide note.
*29  Co-defendant Joe Sexlon attempted suicide prior o
wial and {efi a handwreitten note which cleared King of
Ms, Smith's murder, 1o lact, the note was tabricaled with

ng's knowledge and at his request. The State introduced the

W TL AN y 202 1 Thomson Keulers, Na alaiin io oraih

suicide note during the cross-examination ol’ Sexton during
the penalty phase. King claims teial counsel was inetlfective in
lailing 1o object to the introduction of the note. e vaised this
issue in post-conviclion proceedings, which was considered

and rejected by the Tennessee Court of Criminal Appeals,

In his next allegation of ineliective assistance of counsel.
the petitioner points Lo the penalty phase ol his teial
during wiich his counsel did not ohject upon introduction
into evidence of a suicide note written by the pelitioner's
codefendant. Randall Joe Sexion, Sexton had written the
note in contemplation ol his suicide prior to tial. e
testified that he had discussed the contents of the note with
the petitioner prior (o writing it and that the petitioner
had suggested he inclode a statement that he, Sexton. swas
responsible for the vietim's death. not the petitioner. The
note was found afler Sexton atiempted suicide and was
taken to the hospital, and was used very effectively by
the State to impeach Sexton's credibility. The pefitioners
counsel subsequently relied on it in closing not only W
areue that Sexton could not be believed. but to demonstrate
that the petitioner had not tvied w rely on this noic lor
his defense. and admitted (during the penaliy phase of
the trialy to having kilied the victim, In other words.
defense counsel used i ugainst Sexton and as a method of
bolstering their own clienl's credibility and willingness to
take respousibility for his own actions. This was a strategy
call by delense counsel and one that we will not condemn,
King v. Stute, 1997 W1 41638y ar #16. The Tennessee
Supreme Court agreed.

We agree with the Cowrt o Criminal Appeals that counsel
made a tactical decision te use the suicide letter. notonly to
attack Mr. Sexton's credibility. but to bolster the credibility
ol the appellant. Again, we decline 1o second guess the
strateay chosen by defense counsel. Counsel knew abouwt
the suicide letter belore trial and chose to use it during
the seniencing phase to undermine the testimoeny of My
Sexton.

King v Stute, 989 SOW.2d at 3340

KNing wrgues that the admission ol the suicide note did oot
further King's interests and that L is difficait to coneeive of a
tactical reason to justily counsel's failure to object. This covirt.
however. agrees with the appellate courts that this was trial
strategy. which the court will not second-guess. Based upon
the foregoing. this court concludes that the determination by
the state coints that counse! was not inetfective in failing (o

object to the inlroduction of Sexton's suicide note was neither
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contrary Lo, nor did it involve an unreasonable application ol
federal law under Strickland.

G(F). The failure of appellate counsel to appeal the
State’s use of a disissed juvenile allegation during the
trial,
#*30 This claim relers to a question asked during the cross-
exanination of Gary E. King, petitioner King's brother, who
testified on his behall in the penalty phase of the wial.

€ Me. King. is it not correct, sir. that in Janoary of 1979,
more spestiically January the 24th of 1979, that vour wile,
Donna 1, King, accused M. Terry Lyon King, your brother,
of pssisting in her rape?

A Yos. sir
M. TIPTON: We object to that, your Honor,

THE COURY: Overruled.

[Addendum 1. Franscript of the Trial, Vol XV, p. 5281 Mr,
King also admilted that he wok his wite out of the jurisdiction
so shie would not be available 1o testify against petitioner
King, [/ at 329} King contends that the admission ol this
evidence was in error because King was a juvenile at the time
and because the warrant had been dismissed. and that counsel
should have raised the ervor on direct appeal.

King raised this issue in post-conviction proceedings. which

was considered und rejected by the Tennessee Court of

Criminal Appeals.

The petitioner further alleges that defense counsel was
inctfective tor lailing to appeal the State's use during the
penaity phase of the trial of a charge that had been made
against the pefitioner while a juvenile and later dismissed.
Wo ramind the petitioner that

there is no constitutional requirement hat an attorney

dArguce  every issue  on the

determination of which issues to present on appeal

appeal....  Generaily.
is a matter which addresses itself to the professional
judgment and sound discretion of appeliate counsel.

Moreover. the determination of which issues (o raise
on appeal can be characterized as tactical or strategical
choices. which ... should not be “second guessed” on
appeal, subject. of course, to the requisite professional
standards,

When questioned in this case about how he had decided
which issues to raise in the direct appeal. defense counsel
testified. “You look ut the proof us it was sdduced at triu.
You read your record as carefully as you can. bone up on the
applicable case law as (0 (he issues sugpested; and the dogs
that will hunt. you putin the brief, and the ones thal won't.
you leave home.” Obviously, defense counsel decided that
the admission of the juvenile charge in question “wouldn't
hant.”” We will not second-guess this strategy call,

King v. Stewe, 1997 WL 416385 uL *17 (quoting Cooper v

Stadz, 349 SW.2d 7440 747 (Tenn 1993) (footnole omiited),

The Tennessee Supreme Court agreed.

This that  there i

constitutional requirernent for an attorney to raise every

Couwrt has previously held 1o
issue on appeal. “Generally. the determination of which
issues o present on appead is @ matter which addresses
itself o the professional judgment and sound discretion of
appellaie counsel.” Counsel is given considerable leeway
to decide which issues will serve the appellant best on
appeal. and we should not sccond guess those decisions ¢
here,

*31 Counsel Simpson testified that the delense caretully
examined {he rial record and listed every izsue that might
have mwerit on appeal. Counsel included a challenge on
direct appeal 1o the State's use ot the armed robbery
convictions. and this Court held that admission to be
harmless error. Under those circumstances, we cannot say
thut counsels’ omission of the dismissed rape charge was
ineflective.

King v. State, 989 8,W.24d at 334 (quoting Coaper v Siare, 849
S.W.2d 744, 747 (Tenn, 1993)) tinteenal citations omitted),

King contends that. in light of the {act that the Tennessce
Supreme  Cowurt held that the use of King's juvenile
convictions for armed robbery was harmiess ervor. had
counsel appealed the use ot the dismissed juvenile charge the
supreme court would have been faced with a more difficult
question, This court disagrees with King and agrees with
the state appellate courts that this was a matter within the
discretion of counsel. Accordingly. this court concludes that
the determination by the state courts thai counsel was not
ineffective in failing o appeal the use of the dismissed
juvenile charge was neither contrary to. nor did it involve an
unireasonable application of. federal law under Strickfand
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H(G)., The failure of trial counsel to investigate the

dismissed juvenile charge.
King claims that defense counsel correctly but foolishly
assumced that a dismissed charge would tot be admissible at
Iria! and therelore failed 10 investigate the charge. According
1o King, counsel learned atter the trial was over that the
ins esiigating officer did not belicve Mrs, King's allegations
and that ong of the proscentors at King's murder teial was the

person whoe moved Lo have the juvenile charge dismissed.

King did not raixe this claim in post-conviciion proceedings.
Accardingly. the cloim has been procedurally detaulied.

), It was ineffective assistanece of appeliate counsel
to fail 1o file a petition fov certiorari fo the United
States Supreme Court after appeiiate counsel promised
te file such a pefition and the petition wouild have heen
granied in light of the statas of Cruz v. New York
Detense counsel admitied that he misread the cules as to filing
apetition for certiorari and belicved he had ninety days within
which to file the petition, when in fact he had sixiy days.
Whern he realized his mistake, the sixty days had passed and

any request tor an extension of time had 1o have been filed

during the eriginal sixiy-day period. | Addendum 3. Transeript

of the Fyidence. Vol. V. pp. 407101

Kinig ruised this issue in post-conviction proveedings. which

was considored and rejected by the Tennessee Court of

Criminal Appeuls,

Vhe petitioner also alleges that one of his trial lawycet's
representation was deficient because he failed to timely
file a petition for wrig of certiorari with the United Stales
Supreme Court afier having told the petitioner that he
woutd do so. The State concedes that the attorney’s fathire
in this regand was “an instance of deficient performance.”
Wheiher deticient or not, a lawyer's failure to file a petition
for discretionary review does not constitute ineftective
assistance of counsel, The United States Supreme Cowrt has
held that criminal defendants do not have a constitutional
right to counsel o pursue applications for its veview. 1t has
(urther held that. because a defendant has no constitutional
right to counsel to pursue applications for certiorari, he
can't be deprived of the cllective assistance of counscl
by his counsel’s Gilure to file the application tmely.
Accordingly, this aflegation of ineffective assistance is
without merit,

32 King v Stare, 1997 W1 416389 at *17 (citing.
respectively, Rass v Mofie, 417 T1LS, 606, 94 S.Ct 2437,
41 Lbdad 341 (1974) and Haimeriglta v Lorne, 455 LS.
586, 102 S.Cr, 1300, 71 L.Fd.2d 475 (1982)). The Tennessce

Supreme Court did not address (his issue in its opinion.

King contends that had counsel filed the petition for certiorari,
it almost certainly would have heen eranted because Cruz
v New York had been accepted for argument by the ULS.
Supreme Court while King's direct appeal wus pending before
the Teonessee Supreme Court. Nevertheless. the Tennessee
Court of Criminal Appeals was correct that a criminal
detendant dows noc have a constitutional right t counsel “o
file petitions tor certiorari™ o the Supreme Court, Ross v
Moffin, LV ULS ar 612, and thus a eriroinal defendant “could
not be deprived of the effective assistance of counsel by
his retuined counsel's Tailure 1o file the application tmely.”
Wubimwrighr © Forna, 455 TLS. at S87.

n any event. Crzz allows a couwrt 1o conduct @ harmicss
ervor analysis of a Brufon claim under the stundard sct forth
in Harringron v. Californio The Tennessee Suprenie Court
pertormed such a analysis. Based upon the forepotng. this
court concludes that the determination by the tennessee Court
of Criminal Appeals that counsel was not ineffoctive i thailing,
1o timely file a petition tor certiori was neither contrary Lo,
nor did it involve an wareasenable application of) tederal law
under Strickiand

J(1). Conclusion
King claims that the individual and cumuldative effect of
counsel's erroes denied him the elfective assistance ol
counsel. The cowrt has tound (hat the state courts' findings on
the individual clabms that counsel was not incllective were
neither contrary to, nor did they involve an unrcasonable
application of, federal Tnw under Strickiund. To the extent
King alleges he is entitled to relief under a cumulative error

Ltheory, this claim lacks werit, See Complell v Unued Stares.
364 T.3d 727, 736 (6th Cir2004) ("the accumulation of
non~errors canmot collectively amount e a violation of due

process™) (intermal quotation marks omitteds,

IV, My, King's conviction and death sentence vinlate
the doctrines of Brady/Giglio and deny Mr King his
rights under the ifth, Sixth, Bighth, and Fourfeenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution.

King alleges the withheld

prosecuition exeulpatory.

mitigating. and/or impeachment evidence in violalion of his
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rights under Brach and Giglio. In Brady v. Marviend, 373
L8R3, 83 S.CuL 1194, 10 LFd.2d 215 (19633, the Supreme
Courl held “that suppression by the prosecution of evidence
favorable 1o an accused upon request violaies due process
whare the evidence is material either o guili or to punishiment.
wrrespective ol the good faith or bad t
fd al 87,

aith ot the prosccution.”
Impeachiment evidence as well as exculpatory
United Staies v,
Bagdev, 473 (185667, 676, 105 8.0 3375, 87 L.1id.2d 481

{1945y, ~Favorable evidence 1x material, and constitutional

evidence “talls within the Brady rule”

error vesults Trom its suppression by the government. “if
there i3 2 reasonabie probability that. had the evidence been
disclosed o the defonse. the result of the proceedings would

have been different.” 7 Kydes v Bhitley, S141LS 419, 4235—

473 LS ai 682y,

“There are three componens of a trus Bradv violation:
the cvidenve atissue must be tavorable to the accused, cither
hecanse i is oveulpatory, or beeause it is inmpeaching: that
evidence nust have been suppressed by the State. either
willfully or inadvertenily: and prejudice must have ensued
Greene, S27 ULS, 203, 281-82, 119 S0 1936,
144 15424 286 (1999),

Sivickler v

io v {laited Stuses, 403 ULS.

189, 92 800 763,
11 1LEd.2d 104 (1972), the Supreme Court considered z
situniion where the prosecution withheld from the jury the
fact that it had promised a key witness that he would not
be prosecuted Tor his part in a crime it he testitied against
his companion. Because the witness's eredibility was a key
issue. the Court found that the government's conduet violated
due process and the defendant was entitled to a new trial.
I at 15455,

by the presentation of known false evidence is incompatible

“Meliberate deception of a court and jurors

with ‘rudimentary demands of justice.” ™ Jd at 153 1quating
Hoovpey v Holohws, 294 Us 103011238 5.C1 340. 79 LLEd
FHATI N

in order o state a Giglio claim a petitioner must demonstrate
“(h) ihe slatement was actually false; (2) the statement
was material: and (3) the prosecution kuew it was false.”
Lochmondy, §50 F2d 817, 822 (aih

€1 1989), Farthormore, “mere inconsistencics in testimony

United  Siaies v

by 2

vermment wilnesses do not establish knowing use of
lalse testimony,” Id

King Tirst State
demanstrating that there was only one bullet associated with

alieges  that  the withheld  evidence

Ms. Simith’s murder. According to King. this is important
Because the prosceution wold the jury that Ms. Smith was shol
twice. King also claims that the prosecution urged the jury
to find the HAC aggravating circumstance pariially on the
theory that the victim was shot not once, s King admited. but
twice. A review of the transcvipt of closing arguments during
the penalty phase reveals, however, that neither proseculor
gsked the jury to buse the HAL aggravating factor on the
fact that Ms. Smith was shot twice vor did cither prosceutor
mention this fact. [Addendum 1. Transcript of the Trial, Vol
XVIIL p. 894—Vol. X1X. p. 904, pp. 94145,

Agent David Davenport with the THI wstified that a bulict
and butlet fraginent were found ot the crime seene where
Ms. Smaith was Killed. [/, Vol XL p. 1061 fomnny Hellio,
a frearms examiner wiih the Bl crime fab testificd that
al least two buliets were fired. [/, Vol X1, p. 227]. King
alleges that records recently obtained by current counsel irom
the TBI reveal that only one bullel was Toud ar the ¢rime
scenc and that Ms. Smith v

shot one tive, T appears from
the record that there wus seme confusion as W whether the
bullet fragment was recovered from the siie where Todd Lee
Millard's body was found or where Ms. Smith was killed.
According to King. this is becanse ane metal object was {ound
where Mas, Smith was killed. two metal objects were found at
My Mitlard's grave site. and theee metal objects were tuened
over o the TBI for testing,

*34 The court does not find that King has shown a vielation
ot either Brady or Giglio with vespect o whether there was
one buliet or two bullets. There is nathing in the record o
suggest that the prosecution withheld exculpatory evidence or
deliberately presented talse evidence. In addition. given the
overwhelming evidence against King including his admission
that ke shot Ms. Smith in the head with the intent 1o KilT her,
any allcoed violation is not material because it would nothave

altered the outconie of the proceedings,

King also alleges that the prosecution withhicld evidence thay
would have impeached the testimony of Lori Fastman Carier,
According to King, although Ms. Carter testilicd at trial
that King beat her to the poiat of unconsciousness. recentdy
discovered photographs taken of Ms. Carter immediately afier
the incident show that Ms. Carter had no injurics other than a
brutsed eve. [Court File No. 95, Notice of Filing. Attuchiment
[ to Amended Habeas Potition]. In addition, King claims that
the hospital report from her visit that evening describe her as
“drinking/incoherent/states she was beaten up.” [Attachment

G 1o Amended Hlabeas Corpus Petif i()nl.'S
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King v. B

King contends that had defense counsel been provided the
photographs of Ms. Carter. it would have been likely that the
wial judge wonld have excluded her testimony. Even if the
testimony had not been excluded, King argues thal Ms. Carter
could have been impeached by the photographs.

The trial court allowed the testimony of Ms, Carter over
defense counsel's strenuous objection, tinding the testimony
“material an the issues of premeditation, motive. intent, and
madice.” [Addendum 1, Transcript of the Tral. Vol XiL p.
276, The court further lound that “the probative foree of the
evidenoe outweighs the potential lor unfair prejudice.” {4 at
276771,

Ms. Carter testitivd that on October 13, 1982, while at her
car in the pavking lot ol'the Foxy Lady Lounge on Merchants
Drive. King hit hier causing her to lose consciousness; when
she regained conscicusness, she was in the tloorboard of her
car and King wus driving the car. 4. at 278-79]. Ms. Carter
farther testified that King snbsequently stopped the car. pulled
her from the floorboard by her hair, rolled her haiv up in the
car window, and coniinued w heat her around ber face and
neck, [{d at 2791 Ms. Carter also testiticd as follows:

~everat thimes he said that he wanted me to tell him——he
asked me if [ knew that I was dying, and T said yes, And
he wanted mie (o tel! hitn how 1t felt w be dving, so that the
next wamuan ae killed he would know how she felt,

(7.

Pinally, Ms, Carter testified that she again lost conscipusness
and when she regained consciousness she heard King telling
his cousitn James King that he, King, had killed her and needed
help in putting hier in the quarty and burning her car. [Jd at
279-80G], Atter My, Cavter’s testimony, the courl instrieted
the jury that “with regard to the testimony of Lori Lastiman
Carter, T instruct you that sou are w consider the evidence of
the incident which she (estificd to only in regard to the issues
ol premeditation. motive. ntent, and malice in the case that
we are tiying now and for no other purpose.” [7d. at 2941,

*35 James King, who testified on behalt of King during
the guilt phase ol the trind, admitted that he saw King with
Ms. Carter on October 12 or 13, 1982, but denicd that King
told him he bad killed hee {72, Vol. X p. 324]. Janes
King testified that King asked him to follow him w0 St
Mary's Hospital because Ms, Carter was sick. j/d ], On cross-
examination. James Kiug testified that when he Jooked in the
car. Ms. Carter was haltin the seat and halfin the floorboard.

£ TR P T

but he did not look at her face and thus did not sec any
bruises. [/ at 326]. e also testified that ihe interior of the
car smelied very bad. [/d ], On redirect. he tesiified that the
smell wis fike someone hud been drinking a loL ot alcohol and
had regurgitated the alcohol. {14 at 3301

n support ot his claim. King has attached the afiidavit of
Michael R. Chavis, an investigator for the Federal Detender
Services of Basiern Tennessce, Ine.. whicl represents King in
this proceeding. [Attachment F (o Amended Habeas Corpus
Petition]. Mr. Chavis testifies (hat he interviewed Ms, Carter
at her residence: she stated that King beal her unconscious
and pulled out patches of hier hair when he rolled it up 1o
a car window, and that she took phiotographs 1o document
the injuries. [£4 ] According to King. the photogriaphs do not
show palches ol her hair missing. This argument overlooks
the fact that Ms. Carter did not restify at trial that patches of’
her haiv were pulled out

Based upon the foregoing. the court finds that King s not
shown a violwtion of ¢ither Brudyv or Giglio wilh respect 1o
the pictures of Ms. Carter or the hospital ceport. The pictures
show that Ms. Carter was assaulled. which was consistent
with her wstimony, and she was taken o the hospital where
shie was treated for her injuries. The liospital report does refer
to the fact that Ms, Carter had been drinking. but that was
testified to by James King. In any eventl the fact that Ms.

Carter may have been drinking is not reles ant o hier allegation

ol assault.

V. Mr King was deaied due process and his right 1o teial

by jury when the trial court vefused to instruct the jury

ot second degree murdey and voluntary infoxication.,
King alleges that. since the jury did not find him enilty of
first degree premeditated murder bul rather guily of felony
murder, the jury delermined that be should be fonad guilty
ot sonte form of murder, According io King, the evidence
ot his intoxication must have been sufficient to prevent the
jury from finding him guilty of first degree premeditated
murder and thus felony murdar was the ondy option lefl. King
therefore argues that had the jury been instructed on second
degree murder. they could have found him guilty on that lesser

oflcnse.

A, The proof of intoxication and passion.
King conlends that the State's own evidence during its case
in ¢hicl] including King's statement. showed ihat King bad

ingested an extraordinary quantity of mind-altering drugs,
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King also conlends that the evidence showed that he acted in
o state of extreme passion at the possibility that he would be

unjustly accused ol rape.

B. The right to have the jury fully instructed on the law.
*36 King relics on Beck v Alahama 447 US, 625, 100
S0 23820 65 1LEA.2d 392 (1980}, for the proposition that
anh accused in a capital case has a constitutional vight Lo & jury
instruction on lesser included offenses. In Beek the Supreme
Court was taced with a state law which prohibited the tital
Judge in g death penalty case ivom giving the jury the opiion
of conviction on a lesser inciuded offense-—the jury was
reguired 1o either convicet the defendant of (he capial crime
and impuose the death penalty, o acquit hisne if convieted the
triat judge was io then consider uggravating and mitigating
circumstances, and then refuse Lo impose the death sentence if
1 was got wartanted and instead seatence the defendant to life
i prison. kL at 62729, The Court consid

d the question
N Tav a seftence of death vonstitntianslly be idmosed afer

May a sentenve of death constitutionally be imposed after
a qury verdicl of guilt of a capital otfense, when the jury
was not permiited woconsider a verdict of guilt of a lesser
nwcuded non-capital offense. and when the evidence would
have stpported such a verdict?” and held 1t could not. #d. al
627,

In doing so. the Court observed:

While we have never held that a defendant is cotitled to
i lesser included oflense instruction as a maller ol due
process, the neoarly universal acceptance of the rule in
both state and federal courts establishes the value to the
defendant of this procedural safcguard. That safeguard
would scon o be especially important in a case such as
this. T orwhen the evidence unguestivnably establishes that
the defendant s guilyy of a serious, violent offense-but
leaves some doubt with respect W an olement that weuld
iustify conviction ol'a capital oitense-the fatlure 1o give the
jury the “thivd option” of convicting on a lesser included
offense would seem inevitably to enhance the risk of an
nnwinranted conviction,

Such a risk cannot be wlerated in a case in which the
defendant’s Tife is ot stake. As we have often stated, there
is o signilicant constitutional difterence between the death

penalty and fesser punishments:

[Dicathy is o difTerent kind of punisliment from any
other which may be imposed in this country.... From the

point of view of the defendant, it is different in both

its severity and its Tinality, From the point of view of
society. the action of the sovercign in tuking the Hife
ol one ot its citizens alse differs dramatically from any
other legitimate state action. It is ol vital importance to
the delendant and to the community thal any decision (o
impose the death sentence be, and appear to be, based on
reason rather than caprice or emotion.

To insure that the death penalty s indeed imposed on

the basis of “reason rather than caprice or emotion,” we
have invalidated procedural yles that tended o diminish
the reliabilily of the sentencing determination, The same
reasoning must apply o rules that diminish the reliabilit
of the guilt determination. Thus, it the unavailability of
a lesser included offense instruction enhances e risk of
an unwarranted conviction. Alabama is constitutionally
prohibited froin withdrawing that vption tron the jury in
a capilal case.

37 ld out 63738 (quoting Gwdner v :

{18 349, 358-58. 97 S.Ci 1197, 31 L4224 393 (1977

{footnotes omitted),

The Beck Court thus invalidated a state statute thay prohibited
a gl judge rom instraeting a jury on lesser included
oftenses. Contrary to King's comention, the Cowrt did not
hold that the due process clause always requires giving a
instruction on a lesser included otfense. In fact, in Hopper v
Fyvams, 456 LS, 603, 611, 102 S.CL 209, 72 1 15d.2d 367
(19823, ihe Court ruled that a capiwal delendant is entiiled
to u lesser included offense insiruction “onfy when the
evidence warrants such an instruction.” Thus the Flopper
Court concluded that no lesser included offense instruction
was reguived where “ft/he evidence niol only supported the
claim that the defendunt intended o kill the victim. but
affirmatively negated any claim that he did not intend to kit
the vicom.” Jd at 613,

C. Under these facts, the trial court deprived My, King
of due process.
On direct appeal. King complained of the trial court's

lailure to charge the jury on second de

gree murder, In post-
conviction proceedings, he apgain raised that issuc as well as
his claim that the trial court should have instructed the jury
on voluntary intoxication,

The Teanessee Supreme Court on divect appeal rejecied the

claim that the jury should have been instructed on second
degree murder.
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The record shows that defendant was indicted for both
comimon law muorder and two counts of felony murder.
and all counts were submiited to the jury for decision.
Anviime a court instructs a jury in a homicide case, he
should instruct all fesser included offenses and in most

instances il 1s ereor not w do su. But where the evidence

clea

eiy shows that delendant was guilty of the greater
offense. it is not errar to tail to charge on a lesser ineluded
oifense. In this case the record of the guilt phase of the
frial 15 devoid of any evidence which would permit an

inference of guilt of second-degree murder ar the other

cluded oilenses. The State's proof ol premeditation
and deliberation. and the fact thar the killing occurred

during the commission of g felony, which includes the
detendint's confessions to Childers and W the nolice. was

usconiradicied. Copsequentty, we find no prejudicial ervor

¢'s vefusal to instruct the jury on the

sarents o murder in the second degrec.

stetfe v Kinw, TR S0W 2d av 243 (iglemast chations omitied).
The Tennessee Court o Criminal Appeals in post-conviction
proceedings thus concluded thai the issne of whether second
degree murder should have heen presented to the jury had
been previously determined and the court thus refused to
reconsider it King v Stare, 1997 WL 416389 at *17. The

appctlate court also found that King had waived his ¢lain that

the trial cowrt should have given an instruction on voluniary

intoxication by failing 1o raise the ¢laim on direct appeal. /d.

The court virst notes that, although King now claims that the
failure to instruct the jury on the fesser-included offense of
second degree murder violated his rights under both federal
and state law. in his brief on direct appenl King raised this
issue sulely us amatier of siate law. JAddendum 2. Document
AL Briel of Appellant. pp. 33-535]. The Tenmessee Court of
Cromnnad Appeals likewise eonsidered the 1ssue solely as
g, 718 S.OW.2d m 244

ne W raise this claim as a matter of

4 matter of state law., Stae v A

Accordingly. by fat
lederal constitutional law, King has procedurally defaudied his
claim that the tigl court should hyve instructed the jury on
lesser included offense of second degree murder, See Gray
vi Netheriand, 318 US. 152, 162-63, 116 8.0 20740 133
LEA2d 457 11996) (in order to exhaust state remedies as to
a pacticular elain, that cladin must have been presented w the

stale courts as g lederud constitutional claim).

“38 In any evenl, the court finds that King would not be
entitled to relict on this claim. As the Tenncssec Supreme
Court found, the evidence adduced at trial clearly nilitated

against an instruction on second degree murder or other lesser
incladed offenses. Thus. the conclusion of the Tennessee
Supreme Courl was neither contrary o, nor did it involve
an unreasonable application ol federal law under Beck v

Alabama and Hopper v. Fvans

With respeet to his claim that the wial court should have
instructed the jury on the defense ol voluntary intoxication,
the Tennessee Court of Appeals found that King waived
that issue by tailing 1o raise it on divect appeal. That being
se. King has procedurally defanited the claim i this court.

King contends that las detault stiould be excused becanse his

atrorney rendered ineft

ive assistance of couusel by tailing
to pursue the issue on direct appeal. King did not raise such a

claim ol incflcctive g

stance of counsel in post-conviciion
proceedings and thus cannot rely on it in these proceedings.

[Addendum 4. Doc. A, Briel of the Appellant, pp. 75-1071.

VI. The “reasonable doubt” instructions given in the
cuse violated My King's right to due process because the |
nse of the phrases “moral certaingy” and “let the miand
resfeasy” denigrate the high standard of proof required
to sustain 8 eriminal conviction.

A. Reasouable doubt instructions given in Siure v, King.
Ihe tial court gave the following reasonable  deubt

instruction during the guiit phase:

Reasonable doubt is that doubt engendered by an
nvestigation of all the proof in the case and an inability,
after such investigation, to let the mind rest casily as
the certainty of guift. Reasonable doubt does ot mean a
captious, possible or inaginary doubt. Tn order to conviey
a defendant of any criminal charge, every element of proof
required to vonstituie the offense must be proven to a moral
certainiy, but sbsolule certainty of guilt is not demanded by
the Jaw.

Addendum 1. Transcript ot the Trial, Vol. XIV, pp. 444-45].
Addendum 1. 15 iptof'th Vol X1V, pp. 144--45

During the penalty phase. the cowrt gave the following
instruction:

Reasonable doubl is that doubl engeadered by an
investigation of all the proot in the case and an nability.
alter such investigation. to let the mind rest easily as to the
certainty of vour tindings. You are the sole and exclusive
judges of the eredibility of the witnesses and the weight (o
be given to the evidence presented.

Ud., Vol. XIX. p. 949].
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B. Cage v. Louisiana and its progeny.

C. Rickman v. Duiton and the Tennessee Reasonable
Doubt Instruction,

King alleges that the tial court’s instruction to the jury

on reasonable doubt violated his right to due process. The
fenne

see Court of Criminal Appeals found that this issue
had heen watved becanse it “was not raised in the petitioner's
miotion for new wial or on diveet appeal.” King v Srute,
P07 W 417389 at ¥ {8, Accordingly, King as procedurally
defaulted this claim. Inany cvent. King would not be entitled
Lo relic!

“39  In : v Dutton, 864 Flupp. 686
(MDY fenn dgdy, ofid, 131 1 2d 150 (bth Cie1997). LS,
Uistrivt fudge Joan 10 Nixoa grunted the petitioner a writ of
Raboas corpus on five gronnds: (1) the petitioner's attorney
retidered Ineffective assistance of counsel during the guill
phase of the wial. (2) the perjured testimony of’ a prosecution
withess was not harmicss beyond a reasonable doubt, (3) the
Jury instruction on rcasonable doubt misstated the burden of
prool. (4) petiioner's due process rights were violated by
the inveluntary administration of sedatives and depressants to
him. and {3) the cumulative effect of the corors in the case
viotated due process.

With respoct to the reasonable doobtjury charge, Judge Nixon

lound the following charge constituiionally detective:

Reasonable doubt is that doubt engendered by an

investigalion ol all the prool in the case and an inability
afler such Investigation o let the mind rest casity upon
the certainty of guilt. Reasonabie doubt docs not mean a
doubt thut may arise {rom possibility. Absolute cerfainty of
siilt 1s not demanded by ihe law to convict of any criminal
charge. but moral cerlainty is required and this certainiy
15 requirad as (o every proposition of proof reguisite to
constitute the offense.
864 F Supp. at 708, Judge Nixon velied on Cage v Lovisiana,
498 US, 39, 1171 S.CL 328, 112 1.Ed.2d 339 (1991), in
which the Supreme Courl found that a jury insteuction stating
what was required was a “maoral cerlainty™ rather than an
“evidentiary certainty”™ allowed a reasonable juror o find
euilt based o a lower siandard of proof. 7d. at 4041, Judge
Nison noted. however, the decision in Fieror v Nebraske
SHUS L1 S.CL 12390 1271 Fd2d 383 11994), wherein
the Supreme Court held that the term “moral cerlainty™

does not, of itself, render a reasonable doubt instruction

f1ln

unconstitutional so long as the rest of the instruction ~lends
content to the phrase.” f at 1416,

ln alfirming Judee's Nixon's decision in Rickmun, the
Sinth Cireait vesolved the appeal on the sole issue ol
inctlective assistance of counscl and thus declined 1o address
the remaining issucs, incliuding the constitutionality ol the
reasouable doubt instruction. Rickmun v 131 ¥a3d at
1152, vo Bell, 126 F.3d 843 (Hib
Cir 19970, cert. denied. 523 US. 1088, 118 S.Co 1547, 140
.bd2d 695 (1998), the Sixth Circuit held constitutional
the same reasonable doubt jury instruction that Judee Nixon

B!,

Nevertheless, in dustin

in Rickman found o be unconstitutional. In doing so, the
Sisth Circuit found that “jtjhe language of an inability to
fet the mind rest easily’ lends content to the phrase “morul
certainty” ... increasing, if anvthing, the prosecutor's burden
ol prool” 126 F.3d a1 847

The instruction in this case was sinsilar to thatin < ustin v Bell.

Reasonable  doubt s that  doubt cngendered by

investigation of all the proof in the case and an inability

an

after such investigaiion o fei the mind rest cusily upon
the eerlainly ol guilt, Reasonable doubt does not mean a
doubt that may avisc trom possibility, Absolute cortainty of
guiltis not demanded by the law 1o convict oFany criminal
charge, but moval certainty is required and this certaing
is required as to every proposition of prool reguisite io
constitute the offense.

“40 126 F.3d at 846, Accordingly, the court finds that King's

claim as to the “reasonable doubt™ jury instructions lacks
merit. See, e.g., Uwited Statex v, Perry, 438 F3d 642, 6351
(6th Uir). cerl. denied, 547 TS 1130, 126 8.1 2043, 164

L.Ed.2d 799 (2006).

VI The prosecution repentedly violatzd My King's
due process rvights by offering inadmissibie, irrelevant
and inflamwatory evidence during both phases of My

King's triai.

A, The First Phase.
Kiog claims that prosecutorial ervor infected the wial from
voir dire through senteucing, He specitically refers to the
following during the guilt phase: the prosecution's question
during voir dire as to whether any of the jurors belicved that
the use of drugs by a victim justilies blowing the top ol her
head o1} the prosecution's theory that the blood in Sexton's
cwr came ftom Ms, Smith, despite the evidence that the blood
was [rom the Grainger County victim; the introduction of

C3OWEITIIr
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(he testimony of Lori Bastman Carter: and closing arguments
designed only to inflame the passions of the jury,

B. Thic Second Phase.
During the penalty phase. King claims the prosceution
commited the following errors: the prosecution argued at
lengpth about the facts of the prior Grainger County homicide;
the prosceution wld the jury that to return a life sentence
vwould be o disregard their vaths as jurors and their duty to
follow ihe law: the proseculion told the jurers thai they had

a civie duly 1o protect society: the prosecution asked the jury

to penalize King for entering a plea of not guilly: and the
prosceution cross~examined King about Ms. Smith's skull,
about his two juvenite convictions {or armed robbery, about
the disniissed juvenile charge. and aboul the Grainger County
homicide as well as the conviclion Tor assault with infent 1o

conimil agorayated kidnaping,

€. The law requires reversal as a resuit of these

deliberate actions.
King vontends that the prosecuiion acted deliberately and
ot the cumulative effect of the errors requires reversul
of hix conviction and sentence. The Tennessee Court of
Criminal Appeals in post-conviction procecdings determined
that. by tailing 1o raise them on direct appeal. King had
waived his claims “that his duc process rights were violated
by the prosceution's “offering inadmissible. irrelevant and
inllammatory evidence” during both the guilt and penally
phases ol his tial” King v State. 1997 W 4163 89 ot * 18,

That being so. King has proceduraily detaulted this claim,

YViIl. The State of Tennessee submitted evidence of

an invalid conviction to support the “prior erime of

vislence” aggravating factor.
This elaim refers to King's conviction in Grainger County.
lennessee. for the {irst degree murder and aggravated
kidnapping of Todd Lee Millard. Mr. Millard's murder
oceurred prior to Ms. Smith's murder in Knox Countly, but
[King and Sexton were not arrested Tor the murder until after
their arrest for Ms, Sinith's murder. While the case aguinst
King lor My Smith's murder was pending. he pleaded guilty
i the Millard case pursuant to a plea agreemeni and received
conewrrent life sentences. These convictions were then used
against King inthe Smith case as an aggravating circumstance
Lo support the death penalty.

i

“4)

sentenced to death, King filed a state petition {or post-

After he was convicted ol Ms. Smith's murder and

conviction reliel in the Miltard case. arguing that his guilty
pleas were not free and voluntary becanse he was not advised
by the (vial court that his Grainger County convictions could
later be used as enhancement factors inhis Knox County case.
The trial court denicd post-conviction relictand the Tennessee
Court of Criminal Appeals attirmed. King v Siare, 16990 W1
19R178 (lennCrimApp, Do VL 1990), perm app
id (Term.1991).

denied,

King next filed a federal habeas corpus petition with the
same argument and it was denied. The Sinth Cireuit atfivmed
the denial of labeas velief, holding that the Swate’s use of
the Gr

circamstance in the sentencing of an unrelated but pending,

ainger County murder conviction ~"us an aggravating

murder charge™ was ~a collateral consequence ot the plea.
about which King need not be advised in order for his plea to
be found voluntary.™ KNing v Duifon, 17 .34 151
cert. denied, 312 1LS 1222, 114 S.CL 27120129 L.
{19943,

i6bth Ciro

.24 838

In this praceeding King now mainiaing his innocence of the
Grainger County offenses, Ue contends that had statements
consistent with his innocence boen revealed 1o him, he would
not have pleaded guilty to first degree murder. King relers to
an alleged statement of Sexton to the Grainger County police
that he, Sexton, alone killed Mr. Millard while King sat in the
car and an alleged statement hie made to Jerry Childress that he
was not involved in Mr. Millacd's death, which Mr, Childress
allcgedly related {ater to the authoritics. He also contends he
was induced to plead guilty by his attormey who had promised
him a package deal with the Knox County charges for life
imprisonment. King claims thal had he known he would not
receive a plea bargain {rom Knox County. bul insiead the
Grainger County convictions would be used as anaggravating
circumsiance. he would not have pleaded guiliy. King insisis
that, although he was present with Sexwomn at the time of the
Grainger County offenses, once he realized that Sexton was
going to kili the victim, he stated he wanted no part in the

nder, tried wo peevent it and stayed in the car

King did ol present this elaini to the Tennessee state courts
and thus the clain is procedurally detanlied. King contends
his default should be excused because he can demonstrate
both cause and acwal prejudice. and because he has made a
showing of factual innocence,

yErmrmeint
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As cause, King argues that the State withheld the exculpatory
statetnents: he also argues that his attorney failed o conduct
a reasonable investigation and discover the statements. This
argument overlooks the fact that the state courls, a federal
district court, and the Sixth Circuit have all upheld the validity
of King's guilty piea in the first degree murder of Mr. Millard.
in addition, this court has previcusly determined that King is
not actually innocent of the death penalty and thus cannot usc

tuctual innocence 1o excuse his proceduwral defauls.

IX. Both Terry King and Joseph Randall Sexton
parficipated i the reccived
Randall
Sexton was the principal in one homicide, Terry Lynn

same homicide but

drastically  different punishment. Joseph
King was the prineipal in the second, but becanse of the
shrepmstances under which the present case was tried,
dnseph Sexton received life mprisonment wn both cases
while Terry Lynn King was sentenced fo death. The
ennesser statute and the prosecuters’ manipulation of
that statute was arbitravy and capriciouns and violated
the Fifth, Sixth, Eight, and Fourteenth Amendments fo
the Constitution of the United States,
42 The

procedurally defaulted. King raised this claim in his petition

respordent  coniends  that this claim  was
lov post-vonviction reliel, | Addendum 3. Technical Record of
Post-Conviction Proceedings. Vol. I, Comprehensive Petition
v N . s . . » o 3y

fur Posi—Conviction Reliel (hereinalter TR.. p. 86)}. On
appes! 1o the Tennessee Cowrt of Criminal Appeals lrom the
denial of post-conviction reliet. King did not include this
claim in his bricl but rather in an Addendum attached to the
brie! without argument. [Addendum 4, Document A, Brief
of Appellant, Addendum thercinafier Add). p. 141]. In the

opeiing puragraphs of the Addendum to the briefl. King's
counsel stated that they have included in the Addendum “a

series of 183

:s which they seek to preserve on behalf of My,
King.” [Zd at 140]. Counsel also stated that they “stand ready

10 briclany such issues atfength if the Courtso desires.” /e 1.

The Addendum set forth seven claims, all withoul srgument,
The Yennesseo Court ol Crimiinal Appeals did not uddress any
of the seven claims, nor did the Tennessee Suprame Courl.
Respondent contends that King waived consideration of these
claims because he did not include them in his brief o the
Temessee Cowt of Criminal Appeals, as required by Rile
2Hardr & (Frofthe Tennessee Rules of Appellate Provedire.
Respondent also refers o Rule 10(by ot the Rules of the
Coust of Criminal Appeals of Tennessee, which provides that
“issues which are not supported by argument, citation to

authorities. or appropriale referenees 1o the record will be

treated as waived in this comt.”

Kirg avers that he did exhaust these claims by including
ther in his post-conviction petition and in the addendun
1o the brief on appeal. This court disaprees. Because King
did not include the claims in his bricf. and only v an

addendum without arguiment. the court finds that he wai

consideration of the claims in the Tennessee Conrt of Criminal
Appeals and thus has procedurally defauited the claims in this
court. Nevertheless, out of an abundance ol caution. the court

will eonsider the claims on the merits,

Wilh respect to King's claim that the imposition of the
death sentence was arbitrary and capricious under the
Termessee statute, the court finds that the claim lacks merit.
King contends that because of the significant delay of the
indictnient Tor Ms. Smith's murder in Knox County, the
Grainger County case was resolved and King was convicted
ol {irst degree murder prior to the retum ol the Kooy Counly
indictment. Thos. when King went to trial in Knox County
in the case in which he was the prisciple participant. he was
already convicied of first degree muurder in Grainger County.
a strong aggravating circumstance. 0o the other hand. Sexton
had not yet been convicted of first degree murder in Knox
County when be faced the Grainger County chavges in which
he was the principle participant and was able to reselve
those charges without the apgravating civeumstancs of a prioy
violent telony,

*43 Tothe exten King alleges that the State should not have
been allowed to use as an aggravating circumstance an allense
that was unadjudicated at the time of the instant offense.
the court has already found tha this clain was procceduradly
defaulied, supra at 71-73. King also avors that the disparate
geatment of him and Sexten shows thiat the death penalty wag
arbitrurily applied in thus case. in this regard. it appears that
he is referring w the Siaw’s use of the assault with imtent to
connnit aggravated kidnapping, which was commitied only
three days after the killing of Mrs. Smith.

Under Tennessee law. for purposes of the aggravating
circumstance ol priov violent felony, “the ordet in which the
crimes were actually comunided is frrelevant so long as the
convictions have been entered before the sentencing heartug
at which they were introduced.”” Stare v Nichols, 877 SSW.2
F220755 (Tenn 19945, The diserction of the prosceution in

this regard does not violate the Constitution, See

]
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(o0

e, A28 1IN, 133, 199, 96 S0 2909, 49 L.Ed.2d 8359

(19763, King is not entitled to relieCon this elaim.

X. At the time Terry Lynn King entered a plea of guilty
to first-degree murder in Grainger County on May 3,
1984, hie had been charged in the present case but was
not represented by counsel and hence did not receive
any advice of counsel to the effect that his conviction
in Grainger County could be used as an mportant
and powerful aggravating circumstance in his eventaal
trial in the present case in Knox County. He had
retaised connsel Tonumy Hindman on another Knox
County case. Despite this pre-existiug atterney/client
relationship, M King was guestioned on the Knox
County case in violation of his Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and
Fourteenth Amendment vights,

(o the exient King challenges the validity of his Grainger

County guilty piea. the court previously noted. supra at 73,

state courts. a federal district court, and the Sixth
Circult bave all upheld the validity of King's euilly plea in
the {irst degree murder of Mr, Millard. Witli respect to King's
allegation tha he was questioned in the instant case without
benelit of counsel who was representing him on another
mater, that claim was raised in the Addendum in the post-
nappeal. JAdd. ar 142,

COML L

{he Saprente Court has held thac the right w counsel under the
Sixthc Amendment iy “offense specifie. [t cannot be invoked

once for all future prosecutions, for it does nol attach until a

prosceution is commenced. that is, at or atter the imitiation of

adversary judicial eriminal proceedings—whether by way of

formal clarge. preliminary hearing. indictiment. intormation,
or arrdiginent,” MoNeil v Wisconsin, 301 U8, 171, 173,
THE S.Cu 22040 115 LLE2d 138 (199 1) (infernal quotation
marks and citation omitted). Thus, ~a defendant’s statemsnl
regarding ofienses for which he had not been charged
were admissible notwithstanding the aitachnsent ot his Sisth
Amendment right o counsel on other charged offenses.”
Cobb, 332 LIS, 162, 168, 121 S.Ct. 1335, 149
3202004 This claim lacks ment.

lexas v,

Lobd2d

XL The Tennessee Death Penalty statute codified at
F9-2-263 (1982) was nnconstitutional in the followiug
respects:

*44 1) The statute failed w require the jury 1o make

specific findings as 10 the presence or absence of

mifigating circumstances but required written tindings

of aggravating cirenmstances. hence emphasizing the
aggravaling circwmstances in the jury’s consideration

and preventing elfective appellate review,

b) The statute relieved the state of its burden of proof
and shified the bueden to the defendant 1o show that
mitigating evidence outweighed the aggravaing

evidence,

¢) The statute permiitied inadmissible. non probative
and unreliable evidence (o be used against the

defendunt daring the seniencing phuse.

dy The statwte made death mandatory when the
aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating
clrcumstances without permitiing the jury to show
merey.

¢} The statuie failed to provide lor adeguaie appellaie
review of proportionality of the capital detendant's

B135.%W.2d 160,192

{Tenn 199 ) (Reid, concurning and dissenting).

death sentence. Stare v Black

) T.C.A. Scction 39-2-2023h) prohibited the juey
from understanding the naware and cffect ot a non-
unanimous verdicl because telling the jury that i
verdict must be unanimos was a fiction becuuse
ae such unanimity was in lact needed for a lile
sentence. Cealifornia v, Ramos, 463 LLS 992, 103
SO0 3446, 77 LLEA.2d TE7L (19830,

King has failed to ¢ite any anthority holding the Tennessee
Death Penalty Act uncoostititional. The court noles at the
outsel that the Sixth Circull has hetd that Tennessee's death
178 1.3d
759,778 (6th Cin 1098), cert. dended, 328 18,913, 120 5.0,
264, 145 [ FEd.2d 221 {1999),

penalty statute 1s constitutional. Borkana v Be

il

! ; s : i2
Subparts (2)-(¢) were raised by King on dircct appeal.
The Tennessee Supreme Court gave short siwift to these
arguicnts.

Defendant also raises the question of the constitutionality
of the Tenmessce Death Penalty Act, evidently as a
cautionary action as he does not discuss the issue i any
detail in bis briel. On reference to the motion which is the
predicate of the assignment we find that defendant raised
1o issue, nor advanced any argument thal has not been
cansidered and overruled in several prior cases.

State v King, 718 S W.2d at 230 (citing State v Austin, 618

SOW.2d 738 (Tenn 198 1)), o the following reasons. the

AN TR far
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conchusion of the Tennessee Supremie Court was neither

contrary to, nor did it involve an unreasonable application

of, federal law,
With respect to King's claim that the statwte faited o
require the juey to make specific findings as to mitigating
civcumstances. the court is not aware ol any coustitutional
requireent in that reeavd. See Muriin v, Muggio, 711 F.2d
P273 1287 (51h Cin1983), carn denied, 469 U5, 1028, 163
500447083 132d.2d 373 (19843 (The Constitndion simply
does nal requive such a procedure.”): see also dusin v Bell,
Y27 1. Supp. 053 (VLD Tom 19963 ( ~The Constitution does

et require a jury that imposes o death semtence o make

specific written findings ol mitigating circumsiances.”).

s claims that the statule shificd the burden 1o

the defenduni 1o show that mitgadng evidence ontweighed

iting cvidence the State bears the burden ol proving
agersyating circumseances and the statute does not place upon

adant the burden ol proving mitigating circumstances,

o e extent King coniends that the statute impiicitly places
such a burden on the defendant, that is not unconstitutional.
v Arizong, 497 UK 639, 64930, 110 S.C0 3047,

S22 SV (980, averruled on other grounds by Ring
frona, 536 ULS. 884, 122 S.Cu 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556

#4585  With respect w King's claim that the statute permitted
inadmissible and uareliable evidence to be used during the
sentencing phase. he makes only a conclusory argument that
this is s0. As previously noted. the Sixth Cireuit has held that

Tennessec's death pensity stawate is constitational.

Subparts (430 were raised in the Addendum in the
post-conviction appeal. [Add. at 142-43]. With respect
o Ki claim that the statute made deuth mandatory
when the ag

ravating circumsignees outweigh the mitigating
circumistances. the Supreme Court has never beld “that
the state must affirmatively structure in a particular way
the marmer in which juries consider mitigating evidence.”
done, 323 LS. 269, 276, 118 S.Ct 73

139 1.Ed.2d 702 (1998, So long as a jury is

Ruchanan v As

allowed Lo
consider und give cffect to all relevant mitigating evidence™
as i5 the case in Tennessee, the statute s not impermissibl
“mandatory.” Blystone v Peansvivanio, 494 TS, 299, 30
IO S0 1078, 108 L.Ed.2d 255 {1990y see whvo RNeasisus
v Versh 548 ULS 163, 1710126 S.CL 2516, 163 1.1d.2d

429 (26003 (“So long as the sentencer is not precluded

M

from considering relevant midgating evidence, a capital

sentencing statute cannot be said to Impermissibly, mucl less

automutically, impose death.” ) {citations omitted). This claim
lacks merit.

As to King's claim thal the statule tailed to provide adequale
appellale proportionalily review, the Supreme Court has held
that the Constitution does notrequire a proportionality review,
Pullev: v Tarris, 465 U8, 3744, 104 5.Co 871 791 .1d.2d
29 (19843 This claim lacks meric

With respect to King's claim that the statute peohibited the jury
from undersianding the nature and elfect ol a non-unanimous
verdict. he claims thal usanimity is nol aceded for a lifc
sentence and thos 1Uis erine (o instruct a jury thal it vevdict
s SRS 275
(19 5.0 2090, 144 18d.2d 370 11999, the Supreme Court

held that there is no constiletional requivement that a capita)

must be unanimous. In dongs v United States

sentencing jury must be informed of the consequences ol thele
tailure to reach a unanimous decision. {J/ at 381-82, This

claim lacks merit.

X The trial cure the facial

unconstitutionality of the Tenuessece death penaliy

court failed to
statute of its ervors in the {ollowing instructions:

a) The trial court failed to deline “aggravation™ or
“mitigation” and hence tailed to provide the appropriate
guidance to the jury in evaluating the meaning of those

lerims.

b} Uhe trial cowrt taled to instruct the jury specifically
that it could consider the fowrteen non=alatutory
mitigating circumstances which were speciticatly
requested by deiense counsel and which were
referred to the court only as “any other mitigaling
circwmstances youmay find” vather than as specilic
mitigaling circumstanees which it could consider

(TR 948).

¢) The trial court emphasized the mandatery natue
of the death penalty stawte snd the ambiguous
standard contained therein by the use of the Pateen
Jury Instrucdon set Jorth on page 948 ol the

transcripl to the effect:

*46 It the jury unanimously determines that at
least one statutory aggravating circumstance or
several statwiory aggravating circumstances have
been proved by the state beyond a reasonabie doubt

and said circumstances are not outweighed by any
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sulticiently substantial mitigating circumsatances,

the sentence shall be death.
without an explanation of the {ollowing:

1y What constitutes a “sufficiently  substantial”

£¥as

witigating eircumstance 10 offset any aggravaling
circunistance that the jury might ind.

21y Whether the meaning of the word “substantial™ is u
qualitative or quantitative matter.

3) Whoether the halancing lest 1o be conducted by

ilie jury was u qualitative rather than a quantitative
v, Howell, 8368 5. W.2d at
216 {emphasizing that the fest is Lo be qualitative).

bzlizumng test. iy, Stuts

43 Thar the jury could place whatever weight (t might

appropriate on any of the agg

e

gravy J[lﬂ“ ar
HHU illh{' circumstunces it lﬂli‘hi {ind.

5y The wuse of the

circumstances”

slural  (erm mitigating
i 4

instructs the jury that they must
unanimously tind move than ou, when that is not a

{egal requirement,

6) The jury's findings on mitgating factors did not
have (o be unanimous. See Austin v, Beil 176 V.3d
R43 (6th Cin 1997),

claims were

Addendum in the post-
[Add, at 143-44] With respect o the
s that the wial conrt's fatlure

raised in the
conviction appeal,

first claim, K

NTUT to define

“uegravation” or Tmitigation” amounted o constiiutional

crvor. Fhe Tennessee Supreme Court on direct appeal
delermined that the trial court did not eer 30 refiising fo deline
o aggravate” because it “is a term in common use and nol u
State v Koge,
would fall into the same

legalisn beyond the understanding ot the juror™
F18 SN ot 2P

category.

fo mitipate™

Under Tenoessee's death penalty scheme. in order (o impose

a death sentence. a jury must lind at least one statutory
agegravating circumstances. The jury is also instructed as to
applicable mitigating circumsiances and farther told that they
may consider any other miligating circumstances they may
find. Such was the instruction 1o King's case. jAddendum 1,
Transcript of the Trial, Vol. XIX, pp. 947-48]. The instruction
was not unconstitutional and this claim lacks merit. See Grege

s Georgio, 428 TLK, 153, 10698 960 8.Ct 2909, 49 L.EL2d
839 (1 ‘?76‘}‘

As to King's second claim in this scetion. the Tenngssec
Supreme Couet held that the trial court did not err in
refusing to instruet the jury o consider fourteen non-=staiion
mitigating circumstances which were requestec
18 S 0020 e 244,

was neither contrary Lo, nor did it involve an unreasenable

by delense
counsel, Srare v King, Fhis conclusion
application of. federal law. See Rue ”xfu,» ©dngeione 522
LS. 209, 270=77, 18 8,85 757, 139 L.Ed.2d 702 (19983,

With respeci to King's third elaim in this section. the
instruction to the jury was similar w the instruction found
constitutional by the Court it S 1 at 277, This claim
facks metit,

XL, Section 39-2-203(¢) of the Teanessee Code
permits the court {0 instruct on wny mafter which
it deems relevant to the punishment without guiding
the court er the jury as fo what such iterns might
be. The statute thus allows the introduction of legally
irrelevant evidence which does not go to any of the
statutory aggravating circumstances, in vielation of the
Fifth, Sixth, Lighth, and Fourteenth Amendments 1o
the Constitution of the United States,
*47 This claim was raised in the Addendum i the post-
conviction gppeal. JAdd. at 144]. King contends that, by its
very terms, the statute purports to authorize the admission of
ireetevant evidence. The claim tucks merit for the foliowing
reason.

In Lockett v
973 (1978).

Fourteenth Amendments require that the sentencer. in all

Chio, 438 1.5, 380, 98 5.0 2934, 537 1.0°d.2d

the Supreme Court held that “ihe Dighth and
but the varest kind of capital case. not be precluded from
considering. ws a mitigaring factor. any aspect of u defendant's
character or vecord and any of 1he circnmslances of the
ollense that the delendant profrers as a ba

: for a senlence
less than death. /¢ at 604-05 {footnotes omitted). King's
claim overlooks the fact that the Tennessee Supreme Court
has construed the above referenced statute as enlarging the
defendant's ability o lntroduce relevant mitigaiion evidence,
iy G332 SUW. 2
542, 548 (Tenn 1982 (in cnacting this statule, the Tennessee

fegislature went ™

as required by lockett Sce Stare v Joh

Y Lockett
) see aiso State v Bates. §04 5.W 2d 868, 8RO (Tenn. 1991
(" We have heid that under the statute evidence is relative o

even further than is required by’

punishment. and thus adimissible, only 1F it s velevand w an
aggravating circumstance. or o a mitigating lactor raised by
the detendant.™)

117a



King v. Bell, Not Reported i1 F.8upe.2d {2011
2011 Wi 3566843

NIV, Death by electrocution in the State of Tennessee
constitates z physically crued and imhuman punishment
in  violation of the FEighth Amendment of the
Constitution of the United States beeanse of the mental
and physical torture which the process of death by
electrocution imposes upon the individual who dies in
such a fashion. The post-conviction court further erred
by refusing {0 consider petiticuer's evidence of this
cruel and inhuman process. {Past-conviction hearing,
i1, 296-364:; {1V, 361--306).

This claim was raised in the Addendum in the post-conviction

appeal |Add. at 144-45] and i3 pow moot. in 2000, the

fenness

¢ legislature passed a law providing for exceution
by fethal injection. Tenn.Code An § 40-23-114(a). Because
he commitied his offense prior to Fanuary 1, 1999, King may
clevi by writlen watver to be executed by elecurocntion instead
of fethal injuction. Jd ¢ 40-23-114{b}. Should he choose
e make such w waiver, King would waive any claim that
electrocution is unconstitutional, See Srovwarry LaGrand 326
PLSOHISHHS IO SO 618, 143 L.Ed.2d 196 (1999).

NIV, Death hy lethal injection is croel and unusual

punisiment which violates the Eighth Amendment to

the United States Constitution,
This claint has not been presented 1o the state cowrts. either
on diveet appeal o1 i post-conviction proceedings. because it
sk ot an issue at that time, Nevertheless. as far as this conrt
is aware. [ennessee's provision for death by Icthal injection
has not been ruled unconstitutional. See, e.g., Tarbison v
Litthe, 3777 FLAS 310539 (6th Cie 2009): Stare v Joirdan, 3235
SW 3 1L 8788 Tenn 2010y Thomas v Stute, 2011 WL
673936 ar 746 (Tenn. Crint App. Feb.23, 2611, King is not

entitled (o retict on this claim.

AVL The length
sentence and exccution constitutes cruvel and unusual
punishiment,

of ihme between imposition of

*48 This claim hus not been presented w the state courts.
cither on direct appeai or in post-conviction procecdings.
Accordingly, King has procedurally defaulied this claim. In
any event, this claim lacks merit. See Knfght v Florida, 528
(LS. 990, 120 S.CL 459, 145 1.03d.2d 370 (1999) (Thonwas,
J.oconcurring in denial of certiorari) ' write only o peint
ount that 1 am vvaware of any support in the American
constitutional tradition or in this Courl's precedent for the

proposition that a delendant can avail himself of the panoply

of appellate and collateral procedures and then complain
when his exeeution is delayed.™).

AXVH. The court and the district attorney e<cused
prospective jurors who could net consider the death
penalty by virtue of the free exercise of their religion.
See TR 154--156. The court and the State therefure
violated the defendant's rights under the Fisse, Fifth,
and Fourteenth Amendments fo the United Stafes
Coustitution,
This claim was ratsed in the Addendum in the posi-conviction
appeal. |Add. at 145]. It velers o one jurer who stated she
did not believe in capital punishiment because of the hiblical
adnionition apainst killing and that she conld not inpose the
death penalty. | Addendum 1, Transeript of ihe Trial. Vol VI,
p. 599-Vol. IX, p. 604]. Thic tria) court granted the Staie's
motion (o remove the juror for cause. [Id at 605).

In Witherspoon v, Hlinois, 391 108 316, 322 88 5,1 17740,
20 1 Fd.2d 776 {1968, the Supreme Court Beld hat jurors
ina death penaity case may not be excluded merely “hecause
they voiced general objeciions to the death penalty or express
copscieniious or religions scruples ggainst its inflicton,”
Nevertheloss, "the Constitution does nol prohibit the States
from “death qualilying” jurics in capital cases.” Leckhurt v
MeCree. 476 1S, 162, 1730 106 S.C0L 1738, 80 LEd.2d
137 (19863, The proper standard for evaluating such a elaim
is “whether a juror's views would “prevent or substantially
impair the perlormance ol his dutics as a juror in accordance
with his instructions and bis cath.” ™ Haianerighs v Win, 469
LS. 412,424, 105 S.CL 844, 83 L Ed.2d 841 {1933 tguoting
Adunty v Texax, 448 TS 38045, 100800 25821, 65 L.Ed.2d
581 (1985

I this case. the juror was removed lor cause bascd upon her
inability o impose the death penaity. The fact that her feclings
were based upon het interpretation of the Bible was not a

religious test and King is not entitied to selict on this clain.

XVIi. Mr King was entitled fo a wew trial and/or a
new sentencing hearing based on the cuminlative ervors
which occurred during bis trial in vislation of the
Fifth, Sinth, Eiglith, and Fourteenth Amendments to
the Constitution of the United States.
The Tenmessee courts Tound any ervoes 1n King's case to
be harmless. King contends that the cumalative effect of
the errors requires reversal ol his conviction and senlence,

He raised this claim in pest-conviction proceedings and the
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Tennessee Cowrt of Criminal Appeals concluded that “[e]ven
when viewed cumulatively. we do not find that the sum tolal
of these errors robbed the petitioner of a fair trial at either the
wuilt or penalty phases.” King v Stuie, 1997 Wl 416389 at
*18.

%49 The Sixth Cireuit has held in the past that, regardless of
whether cach of a petitioner's alleged errors, standing alone,
would require a finding ot deprivation of due process, a court
may look to whether the cumulative effect of the errors was
stch that the petitioner was denied fundamental faicness. See,
o, Cooper v Sowders 837 £.2d 284, 280 (61h Cin 198381
Wadier v FEngle, 703 1.2d 959, 908 (6ih Cir 19833, These
cases, however, were decided prior to the effective date of
the Antiterrerism and Bliective Death Penalty Act of 1996
(ALEDrAY which amended 28 U S.CL§ 2254 with regard to

the standaed of review i habeas corpus cases.

The Supreme Court has nov held that a district court
may ook 0 the cumulalive effects of wial couart errors in
deciding whether to grant habceas corpus relief, See Willianes
v dAnderson, 460 FAd 782, (0t Cir2000) (death-penalty
decision stating, [ TThe law of this Circuit is that cumulative
error claims are not cognizable on habeas because he
Supreme Court hus not spoken on this issue. No matter
how misguided this case Jaw may be it binds vs.”); Aoore
v Parken 425 F3d 230, 256 (6th Cir.2003) (death-penalty
decision stating. "[Wie have held that, post-ALEDPA. not
even constitutional crrors that would not individually support
habeas relicf can be cumulated to support habeas relict™y
Seoity. o, 362 134 598, 607 (6th Cir. 2002} (“The Supreme
Court has not held that constitutional claims that would
nat individually support habess relief may be cumulated
in order to support relief™): Losraine v Coyie. 291 F3d
416, 4476t (e 2002) (death-penalty decision stating. ~The
Supreme Court hag nel held that distinet constitutional claims
can be cumulated 1o grant habens velief™); hur see ePow v
Anderson, 311 P3G 742, T3 (6th Civ.2002) {constitulional

Footnotes

cerors that might have been bharmless when considered
individually maybe be cumulated in a capital case. lcading to
a reversal of a death sentence).

Accordingly. because there is no Supreme Court precedent
in this regard. King cannot demonstrate that the fenncssee
Cowt of Criminal Appeals’ rejection of his cumulatve
ctfeet argument was either contravy to. or an unrcasonable
application of. clearly established federal faw as requived by
Willicuns v. Tavior. See Bece v Pavker 371 .34 310, 330
{6th Cie.2004) (death peoalty decision: petitioner's cumulative
error theory lacks mevit because it “depends vo non-Suprerme
Court precedent”).

43190115 S.Cr B3550 131 1.Ed.2d 490 (1995 required the
Tennessee Supreme Courl o conduct a cumulative ervor
analysis, this courl disagrees, Avles was concerncd with
the suppression by the government of material cvidence
tavorable to the defense in violation of Brady:

{V. Conclusion

King is not entiled to reliel under 28 US.C. § 2254,
the vespondent's motions for summary judgment will be
GRANTED, and the petition for the writ of habeas corpus
will be DENIED. The stay of exccution previously entered in
this matter will be VACATED. The petitioner having failed
1o make a substantial showing ol the dental of a constitutional
right, a certificate of appealability SHALL NOT ISSUE. 28
LS. 8 2253(c).

*50 AN APPROPRIATE ORDER WILL ENTER.

Ajl Citations

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d. 2011 WL 35606843

1 Addendum 1 contains the technical record (one volume) and franscripts and exhibits (22 volumes) of King's trial
proceedings; Addendum 3 contains the technical record (five volumes), transcripts and exhibits {six volurnes), pre-hearing
transcript (one volurne), and appendix (one volume) of King's post-conviction proceedings. Generally, the volume number
of the transcripts and other documends in the state record does not correspond to the volume number listed by the
respondent. The court’s reference to the record is to the volume number listed by the respondent.

2 King was also convicted of aggravated kidnaping; that conviction was set aside by the trial court on King's motion for

judgrnent of acquittal.

3 King's co-defendant, Randall Joe Sexton, was tried in the same trial with King and was also convicted of felony murder and
armed robbery, Sexton was spared the death penalty by the jury and instead was sentenced to consecutive sentences

san | 3. INO Chaim «
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12

of life in prison and 125 vears, respectively. State v. Sexion, 724 W .2d 371 (Tenn.Crim.App. ), perm. app. denied, id.
(Tenn.1986).

The witness's name was actually Jerry Dean Childress. [Addendum 1, Transcript of the Trial, Vol. X, p. 51).

King was convicted of the first degree murder and aggravated kidnapping of Todd Lee Millard in Grainger County,
Tennessee. The authorities learmed of King's involvement during questioning of King and Sexion with respect to Ms.
Smith's murder. See, e.q., King v. Dutton, 17 F.3d 151 (6th Cir.1884). This conviction and it use as an aggravating
circumstance are discussed in more detail with respect to claim Vill, infra at 71-73.

Tennessee law now provides the following HAC aggravater: “The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel,
in that it involved torture or sericus physical abuse beyond that necessary to produce death.” Tenn.Code Ann. § 39—
13-204(13(5).

This subpart was incorrectly designated in the amended habeas corpus petiticn as & second “ID." and has been
tedesignated by the court as subpart “E. Subsequent subparts were likewise incorrectly designated and have been
red@s;igrfated by the court in logical progression. with the original designation in parentheses.

King also claims that, although the incidence took place on August 12, 1882, Ms. Carter waited two months, untii October
13. 1882, w take oul a misdemeanor warrant against King for assauit and battery. There is nothing i the record, however,
to show that the incident took place on August 12, 1982, and the record in fact cantradicts this claim. The handwritten
statement of Me, Carler and the warrant she sworeg out on October 13, 1982, state that the incident occurred on October
12, 1982, [Addendum 1. Transcript of Trial, Vol, XX, Exhibits 66 and 87, pp. 1089 and 1100, respectively],

Page references are {o the sequential page numbers of the Technical Record. not of the Post—Conviction Petition itself.
Respondent also contends that King waived these claims because he did not include them in his Rules 11 application for
permission to appeal to the Tennessee Supreme Court. in the past, the required state court review included review by
the Tenressee Supreme Court. Picard v. Connor, 404 U8, 270,82 S.CL 509, 30 L.E4.2d 438 (1471). On June 28, 2001,
however, the Tennessee Supreme Court promulgated Rule 39, which provides in pertinent part that a claim which has
been presented to the Tennessee Court of Criminal Appeals is deemed exhausted. In Adams v. Holland, 330 + 3d 398
{Bth Cir.2003), cest. denied, 541 LS. 956, 124 S.CL 1854, 158 L Ed.2d 392 (2004}, the Sixth Circuit held "that Rule 39
rendered Tennessee Supreme Court review ‘'unavailable’ in the coniext of habeas relief.” The court aiso heid that Rule 39
was not a change in Tennessee law, but only a clarification of existing law, and thus it should be appiied retroactively so
as to prevent procedural default. Thus, King's failure to include the claims in his Rule 11 application is ne longer relevant
to the issue of procedural default.

The court previously ordered the parties to brief the exhaustion issue on these claims and additionally ordered the parties
to brief the merits of each claim, with factual and legal supporl. {Court File No. 152). The parties have done so. [Court
King raised these issues in the trial court by way of a motion to declare Tennessee's death penalty statute unconstitutional
[Addendum 1, Technical Record on Direct Appeal, Vol. |, pp. 62-64]. which was denied {id. at 103]. On appeal to the
Tennessee Supreme Courl, he argued in his brief that the Tennessee death penalty statute is unconstitutional and
referred to his previous motion. {Addendum 2, Document A, Brief of Appellant, p. 31].

d of Docunent =2 2021 Themson Reulers. Mo claim to ongmal U .8

Govermnent Works.
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Syuopsis

Background: Following aflirmance in divect appeal of
petitioner’s state-court convictions for murder in the first
degrec while wm perpeiration of simple kidnapping by
conftiientent, and arraed robbery. and his death sentence, 718
S 2d 241 he filed a petition Tor writ of habeas corpus.
Fhe {nited States Disteici Court for the Eastern District
ol Tennessee, Roberd Teon Jordan, )., 2001 Wl 3366843,
distuissed the petition. Following grant of certificate of
appeatability. pettioner appealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals. Karen Nelson Moore,
Cireuit Judge. held thac

trial counsel’s decision to abandon intoxication detense
during guilt phase of trial did not constitute ineflective
assistunce:

delay in hiring mental health experts to evaluate petitioner
was not incffcctive assistance of counsels and

habeas court was precloded from considering opinions
of mental health experts who testified during the habeas

procecding.
Adfirined.

790 Appeal from the United States District Court for the
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00454—-Robert [eon Jordaw, District Judge.
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Chavis

Before: BATCHELDER. MOORI. and GIBBONS. Circuit
Judges.

OPINION
NAREN NELSON MGORE, Circuit Judge,

(his death penalty case avises oul of the Kkidnapping and
murder of Diana K, Smith *791 by Peritioner—Appeliant
lerry King. Following the disteict court’s dismissal of
King's petition for a writ of habcas corpus. we granted
a certificale of appealability on two issues: whether trial
counsel was inctfective for [ailing to present during the
trigl testimony about King's intoxication al the time of the
murder and whether uial counsel was ineilective for failing
Lo investigate adequately King’s mental health and (o obtain
cxpert assistance in a timely manner. For the reasons stated
below, we AFFIRM the judgment of the district court.

I. BACKGROUND

At wial, the Government put forth the testimony of two
individuals to whom King confessed: Jerry Childers,!
an acquaintance of King, see Teial Tr. (*TT7y Vol IX
at 52 (Childers Test.). and David Davenport. id. at 84
{Davenport Test.). an mvestigator for the Tennessee Bureau
of Investigation, Childers described a conversation he had
with King, see id. at 53-69 (Childers Test.). and Duavenport
read statements that he took [rom King and Randall Joe
Sexton. King’s co-defendant, at the Knox County Shermiff’s
Departnient. see TT Vol. IX at 86 (Davenport Test): id al
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90-04 (Davenport Test,. Sexton Statement): TT Vols, IX-X
at 106-03 (Davenport Test.. King Statement). The following

is a sunmumary of that testimony.,

On luly 31, 1983, 4 man
named Bugene Thornhilly and the victim, Diana K. Smith,
consumed larpe amounts of aleohol, LSD, and Quaaludes and
ctigaped in sexual intercourse thronghout the day. /d at 100~

King; his cousin, Don King:

O (Davenport Test, King Statement). At one point, King and
smith drove 10 a wooded area in Smiih’s car, where Smith
accused King and the others of raping her, 1T Vol 1X at 56
{AppeHants App s at 110) (Childers Test: 171 Vol Xat 101
{Davenport Testy I response. King told Smith to get into
the trunk TT Vol 1X at 56 App ¥
TT Vol X at 10102 (Davenport
fesi. King Statermenty With Smith in the trunk, King drove

of the car, {Appellant’s

at 11y {(Childers Test.):

to Sexion’s house. where King oblained a rifle and shovel.
UVl iX xoal FEOY (Childers Tesi):
el w91 TT Vol X at
2 Davenport fest.. King Statercnt), King and Sexton then
drove 10 a wooded are

al 56 CAppellant’s App'x
{DBaveaport test. Sevon Satcment)
. where King ordercd Sioith out ol the
tunk and shot herin the bdf Kotthe head. TT Vol IX at 67--68
{(Childers Test )y T Vol X gt 102--03 (Davenport Tesk, King
Statementy, After unsuccessiuily atiempting o bury Smith,
T Vol X at 103 (Davenport
. The following day. King and 5

king and Sexton went home.

Test.. King Statement) sexton
retoraed to the scene Lmddlsposml of Smiitl’s bedy v a nearby
quarty, 1T Vol IX ar 92 {(Davenport Test.. Sexton Statement):
11 Vol X w103 (Davenport Test.. King Statcimend).

T preparation for rial, which began on Junuary 23, 1985, see
PCT?Y Vol ¥V oat 426 (Appellunt’s 2d
Supp. App s ar 796) (Simpson Test), King’s trial counsel.
Robert R
brain damage as g resull of a childheod fead 792 injury
and substance abuse. PCT Vol

Post—convicton v (¢

Simpson, suspected that King may bhave had

{Appeliant’s Zd Supp. App < at 744 74936, 7320 {Sinipson
Test ). Inaddition w a childhood fread injury. in 1982, King—
then about ninereen years old-—hit his head in a car accidont
and had double viston for a couple of maonths atterwards.
R. 2543 at 4 {Gebrow Report at 2) {Page 103 #475). From
age cight to sixteen. King s Adoats
Page 1D #4765 The also consumed alcohol
beginning al uge twelve vr thirteen and LSD and Quaahides
beginming at age fifteen or sixteen, /d. at 45 (Gebrow Reportl,
al 233 (Page 1D #475-706).

itted gasoline (Gebrow

Report at 3) ¢

On January 15. 1983, Simpson retained a mental-health
expert, Martn Gebrow, MDD we evaluate King., Stimpson usced

IV at 376, 381-82, 184

privaic lunds {rom King's family to pay {or Dr Gebrow’s
services because Simpson was unaware ol state law that
provided for state funding of an oipert. PCT Vol Vot
424, 43132 (Appellunt’s 2d Supp. App'x ul 794, 801--
02) (Simpson Test). Dr. Gebrow’s report indicated that he
1985, R. 2343 {Gebrow
Repoit at 1)y (Page 1D #474) The report deseribed King's
background, including his history of substance abuse. Jdf
at =3 (Page 1D #474-765. Do Gebrow conchuded. My
examination of Mr. King did not reveal any evidence ol

cvaluated King on January 23,

psychotic thouzht process. Nor did 1 reveal any evidenice of
a1 organie brain syadrome such as might have been causcd
by the chronic use of hydrecarbons by inhalation. alcohol.
or LSD.” Jif, at 3—4 (Page 1D #476-77). He continued, “This
however does not mean thal any brain damage does not
exist. ILwould be oy recommendation that M. King have an
electroencephalogrong and psychological testing w rule out
organicity and/or major thought disorder.” /d at 4 (Page D
4477,

During voir dive. Simpson made an oral motion to “permit
the taking of an electroencephalogram™ of King, TT Vol
VI at 55253 {Appellant’s App x at 13859}, which is ~a
brain wave test thay measures the electrical activity of the
brain and can ascertain whether or not there are any abnormal
electrical discharges which would indicate brain damage,”
TT Vol VIl {est) bnoa hearing on the
wton, duting which Dr. Gebrow {estitied. the trial court

inquired of D Gchmw whether there was

at 642 {Gebrow

“a substantial
possihility of damage.™ Jd al 657, D Gebrow vespondsd.
“With the eight year—cight-or-aine-y ear listory of constant
hydrocarbon abuse, | think that there would be—could be
an excellent chance that this was—that there was seine
daypage” but that it was not a “probability.”™ 74 at 638, Do
Gebrow also agreed that, based on the examination. King
was coherent, his miemory appeared o be fnvact, and thal he
wiin able to express Wasel! well, Jd Because i Gebiow
jel at 67
wware of certain conditions that he admitted would alfect the
id. at 648,
i AU 66566, As aresuly,

motion but noted that it would

“went in cold w do the evaluation.” he was no
evaluation, including prior psychological esting,
and evidence of antisocial behavior
the wial court denied King's
reconsider it Dr. Gebrow reviewed more of King's medical
records and decided that an electroencephalogram would stitl
be required. See id. at 670. Having reviewed these records, 1

Gebrow testilied later al trial thal an ele ulroent;c‘|ahz;liog1am

was not necessary, U1 Vol XH at 383 {Gehrow Test.).
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:

Simpson suggesied in his opening statement that King's

intoxicated siate influenced his actions:

We think the proof will show that whatever happened (o
NMus, Smith, My, King's involvement was the product of an
icredible quantity of intoxicants. And we
will show that he

thinlk the proof
#793 cannot be held legally responsible

fur all of his actions o the degree the State would ask you.

simply because of he vast quantities of intoxicants that he

consumed. And the prool’is going o be very clear on that
polint,

TT Vol IX al 10 (Appeliant’s App'< ut 161). Simpson’s

tial strafegy changed when King’s

F

on l’h:mhcr 13,

former gitllriend. f.orl
{estilicd,
1982, in which Ning assaulied her
Vol Xt at 27879 (Appelier’
G4y, She westitied that King struck her

N

arier ).

s4y
fastiman Carter

Carter described an
incident
in her cay 11 s App x al 203—

causing her Lo ioese

consciousaess, and that when she became conscious. “he
pulled me from the floorboard by miy hair rolled my hair
up i ihe car window, and continucd to beat me around my
d at 279 (Appellec’s App'x at 204} She
“Several tmes he

face and neck”
continped. said that he wanled me w0 tell
him—he asked me i1 knew that [ was dying, and T said ves.
And he wunted me to tell him how it felt to be dying, so thal
the next woman he Killed he would know bow she felt” /d
Afier tosing and regaining consclousness once more, Uarter
overheard King telling his brother, James King, that he Kilied
Carter and that he necded help putting her body ina quarry, fd.
At 288 {Appeiiee’s App x at 205). Carter did not say whether

Kiny was sober when he attacked her.

i

AL the penalty phase, King’s mother. Billle King, testificd
that she would find King smiﬁng gasoimc when she came
home from work: “Well. you could tell that he had—he had a
motoreyele. [tywos tore up. but it was on the back porch. And
he had the gas cap off fromm the motoreyele. And you could
tell that he had heen into (he gas, and he couldn”thardly situp.
And Iwhipped v, youknow. He promised me he'd never do
itagain.” T Vol XIT at 496, Similarly, King's trother, Gary
Edward King, testificd that following his Tather’s death, King
TT Vol. XIV
M.ID., a specialist in

would snift gasoline “several times a week.”
al 309, King also called Robert Booher,
“addictionology.” 1o testify about the genera effects of LSID,

Quaalwdes, and aleohol. 171 Vol XV at 730-37.

Ultimately. the jury {ound King guilty of first~-degree murder
and recommended death by clectrocution, which the trial
court imposed. See Stete v Kl TIS SOW.240 241, 243

{lenn, 1986). Vollowing an unsuceessiut direct appeal,

e

King filed a petition for post—conviction refiel in state

coutt, in which he raised, among other claims, the sanwe
inettective assistance of counsel claims that are the subject of
this appeal. See King v Srtare. No. 053C0 9601 -CH-00024,
1997 W1 416389, 1217 (Tenn, Crime Appy July 14,
FO9TY. At post—conviction proceedings. Kh‘xg called aclinicad
psychologist, Pamela Auble. Ph.D3, who had evaluated King
and reviewed his medical vecords, PCT Vols, =11 at 7

99--100. 106--07 (Appellant’s 2d Supp. App'x at 439, 462-
63, 47172y {Auble Test.y. She ‘he psychological
testing that [ have done and that has been done—ihe

b

testitied, 1

evaluyation by Dr. Gebrow that was dune prive both raise the

questicn ol polential brain damnge. This issue still necds w
be explored. s not yvet conclusive. but is a possible thing that
POT Vol I ar 148, 168 (Appellant’s 2d

Supp. App X at 513, 333) (Auble Test.)

could be explored.”
- she also tesiified that
she had reviewed a report by a D l\ammf,:kL who performed
v~ - - " -
an BEG on King that “showed nepative results,”™ Jd, at 167
(Appellant’s *794  2d Supp.

She further ohserved that

Sop™xoat 332) (Anbie Test),
thete was no evidence of psyehotiv
thought process, Id

in addition w Dr Auble, Simpson testificd during post—
conviction proceedings on his decision not o raise an
intoxication defense. e stated that “the testimony of
Lor Pastman [Carfer] was. from our perspective. tolally
unespected and very devasiating. it really skewed how we
were looking at this case. We dropped the tdea, afler that. of
even raising intoxication in the hopes of getting a seeond-
degrec murder conviction, which we had viewed as slim.
anywav. and just decided to proceed with it v the penalty
phase and raise i there, because of her iestimony. apparently
when he was sober, ol pearly beating her to death.” PUT
Vol IV at 400 (Appelice’s 2d App’x al 768) (Simpson Test. ).

Characterizing er testimony as “Pretty deve

tating stuitl”
he continued: “But that really skewed our defense. and we

wanted out of that phase as quick as we conld and focus the

Jury on our side of the case, and our side of the case was as

Tong ws the guilt-innocence phase,”
2d Appxat 768

ld, al 400-
LT (Simpson Tese),

01 (Appeliee’s

The trial court denied King's petition for posi—conviction
relict, and the Tennessce Court of Criminal Appcz’als and
Teunessee Supreme Court affivmed s judgment. See Ay
v Staie, 989 S W.2d 319, 321 (Tean, 1999y King, 1997 Wi

416389, at *19. King then (iled a federal petition fur a writ
of habeas corpus. in which he rised the same inellective-
No, 3:99-cv—
2026 (E3 Tor, A, 12

islance-of-counsel claims, See King v B!
434, 2010 WL 3566843, al
20111 Atthis

stage. King called expert witnesses who stated
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that in facl King had organic brain damage at the time of
Smith’s death. An evaluation by James R. Merikangas. M.D.,
PO on June 27, 2000, demonstrated wilh “a reasonable
degree ol medical certainty that Mr. King sullers trom brain
damage and did so at the (ime o the crime or which
he stands convicted.” Merikangas Report at 3 (Appellant’s
Appx at 48). Dr. Merikangas also stated that King docs not
have antisocial personality disorder. but rather ~brain damage
which is ne fault of his own” 74 al 4 (Appellant’s App™x
ai 493 On March 21. 2001, a psychiatrist named Robert L.
Sadofll ML evaluated King and, alter reviewing King’s

previous medical records, ncluding D Merkangas’s

report,
concluded that ~[ilt was the combination of all these factors.
including his inwesication by several substances at the same
time, his brain damage and his personality disorders that
sitbstandally impaired his capacity to conform his conduct Lo
the resquirenents of the Taw.” Sadotf Report at 22 (Appellant’s

G0

App b 795 Finaliy. a physician named Marray W Smith,

M evaiuated King and, iiv o February 7. 2001 affidayvit,
stated " Any pre-existing brain damage resalting from the very
beavy wnd freguent use of inhalants trom age 8 o age 16,
as well as the use of cocaine and amphetynine as found
in s evaluation of M King, would furthier muitiply the
cflTzers of the aleohul and drugs on the cansation ol the violent
intcriaction M Terry King had with Ms. Diana Smith.” Smith
At ar 2 {Appeilant’s App'x at 533). Ultunately. the district
court awarded summary *798 juderient against King and
dismiszed his petition. King has appealed the district court’s

udgment,

ik DISCUSSION

We

(1) I Wihether wial counsel was ineflective T lailing to

wanled a ceviificate of appealability on two questions:

present testimony about King's intovication al the time of the
mivrder during the wrial™ and (23 )W hether teial counsel was

ingit

ctive for failing to adequately investigate King’s memal
health and obtain expert assistance i a fimely manner.”
Certificate of Appealability at 2. For the reasons stated below,

the answer to both questions is no,

AL Standard of Review

When reviewing a district court’s denial of'a § 2254 petiiion
“ilhis court reviews de nove [the] district court’s legal
conclusions and mixed goestions ol taw and fuct and reviews
its factua] findings tor clear ervor” Moore v Mitchell, 708

.34 760, 774 (6 Cie. 2013) King is eotitled to reliel only

] Fudr G oS, NS Lhati

il the Tennessee Supreme Court——which issued “the Jast
reasoried state-court opinion” inthis case, Y51 v Nunnemuker,
501 LES 797, 804-05. 111 8.1 2590, 113 1.Ed.2d 706

{1991 y—udjudicated King’s inelfective-ass

stanee claims on
the metits in a way that:

(1} resulted in a decision that was contrary 0. or involved
an unreasonable application of, clearly established Federal
law, as determined by the Suprenme Court ol the United
States: or

(2} resulted in a decision that was based on an unrcasonable
determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented
in the State court proceeding.

VLS L § 22846 (2012

531
Pl

The Tennessee Supreme Courte applying Stricklond and

Temmesser meffective-assistanee case law, rejected both of the

ineffective-assistance slaims that King raises in this appeal.
Krag, 98% SOW 2d at 330-32 (ntoxteation delense); il at
332-33 (mental-hicalth investigationy. The district court also
rgjecied both claims in its order denyving King's § 2234
petition. Aimg, 2011 Wi 3360843, at #20-23 {intoxicafion

delense): ded ot *24-26 (mental-health mvesagation),

B. King's Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims
To demonstrate  that his counsel was  constitutionally
inelfeciive under Swickland v Waslingion. 466 1.5, 668,
104 S.C4L 2052, 80 1. Ld 2d 674 (198:4), King must make
two showings: ~(1} [his] counse!l’s performance was deficient.
or put differently, “fell below an ohjeetive standard of
reasonableness’: and (2) the performance prejudiced {Kingl.”
Vahbub, 818 7.5d 2130 23831 (6lh Civ,
2016) (quoting Strivkfand, 466 LS a1 687 88, 104 501
20321, Because the Strichiand standaed s already “highly
deforential.” Swickieond, 466 15 at 689 104 S

United States v

20452,
our ceview of a stute-court decision on a Seedc Fand claim s
“doubly deferential™ under the Anti-Terrovisn and Bticelive
Death Penalty Act of 1996 CAEDPA™). Cullen v Pinkolsier.
363 UL, 170, 189-90. 131 5.0 (388, 179 L.EJ.2d 537
{2011) (quoting Anowles v Mizavance, 356 1S L 123,
120 5.0 VL 173 .20 251 (2009)). However, “[w]hen
a state court relied only on one Stricilcard prong (o adjudicate
an ineftective assistance of counsel claim, AEDPA delerence

docs not apply to review ol the Strickland prong not relicd

upon by the state court, The unadjudicated prong is reviewed

de novo.” Raynery, Mills. 685 F.3d 631, 638 (oith Ui 2012y
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Although the Tennessee Supreme Court did not specifically
state how it mled on either Swickiund prong, it is clear
from #*796 the subslance of its decision (hat it decided the
intoxication delense ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim
bused on the defivient-performance prong and the mentals
healtheexpert incficctive-assistance-of-counse! claim based
on the prejudice prong. With respeet to the intoxication
defense jneflective-assistance-ol-counsel

clyim, the court

held as follows:

Aldongh we acknowledge that defense aitorneys should
strive o prosent o consisient theovy of defense ut trial
wem

U avoid judging the tactical decisions of courisel
in hindsight. We have reviewed the circumstances from
couhsel’s perspective at the time and conciude that the
change i strategy does nat rise o the level of ineflective
assistalice

State. 989 S, W3
s, 689,

Aing v al 33132 (citing Strickiarnd. 406
{04 SO 232 Hellard v Stute, 625 S.W.2d

¢ $R23). Bocause the court focused on Simpson’s

4 G e, f

“tactical decisions” and trial strategy. it appears (o bave
concluded that Simpson’s performance was not deficient.
And with respect to the mental-health expert ineffective-

A8yl

stance-ol=counse! claini, it held as tollows:

The wial court concluded ... that even if defense counsel
had initiated the mental health evaluations carlier. there
was no proof that a more favorable
heen

report would have
obtained. We lind no evidence fto preponderate
the record reflects that

against that (inding. Morcover,

counse! presented evidence through lay witaesses that was

remarkably similar o the information provided by Dr,

Auble. Appeitant’s counsel were not ineffective on this
fsste,

it B33, Be court focused on the

tealth experts would have

cause the cifect mental-

had on the defense, and not
whether Simpson’s failuee o retain those experts hurt
KNing's defense. it appears o have concluded that Simpsen’s
performance. regardless of its deficiency. did not prejudice
bing, Nevertheless, we will analyze the deficiency prong
of King's intoxication defense jneffective-assistance claim
and the prejudice prong of King's mental-heallh-expert

inellective-assistance ¢lam de novo “because. even under

that more liberal standard of review, we conclude (hal his

counsel was not deficteni.” See Davis v Lafler. 638 .34 325,
337 {eth Cie 2001) (en bane).
i, Intoxication Defense
4 Fhomsei Rewters. No elahn (9 ang

King argues that his trial counsel was ineftective during (he
guilt phase of King’s trial ior fuiling to present evidence
that King was severely intoxicated when he murdered Simith.

Appellant’s Broat 249 That evidence.

King contends, wonld
have shown that King lacked the capacily Yo form the specific
intent for first-degrce murder.” 7oL at 3 1
As stated above, we review the deficiency prong of this claim
de nova.

see id at 29 (same).

Determining whether an attorney”

s representation “fell helow

an objective standard of reasonableness”™ requires a courl
T Strickland, 466 UL, @

“No particular set of detailed rules

o comsider “all the circumstiances.
68788, 104 SO 2082,
for counsel’s conduct can satisfactorily take account of the
variety of circumstances {aced by defense counsel or the
range of legitimate decisions regarding how besl Lo represent
a criminal delendant.” /7 at 688890 104 & v 2052, In
[ udicial serutiny of counsel’s pca'forlnancc nust
be highly delerential ™ 17 al 689 104 5.C1 2052, In light off
this standard and the manney in which the triai anfeided, we

addition. ™

conclude that Simpson’s representation did vot fall below an
objective standard of reasonableness.

Simpson's  view  that  Carter™s  testimuony  was  Uvery
devastaling”™
797
with a slapstick, “rolled fher} hair up in the car window,” and
“beat {herl around [her] face and neck.”™ TT Vol XT at 279.
281--82 (Appellant’s App > ui 96, 98-99) Carter Test) Her
testimony that King asked her “how it felt 1o be dying
thai the next woman he killed hie would know how she felt”
could be seen as an ominous 1¢

(Appeliant’s

is wholly supported by the circunistainces ol the

sase. Carter testificd that King steuck her unconscious

50

lerence to Siith. See id ut 279
App'x at 96) (Carter fest,).
considered potting Carter’s

Finallv. that King
body-—-and actually put Smith's
body---in a quarry demonstrates a premeditation common to

both attacks that could frustraic an intoxication defense. See

TT Vol IX at 92 {Davenport Test. Sexton Statement). TT Vol
Xt 103 {Davenport Test. King Statement): 1T Vol XTI at

280 (Appeltlunt’s App™s at 97 (Carter Fest).

Yet another reason for Sinpson to abandon the intoxication
defense sas that King “apparently™ was sober when bie
PCT Vol TV ai 400 (Appellani’s 2d Supp.

App’x at 768) (Simpson Test)

attacked Carler.

. I King appeared 1o be

sober when he attacked Carter. an alveady “shim™ intoxication
defense. id would become even slimmuier. King  argues

that Simpson had an inaccurate understanding ol Carter’s
watimony when Simpson stated that King assaulted Carter

“apparently when he was sober™ See fdl Tn teath, i was the
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Tennessee Supreme Court, but ot necessarily Simpson, that
had an inaccurate understanding of Carter’s testimony. The
record does ot supporl that court’s conclusion {hat “Ms.
Carter testitied that the uppellant was sober when he atlacked
her with the slapstick”™ beeause Carier did not specilically
state whether King was sobuen See King, Y89 SW.2d at 331,
Cruciatly. however, Simpson never claimed that Carter stuted
that Kinig was sober: Simpson said that King ~apparently”
was spber. See PCT Vol TV at 400 (Appellant’s 2d Supp.
App'x at 768} (Simpson Test.). Tone, mannerisms, and the
like are impossible w0 discern from the cold record before
us, so we will not second-guess Simpson’s conclusion on
what was “apparenth ™ so in Carter’s testimony. Therefore,
and in Hght of Cavier’s estimony, it was riot nareasonahle
for Simpsoa to yet “out of |the guilt] phase as gquick as we
7 See PCT
Vil Voal 461 {Appellant’s 2d Supp. App™s a1 771) (Simpson
Testy. Accordingly. Ring has failed 1o demonstrate deficient

could and focus the jury on our side of the cas

performance of his trial counsel. snd we AFFIRM the
Judament of e district couit on this ineflective-assistance-

ol-counsel claim,

I Mental-Health Expert
Eing next argues that his counsel was constitutionally
meffevtive gt the pguilt and penalty phases for failing w
investigate King's mental health on o timely basis and w0
ublin cypert assisiance concerning the same. Specifically,
King focuses on his attorney’s allegedly untimely retention
of Dit Gebrow. As discussed above, we review the deficient
performance prong de novo because the state court did not
addiess this prong, We also review the prejudice proiig de

novo because even under that more liberal standard of

review. we conclude that his counsel was not Jinelfective].”
Sev Davis. 638 1.3d at 537,

There is no question that Simpson’s delay in retaining Dr
Gebrow (il helow un objective standard of reasonableness.
“Anaitorney’s ighoraince of a pointof law that is fundamental
Lo his case combined with his failure to performn basic rescarch
on that point is a quintessential example of unreasonable
5.
— 134 8.0 1081, 1088-89, 188 1.13d.2d 1 {2014) (citing
w layler, 528 US. 362, 595, 120 SL.
(46 © FA2d 389 (20005). Section 40-14-207 of the

Fennessee Code, which has not been anmended sinee the dme

performance under Strickland.” Tinton v. Sabapa, —

of King's trial, states in relevant part,

In capitat cases where e defendant has been found to

be indigent by the court of record having jurisdiction of

the case. the court in an vx purre bearing nmay. in its
discretion. deterrgine that investigative or expert services
oc other similar services are necessary (0 ensure hat
the constitutional rights of the defendant are properly
protected.
lemn, Code Aan, § 40-14-207(b) (West 2002). At a hearing
on King's state petition for post=conviction reliell trial
counsel stated that he “was vnaware of” his ability to obtain
slate funds in order to hive an expert for King under this
section. PCT Vol V at 424 (Appellant’s 2d Supp. App™x at
7941 (Simpson Test), He also indicated that he waited 10
receive private funds before retaining Dr Gebrow because
he was vnaware of this section. /& at 425 (Appellant’s 2d
supp. App x at 793) (Sumpson Test,), King was charged with
first=degree murder: his mental state at the thme he killed
Smith was a eritical facior in the jury's delermination that
he was guilty and that he deserved a death sentence. Such
an “inexcusable misiake of Jaw-—the unreasonable failure
to undersiand the resources that state law made availlabke

to him™ constitutes deficient performance. See Hinron

S.Cr at 1089, Nevertheless. because King bas not s

own that
he was prejudiced by this deficient performance, he has not

demonstraled inelfective assistance of counsel,

Even reviewing the prejudice prong de nove, we conclude
that habeas reliet is not warranted. Fundamentally, King has
not shown. with the cvidence properly available to us on
federal babeas review, that the tmely retention of a mental
expert would have produced any evidence ditlerent 1ront
what was already available al the time ol trial. Dr. Gebrow
testified av a hearing on King's motion to continue the irial
that “with the history ol gusoline inhalation that there might
be a generalized diffused type of bruin damape™ and (hat
“[v]ou could alse Tind, possibly. some tocal point of hrain
damage.” TT Vol VIT at 644 (Gebrow Test.). He stated.
“That is the reason that 1 requested or vecommiended that an

clectrvencephalogram and psy chiviogical westing by done.”™ /.
To support his argument that bis trial counse! should have
obtained a mental expert earlicr, King introduced Dr. Aublc
during post-conviction proceedings. Shntilaely to Br. Gebrow.
she testitied. " The psychological testing that T have done and
that has been done-—-the evaluation by De Gebrow that was
done prior both raise the question oi potential brain damage.
Fhis issue still needs w be explored, is not vet conclusive.
but is 1 possibie thing that could he explored.” PCT Vol 11 at
148 (Appelunt’s 2d Supp. App's at 512y {Auble Test). she
also acknowledged thal an clectroencephalogrum had been
performed on King that showed negalive results. but that i
stll had not been determined whetber there was evidence
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of vreanic brain syndrome, fd at 167-68 (Appellant’s 2d
Supp. App’x ai $32-33) tAuble Test). Bascd on D, Auble’s
nearly identical uncertainty regarding whether King had brain
damage, King has not shown that “jijimely securing the
services of an experl would have provided counsel with an
expert opinion that related the impact of intoxication and
brain damage on King’s judgment und behavior at the lime of
the erime and King’s ability to form specifie intent for firse-
depree murder,” Appellant’s Broat 75, let alone whether there
would be a reasonable probability of a difterent outcome, See
Strichdand. 466 1S, at 695-96, 104 S.Ct 2052, Therefore,
King hasnot shown that he was 799 prejudiced by the delay
n retaining o nenlal-healih expert.

Fo be sure. the {ndings of the mental-health experts on federal
habeas review are wroubling, Although the experts presented

af ial and during siate post—conviction proceedings were

able definitively 1o deterimine whether King had brain

dwringe. e now know that Kmg “sutfers from brain damage

which 8 ne {ault of his own” Merikangas Report ot 4
(Appeilants App’s at 49y, Unforunately for King, AEDPA
does not permit us to consider this evidence, Secton 2254(e)
{2y controls the admissibility of cvidence on federal hahcas

res low:

I tiie applicant has (arled to develop the favwal basis of'a
claim in State court proceedings, ihe court shali not hold an
cvidentiary hiearing on the ctaimunless the applicant shows
that-—-

£A) the claim relics og-—

{i} a new rule of consiitntional law, made retroactive
to cases on collateral review by the Supreme Court,

that was previously unavailable; or

(1) 2 factual predicate that could not have been
previousty discovered through ihe exercise of duce

diligenee: and

(B the facts underlying the claim would be sufficient to
establish by clear and convincing cvidence that but for
constitutional error. no reasonable factfinder would have

found e applicant guilty of the undetlying olfense,

Footnotes

28 UKL § 2254¢)2). This provision controls even if the
petitioner secks reliet based on new evidence without an
evidentiary hearing. See Foliand v Juckson, 542 1.8, 649,
653. 124 K.CL 2736, 159 L.EA2d 6831 2004).°

prisoners may sometimes submit new evidence in federal

‘Although stale

court, ACDPA’s stalutory scheme is designed Lo strongly
discourage them from doing so. Provisions like §§ 2234{(d)
(1) and £2X2) ensure that “[fledera) courets sitting 10 habeas
are not an alternative forum for trying [acts and

ssues
which a prisener made tnsufticient efforl v pursue 10 stute
proceedings.” ” Finkolster, 563 UK, al 186, 131 S0 13388
{citation onited).

The mentai-heaith experts w whom King points at this Jale

2

tage cannot be considered because thev could have been

)
discovered through the exercise of due diligence of post

conviclion counsel. See Roboris v Dreie, 336 F.3d 032, 641
(Fih Cir, 2004) ("Seeking and presenting muedical records

and affidavits from lamily members svatlabie ut the tirse

of the state habeas hearing is within the exercise of due
diligenee.”). Fach of the medical reports presented for the
first time on federal habeas teview necessarily relies on
uiformation that was available at the lime ol post—conviction
review: they draw conclusions on King's mental healih al the
tume of the crime. Indeed, that King was able w obtain the
medical report from D Auble during state posi—conviction
proceedings demonstrites that lic could have obtained expert
opurions at that time. Thercfore, with the evidence that can
be considered en tederal habeas review. we conclude that
King has not shown that he was prejudiced by wial counsel’s
deficient performance, und haheas veliel is unwarranied. See
Strickicnd, 466 U8, at 687, 104 § Oy 2052,

i3, CONCLUSION

For the oregoing reasons. we AFFIRM the Judgment of the
district court.

Al Citations

847 ¥.3d 788

1 Although Childers's name is spelled "Childress” in the trial court franseript, see, e.g.. TT Vol. iIXat 51 (Childers Test.), King
explaing in his brief that his name is actually spelled “Childers.” See Appellant's Br. at 10 0.3, Because the Government
and previous courts have also speiled his name "Childers,” see, e.g., Appelles’s Br. al 11; State v. King, 718 S.W.2d
281, 243 {Tenn. 1886); King v. Slale. 989 S.W.2d 319, 330 (Tenn. 1999); bul see King v. Bell, Nu. 3:99—0v-454, 2011
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King v. Wasthrooks, 847 F.3d 788 (20417}

WL 3566843, at *1 n.4 (E.D. Tenn. Aug. 12, 2011); King v. State, No. 03C01-8601-CR-00024, 1997 WL 416389, at *8
{Tenn. Crim. App. July 14, 1997), we use this spelling throughout this opinion.

b Dr. Auble testified on September 26, 1994. PCT Vol. | at i (Appellant's 2d Supp. App'x at 360). In a report she prepared
prior 1o testifying, Dr. Auble wrote, "Mr. King was evaluated by Dr. Gary Solomon on August 16-17, 1990 at the request
of Dr. Michael Kaminski. Apparently, Dr. Kaminski had seen Mr. King for a neurological evaluation for severe headaches
and episodic loss of balance. | do not have Dr. Kaminski's report.” Auble Report at 5 (Appeilant's App'x at 40). However,
later in her testimony, she stated that she had access 1o Dr. Kaminski's report. PCT Vol. | at 100 {Appellant's 2d Supp.
App'x at 463). At oral argument for the inslant proceedings, counsel was unable to clarify whether Dr. Auble reviewed
Dr. Kaminski’'s report. it appears from her 1994 testimony that Dr. Auble reviewed Dr. Kaminski's report between wriling
her report and testifying al the post-conviction proceedings.

& 2021 Thomson Reulers. No claim 10 gl

Governm
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Case: 13-6387 Document: 106-2  Filed: 04/18/2017 Page: 1

Case No. 13-6387

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT

ORDER
TERRY LYNN KING
Petitioner - Appellant
V.
BRUCE WESTBROOKS. Warden

Respondent - Appellee.

Upon consideration of the appellant’s motion to hold the above-styled appeal in abeyance
pending exhaustion of the appellant’s newly-reopened state post-conviction proceeding,

It is ORDERED that the motion is hereby GRANTED. All briefing is stopped until further
notice. The appellant is fo tile a status report every 30 days. The first status report is due

May 18, 2617,

ENTERED BY ORDER OF THE COURT
Deborah S. Hunt, Clerk

Issued: April 18, 2017 Ms b if:;g
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(ORDER LIST: 594 U.S.)
MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021
ORDER

I'T IS ORDERED that the Court’s orders of March 19, 2020 and April 15, 2020
relating te COVID-19 are rescinded, subject to the clarifications set forth below.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that. in any case in which the relevant lower court
judgment. order denying discretionary review, or ovder denving a timely petition for
rehearing was issued prior to July 19, 2021, the deadline to file a petition for a writ of
certiorar: remains extended to 150 days from the date of that judgment or order. In any
case in which the relevant lower court judgment. order denying discretionary review, or
order denying a timely petition for rehearing was issued on or after July 19, 2021, the
deadline to file a petition for a writ of certiorari is as provided by Rule 13.

I'T IS FURTHER ORDERED that the requirement of Rule 33.1 that 40 copies of
documents be submitted in booklet format will go back into effect as to covered documents
filed on or after September 1, 2021. For submissions pursuant to Rule 33.2, the
requirement of Rule 39 that an original and 10 copies be submitted. where applicable. will
also go hack into effect as to covered documents filed on or after September 1, 2021. The
authorization to file a single copy of certain documents on 8% x 11 inch paper, as set forth
in the Court’s April 15, 2020 order, will remain in effect only as to documents filed before
September 1, 2021.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the following types of documents should not be
filed in paper form if they are submitted through the Court’s electronic filing system:

(1) motions for an extension of time under Rule 30.4; (2) waivers of the right to respond to a
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petition under Rule 15.5; and (3) blanket consents to the filing of amicus briefs under

Rules 37.2(a) and 37.3(a). Notwithstanding Rule 34.6 and paragraph 9 of the Guidelines for
the Submission of Documents to the Supreme Court's Electronic Filing System, these
enumerated filings should be filed electronically in cases governed by Rule 34.6, although

other types of documents in those cases should be filed in paper form only.
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Nichols v. State, Slip Copy (2019)
2019 WL 5079357 T

2019 WL 5079357
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

SEE RULE 19 OF THE RULES OF THE
COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS RELATING
TO PUBLICATION OF OPINIONS AND
CITATION OF UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS.

Court of Criminal Appeals of Tennessee,
AT KNOXVILLE.

Harold Wayne NICHOLS
V.
STATE of Tennessee

No. E2018-00626-CCA-R3-PD
March 26, 2l019 Session
Filed 10/|1o/2019
Application for Pelrmission to Appeal
Denied by Supreme Court January 15, 2020

Appeal from the Criminal Court for Hamilton County,
No. 205863, Don R. Ash, Senior Judge

Attorneys and Law Firms

Deborah Y. Drew, Deputy Post-Conviction Defender;
Andrew 1., Haris, Assistant Post-Conviction Defender,
Nashville, Tennessee, for the appellant, Harold Wayne
Nichols.

Herbert H. Slatery IT1, Attorney General and Reporter;
Nicholas W. Spangler, Senior Assistant Attorney General;
Neal Pinkston, District Attorney General; and Crystle
Carrion, Assistant District Attorney General, for the appeliee,
State of Tennessee.

Timothy L. Easter, J., delivered the opinion of the court, in

which Norma McGee Ogle and Camille R. McMullen, JJ.,
joined.

OPINION

Timothy L. Easter, J.

WESTLAW ©

Petitioner, Harold Wayne Nichols, pled guilty to first degree
murder in 1990. A jury imposed the death penalty. In June
of 2016, Petitioner moved to reopen his post-conviction
petition on the basis that the Supreme Court's decision
in Johmson v. United States, — U.8. ——, 135 S. CL
2551, 192 L.Ed.2d 569 (2015), announced a new rule
of constitutional law requiring retroactive application. The
post-conviction court granted the motion to reopen, but
after Petitioner amended his petition and asserted additional
claims, the post-conviction court denied relief without a
hearing. On appeal, Petitioner argues (1) that the sole
aggravating circumstance supporting his death sentence is
unconstitutionally vague under Johnson; (2) that a judge,
rather than a jury, determined facts in imposing the death
penalty in violation of Hurst v. Florida, — U.S, ——,
136 8. Ct. 616, 193 1.¥d.2d 504 (2016), a new rule of
constitutional law requiring retroactive application; (3) that
the State committed prosecutorial misconduct at Petitioner's
sentencing hearing, along with a related ineffective assistance
of trial counsel claim; (4) that the post-conviction court
erred in canceling the scheduled evidentiary hearing without
notice and a fair opportunity to be heard; (5) that the
post-conviction court erred in denying the parties' proposed
settlement agreement to vacate the death sentence and enter a
judgment of life imprisonment; and (6) that Petitioner's death
sentence is invalid due to the cumulative effect of the asserted
errors. Following our review, we affirm the judgment of thé
post-conviction court.

Factual and Procedural Background

*1 On May 9, 1990, Petitioner pled guilty to first degree

felony murder, aggravated rape, and first degree burglary
with his sentence to be determined by a jury. The Tennessee
Supreme Court summarized the evidence presented at the
sentencing hearing as follows:

The proof showed that on the night of September 30, 1988,
[Petitioner] broke into the house where the 21-year-old-
victim, Karen Pulley, lived with two roommates in the
Brainerd area of Chattanooga, Tennessee. After finding
Pulley home alone in her upstairs bedroom, [Petitioner]
tore her undergarments from her and violently raped her.
Because of her resistance during the rape, he forcibly
struck her at least twice in the head with a two-by-four
he had picked up after entering the house. After the rape,
[Petitioner], while still struggling with the victim, struck
her again several times with great force in the head with

5 Government Works 1
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the two-by-four. The next morning, one of Karen Pulley's
roommates discovered her alive and lying in a pool of blood
on the floor next to her bed. Pulley died the next day. Three
months after the rape and murder, a Chattanooga police
detective questioned [Petitioner] about Pulley's murder
while he was in the custody of the East Ridge police
department on unrelated charges. It was at this point
that [Petitioner] confessed to the crime. This videotaped
confession provided the only link between [Petitioner] and
the Pulley rape and murder.

The evidence showed that, until his arrest in January
1989, [Petitioner] roamed the city at night and, when
“energized,” relentlessly searched for vulnerable female
victims, At the time of trial, [Petitioner] had been
convicted on five charges of aggravated rape involving four
other Chattanooga women. These rapes had occurred in
December 1988 and January 1989, within three months
after Pulley's rape and murder ....
Stare v. Nichols, 877 S.W.2d 722, 726 ( Tenn. 1994) (footnotes
omitted), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1114, 115 S.Ct. 909, 130
L.Ed.2d 791 (1993). In three of those prior rapes, Petitioner
had been armed with a weapon (a cord, a knife, and a pistol,

respectively), and he caused personal injury to the victim in
the fourth. Jd.

In support of the death penalty, the State relied upon two
aggravating circumstances: (1) that Petitioner had one or
more prior convictions for violent felonies, namely the
five convictions for aggravated rape, and (2) that the
murder occurred during the commission of a felony. See
T.C.A. § 39-2-203(1)(2) & (7). The jury imposed the death
penalty after finding both aggravating circumstances were
proven beyond a reasonable doubt and that the aggravating
circumstances outweighed any mitigating circumstances

beyond a reasonable doubt.! On direct appeal, the Tennessce
Supreme Court concluded, among other issues, that the
application of the felony murder aggravating circumstance
was harmless error and affirmed Petitioner's convictions and
death sentence. 7d. at 738-39.

*2  On April 20, 1995, Petitioner filed a petition for
post-conviction relief, raising multiple claims of ineffective
assistance of trial counsel. Following an extensive evidentiary
hearing spanning eight days, the post-conviction court upheld

Pelitioner's convictions and death sentence.” On appeal to
this Court, we held that the trial court erred in allowing
Petitioner to assert his right against self-incrimination at
the post-conviction hearing but affirmed the post-conviction
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court's denial of relief. HHurold Wavne Nichols v. State.
E1998-00562-CCA-R3-PD, 2001 WL, 55747 {Tenn. Crim.
App. Jan. 19, 2001). The Tennessee Supreme Court held that
this Court should not have addressed the self-inctimination
issue but affirmed the post-conviction court's denial of relief.
Nichols v. Stare. 90 S.W.3d 576 (Tenn. 2002). Petitioner
was subsequently unsuccesstul in his attempt to seck federal
habeas corpus relief. See Nichols v. Ileidle, 725 F.3d 516 (6th
Cir. 2013), cert. denied, — 11.S. —— 135 S. Ct. 704, —
L.Ed.2d (2014).

On June 24, 2016, Petitioner filed a motion to reopen his post-
conviction petition, alleging that Johnson v. United States
announced a new constitutional rule requiring retrospective
application. In Johrson, the United States Supreme Court
held that the “residual clause™ of the Armed Career Criminal
Act (“ACCA™), which defined prior violent felony for
the purpose of sentence enhancement as an offense that
“otherwise involves conduct that presents a serious potential
risk of physical injury to another,” was void for vagueness.
See 135 §. Ct. at 2557-58. Petitioner argued that pursuant
to the ruling in Joanson, Tennessee's prior violent felony
aggravating circumstance - the sole aggravating circumstance
supporting his death sentence — was similarly void for
vagueness. On September 29, 2016, the State filed a response
to the motion to reopen, arguing that the ruling in Jo/myon did
not apply to the language of Tennessee's prior violent felony
aggravator, which was more akin to the “elements clause” of
the ACCA that was held to be constitutional in Jeohnson. See
135 S. Ct. at 2563.

At an October 4, 2016 hearing, the post-conviction court
found that Petitioner had stated a “colorable claim” for
reopening post-conviction proceedings. In its order granting
the motion to reopen, the post-conviction court noted that
Petitioner's case was unusual due to the timing of his offense
and the amendment of the sentencing statutes in 1989,

Even though the pre-1989 statute® should have applied to
Petitioner's case, the jury was actually instructed on the

post-1989 aggravating factor.* The post-conviction court
noted that challenges to the post-1989 aggravating factor
“would likely fail to state a claim in a motion to reopen”
because it specifically referred to the “statutory elements” of
the prior offense, similar to the “elements clause” that was
upheld in JoAnseon. However, the post-conviction court found
that the pre-1989 aggravating factor “contained language
which arguably was similar to the federal statutory clause
recently found unconstitutionally vague in Johnson.” The
post-conviction court stated that its finding that Petitioner's
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motion to reopen stated a colorable claim was based in part
on the “alleged lack of guidance regarding the trial court's
application of the pre-1989 prior violent felony conviction
statutory aggravating circumstance” as well as “upon the
differing conclusions federal and state courts have reached
in applying the Joknson holding to non-ACCA cases.” The
order directed Petitionet's counsel “to investigate all possible
constitutional grounds for relief for the purpose of filing
an amended petition” and that the amended petition should
address “any additional issues counsel deems necessary.”

*3 On January 12, 2017, Petitioner filed an amendment
to the post-conviction petition reasserting the Johunson claim
as well as adding the following additional claims: (1) that
Petitioner's death sentence was invalid under the United
States Supreme Court's decision in Hursr v. Florida, a new
rule of constitutional law requiring retrospective application,
because a judge made findings of fact rather than the jury;
(2) that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct during
closing argument at the sentencing hearing by alluding to the
possibility of Petitioner's release if the death penalty were
not imposed as well as a related claim that trial counsel were
ineffective for failing to object to the argument and failing
to interview jurors regarding the effect of the argument; (3)
that Tennessee's death penalty system is “broken”; and (4)
that Petitioner's constitutional rights were abridged by the
cumulative eftect of the errors.

During a December 8, 2017 teleconference with the post-
conviction court, the parties announced that they were
engaged in settlement negotiations to modify Petitioner's
sentence to life imprisonment. At a January 31, 2018 hearing,
Petitioner argued that the State could concede that error
had occurred in the imposition of the death sentence and
could modify the sentence to life imprisonment. The District
Attorney General responded that the State was prepared
to concede error and enter into an agreement whereby
Petitioner's sentence would be modified and his petition
withdrawn. The post-conviction court, concerned that a basis
to grant post-conviction relief had not been established,
opined that a valid basis for post-conviction relief had
to be found as a prerequisite to the parties entering a
settlement agreement modifying the sentence. The post-
conviction court, however, permitted the parties to submit
additional authority concerning the propriety of the settlement
agreement and rescheduled the hearing for March 14, 2018.
On February 12, 2018, the Petitioner filed a motion to approve
the settlement agreement, citing similar agreements in other
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death penalty cases and Petitioner's record of good behavior
while incarcerated.

On March 7, 2018, one week prior to the rescheduled hearing,
the post-conviction court entered an order summarily denying
relief. The post-conviction court stated that it had “reviewed
the pleadings of the parties, the record, and applicable law”
in accordance with the provisions of the Post-Conviction
Procedure Act. The post-conviction court noted that at the
time it granted the motion to reopen on the basis that
Petitioner had stated a colorable claim, no appellate court
had determined whether Johsson applied to Tennessee's prior
violent felony aggravator. Since then, the Court of Criminal
Appeals had rejected such a claim. See Donnie E. Johnson v.
State, No. W2017-00848-CCA-R28-PD, Order (Tenn. Crim.
App. Sept. 11,2017), perm. app. denied (Tenn. Jan. 19,2018).
The post-conviction court concluded that based on the Donnie
E. Johnson decision, “this issue is appropriate for disposition
without a hearing.” As to the additional claims raised in
the amended petition, the post-conviction court concluded
based on its preliminary review that Furst did not announce
a new rule of constitutional law that required retrospective
application and was inapplicable to this case and that the
remaining claims were previously determined, waived, and/or
time-barred. Finally, the post-conviction court concluded that
it was “not appropriate to accept ... [the] proposed settlement
agreement under the circumstances of this case where there
is no claim for post-conviction relief before this Court which
should survive this Court's statutorily required preliminary
order.” On April 6, 2018, Petitioner filed a notice of appeal
pursuant to Rule 3 of the Tennessce Rules of Appellate
Procedure.

Analysis

In Case v Nebraska, 381 U.S. 336. 85 S.Ct. 1486, 14
L.Ed.2d 422 (1965), the United States Supreme Court
recommended that the states implement post-conviction
procedures to address alleged constitutional errors arising
in state convictions in order to divert the burden of habeas
corpus ligation in the federal courts. In response, the
Tennessee legislature passed the Post-Conviction Procedure
Act whereby a defendant may seek relief “when a conviction
or sentence is void or voidable because of the abridgement
of any right guaranteed by the Constitution of Tennessce or
the Constitution of the United States.” T.C.A. § 40-30-103.
In its current ideation, the Post-Conviction Procedure Act
“contemplates the filing of only one (1) petition for post-
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conviction relief. In no event may more than one (1)
petition for post-conviction relief be filed attacking a single
judgment.” T.C.A. § 40-30-102(c). While “any second
or subsequent petition shall be summarily dismissed,” a
petitioner may seek relief on the basis of claims that arise
after the disposition of the initial petition by filing a motion
to reopen the post-conviction proceedings “under the limited
circumstances set out in § 40-30-117.” Id.; see Fletcher v.
State, 951 S,W.2d 378. 380 (Tenn. 1997).

*4 A motion to reopen post-conviction proceedings should
be granted only under the following circumstances:

(1) The claim in the motion is based upon a final ruling
of an appellate court establishing a constitutional right
that was not recognized as existing at the time of trial,
if retrospective application of that right is required. The
motion must be filed within one (1) year of the ruling
of the highest state appellate court or the United States
supreme court establishing a constitutional right that was
not recognized as existing at the time of trial; or

(2) The claim in the motion is based upon new scientific
evidence establishing that the petitioner is actually innocent
of the offense or offenses for which the petitioner was
convicted; or

(3) The claim asserted in the motion seeks relief from
a sentence that was enhanced because of a previous
conviction and the conviction in the case in which the claim
is asserted was not a guilty plea with an agreed sentence,
and the previous conviction has subsequently been held to
be invalid, in which case the motion must be filed within
one (1) year of the finality of the ruling holding the previous
conviction to be invalid; and

(4) It appears that the facts underlying the claim, if true,
would establish by clear and convincing evidence that the
petitioner is entitled to have the conviction set aside or the
sentence reduced.
T.C.A. § 40-30-117(a). The motion should set out the factual
basis underlying the claim, supported by affidavit. T.C.A.
§ 40-30-117(b). Once the post-conviction court grants the

motion to reopen,5 “the procedure, relief and appellate
provisions of this part shall apply.” Id.; see T.C.A. §
40-30-101 (“This part shall be known and may be referred
to as the ‘Post-Conviction Procedure Act.” *). The appellate
provisions of the Post-Conviction Procedure Act allow for
an appeal as of right under Tennessee Rule of Appellate
Procedure 3(b) from a final order granting or denying post-
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conviction reliet. T.C.A. § 40-30-116; Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 28. §

IO(A).6 We review the lower court's summary denial of post-
conviction relief de novo. A4rnold v. State. 143 S.W.3d 784,
786 (Tenn. 20604,

I Johnson Claim

*5 In Johnson, the Supreme Court held that the “residual
clause” contained in the definition of a violent felony under
the ACCA was unconstitutionally vague. Johnson, 135 S. CL.
at 2557. The ACCA increases the punishment of a defendant
convicted of being a felon in possession of a firearm if he has
three or more previous convictions for a violent felony. 18
11.S.C. § 924(e)(1). The ACCA defined a “violent felony” as

any crime punishable by imprisonment for a term
exceeding one year ... that — (i) has as an element the use,
attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against
the person of another, or (ii) is burglary, arson, or extortion,
involves use of explosives, or otherwise involves conduct
that presents a serious potential risk of physical injury to
another:
18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B) (emphasis added). The “otherwise
involves conduct” language is known as the ACCA's residual
clause. Johnson, 135 §. Ct. at 2556. The Court observed
that “unlike the part of the definition of a violent felony
that asks whether the crime ‘has as an element the use of ...
physical force,” the residual clause asks whether the crime
‘involves conduct’ that presents too much risk of physical
injury.” /d. a1 2557 (emphasis in original). Because of prior
precedent holding that the statute required a categorical rather
than a fact-specific approach, federal courts were required
“to picture the kind of conduct that the crime involves in
‘the ordinary case,” and to judge whether that abstraction
presents a serious potential risk of physical injury.” /4 (citing
James v. United States, S50 ULS. 192, 208, 127 S.Ct. 1586.
167 L.Ed.2d 532 (2007)). The Supreme Court determined
this judicial assessment of risk under the residual clause,
which was not tied to either real-world facts or statutory
elements, was unconstitutionally vague because it “leaves
grave uncertainty about how to estimate the risk posed by
a crime” and “about how much risk it takes for a crime
to qualify as a violent felony.” Jd. at 2537-38. However,
the Court clarified that its decision “does not call into the
question ... the remainder of the [ACCA]'s definition of a
violent felony.” Id. al 2563. Thus, the elements clause of
the ACCA's violent felony definition survived constitutional
scrutiny. See Stokeling v. United States. U.S. ——, 139 8.
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Ct. 544, 550, 202 L..Ed.2d 512 (2019) (applying the elements
clause to Florida's robbery statute).

While the concept of a statute being unconstitutionally void
for vagueness is not new, see, e.g., Mavnard v. Cartwright.
486 U.S. 356, 108 S.Ct. 1853, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988)
(holding a statutory aggravating factor void for vagueness),
the Supreme Court subsequently clarified that Johnson did
announce a new substantive rule which applied retroactively
on collateral review. Welch v. United States. — U.S. ;
136 S. Ct. 1257, 1265, 194 [..Ed.2d 387 (2016) (applying the
retroactivity standard set out in 7eague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288,
109 S.Ct. 10660, 103 L.Ed.2d 334 (1989), and its progeny);
¢f Van Tran v. State, 66 SSW3d 790. 810-11 (Tenn. 2001)
(applying the 7zague retroactivity standard to a motion to
reopen). The Court explained that the residual clause was
deemed void for vagueness because “courts were to determine
whether a crime involved a “serious potential risk of physical
injury’ by considering not the defendant's actual conduct
but an ‘idealized ordinary case of the crime.” ” 7d at 1262
(quoting Jolinson, 135 S. Ct. at 2561). In applying Johnson
to other federal statutes similarly defining violent felony,
the Supreme Court held that “the imposition of criminal
punishment can't be made to depend on a judge's estimation of
the degree of risk posed by a crime's imagined ‘ordinary case.’
” United States v Davis, — 1.8, ——, 139 S. Ct. 2319,
2326. 204 L.Ed.2d 757 (2019). However, “a case-specific
approach would avoid the vagueness problems that doomed
the statute[ | in Johwnson[.]” Id. at 2327.

*6 The aggravating circumstance applicable at the time
Petitioner committed his crime provides that “[t]he defendant
was previously convicted of one or more felonies, other
than the present charge, which involve the use or threat of
violence to the person.” T.C.A. § 39-13-204(1)(2) (1988).
However, as noted by the post-conviction court, the jury
in Petitioner's capital sentencing hearing was instructed on
the post-1989 version of the prior violent felony aggravator,
which looks to whether the “statutory elements [of the prior
conviction] involve the use of violence to the person.” T.C.A.
§ 39-13-204(1)(2) (Supp. 1990). Though Petitioner refers to
his jury as having been “erroneously instructed,” he has never
challenged this instruction as error, see generally Nichols v.
State, 90 SW.3d 576 (Tenn. 2002); Srate v. Nichols, 877
S.W.2d 722 (Tenn. 1994), and he does not do so now. Instead,
Petitioner argues that either version of the prior violent
felony aggravator would be void for vagueness under Johnson
because “the addition of the word “elements’ to the statute did
not significantly alter the meaning of the statute.”
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However, this Court has rejected Johnson claims with respect
to both the pre- and post-1989 statutory language in prior
cases denying permission to appeal from the denial of a
motion to reopen. See Donnie E. Johnson v. State, No.
W2017-00848-CCA-R28-PD, Order (Tenn. Crim. App. Sept.
11, 2017) (upholding pre-1989 apgravating factor), perm.
app. denied (Tenn. Jan. 19, 2018); Gary W. Sutton v. State,
No. E2016-02112-CCA-R28-PD, Order (Tenn. Crim. App.
Jan. 23, 2017) (upholding post-1989 aggravating factor),
perm. app. denied (Tenn. May 18, 2017). This is because
our supreme court has held, that under either version of the
statute, trial courts are to look to the actual facts of the prior
felony to determine the use of violence when such cannot be
determined by the elements of the offense alone. See Siate v
Sims, 45 S W.3d 1. 12 (Tenn. 2001) (holding that under the
post-1989 aggravating factor, a trial court “must necessarily
examine the facts underlying the prior felony if the statutory
elements of that felony may be satisfied either with or without
proof of violence™); State v. Moore. 614 S.W.2d 348, 351
{Tenn. 1981) (holding that the State was required “to show
that there was in fact either violence to another or the threat
thereof” for prior felonies that did not “by their very definition

involve the use or threat of violence to a person”).7 Thus, our
precedent has never required the use of a judicially imagined
ordinary case in applying the prior violent felony aggravating
circumstance. The fact that the federal statues invalidated by
Johnson and its progeny could not be saved by applying a
fact-specific approach due to the language of those statutes
and the precedent interpreting that language does not mean
that a fact-specific approach is itself unconstitutional. See
Davis. 139 S, CI. at 2327 (recognizing that a case-specific
approach would avoid a vagueness problem but rejecting
it based on “the statute's text, context, and history”); cf
Srate v, Crank. 468 S.W.3d 15. 22-23 (Tenn. 2015) (“In
evaluating a statute for vagueness, courts may consider the
plain meaning of the statutory terms, the legislative history,
and prior judicial interpretations of the statutory language.”).
Thus, regardless of which version of the statute did or should
have applied to Petitioner, Tennessee's prior violent felony
aggravating circumstance is not void for vagueness under
Johnson. Petitioner is not entitled to relief on this claim.

II. Additional Claims and Scope of Amendment

The next question we must determine is the permissible
scope of amendment once a post-conviction court grants a
motion to reopen. Despite directing counsel to “investigate
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all possible constitutional grounds for relief for the purpose
of filing an amended petition” in the order granting the
motion to reopen, the post-conviction court noted that the
additional claims raised in the amended petition were “beyond
the intended scope of the current proceedings”; however,
the post-conviction court addressed all of Petitioner's claims
on the merits. Petitioner contends that because the post-
conviction court granted his motion to reopen, the additional
claims raised in his amended petition are “part of the initial
post-conviction petition proceedings” and are, therefore, not
procedurally defaulted. The State argues that because the
post-conviction court only granted Petitioner's motion to
reopen with respect to the Johnson claim and Petitioner's
additional claims do not qualify under any of the exceptions to
the one-petition rule under Tennessece Code Annotated section
40-30-102(c), the additional claims are procedurally barred.

*7 In Coleman v. Siate, the Tennessee Supreme Court
addressed the procedural limitations of raising claims in a
motion to reopen and subsequent amendments, which include
“the statute of limitations, the restrictions on re-opening
petitions for post-conviction relief once they have been ruled
on, and the prohibition against re-litigating issues that have
been previously determined.” 341 S.W.3d 221, 255 (Tean.
2011). The Post-Conviction Procedure Act “contemplates the
filing of only one (1) petition for post-conviction relief,”
T.C.A. § 40-30-102(¢), which must be done within the one-
year statute of limitations. /d. at (a). The motion to reopen
stands as an exception to the one-petition rule. See id. at
(c) {citing T.C.A. § 40-30-117). The grounds to reopen post-
conviction proceedings correspond with the statutory grounds
for tolling the statute of limitations. T.C.A. §§ 40-30-102(h),
-117(a). Moreover, a claim for relief must not have been
previously determined or it will be summarily dismissed. See
T.C.A. § 40-30-106(f). Failure to overcome these hurdles
results in claims that are procedurally barred. Coleman, 341
S.W.3d at 257-58. Thus, a post-conviction court's grant of
a motion to reopen does not fully place a petitioner back
into the procedural posture of his original post-conviction
proceedings. See id. (holding that ineffective assistance of
counsel claim was procedurally barred even though the post-
conviction court granted motion to reopen with respect to
intellectual disability claim); Corey 4lan Bennettv. State, No.
E2014-01637-CCA-R3-PC. 2015 WL 12978648, at *4 (Tcenn.
Crim. App. June 29, 2015) (“The only way in which the
petitioner may reach back to his original petition is through
a motion to reopen the original petition, and, even then, only
the new issues raised will be addressed.”), perm. app. denied
(Tenn. Nov. 24, 2015).

A. Hurst Claim

Petitioner argues that the United States Supreme Court's
decision in Hursi v. Florida is a new rule of constitutional
law requiring retrospective application, which, if true, would
bring this claim under an exception to the one-year statute

of limitations and the one-petition rule.d See T.C.A. N
40-30-102(b)(D), -117(a)(1). In FHwsst, the United States
Supreme Court held that “[t]he Sixth Amendment requires
a jury, not a judge, to find each fact necessary to impose a
sentence of death.” 136 S. Ct. at 619. Petitioner argues that
this rule was violated in his case because “the trial judge
made independent factual findings regarding the existence of
the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance necessary
for the imposition of the death penalty.” Petitioner argues
that this rule was further violated when the appellate court,
after striking the felony murder aggravating circumstance,
reweighed the remaining aggravating circumstance against
the mitigation evidence in determining that the error was
harmless. See Nichols, 877 S.W.2d at 737-39. The State
responds that ffurst did not announce a new rule of
constitutional law requiring retrospective application and,
thus, consideration of the issue is procedurally barred.

In order to determine whether an appellate court ruling creates
anew constitutional rule that must be applied retroactively to
cases on collateral review, the Post-Conviction Procedure Act
provides the following guidance:

For purposes of this part, a new rule of constitutional
criminal law is announced if the result is not dictated
by precedent existing at the time the petitioner's
conviction became final and application of the rule was
susceptible to debate among reasonable minds. A new
rule of constitutional criminal law shall not be applied
retroactively in a post-conviction proceeding unless the
new rule places primary, private individual conduct
beyond the power of the criminal law-making authority to
proscribe or requires the observance of fairness safeguards
that are implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.

*8 T.C.A. § 40-30-122. The United States Supreme Court
has stated that “a case announces a new rule when it breaks
new ground or imposes a new obligation on the States or
the Federal Government [or] ... if the result was not dictated
by precedent existing at the time the defendant's conviction
became final.” Teague, 489 U.S. al 301, 109 S.CL. 1060
(citations omitted). The Tennessee Supreme Court has applied
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the Teague retroactivity standard to motions to reopen under
Tennessce Code Annotated section 40-30-117(a)(1). See Tun
Tran. 66 SSW.3d at 810-11.

In Hurst, the United States Supreme Court held that Florida's
capital sentencing scheme was unconstitutional under the
Sixth Amendment because it “required the judge alone to
find the existence of an aggravating circumstance” while the
jury merely provided an advisory sentence without making
any specific findings. 136 S. CL. at 624. In reaching this
conclusion, the Court relied heavily on its previous decisions
in Apprendi v. New Jersev. 530 U.S. 466. 494, 120 S.Ct.
2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000) (holding that any fact that
“expose[s] the defendant to a greater punishment than that
authorized by the jury's guilty verdict” must be submitted to
a jury), and Ring v Arizona, 336 U.S. 584, 604, 122 S.CL
2428. 133 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002) (applying Apprendi to capital
sentencing and the finding of aggravating circumstances). See
Hurst. 136 S. Ct. at 621-22. Specifically, the Court held that
“[t]he analysis the Ring Court applied to Arizona's sentencing
scheme applies equally to Florida's [because I]ike Arizona at
the time of Ring, Florida does not require the jury to make
the critical findings necessary to impose the death penalty.”
1d. Thus, “[i]n light of Ring, we hold that Hurst's sentence
violates the Sixth Amendment.” 74, at 622.

Hurst is clearly derivative of .dpprendi and Ring; it did
not expand upon their holdings or otherwise break new
ground. The fact that the Hurst Court expressly overruled
pre-Apprendi cases upholding Florida's capital sentencing
scheme does not mean that the decision was not dictated by
precedent or was susceptible to reasonable debate; those cases
were overruled precisely because they were irreconcilable
with Adpprendi. See Hurst. 136 S. Ct. at 623 (overruling
Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638. 109 S.Ct. 2055. 104
L.Ed.2d 728 (1989) and Spaziuno v. Florida, 468 U.S.
447, 104 S.CL 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984)). The United
States Supreme Court has previously held that its decision
in Ring “announced a new procedural rule that does not
apply retroactively to cases already final under direct review,”
Schriro v. Summerfin, 542 1.8, 348, 358. 124 S.Ct. 2519,
159 L.Ed.2d 442 (2004) (emphasis added), even though it
too overruled a pre-Apprendi case. See Ring, 536 U.S. at
603, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (overruling Walton v. Arizona. 497 U.S.
639. 110 S.Ct. 3047, 111 1..Ed.2d 511 (1990)). Moreover,
this Court has held that neither Ring nor Apprendi required
retrospective application to cases on collateral review. See,
e.g., Anthony Darrell Hines v. State. No. M2004-01610-CCA-
RM-PD, 2004 WL 1567120, at *37 (Tean. Crim. App. July
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14, 2004), perm. app. denied (Tenn. Nov. 29, 2004). Thus,
it follows that Hurst likewise does not require retrospective
application. This Court has consistently held as such in
previous cases denying permission to appeal from the denial
of a motion to reopen raising a Hurst claim. See, e.g., Charles
Ricev. State, No. W2017-01719-CCA-R28-PD, Order (Tenn.
Crim. App. Nov. 14, 2017), perm. app. denied (Tenn. Mar. 15,
2018); Dennis Wade Suttles v. State, No. E2017-00840-CCA-
R28-PD, Order {Tenn. Crim. App. Sept. 18, 2017), perm.
app. denied (Tenn. Jan. 18, 2018). Because Hurst did not
announce a new rule of constitutional law that must be applied
retrospectively, this claim is procedurally barred by both the
one-year statute of limitations and the one-petition rule. See

T.C.A. §§ 40-30-102(b), -117(a). Petitioner is not entitled to
relief.

B. Prosecutorial Misconduct and Ineffective Assistance of
Counsel Claims
*9 Petitioner argues that during closing argument at the
capital sentencing hearing, the State committed prosecutorial
misconduct by commenting on the possibility of parole
and Petitioner's future dangerousness if released, thereby
tainting the jury's verdict and rendering his death sentence
unconstitutional. He argues that the majority's conclusion on
direct appeal that the argument did not “prejudicially affect| |
the jury's sentencing determination,” Nichols, 877 S.W.2d at
733, was wrong based on affidavits from jurors indicating that
they voted for death based on the belief that “the State of
Tennessee would never actually execute anyone sentenced to
death” and that “a death sentence served as a de facto life in
prison without the possibility of parole (LWOP) sentence.” In
a closely related argument, Petitioner alleges that trial counsel
were ineffective for failing to object to the improper argument
and for “failing to interview jury members about the State's
closing argument prior to litigating the motion for anew trial.”

Regardless of whether this issue is framed as one of
prosecutorial misconduct or ineffective assistance of counsel,
it has been previously determined. “A ground for relief is
previously determined if a court of competent jurisdiction
has ruled on the merits after a full and fair hearing.” T.C.A.
§ 40-30-106(h). Regardless of whether a petitioner actually
does so, “[a] full and fair hearing has occurred where the
petitioner is afforded the opportunity to call witnesses and
otherwise present evidence[.]” Id.; see also Tenn. Sup. Ct. R,
28. § 2(E). Petitioner raised this exact claim of prosecutorial
misconduct on direct appeal. See Nichols. 877 SSW.2d at
732-33. Additionally, Petitioner raised several claims of
ineffective assistance of trial counsel during his original

g
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post-conviction proceedings. See Nichols. 90 S.W.3d at
587-605. Because ineffective assistance of counsel is a single
ground for relief that may not be relitigated by presenting
additional factual allegations, see Cone v. State, 927 S.W.2d
579, 581-82 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1995), the issue cannot be
relitigated through a motion to reopen after having been
presented in the original post-conviction proceedings. See
Coleman, 341 S.W.3d at 257-58. Because Petitioner's claim of
prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument, as well as
the related claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, cannot
overcome the hurdle of having been previously determined.
consideration of these issues is procedurally barred. T.C.A. §
40-30-1066(5).

Acknowledging the post-conviction court's determination
that these issues were previously determined, Petitioner
argues that due process concerns and the exceptions to the
“law of the case” doctrine overcome the Post-Conviction
Procedure Act's bar on previously determined issues. While
this Court has previously recognized that due process
concerns may ‘“overcome the Act's bar on previously
determined issues in some instances,” William G. Allen v.
State, No. M2009-02151-CCA-R3-PC, 2011 WL 1601587,
at *7 (Tenn. Crim. App. Apr. 26. 2011), perm. app. denied
(Tenn. Aug. 25, 2011), Petitioner has pointed us to no
case where it has successfully been invoked. See id. at *9
(concluding that due process did not require relaxation of the
bar against previously determined issues). As interpreted in
the context of tolling the statute of limitations, due process
requires that petitioners “be provided an opportunity for
the presentation of claims at a meaningful time and in a
meaningtul manner” betfore claims may be terminated for
failure to comply with procedural requirements. See Harris
v. Siate. 301 S.W.3d 141, 145 (Teon. 2010). However,
by their very definition, previously determined issues have
been presented at a “full and fair hearing.” See T.C.A. §
40-30-106(h); Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 28, § 2(E). Even if due
process may be invoked to overcome the bar on previously
determined issues, Petitioner has not alleged how he was
prevented from presenting these claims at a meaningful time
and in a meaningful manner. Cf. Whitehead v. State, 402
S.W.3d 615, 631 (Tenn. 2013) (holding that due process
tolling of the statute of limitations requires a showing of

“some extraordinary circumstance” that prevented timely
filing).

*10 Moreover, the law of the case doctrine prevents the
reconsideration of claims that have been decided in a prior
appeal of the same case. See State v Jefferson, 31 S.W.3d
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538, 560-61 (Tenn. 2000). Although it has been cited in
some opinions by this Court to support a post-conviction
court's refusal to reconsider previously determined issues, the
exceptions to the law of the case doctrine have never been
applied in a post-conviction context. William G. Allen. 2011
WL, 1601587, at *8; see Jefferson, 31 S/ W.3d at 561 (stating
that the limited exceptions to the law of the case doctrine
include substantially different evidence, a clearly erroneous
resulting in manifest injustice, and a change in the controlling
law). Even if the exceptions did apply, Petitioner's claim of
substantially different evidence is based on inadmissible juror
affidavits about the effect of the prosecutor's argument on
their deliberation, which would not justify reconsideration of
the issue. See TTutchison v. Stare. 118 S.W.3d 720, 740-41
(Tenn. Crim. App. 2003) (citing Tenn. R. Evid. 606(b))
(holding post-conviction court's exclusion of juror affidavit
regarding effect missing evidence would have had on verdict
was proper).

Finally, even if Petitioner could overcome the procedural
hurdle of these claims having been previously determined,
they do not fall under one of the exceptions to either
the one-year statute of limitations or the one-petition rule.
See T.C.A. §§ 40-30-102(b), - 117(a). Petitioner's claims
of prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of
counsel are procedurally barred under the Post-Conviction
Procedure Act. Petitioner is not entitled to relief on either
claim.

I Canceling the Evidentiary Hearing

At the conclusion of the January 31, 2018 hearing, the post-
conviction court reset the hearing to March 14, 2018, for
either the entry of the proposed settlement agreement or
an evidentiary hearing on the merits of Petitioner's claims.
However, one week prior to the rescheduled hearing, the post-
conviction court entered its order summarily denying post-
conviction relief on all of Petitioner's claims. On appeal,
Petitioner argues that the post-conviction court violated his
right to due process by failing to provide him with notice and
an opportunity to be heard. The State responds that Petitioner
had multiple opportunitics to be heard and that the Post-
Conviction Procedure Act compelled summary dismissal of a
petition that failed to raise meritorious claims.

The Post-Conviction Procedure Act details the review
process that precedes an evidentiary hearing. First, the post-
conviction court considers the petition itself to determine

S'
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whether it asserts a colorable claim for relief. T.C.A. §
40-30-106(1). A colorable claim is “a claim that, if taken as
true, in the light most favorable to the petitioner, would entitle
petitioner to relief under the Post-Conviction Procedure Act.”
Tenn. Sup. Ct. R, 28. § 2(H). If the facts alleged in the
petition, taken as true, fail to show that the petitioner is
entitled to relief, the petition shall be dismissed. T.C.A. §
40-30-106(f). Additionally, the post-conviction court must
determine whether the petition has been timely filed and
whether any claims for relief have been waived or previously
determined. T.C.A. § 40-30-106(b), (I). If the petition
survives this initial review, the post-conviction court may
afford an indigent pro se petitioner the opportunity to have
counse! appointed and to amend the petition, if necessary.
T.C.A. § 40-30-107(b)(1). The State then has an opportunity
to file a response. T.C.A. § 40-30-108. In the final stage of the
process preceding an evidentiary hearing, the post-conviction
court reviews the entire record, including the petition, the
State's response, and any other files and records before it.
T.C.A. § 46-30-109(a). If, upon reviewing these documents,
the post-conviction court determines conclusively that the
petitioner is not entitled to relief, the petition shall be
dismissed. Id. Thus, “the Post-Conviction Procedure Act
clearly affords the [post-conviction] court the authority to
dismiss a petition without holding an evidentiary hearing,
notwithstanding the fact that the petition may have survived
carlier dismissal.” Burnett v. State. 92 S.W.3d 403, 407 (Tenn,
2002); see also Swanson v. State, 749 S.W.2d 731, 736 (Tenn.
1988) (holding that when a colorable claim for relief has been
presented, a hearing may not be necessary after the petitioner
has had the assistance of counsel to amend the petition, by
which the court may then fully evaluate the merits of the
claim); Andre Benson v. State, No. W2016-02346-CCA-R3-
PC, 2018 WL 486000. at *3 (Tenm. Crim. App. Jan. 19, 2018)
(“A post-conviction court may also dismiss the petition later
in the process but still prior to a hearing ... on the basis that
a petitioner is conclusively not entitled to relief.”), no perm.
app. filed.

*11 In this case, the post-conviction court determined that
Petitioner, who was already represented by counsel. raised
a colorable claim for relief in his motion to reopen and
allowed Petitioner the opportunity to submit an amended
petition. At the January 31, 2018 hearing, the post-conviction
court indicated its concern that Petitioner had not asserted
a meritorious ground for relief and allowed Petitioner the
opportunity to submit supplemental briefing. Thereafter,
the post-conviction court “reviewed the pleadings of the
parties, the record, and applicable law” and determined that

WESTLAW © 2021 Thomson Reut

Petitioner's claims were “appropriate for disposition without a
hearing.” As we have already concluded, the post-conviction
court did not err in denying relief on any of the claims raised
by Petitioner. The Johnson claim was the only one that was
not procedurally barred; because that claim raised only a
question of law and statutory interpretation, there was no need
for an evidentiary hearing. See Sowell v. State. 724 S.W.2d
374.378 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1986) (affirming post-conviction
court's dismissal of petition without a hearing when “[t]he
only valid issue raised was a legal question which has been
decided adversely to defendant's contention by the case law
of this State”). The post-conviction court, despite its eatlier
finding that Petitioner had raised a colorable claim, was
clearly authorized by the Post-Conviction Procedure Act to
dismiss the amended petition without an evidentiary hearing
upon conclusively determining that Petitioner was not entitled
to relief. See Burnetr, 92 S.W.3d at 407; Swanson, 749 S.W.2d
at 736.

1V, Proposed Settlement Agreement

Petitioner argues that the post-conviction court erred
by denying the proposed settlement agreement wherein
Petitioner's sentence would be modified from death to
life imprisonment. According to Petitioner, “post-conviction
courts are empowered to settle a case for less than death
without determining a likelihood of prevailing on a specific
claim.” Petitioner asserts that the post-conviction court
abused its discretion and acted arbitrarily and without legal
authority in concluding that it was “not appropriate to accept
such a proposed agreement under the circumstances of this
case where there is no claim for post-conviction relief
before this Court which should survive this Court's statutorily
required preliminary order.” Despite the fact that the District
Attorney General was prepared to enter into this settlement
agreement and concede relief on the Johnson and Hurst
claims in the post-conviction court, the State argues on appeal
that these claims are meritless and that “only the Governor
has the authority to unwind a criminal judgment absent a
judicial finding that the judgment is infirm.” We agree with
the State's position on appeal that the post-conviction court
lacked jurisdiction to entertain the settlement agreement.

Under the Post-Conviction Procedure Act,

[i]f the court finds that there was such a denial or
infringement of the rights of the prisoner as to render the
judgment void or voidable, ... the court shall vacate and set
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aside the judgment or order a delayed appeal as provided

in this part and shall enter an appropriate order and any

supplementary orders that may be necessary and proper.
T.C.A. § 40-30-111(a). Petitioner focuses on the portion of
the statute regarding the entry of “‘an appropriate order” and
argues that this language gives the post-conviction court the
authority to accept a settlement agreement in a capital case
without making any findings as to the merits of the post-
conviction claims. Relying heavily upon several trial court
orders in other capital post-conviction cases wherein the court
accepted the parties' agreement to modify a death sentence,
Petitioner argues that there is a consistent practice among
trial courts of granting the requested relief without hearing
any proof, requiring the State to make any concessions, or
making any findings regarding the merits of the underlying
post-conviction claims. However, these unappealed trial court
orders hold no binding precedential value upon our Court
or any other court. See Stare v. Candra Ann Frazier. No.
03C01-9904-CC-00 146, 1999 WL 1042322, at *2 (Tenn.
Crint. App. Nov. 18. 1999} (noting that “the circuit court's
opinion merely constitutes persuasive authority and is not
binding, under the theory of stare decisis, upon other judicial
circuits™).

More importantly, Petitioner's argument overlooks and
completely ignores the first clause of the statute: “If the court
finds that there was such a denial or infringement of the rights
of the prisoner as to render the judgment void or voidable ....”
T.C.A. § 40-30-111(a) (emphasis added). Clearly, the post-
conviction court's authority to vacate a judgment, order a
delayed appeal, or enter any other “appropriate order” is
contingent upon the court's finding that the judgment is
void or voidable due to an infringement of the petitioner's
constitutional rights. See Wilson v. State, 724 S.W.2d 766,
768 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1986) (holding that trial court's grant
of delayed appeal was inappropriate where there was no
finding of constitutional deprivation on the face of the order).
Only upon a finding that either the conviction or sentence is
constitutionally infirm can the post-conviction court vacate
the judgment and place the parties back into their original
positions, whereupon they may negotiate an agreement to
settle the case without a new trial or sentencing hearing. See
State v Bovd, 51 SW.3d 206, 211-12 (Tenn. Crim. App.
2000). As this Court has noted, “the post-conviction law is not
for the purpose of providing sentence modifications” but for
remedying constitutional violations. Leroy Williams v. State,
No. 03C01-9209-CR-00306, 1993 W1, 243869, at *3 (Tenn.
Crim. App. July 6. 1993) (citing State v. Carter, 669 S.W 2d
707 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1984)).
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*12 Moreover, the post-conviction court did not abuse its

discretion in refusing to accept the District Attorney General's
concession of error on Petitioner's post-conviction claims. See
State v. Hester.324 SSW.3d 1. 69 (Tenn. 2010) (holding that a
court is not required to accept the State's concession). Indeed,
the post-conviction court acted well within its authority by
independently analyzing the issues to determine whether the
concession reflected an accurate statement of the law. See
Barron v. State Dep't of Human Servs , 184 S.W.3d 219. 223
(Tenn, 2006); see also Staie v. Shepherd. 902 S.W.2d 893,
906 (Tenn. 1995) (independently analyzing the defendant's
death sentence after finding “no legal basis in this record
for outright modification of the sentence to life.” despite the
State's concession at oral argument). The Post-Conviction
Procedure Act requires the post-conviction court to “state
the findings of fact and conclusions of law with regard
to each ground” in its final order disposing of the post-
conviction petition, regardless of whether it is graating or
denying relief. T.C.A. § 40-30-111(b); Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 28,
§ MA); see Stare v. Swanson, 680 S.W.2d 487, 489 (Tenn.
Crim. App. 1984) (noting that this is a mandatory requirement
designed to facilitate appellate review of the post-conviction
proceedings). The post-conviction court did not act arbitrarily
or abuse its discretion in following the statutory requirements
of the Post-Conviction Procedure Act.

In the absence of a finding of constitutional violation
sufficient to grant post-conviction relief, the post-conviction
court is without jurisdiction to modify a final judgment.
See Delwin O'Neal v. State, No. M2009-00507-CCA-R3-
PC, 2010 WL 1644244, at *2 (Tenn. Crim. App. Apr. 23,
2010} (affirming trial court's finding that it lacked jurisdiction
over a post-conviction petitioner's request for a reduction of
sentence after constitutional claims were abandoned), perm.
app. denied (Tenn. Sept. 3, 2010). Petitioner's reliance on
case law addressing a trial court's authority to accept a plea
agreement to resolve pending charges pre-trial is misplaced
given that Petitionet's convictions have long since become
final. “[O]nce the judgment becomes final in the trial court,
the court shall have no jurisdiction or authority to change
the sentence in any manner[,]” T.C.A. § 40-35-319(b), except
under certain limited circumstances “authorized by statute
or rule.” Srate v. Moore. 814 S.W.2d 381. 383 (Tenn. Crim.
App. 1991); see, e.g., T.C.A. § 40-35-212; Tenn. R. Crim.
P. 35, 36, 36.1; see also Taylor v. State. 995 S.W.2d 78,
83 (Tenn. 1999) (noting the availability of habeas corpus
and post-conviction to collaterally attack a conviction or
sentence that has become final). “[J]urisdiction to modify a
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final judgment cannot be grounded upon waiver or agreement
by the parties.” Moore, 814 S.W.2d at 383 (citing Stare v.
Hamlin, 635 S.W.2d 200 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1983)). “It is
well-settled that a judgment beyond the jurisdiction of a court
is void.” Boyd. 51 S.W.3d at 210 (citing State v. Pendergrass,
937 S.W.2d 834, 837 (Tenn. 1996)); see also Lonnie Graves
v. State, No. 03C01-9301-CR-00001, 1993 WI. 498422, a1 *1
(Tenn. Crim. App. Dec. 1, 1993) (citing Stare v. Bouchard,
563 S.W.2d 561. 563 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1977)) (holding that
“[t]he purported modification of an order that has ‘ripened’
into a final judgment is void” despite the agreement of the

V. Cumulative Error

Finally, Petitioner argues that “all claims of error coalesced
into a unitary abridgment of [Petitioner's] constitutional
rights.” “To warrant assessment under the cumulative error
doctrine, there must have been more than one actual error
committed in the trial proceedings.” Srate v. Hester, 324
S.W3d 1, 77 (Tenn. 2010). Because Petitioner has not
established any error in the post-conviction proceedings, he
is not entitled to relief via the cumulative error doctrine.

parties). To hold otherwise would effectively allow the trial
court to exercise the pardoning and commutation power,
which is vested solely in the Governor under Aiticle 3.
section 6 of the Tennessee Constitution. See Horkman v.
State, 22 S.W.3d 807, 808 (Tenn. 2000); State v. Dalton,
109 Tenn. 544, 72 SW. 456. 437 (Tenn. 1903). Thus, the
post-conviction court did not err in refusing to accept the
proposed settlement agreement and modify a final judgment
when it lacked the statutory authority to do so under the Post-
Conviction Procedure Act.

Conclusion

*13 Based on the foregoing, we affirm the judgment of the
post-conviction court.
All Citations
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Footnotes

1 The trial court subsequently imposed consecutive sentences of 60 years for aggravated rape and 15 years for first degree
burglary.

2 Petitioner also filed a post-conviction petition challenging his non-capital convictions for the rapes of the four other victims,

which had served as the basis of the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance. The post-conviction court granted
partial relief in the form of a new sentencing hearing in the non-capital rape cases. See Nichols v. State, 90 S.W.3d
576, 586-87 (Tenn. 2002). Petitioner ultimately received an effective sentence of 25 years in those four cases, as well
as an effective sentence of 225 years for the rapes or attempted rapes of five other victims. See State v. Harold Wayne
Nichols, No. E2008-00169-CCA-R3-CD, 2009 WL 2633099, at *3 (Tenn. Crim. App. Aug. 27, 2009), perm. app. denied
(Tenn. Mar. 1, 2010).

3 “The defendant was previously convicted of one or more felonies, other than the present charge, which involve the use
or threat of violence to the person.” T.C.A. § 39-13-204(i)(2) (1988).
4 “The defendant was previously convicted of one (1) or more felonies, other than the present charge, whose statutory

elements involve the use of violence to the person.” T.C.A. § 39-13-204(i)(2) (Supp. 1990). As noted below, Petitioner
has not challenged this jury instruction as error.

5 We note that even though the post-conviction court in this case applied the “colorable claim” standard, which is less
stringent than the clear and convincing evidence standard that should be applied to motions to reopen under section
40-30-117(a), see Howell v, State, 151 S.W.3d 450, 460 (Tenn. 2004), the State has not challenged the propriety of the
post-conviction court's decision to grant the motion to reopen on the Johnson claim.

6 Noting that this matter was initiated as a motion to reopen post-conviction proceedings, this Court directed the parties to
submit supplemental briefing addressing whether we had jurisdiction to hear this appeal. See Timothy Roberson v. State,
No. W2007-00230-CCA-R3-PC, 2007 WL 3286681, at *9 (Tenn. Crim. App. Nov. 7. 2007) (holding that there is no appeal
as of right from the denial of a motion to reopen under Tenn. R. App. P. 3(b) and that the failure to follow the procedural
requirements for seeking permission to appeal under T.C.A. § 40-30-117(c) “deprives this Court of jurisdiction to entertain
such matter”), perm. app. denied (Tenn. Apr. 14, 2008). Both parties agreed that the post-conviction court's March 7,
2018 order was not a denial of the motion to reopen but was a denial of post-conviction relief on the merits. We agree that
this Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under Tennessee Code Annotated section 40-30-117(b) and Tennessee Rule
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of Appellate Procedure 3. Accord. Michael Angelo Coleman v. State, No. W2007-02767-CCA-R3-PD, 2010 WL 118696
(Tenn. Crim. App. Jan. 13, 2010}, affd in part, vacated in part, 341 S.W.3d 221 (Tenn. 2011); Byron Lewis Black v. State,
No. M2004-01345-CCA-R3-PD, 2005 WL. 2662577 (Tenn. Crim. App. Oct. 19, 2005), perm. app. denied (Tenn. Feb. 21,
2006); contra Floyd Lee Perry, Jr. v. State, No. W2013-00901-CCA-R3-PC, 2014 WL 1377579, at *4 (Tenn. Crim. App.
Apr. 7, 2014) (holding that there was “a procedural error in bringing this appeal before this court” when the petitioner
filed a Rule 3 notice of appeal rather than an application for permission to appeal under section -117(c) even though
the post-conviction court determined that the motion to reopen presented a colorable claim, appointed counsel, allowed
amendment of the motion, and held a hearing prior to denying relief), perm. app. denied (Tenn. Sept. 18, 2014).

The pre-1982 aggravating factor applied in Moore contained identical language to the pre-1989 aggravating factor at
issue herein.

We note there was some discussion at the October 4, 2016 hearing regarding the possibility of filing either an amended
or a second motion to reopen, presumably with regard to the Hurst claim, depending on the post-conviction court's ruling
on the pending motion to reopen with respect to the Johnsan claim. There is no limit on the number of motions to reopen
that may be filed, only a limit on the types of claims that may be brought. See T.C.A. § 40-30-117. If Petitioner had
raised this claim as a separate motion to reopen and it had been denied by the post-conviction court, our jurisdiction
to hear the appeal would be dependent on whether Petitioner followed the proper procedure for seeking permission to
appeal pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated section 40-30-117(c). See Timothy Roberson, 2007 WL 3286681, at
*0. Additionally, our standard of review would be abuse of discretion rather than de novo. See T.C.A. § 40-30-117(c);
Fletcher v. State, 951 S.W.2d 378, 383 (Tenn. 1997).
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145 OFFENSES AGAINST THE PERSON 39.2-203

tate, 546 Killing done by one resisting felony of the Retveat, duty where assailant and assailed
. defendant, criminal liability. 56 A.L.R.3d 239. share the same living quarters. 26 A.L.R.3d
uniform, “Lying in wait,” what conatiLutes. 89 1206
i. having ALR.2d 1140. Spouse’s confession of adultery as affecting
held that Mental or emotional condition as dimin- degree of homicide involved in killing spouse or I
acting in ishing responsibility for crime, 22 A.L.R.3d  his or her paramour. 3 A.L.R.34d 825.
at defen- 1928, What constitutes murder by torture. 83 I
nce there Premeditation or deliberation, presumption A.L.R.3d 1222,
onviction from the fact of killing. 86 A.L.R.2d 656.
¥ section.
4 (Tenn. ' : ~
39-2-203. Sentencing for first-degree murder. — (a) Upon a trial for
murder in the first degree, should the jury find the defendant guilty of murder |
U.S. 238, in the first degree, they shall not fix punishment as part of their verdict, but ‘
‘i’t:eidm"h‘j the jury shall fix the punishment in a separate sentencing hearing to deter-
o of e mine whether the defendant shall be sentenced to death or life imprisonment.
st-degree The separate sentencing hearing shall be conducted as soon as practicable :
_f:“seﬁ:ld before the same jury that determined guilt, subject to the provisions of subsec- ‘
i,‘g,ccap: tion (k) relating to certain retrials on punishment. [
the eight (b) In the sentencing proceeding, the attorney for the state shall be allowed l
'19 Sf';:]\;’% to make an opening statement to the jury and then the attorney for the defen-
o dant shall algo be allowed such statement, provided that the waiver of opening
statement by one party shall not preclude the opening statement by the other
er, defen- party. |
y Whﬁm (c) In the sentencing proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter .
E;?Juﬁ; that the court deems relevant to the punishment and may include, but not be
ed to the limited to, the nature and circumstances of the crime; the defendant’s char-
f?‘u iet in acter, background history, and physical condition; any evidence tending to
. Bika. establish or rebut the aggravating circumstances enumerated in subsection (i)
73). below; and any evidence tending to establish or rebut any mitigating factors,
Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value on the issue
nd defen- of punishment may be received regardless of its admissibility under the rules
e of evidence, provided that the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut
e iven any hearsay statements so admitted. However, this subsection shall not be
19 (Tenn. construed to authorize the introduction of any evidence secured in violation of

the Constitution of the United States or of the state of Tennessee.

(d) Inthe sentencing proceeding, the state shall be allowed to make a cloging
argument to the jury; and then the attorney for the defendant shall also be
allowed such argument, with the state having the right of closing.

angerous (e) After closing arguments in the sentencing hearing, the trial judge shall
R.3d 397 include in his instructions for the jury to weigh and consider any mitigating

{tutes for circumstances and any of the statutory aggravating circumstances set forth in
st subsection (i) of this section which may be raised by the evidence at either the ,
L guilt or sentencing hearing, or both, These instructions and the manner of ﬁ
. arriving at a sentence shall be given in the oral charge and in writing to the -
unicide or : 4 i .
ALRSd jury for its deliberations.
() If the jury unanimously determines that no statutory aggravating cir-
charge. 8 cumstances have been proved by the state beyond a reasonable doubt, or if the

jury unanimously determines that a statutory aggravating circumstance or

[BEE TABLE IN FRONT OF THIS VOLUME FOR CHANGES IN BEC1ION NUMBERING]
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circumstances have been proved by the statc beyond 4 reasonable doubt but
that said circumstance or circumstances are outweighed by one or more
mitigating circumstances, the sentence shall be life imprisonment. The jury
shall then return its verdict to the judge upon a form provided by the court
which may appear substantially as follows:

PUNISHMENT OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT
(1) We, the jury, unanimously find that the punishment shall be life impris-

onment.
T e - - e egm— ‘8 e ——————————— R
Jury Foreman Juror
‘gl = | A,
Juror Juror
Juror Juror
{8/ S —— Isf ——
Juror Juror
/sl I e /8 —— =
Juror Juror
Jai — 1 - =
Juror Juror

(@ If the jury unanimously determines that at least one statutory
aggravating circumstance or several statutory aggravating circumstances
have been proved by the state beyond a reasonable doubt, and said circum-
stance or circumstances are not outweighed by any mitigating circumstances,
the sentence shall be death, If the death penalty is the sentence of the jury, the
jury shall:

(1) Reduce to writing the statutory aggravating circumstance or statutory
aggravating circumstances so found; and

(2) Signify that there were no mitigating circumstances sufficiently sub-
stantial to outweigh the statutory aggravating circumstance or circumstances
so found. These findings and verdict shall be returned to the judge upon a form
provided by the court which may appear substantially as follows:

PUNISHMENT OF DEATH
(1} We, the jury, unanimously find the following listed statutory
aggravating circumstance or circumstances:
[Here list the statutory aggravating circumstance or circumstances so
found]
{2) We, the jury, unanimously find that there are no mitigating circum-
stances sufficiently subgtantial to outweigh the statutory aggravating circum-
stance or circumstances so listed above.

(3) Therefore, we, the jury, unanimously find that the punishment shall be
death.

Jury Foreman Juror

[SEE TABLE IN FRONT OF THIS VOLUME FOR CHANGES IN SECTION NUMBERING]
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(h) If the jury cannot ultimately agree as to punishment, the judge shall
dismiss the jury and the judge shall impose a sentence of life imprisonment.
The judge shall not instruct the jury, nor shall the attorneys be permitted to
comment at any time to the jury, on the effect of the jury’s failure to agree on
a puhishment.

(i) No death penalty shall be imposed but upon a unanimous finding, as
herelofore indicated, of the existence of one or more of the statutory
aggravating circumstances, which shall be limited to the following:

(1) The murder was committed against a person less than twelve (12) years
of age and the defendant was eighteen (18) years of age, or older;

(2) The defendant was previously convicted of one or more felonies, other
than the present charge, which involve the use or threat of violence to the
person;

(8) The defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to two (2) or more
persons, other than the victim murdered, during his act of murder;

(4) The defendant committed the murder for remuneration or the promise of
remuneration, or employed another to commit the murder for remuneration or
the promise of remuneration;

(5) The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel in that it involved
torture or depravity of mind;

(6) The murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding, interfering with,
or preventing a lawful arrest or prosecution of the defendant or another;

(7) The murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in commit-
ting, or was an accomplice in the commission of, or was attempting to commit,
or was fleeing after committing or attempting to commit, any first degree
murder, arson, rape, robbery, burglary, larceny, kidnapping, aircraft piracy, or
unlawful throwing, placing or discharging of a destructive device or bomb;

(8) The murder was committed by the defendant while he was in lawful
custody or in a place of lawful confinement or during his escape from lawful
custody or from a place of lawful confinement;

(9) The murder was commitled against any peace officer, corrections official,
corrections employee or fireman, who was engaged in the performance of his
duties, and the defendant knew ot reasonably should have known that such
victim was a peace officer, corrections official, corrections employee or fireman,
engaged in the performance of his duties;

IBEE TABLE IN FRONT OF TILS VOLUME FOR CHANGES [N SECTION NUMBERING]
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(10) The murder was committed against any present or former judge, district
attorney general or state attorney general, assistant district attorney general
or assistant state attorney general due to or because of the exercise of his
official duty or status and the defendant knew that the victim occupied said
office;

(11) The murder was committed against a national, state, or local popularly
elected official, due to or because of the official's lawful duties or status, and
the defendant knew that the victim was such an official; and

(12) The defendant committed “mass murder” which is defined as the
murder of three or more persons within the state of Tennessee within a period
of forty-eight (48) months, and perpetrated in a similar fashion in a common
scheme or plan.

() In arriving at the punishment the jury shall consider, as heretofore
indicated, any mitigating circumstances which shall include, but not be limited
to the following:

(1) The defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity;

(2) The murder was committed while the defendant was under the influence
of extreme mental or emotional disturbance;

(3) The victim was a participant in the defendant’s conduct or consented to
the act;

(4) The murder was committed under circumstances which the defendant
reasonably believed to provide a moral justification for his conduct;

(5) The defendant was an accomplice in the murder committed by another
person and the defendant’s participation was relatively minor;

(6) The defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial
domination of another person;

(7) The youth or advanced age of the defendant at the time of the crime; and

(8) The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the wrongfulness of his con-
duct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially
impaired as a result of mental disease or defect or intoxication which was
insufficient to establish a defense to the crime but which substantially affected
his judgment.

(k) Upon motion for a new trial, after a conviction of first degree murder, if
the court finds error in the trial determining guilt, a new trial on both guili
and sentencing shall be held, but if the court finds error alone in the trial
determining punishment, 2 new trial on the issue of punighment alone.ghall
be held by a new jury empanelled for said purpose. In the event that the trial
court, or any other court with jurisdiction to do so, orders that a defendant
eonvicted of [irst-degree murder (whether the sentence is death or life impris-
onment) be granted a new trial, either as to guilt or punishment or both, said
new trial shall include the possible punishments of death or life imprisonment.
[Code 1858, § 4600 (deriv. Acts 1829, ch. 23, § 3); Shan., § 6441; Code 1932,
§ 10770, Acts 1977, ch. 51, § 2;1981,ch. 33,8 1;T.C.A (orig.ed.), § 39-2404.]

Section to Section References. This sec- Law Reviews, Criminal Luw in Tennesses
tion is referred to in § 40-35-201. in 1979 — A Critical Survey, I1I, Procedure
(Joseph G. Cook), 48 Tenn. L. Rev, 189,
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